
 

 

 
Neuadd Cyngor Ceredigion, Penmorfa, 

Aberaeron, Ceredigion SA46 0PA 
www.ceredigion.gov.uk 

 
 

1 
 

PLEASE NOTE: This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 
Council's internet site. The images and sound recording may also be used for 
training purposes within the Council. 
 
At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
filmed.  
 
Generally the public seating areas are not filmed. However by entering the meeting 
room and using the public seating area, members of the public are consenting to 
being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings as 
outlined above. If you should have any queries regarding this, please contact the 
Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic Services. 
 

8 June 2023 
 
Dear Sir / Madam 
 
I write to inform you that a MEETING of COUNCIL will be held at NEUADD 
CYNGOR CEREDIGION, PENMORFA, ABERAERON AND REMOTELY VIA VIDEO 
CONFERRENCE on Thursday, 15 June 2023 at 10.00am for the transaction of the 
following business: 
  
1.   Apologies  

  
2.   Disclosure of personal / prejudicial interests  

  
3.   Personal matters  

  
4.   To confirm the Minutes of the Meetings of the Council held on 20 

April 2023 and the Annual Meeting of Council held on 19 May 2023 
(Pages 5 - 18) 
  

5.   To consider the following motion submitted under Rule 10.1 of the 
Council's Rules of Procedure: (Pages 19 - 20) 
 

 Proposer: Councillor Wyn Evans 
Seconder: Councillor Gareth Lloyd 
 
Council notes: 
"This council requests that Welsh Government uses the opportunity 
presented by the revamped Bovine TB eradication strategy to establish its 
effectiveness in respect of animal welfare (both wildlife and livestock), 
public health and costs.  
 
Persistently high infection levels, its impact on both animal welfare and 
public health combined with an ever increasing cost to the public purse 
suggests that existing measures are not fit for purpose.  

Public Document Pack



 
We ask Welsh Government to note and take action on the following 
points:- 
 
Bovine TB is a communicable disease that should be addressed holistically 
as both a wildlife and farmed animal welfare issue, using a comprehensive 
suite of measures, guided by the best scientific advice available.  
 
The requirement to frequently test cattle raises stress to livestock and 
presents a high risk of injury and fatalities for those involved in conducting 
tests for Bovine TB.  
 
The continuous failure to address Bovine TB triggers significant levels of 
mental health issues among farming families and persons in associated 
roles. 
 
Disease outbreaks on holdings need to be dealt with sensitively with 
effective and simplified communication.  
 
The new publicly appointed Programme Board and Technical Advisory 
Group should have a balanced representation including all impacted 
stakeholders." 
  

6.   To consider the Statutory Social Services Directors Report 2020-2021 
and 2021-2022 (Pages 21 - 226) 
  

7.   To consider the report of the Corporate Director upon a Local 
Authority Representative on the Governing Body of Aberaeron 
Community Primary School (Pages 227 - 228) 
  

8.   To consider the report of the Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic 
Services upon the appointment of interim Corporate Lead Officer: 
Porth Cymorth Cynnar (Pages 229 - 232)  

 Members are reminded to sign the Attendance Register. 
 

A Translation Service will be provided at this meeting and those present 
are welcome to speak in Welsh or English at the meeting. 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
Miss Lowri Edwards 
Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic Services 
 
To:  Chairman and Members of Council 



 

1 
 

Minutes of the Meeting of CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
held at Neuadd y Cyngor, Penmorfa, Aberaeron and remotely via 

video-conferencing  on Thursday, 20th April, 2023 
 
PRESENT: Councillor Ifan Davies (Chair), Councillors Bryan Davies, Catrin M S 
Davies, Clive Davies, Euros Davies, Gareth Davies, Gethin Davies, Meirion Davies, 
Rhodri Davies Endaf Edwards, Elaine Evans, Elizabeth Evans, Eryl Evans, Gwyn 
Wigley Evans, Keith Evans, Wyn Evans, Keith Henson, Paul Hinge, Hugh Hughes, 
Chris James, Gwyn James, Ceris Jones, Maldwyn Lewis, Gareth Lloyd, Sian 
Maehrlein, Ann Bowen Morgan, Caryl Roberts, Mark Strong, Wyn Thomas, Matthew 
Vaux, Alun Williams and Carl Worrall. 
 

(10.00am - 12.30pm) 
 
Procedure 
The Chairman of the Council, Councillor Ifan Davies welcomed all to the meeting 
and confirmed that the meeting was being webcasted. 

1 Apologies 
a)    Councillor Rhodri Evans apologised for his inability to attend the 

meeting as he was on other Council duties; 
b)    Councillor Steve Davies and Amanda Edwards apologised for their 

inability to attend the meeting. 
  

2 Disclosure of personal / prejudicial interests 
a)    The Chairman of the Council declared a personal interest on behalf of 

all Councillors in relation to item 8 below; 
b)    Councillor Chris James declared a personal interest in relation to all 

items relating to transport. 
 

3 Personal matters 
a)    Councillor Ifan Davies thanked Ifan Meredith, Ceredigion Youth 

Council Chairperson and Aled Lewis, Ceredigion United Kingdom 
Youth Parliament Member for their presentation to Members prior to 
the Council meeting; 

b)    Councillor Ifan Davies congratulated Ceredigion Young Farmers’ newly 
appointed officers: 

       County Queen: Sioned Davies, Llanwenog YFC 
       Young Farmer of the Year: Dewi Davies, Llanddeiniol YFC 
       Deputies: Gwenyth Richards, Pontsiân YFC, Angharad Evans, 

Mydroilyn YFC,  
       Angharad Davies, Trisant YFC, and Alaw Mair, Felinfach YFC 
       Senior Member: Endaf Griffiths, Pontisan YFC 
       Junior Member: Sion Evans, Felinfach YFC 

c)    Councillor Gwyn Wigley Evans extended his condolences to the family 
of Mary Blodwen Morgan of Llanrhystud who passed away recently. 

 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



 

2 
 

4 Minutes of the Meetings of the Council held on 2 March 2023 and 9 
March 2023 
It was RESOLVED to confirm as a true record the Minutes of the Council 
meeting held on 2 March 2023 and 9 March 2023.  There were no matters 
arising. 
 

5 Notice of Motion submitted under Rule 10.1 of the Council's Rules of 
Procedure 
Proposer:     Councillor Meirion Davies 
Seconder: Councillor Paul Hinge 

  
Given the crisis facing the rural bus network in Ceredigion and rural Wales, 
Ceredigion Council urges Welsh Government to set up a rural transport task 
force to urgently tackle this issue. 
We recognise that residents and visitors have not returned to public transport 
post-Covid, in the numbers we would expect. However, as a result of the 
withdrawal of many rural bus routes due to affordability, our communities are 
becoming increasingly isolated from accessing public services and 
socialising with friends and family.  
The withdrawal of many rural bus routes exacerbates rural poverty where the 
impact is felt most greatly. Vulnerable adults, including older people, and 
those without transport have a right to access public transport in their 
communities.   
Ceredigion Council supports Welsh Government's focus on tackling the 
climate emergency. Yet by asking residents to move from cars to public 
transport, investment and the accompanying subsidy for a rural transport 
infrastructure is required.  
Rural transport must have parity with our larger towns and cities if we are to 
seriously tackle the climate emergency, and to prevent rural communities 
from being further isolated.  
Therefore, Council notes: 

1.   That Ceredigion Council asks Welsh Government to acknowledge that 
there needs to be investment in transport in rural communities, and 
subsidised accordingly. 

2.   That public transport in rural communities such as those in Ceredigion, 
which have been adversely impacted by the underfunding of public 
transport from Welsh Government, seeks parity of access similar to 
larger communities. 

3.   That a rural transport task force is established immediately by Welsh 
Government and in conjunction with key stakeholders like Ceredigion 
Council, to tackle the issue of rural transport. 

  
Councillor Meirion Davies gave an outline of the current situation noting that 
residents are being isolated by the lack of public transport and unable to 
attend medical appointments, shopping and banking, and that he has 
concerns regarding the welfare and health of these residents.  The cost of 
living crisis meant that not everyone can afford to run a car, and that the loss 
of the Saturday bus service and reduction to other services was having an 
effect on the youth in his and other Wards.  He noted that the Welsh 
Government should finance transport services because of the impact upon 
those living in rural areas, and in line with their emphasis on the 

Page 4



 

3 
 

environment.  He noted his concern that the Bus Emergency scheme (BES) 
was due to end, which will have a greater impact on those living in rural 
areas, and that Ben Lake MP, Elin Jones MS and Jane Dodds MS have all 
noted their support for its continuation. 

  
Councillor Paul Hinge commended Councillor Meirion Davies on his 
explanation of the importance of transport for Ceredigion, which had also 
been reflected in the presentation by the representatives from the Youth 
Council earlier in the day.  He noted that Welsh Government should be 
thinking more broadly and consider the health and the wellbeing of future 
generations, however no resources have been provided to deliver this. He 
called for a Rural Taskforce to be set up immediately including key 
stakeholders to look at the proper distribution of wealth and parity with other 
places in Wales in order to tackle the problem of rural transport. 

  
Councillor Bryan Davies noted that he fully endorsed the Motion, and that 
discussions take place regularly with Lee Waters MS, Deputy Minister for 
Climate Change at the WLGA Rural Forum. He noted that Lee Waters is 
eager to ensure that every village has access to transport, however, the 
Welsh Government definition of a village is that of 200 or more residences, 
which does not apply to the majority of villages in Ceredigion.  Following 
COVID, there has been demographical changes including home working, 
with fewer people using the bus services, which is having an impact on local 
businesses, however this is something that he would hope to discuss if the 
forum is established.  He also noted that they would need to look at a 10–15 
year plan, and not just the current situation, and it would also need to 
consider the re-opening of the railway.  

  
Councillor Gareth Lloyd noted the knock-on effect on the Local Development 
Plan, due to the Welsh Government guidance stating that a community is not 
sustainable unless it has a bus service, which would mean that no new 
houses would be built unless they were on the main road corridor through 
the county. 

  
Councillor Elizabeth Evans noted her full support, and thanked everyone for 
the support across the Chamber. 

  
Councillor Alun Williams noted that in order to reduce the number of cars on 
the roads, there would need to be an excellent bus transport system.  He 
noted that Ceredigion had also been at a disadvantage in terms of the Active 
Travel with only 3 towns in Ceredigion qualifying for the scheme.  Two thirds 
of Wales are rural areas therefore the Welsh Government should be good at 
this, and he hoped that these views would be reflected by neighbouring 
authorities due to the impact on the economy, health and a low carbon 
Wales. 

  
Councillor Keith Henson noted that he has raised these matters with Lee 
Robinson, the Transport for Wales Director for North Wales, as the Chairman 
for Tracc Cymru and is awaiting response to his request for data relating to 
this.  He also noted that there is a lack of providers and drivers and this 

Page 5



 

4 
 

would also need to be reviewed. He noted that Dolen Teifi provide an 
excellent service also, which would need to be looked at in the long term. 
  
Councillor Bryan Davies noted that Members have met with the Hywel Dda 
University Health Board a few weeks ago regarding proposals to build a new 
hospital in the Whitland area and noted that they have raised their concerns 
regarding accessibility for the residents of Ceredigion due to tha lack of 
public transport. 

  
Councillor Gwyn Wigley Evans clarified that the reference made by Professor 
Stuart Cole to the railway link being unlikely to happen in the next 30- to 40 
years was due to financial reasons, and that operating 3 buses a day to 
Carmarthen would be significantly cheaper than reinstating the railway line. 

  
Following a vote, it was RESOLVED to agree the motion as presented. 
 

6 Report by the Corporate Lead Officer: Legal and Governance and 
Monitoring Officer upon the Draft Annual Governance Statement 2022-
23 and Local Code of Corporate Governance 2023-24 
Councillor Matthew Vaux, Cabinet Member for Partnerships, Housing, Legal 
and Governance and Public Protection presented an outline of the report to 
Council noting that a workshop held on 28 November 2022 the Governance 
Framework document was reviewed to consider any updated evidence and 
to reflect on previously identified actions.  The document was considered by 
the Governance and Audit Committee at their meetings dated 17 January 
2023 and 9 March 2023, and it was agreed to recommend that Council 
endorse the Draft Annual Governance Statement. 

  
The Governance and Audit Committee also reviewed the Local Code of 
Corporate Governance 2023-24 at their meeting dated 17 January 2023 and 
agreed to recommend that Council endorse the Local Coe of Corporate 
Governance 2023-24.  

  
Councillor Elizabeth Evans as a Member of Governance and Audit 
Committee assured colleagues that the committee goes through this is some 
depth, and thanked Officers for their contributions to the Annual Governance 
Statement and stated the workshops are very worth-while. 

  
The Council noted the content of the 2022-23 Governance Framework 
Document and following a vote the Council RESOLVED to approve the Draft 
Annual Governance Statement 2022-23 and the Local Code of Corporate 
Governance 2023-24. 
 

7 Report of the Corporate Lead Officer: Policy, Performance and Public 
Protection upon the Ceredigion Local Well-being Plan 2023-2028 
Councillor Bryan Davies, Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Democratic Services, Policy, Performance and People and Organisation 
presented the report to Council noting that the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 places a Well-being duty on specific bodies to 
act jointly to prepare and publish an assessment of the state of economic, 
social, environmental and cultural well-being of its area, and to prepare and 

Page 6



 

5 
 

publish a Local Well-being plan setting out local objectives and steps it 
proposes to take to meet them. 

  
He noted that consultation upon the draft Ceredigion Local Well-being Plan 
2023-28 took place between October 2022 and January 2023, and that it 
was considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Coordinating Committee at its 
meeting on 23 November 2022.  Feedback from the public consultation 
indicated that the Plan was well received, with recommendations 
incorporated into the final Local Well-being Plan as far as possible.  
Following amendments to the plan, it was presented to the Public Service 
Board at their meeting on 6 March 2023 and considered by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Coordinating Committee on 22 March 2023 prior to being presented 
to Cabinet on 4 April 2023. 

  
Members asked about the long-term considerations for the plan, and it was 
confirmed that all areas are considered in the long term as well as the short 
term. 

  
Following a vote, the Council RESOLVED to approve the Ceredigion Local 
Well-being Plan 2023-28. 
 

8 Report by the Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic Services upon the 
Schedule of Member Remuneration for 2023/24 
Councillor Bryan Davies, Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Democratic Services, Policy, Performance and People and Organisation 
presented the report to Council noting that the Independent Remuneration 
Panel for Wales Annual Report was issued in February 2023 and considered 
by the Democratic Services committee at its meeting on 24 March 2023.   

  
He provided an outline of the remunerations, emphasising that adequate 
remuneration was required in order to attract a wide representation of 
people, reminding members of the support available for cost of care, and the 
counselling service available. 
  
Councillor Elizabeth Evans, Chair of the Democratic Services Committee 
noted that the Committee had considered the report at its meeting dated 24 
March 2023 and resolved to recommend to Council to approve the content of 
the report.  She noted her disappointment however that the Independent 
Remuneration Panel had failed to recognise that councillors work more than 
the equivalent of 3 days a week, and that a need to attract a more diverse 
membership needs to be encouraged. 

  
Members asked about the option to opt out of the taking the increase in 
salary, and it was confirmed that they would need to submit a written request 
to the Corporate Lead Officer, Democratic Services. 

  
Councillor Bryan Davies noted that the number of Councillors had reduced 
from 42 to 38, which was causing problems in terms of appointing members 
to committees and placing more pressure on Members in terms of time, and 
additional responsibilities, in addition to their roles on external bodies. 

  

Page 7



 

6 
 

Councillor Gareth Davies noted that in terms of the Council’s budget, 
Members’ salaries accounts for less than 0.5% of the overall budget. 

  
The Council RESOLVED to note the following: 

1.     The payment of Basic and Senior Salaries as prescribed by the 
Independent Remuneration Panel, as set out in Schedule 1 of 
Appendix A; 

2.     The payment of Civic Salaries payable to the Chair and Deputy Chair 
of the Council, as set out in Schedule 1 of Appendix A; 

3.     Schedule of other payments as set out in Schedule 1; 
  

Following a vote the Council RESOLVED to approve the following: 
1.     To continue the current practice of not making payments for travelling 

expenses whilst undertaking constituency duties; 
2.     To approve that travelling, subsistence, overnight accommodation 

and car parking allowances continue at the same levels as 2022/23 
for 2023/24; 

3.     To continue with the opt-in monthly allowance scheme of a maximum 
of £10 to cover telephone, broadband and postage costs; 

4.     To reflect the payment of this allowance in the annual Statement of 
Payments made to Members; 

5.     Co-opted Members to be paid fees subject to a maximum equivalent 
to 10 full days for each committee to which an individual has been 
co-opted, based on a half day or full day payment; 

6.     To continue to publish the total amount reimbursed by the authority 
during the year but not attributed to any named Member in respect of 
the reimbursement of care; 

7.     The 2023/2024 Schedule of Member Remuneration, subject to 
incorporating any amendments determined by the Council at this 
meeting; and 

8.     To authorise the Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic Services to 
incorporate any such amendments prior to publication after the 
Annual Meeting to be held 19th May 2023. 

 
9 Report by the Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic Services upon a 

Members' Survey in relation to the Timing of Meetings of the Council 
and its Committees 
Councillor Bryan Davies, Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Democratic Services, Policy, Performance and People and Organisation 
presented the report to Council noting that statutory guidance requires local 
authorities to conduct a survey in relation to the times and intervals at which 
meetings are held taking into consideration the needs and circumstances of 
all Members.   

  
He noted that 25 Members responded to the survey, and that the findings of 
the survey were considered by the Democratic Services Committee at its 
meeting of 24 March 2023. He noted that the responses included 
responsibilities such are children and caring responsibilities and self-
employment as well as travel times, 

  

Page 8



 

7 
 

Councillor Elizabeth Evans, Chair of the Democratic Services Committee 
noted that the Committee had considered the report at its meeting dated 24 
March 2023 and recommended that a start time of 10am for all committee, 
and that holding afternoon meetings at 1.30pm would allow for better 
opportunities for members to join the meetings. 

  
Councillor Bryan Davies noted that all-day meetings did not allow sufficient 
time to go to the town for lunch, and asked whether a vending machine could 
be provided at Penmorfa. 

  
Following a vote the Council RESOLVED to approve the following: 

1.    That meetings are mainly held on Tuesdays, Wednesday and 
Thursdays; 

2.    That all meetings of Council and Committees commence at 10:00am; 
3.    That afternoon meetings, workshops and training events commence at 

1:30pm. 
 

10 Report by the Chief Executive and Electoral Registration Officer and 
Returning Officer and Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic Services 
upon a Review of Communities and Electoral Arrangements - Council 
Size Policy 
Eifion Evans, Chief Executive and Electoral Registration Officer and 
Returning Officer for Ceredigion County Council presented the report to 
Council noting that the Cross-Party Group set up to review the Communities 
and Electoral arrangements had met to consider a Council Size Policy.  The 
policy will be shared with the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission 
for Wales, subject to approval by Council. 

  
He outlined the legal requirement to undertake a review, as reported to 
Council in March 2023 and noted the need for greater consistency of Town 
and Community Councils across the County. The Cross-Party Group had 
therefore considered an urban and a rural model for the ‘Council Size Policy’ 
– an urban and rural approach, acknowledging the differences in the number 
of electors. 

  
Clarification was given regarding the difference between community wards, 
which would have no fewer than 400 electors; and a community council, 
which some are made up of a number of community wards, which together 
would have no fewer than a total of 800 electors. 

  
In addition, where possible, the community wards would be removed and 
councillor representation would be based on the whole community council 
area. The precept collected from the community wards would still be 
available to them for the purposes of allocating the funding from the precept. 

  
He emphasised that the aim of the Council Size Policy was to provide 
parameters for the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales to 
put forward proposals for consideration by the Council. 

  

Page 9



 

8 
 

The Chief Executive confirmed that this would be a 15-18 month process and 
that the final decision would be made by the Council and not by the Local 
Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales. 

  
Following discussion and a vote, the Council RESOLVED to approve the 
Council Size Policy as presented in Appendix A of the report. 
 

11 Report by the Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic Services upon the 
Amendments to the Membership of the Community Health Council 
Councillor Bryan Davies, Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Democratic Services, Policy, Performance and People and Organisation 
presented the report to Council noting that the Community Health Council 
(CHC) was replaced by ‘Llais’ on 3 April 2023.  As a result of the changes to 
the Community Health Council, Councillor representative membership of this 
external body has ceased, and a further report will be presented to Council of 
further representation is required. 
  
Councillor Elizabeth Evans, who was the prior Chair of the Community 
Health Council paid tribute to the voluntary work carried out by Members, 
especially during COVID, forcing Hywel Dda University Health Board to put i-
Pads in Wards, and ensuring that Bronglais Hospital had parity of services 
compared to Glangwili and other larger hospitals.  She noted the importance 
of ensuring that the patient voice is heard, especially in a rural area.  She 
noted that ‘Llais’ have asked the previous members of the Community Health 
council to submit an application form in relation to ‘Llais’.   

  
Councillor Keith Evans, Paul Hinge and Alun Williams, also former Members 
of the Community Health Council paid tribute to the work carried out by the 
CHC, and Councillor Alun Williams noted the importance of their work in 
ensuring that senior Health Board Officers are held to account.   He noted 
that ‘Llais’ has a far wider remit which includes social care, which could 
present a conflict of interest if Councillors are involved. 

  
Councillor Bryan Davies noted that the Membership of ‘Llais’ would need to 
be ratified by Council. 
  
The Council RESOLVED to note that Membership of the Community Health 
Council ceased as of 2 April 2023. 
 

12 Report by the Corporate Lead Officer: Legal and Governance and 
Monitoring Officer upon the Nomination of Trustee to the charity known 
as Llandysul Memorial Park 
Councillor Matthew Vaux, Cabinet Member for Partnerships, Housing, Legal 
and Governance and Public Protection presented the report to Council noting 
that The Charity Commission made a Scheme in relation to the charity know 
as Llandysul Memorial Park (Parc Coffa Llandysul) in 1997 which sets out a 
Committee of Management which includes a member from Ceredigion 
County Council.  He noted that Councillor Keith Evans has been attending 
the meetings as Local Member, however Officers have not been able to 
locate a resolution formally appointing a member to represent Ceredigion 
County Council.  

Page 10



 

9 
 

  
Councillor Gareth Lloyd proposed that Councillor Keith Evans is nominated 
as Trustee, as Local Member for Llandysul South and recommended that the 
records show that the local Member is stipulated as the representative in 
order to avoid the need to review this each time.  
  
Following a vote the Council RESOLVED to nominate the Councillor for the 
Llandysul South ward to sit as the Ceredigion County Council representative 
Trustee,  on the Committee of Management for the Llandysul Memorial Park 
(Parc Coffa Llandysul) (current incumbent Cllr. Keith Evans). 
 

13 Membership of the Council to the Committees of the Council for the 
ensuing Municipal Year 
It was RESOLVED to confirm the Membership of the Council’s Committees 
as presented at the meeting. 
 

14 Election of the Chairman-elect for the Council for 2023/24 to be 
installed at the Annual Meeting to be held at 2:00pm on  Friday, 19 May 
2023 
It was proposed by Councillor Bryan Davies and seconded by Councillor 
Gareth Davies that Councillor Maldwyn Lewis be elected as Chairman of the 
Council for the ensuing Municipal year, 2023/24 

  
It was unanimously RESOLVED that Councillor Maldwyn Lewis be elected 
Chairman-elect for the Council for 2023/24 to be installed at the Annual 
Meeting to be held at 2.00pm on Friday 19th May 2023. 
 

15 Election of the Vice-Chairman-elect for the Council for 2023/24 to be 
installed at the Annual Meeting to be held at 2:00pm on  Friday, 19 May 
2023 
It was proposed by Councillor Gareth Lloyd and seconded by Councillor 
Euros Davies that Councillor Keith Evans be elected as Vice-Chairman of the 
Council for the ensuing Municipal year, 2023/24 

  
It was unanimously RESOLVED that Councillor Keith Evans be elected Vice-
Chairman-elect for the Council for 2023/24 to be installed at the Annual 
Meeting to be held at 2.00pm on Friday 19th May 2023. 
 

16 Notification of appointment of interim Corporate Lead Officers 
Councillor Bryan Davies, Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Democratic Services, Policy, Performance and People and Organisation 
presented the supplementary agenda item report to Council.  He noted that 
these roles are secondments as opposed to permanent appointments, 
therefore interviews were conducted by a recruitment committee including 
Group Leaders. 

 
The Committee resolved that Mrs Elen James be appointed Corporate Lead 
Officer: Lifelong Learning (and Chief Education Officer) on the basis of a two-
year secondment to commence as soon as possible after 15th May 2023 on a 
salary of £85,381, the third incremental point on the Corporate Lead Officer 

Page 11



 

10 
 

A2 pay scale; and that Mr Clive Williams be appointed Corporate Lead 
Officer: Schools (and Deputy Chief Education Officer) on the basis of a two-
year secondment to commence on 15th May 2023, or as soon as possible 
thereafter on a salary of £80,275, the 4th incremental point on the Corporate 
Lead Officer A1 pay scale (pay awards pending).  Councillor Bryan Davies 
noted that they did seek the approval of the Ysgol Gymraeg Governing Body 
prior to publishing the report. 
 
He acknowledged the contribution of Meinir Ebbsworth the current Corporate 
Lead Officer for Schools and Culture and wished her well in her new role.   

 
Councillor Bryan Davies also noted an extension to the engagement of Ms 
Audrey Somerton-Edwards on an agency basis as the Interim Corporate 
Lead Officer: Porth Cynnal and Statutory director of Social Services for a 
maximum period of 6 months.  He noted that the recruitment process to 
appoint a permanent Officer has commenced and that a Shortlisting 
Committee and Special Council meeting will be convened in due course. 

 
The Council RESOLVED to: 

 
a) note the appointment of the following: 

• Mrs Elen James as interim Corporate Lead Officer: Lifelong Learning 
for a maximum 2 year period, to commence as soon as possible after 
15th May 2023, following the appointment of a replacement for her 
current post; on a salary of £85,381 (the third incremental point on the 
Corporate Lead Officer A2 pay scale). 

• Mr Clive Williams as interim Corporate Lead Officer: Schools for a 
maximum period of 2 years, from 15th May, or as soon as possible 
thereafter, on a salary of £80,275 (the fourth incremental point on the 
Corporate Lead Officer A1 pay scale). 

b)  to note the extension of the engagement of Ms Audrey Somerton-
Edwards’ services as Interim Corporate Lead Officer - Porth Cynnal and 
Statutory Director of Social Services on an agency basis for a maximum of a 
further 6 month period, from 18th April 2023. 
 

Confirmed at the Meeting of the Council held on 15 June 2023 
 

CHAIRMAN:   

Page 12



 

1 
 

Minutes of the Annual Meeting of CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
held at Neuadd y Cyngor, Penmorfa, Aberaeron and remotely via 

video-conferencing  on Friday, 19th May, 2023 
 
PRESENT:  Councillor Ifan Davies (Chair), Councillors Bryan Davies, Catrin M 
S Davies, Clive Davies, Gareth Davies, Gethin Davies, Marc Davies, Meirion 
Davies, Rhodri Davies, Amanda Edwards, Endaf Edwards, Elaine Evans, 
Elizabeth Evans, Eryl Evans, Gwyn Wigley Evans, Keith Evans, Rhodri Evans, 
Wyn Evans, Keith Henson, Paul Hinge, Geraint Hughes, Hugh Hughes, Chris 
James, Ceris Jones, Maldwyn Lewis, Gareth Lloyd, Sian Maehrlein, Ann Bowen 
Morgan, Caryl Roberts, John Roberts, Mark Strong, Wyn Thomas, Matthew 
Vaux, Alun Williams and Carl Worrall. 

(2.15pm - 3.19pm) 
Procedure 
The Chairman of the Council, Councillor Ifan Davies welcomed all to the 
meeting and confirmed that the meeting was being webcasted. 
 

1 Apologies and personal matters 
Apologies 

a)    Councillors Euros Davies and Gwyn James apologised for their inability to 
attend the meeting; 

b)    Eifion Evans, Chief Executive apologised for his inability to attend the 
meeting; 

c)    Elen James, Russell Hughes-Pickering, Elin Prysor and Alun Williams, 
Corporate Lead Officers apologised for their inability to attend the meeting; 

d)    Mr Ben Lake, Member of Parliament apologised for his inability to attend the 
meeting. 
Personal Matters 

a)    The Chair extended his condolences to Eifion Evans, Chief Executive on his 
recent bereavement. 

b)    The Chair, on behalf of Councillor Euros Davies thanked Meinir Ebbsworth, 
Corporate Lead Officer for Schools and Culture for her contribution to the 
service and wished her well in her new role. 

 
2 Review of the Year in Office by the Chairman of the Council 

Councillor Ifan Davies noted that it was a pleasure to address the meeting for 
the last time as Chairman of Ceredigion County Council.  He reflected upon the 
activities of the past year noting that it had been an honour to be a part of it.  He 
contemplated the sad loss of the late Hag Harris, a friend and fellow councillor 
whose contribution had been significant, and he thanked Reverend Aled Lewis, 
Chaplain of the Council for his support and purposeful words. 

  
Councillor Ifan Davies noted that the past year had been very full.  He noted 
that the highlight of his year was undoubtedly the National Eisteddfod, which 
showed the ‘Cardis’ at their best, as well as attending Rali Bae Ceredigion.  He 
noted that it had been an historic year with the death of Queen Elizabeth II, and 
the Coronation of King Charles III, and it was a privilege to represent Ceredigion 
in services at Llandaff and at St Davids Cathedral.  He thanked all the friends 
and acquaintances he had made during the year, and he thanked Councillor 
Maldwyn Lewis and his consort Reverend Carys Ann for their support and 
friendship and wished them well for the coming year.  He thanked the Chief 

Page 13



 

2 
 

Executive, Officers and all staff for their work, the Independent Group for their 
friendship and support and to all Councillors for their support and co-operation, 
and to Councillor Bryan Davies and his wife for their company and friendship. 
 

3 Appreciation of the Council for the services of the retiring Chairman 
during the 2022/23 Municipal Year 
Councillor Rhodri Evans paid tribute to the Chairman, Councillor Ifan Davies for 
his hard work during the past year.  He noted that Councillor Ifan Davies has 
travelled all over Wales and beyond, representing the Council at various events 
and that he has been an excellent ambassador for Ceredigion.  He noted that 
he carried out his work with dignity and efficiency, and kept excellent order, 
ensuring that everyone had the opportunity to speak. He noted that it had been 
an important year, and the memories will stay with him and his Consort, Iona 
forever. 
 

4 Election of Councillor Maldwyn Lewis as Chairman of the Council for the 
ensuing Municipal Year 
It was proposed by Councillor Bryan Davies and seconded by Councillor Gareth 
Davies and unanimously RESOLVED that Councillor Maldwyn Lewis be elected 
Chairman of the Council for the ensuing Municipal year, 2023-24. 
 

5 Declaration of Acceptance of Office by the newly-elected Chairman 
The newly-elected Chairman was presented with his Chain of Office and made 
his declaration of acceptance of office. The Chairman’s Consort, Mrs Carys Ann 
was presented with her Insignia of Office. 
 

6 Address by the Chairman of Council, Councillor Maldwyn Lewis 
Councillor Maldwyn Lewis thanked Councillor Bryan Davies and Councillor 
Gareth Davies for their kind words and thanked his fellow councillors for 
entrusting him with the role of Chairman for the ensuing municipal year. He 
thanked Councillor Ifan Davies for his work during the previous year, noting that 
it was an honour to have been his Vice-Chairman. 
 

7 Election of Councillor Keith Evans as Vice-Chairman of the Council for the 
ensuing Municipal Year 
It was proposed by Councillor Gareth Lloyd and seconded by Councillor Ifan 
Davies and unanimously RESOLVED that Councillor Keith Evans be elected 
Vice-Chairman of the Council for the ensuing Municipal year, 2023-24. 
 

8 Declaration of Acceptance of Office by the newly-elected Vice-Chairman 
The newly-elected Vice-Chairman was presented with his Insignia of Office and 
made his declaration of acceptance of office. The Vice-Chairman’s Consort, Mrs 
Eirlys Evans was presented with her Insignia of Office. 
  

9 Chairman's Chaplain 
It was RESOLVED to note the appointment of the Reverend Carys Ann as the 
Chairman’s Chaplain for the ensuing municipal year, 2023-24. 
 

10 Address by the Leader of the Council, Councillor Bryan Davies 
Councillor Bryan Davies congratulated Councillors Maldwyn Lewis and Keith 
Evans on being elected Chair and Vice-Chair respectively and extended his 

Page 14



 

3 
 

best wishes to Reverend Carys Ann as Consort and Chaplain to the Chairman.  
The Leader also paid tribute to Councillor Ifan Davies on his services during his 
year as Chairman. 

  
The Leader addressed the Council on the main matters which had impacted the 
Council during the previous year, reflecting on changes following the new 
administration in 2022 and their induction programme to assist them in 
becoming specialists in a wide range of areas. 

  
He noted that it had been an exceptionally busy year, with an exceptionally 
successful Eisteddfod and Rali Bae Ceredigion which provides Ceredigion with 
a platform to promote the area and its economy, which is a priority within the 
Corporate Strategy.  He noted that the Strategy had been agreed by Council in 
July which is a key document outlining what we aim to achieve during the 5 
years of the administration.  He noted that setting the budget for 2023-24 had 
been challenging, however he was grateful to receive support from across the 
Council following detailed scrutiny by the relevant committees. 

  
He noted that pupils continued to achieve good results at GCSE and A Level, 
above the national averages, and the Care Inspectorate Wales report which 
considered the Through Age Wellbeing model did not identify any areas of non-
compliance.  During the past year, Cabinet approved the Welsh in Education 
Strategic Plan 2022-2032 and Ceredigion welcomed the Queen’s Baton prior to 
the Commonwealth Games last Summer.  Free School Meals to all pupils from 
reception to Year 4 was introduced in advance of Welsh Government timecales, 
and 3G all-weather pitches have recently been opened at Synod Inn and 
Cardigan and a further one due to be opened at Lampeter, in addition to the 
Wellbeing Centre.   

  
The Leader noted that it had been a privilege to meet businesses throughout 
the County that have invested or received grant funding providing opportunities 
for young people in Ceredigion.  The Arfor 2 scheme has also been launched, 
and the Mid Wales Growth Deal continues to develop.  He noted that a large 
proportion of his work relates to lobbying Ministers from the Welsh Government 
and the UK Government, and that the co-operation between Elin Jones, Senedd 
Member and Ben Lake, Member of Parliament has been an effective tool to 
resolve some of the issues faced by Ceredigion. 

  
He thanked the Cabinet Members for their support, and all Members of Council 
for their co-operation.  He thanked Officers for their tireless work supporting the 
Council’s Overview and Scrutiny function and Committees, and for their 
effective co-operation with Members. 
 

11 To appoint Members of Council to the Committees of the Council for the 
ensuing Municipal Year 
It was RESOLVED to confirm the Membership of the Council’s Committees as 
presented at the meeting. 
 

Confirmed at the Meeting of the Council held on 15 June 2023 
 

CHAIRMAN:   

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Rhagrybudd i Cyngor Llawn (yr un cynta sydd yn bosib) 

"This council requests that Welsh Government uses the opportunity presented by the revamped 
Bovine TB eradication strategy to establish its effectiveness in respect of animal welfare (both 
wildlife and livestock), public health and costs. 
Persistently high infection levels, its impact on both animal welfare and public health combined with 
an ever increasing cost to the public purse suggests that existing measures are not fit for purpose. 
We ask Welsh Government to note and take action on the following points :-

Bovine TB is a communicable disease that should be addressed holistically as both a wildlife and 
farmed animal welfare issue, using a comprehensive suite of measures, guided by the best scientific 
advice available. 

The requirement to frequently test cattle raises stress to livestock and presents a high risk of injury 

and fatalities for those involved in conducting tests for Bovine TB. 
The continuous failure to address Bovine TB triggers significant levels of mental health issues among 

farming families and persons in associated roles. 

Disease outbreaks on holdings need to be dealt with sensitively with effective and simplified 

communication. 

The new publicly appointed Programme Board and Technical Advisory Group should have a balanced 

representation including all impacted stakeholders." 

Cynigydd 

Cyng. Wyn Evans 

Eilydd 

Cyng. Gareth Lloyd 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



Page 18



1 
 

CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
Report to: Council 

 
Date of meeting: 15.06.2023 
  
Title: Statutory Social Services Directors Report 2020-2021 

and 2021-2022 
 

Purpose of the report: To report to Council on the performance of the Ceredigion 
County Council Social Services for the years 2020-2021 
and 2021-2022 in accordance with the Performance 
measurement framework for local authorities 
 

For: Information 
 

Cabinet Portfolio and 
Cabinet Member: 

Cllr Alun Williams, Deputy Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for Through Age and Wellbeing 
 

 
BACKGROUND:  
The Annual Report of the Statutory Director of Social Services content is defined in 
Part 8 of the Social Services & Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 under the “Code of 
Practice on the Role of Directors of Social Services”.   
 
The Annual Report aims to produce a rounded picture of the Social Services 
Department in Ceredigion which provides more timely feedback into planning and 
budgetary processes.  
 
Structure and Content   
The report was completed by Sian Howys the previous Statutory Director of Social 
Services prior to her retirement in October 2022 and is now presented by Audrey 
Somerton Edwards,  Interim Corporate Lead Officer for Porth Cynnal and Statutory 
Director of Social Services.  
.   
The report describes how the Social Services Department in Ceredigion has 
performed during the years (2020 – 2021 and 2021 - 2022). 
  
The report will be used by the Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) to help inform their 
independent evaluation of Ceredigion and their inspection work.   
 

Has an Integrated Impact 
Assessment been completed? 
If, not, please state why 

No 
This is not a policy or 
strategy 

Summary: 
Long term:  
Collaboration:  
Involvement:  
Prevention:  

Wellbeing of Future 
Generations: 

Integration:  

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



2 
 

 
Recommendation(s): To note the content of the report 

 
Reasons for decision:  

 
Overview and 
Scrutiny: 

Presented to Healthier Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 13 April 2023 

 
Policy Framework: 
 

 

Corporate Well-being 
Objectives: 
 

• Creating Caring and Healthy Communities 
• Providing the Best Start in Life and Enabling 

Learning at All Ages 
• Creating Sustainable, Green and Well-connected 

Communities 
 

Finance and 
Procurement 
implications: 
 

None 

Legal Implications: 
 

None 

Staffing implications: 
 

None 

Property / asset 
implications: 
 

None 

Risk(s):  
 

None 

Statutory Powers: 
 

The Director’s report is a statutory requirement of the 
Social Services and Wellbeing Act 2014 
 

Background Papers: 
 

None 

Appendices: None 
 
Corporate Lead 
Officer: 

Audrey Somerton Edwards, Interim Corporate Lead 
Officer Porth Cynnal, and Statutory Director of Social 
Services 
 

Reporting Officer:  
 

Date: 01.06.2023 
 

Page 20



    

 

 
 
 
   

 

 
 

Ceredigion County Council 
 

Sian Howys 
 

DRAFT 
 
 
 

Page 21



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 2 of 64 
 

1. Introduction           3 
The Through Age and Wellbeing Integrated Service Delivery Model    5 
Ceredigion’s COVID-19 Response         6 
 

2 Summary of Performance          7 
Adult and Commissioning Services Summary       7 
Children and Families Services Summary        14 
 

3 How Are People Shaping Our Services?        21 
Learning Disability Strategy 2018-2023 and Improvement Action Plan    22 
Adverse Childhood Experiences         24 
Ceredigion Safe Stars Children and Young People Safeguarding Group facilitated by TGP  25 
Carer Support and Engagement         25 
Ceredigion Family Support and Early Help Services      26 
Ceredigion Support and Prevention Services       28 
Foster Carers Engagement and Support        31 
Care Inspectorate Wales Activity         32 
Complaints and Compliments         33 
 

4 Promoting and Improving the Well-being of Those We Help     41 
What did we plan to do last year?         41 
How far did we success in working towards those priorities?     42 
Ceredigion’s COVID-19 Response         44 
Tackling Hardship Strategy          48 
Ceredigion Local Authority Housing Services       48 
Summary of Well-being Outcomes 2020-2021       51 
What are our priorities for next year and why?       52 
 

5 How We Do What We Do          54 
How we have supported the professional development of the Social Care Workforce  54 
Our Financial Resources and How We Plan for The Future      60 
Our Partnership Working, Political and Corporate Leadership, Governance and Accountability 61 
 

6 Accessing Further Information and Key Documents      64 
 

  

Page 22



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 3 of 64 
 

1. Introduction  
As the Director of Ceredigion Social Services between July 2020 and March 2021, I have the 
pleasure of presenting the 2020-2021 Annual Report.  This has been an unprecedented year in so 
many ways due to the Covid 19 Global Pandemic and public health emergency. Promoting the 
safety and wellbeing of the residents of Ceredigion in the context of the far-reaching implications of 
Covid 19 has been extremely challenging.  
 

From the outset, Ceredigion County Council has taken 
stringent measures to manage the risk of the spread of 
Covid 19 and we have throughout the year been proactive 
and robust in prioritizing the protection of and support for 
the residents of Ceredigion. I must at the outset 
acknowledge with gratitude the commitment and 
dedication of my colleagues and all staff for the way they 

have responded to the Covid 19 crisis and made the necessary adjustments to ensure the 
continuity and safe delivery of key social care services during the periods of lockdown and the 
Covid restrictions. 
 
With this annual report, the aim is to evaluate the performance of the Local Authority in relation to 
the delivery of its Social Services functions in respect of the 2020-2021 financial year.  The impact 
of Covid-19 in relation to social care services has been very significant across all areas of the 
Council’s work. It has also affected our capacity to provide specific information for this report, I 
have however ensured to the best of my ability that the information available has been provided to 
set out how the agreed wellbeing outcomes in Ceredigion have been met. 
 
The annual report content is defined in Part 8 of the Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 
2014 (SSWBA) under the ‘Code of Practice on the Role of Directors of Social Services’, which 
provides a requirement for an annual report to detail how the Local Authority has been working 
towards achieving the quality standards of well-being outcomes. 
 
The eight well-being outcomes are: 

• Securing rights and entitlements 
• Physical and mental health and emotional well-being 
• Protection from abuse and neglect 
• Education, training, and recreation 
• Domestic, family, and personal relationships  
• Contribution made to society 
• Social and economic well-being 
• Suitability of living accommodation 

 
The six quality standards used to measure the Local Authority’s performance against the wellbeing 
outcomes are: 

• Working with people to define and co-produce personal well-being outcomes that people 
wish to achieve 

• Working with people and partners to protect and promote people’s physical and mental 
health and emotional well-being 

Page 23



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 4 of 64 
 

• Taking steps to protect and safeguard people from abuse, neglect, or harm 
• Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop and participate in society  
• Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic, family, and personal 

relationships 
• Working with and supporting people to achieve greater economic well-being, have a social 

life and live in suitable accommodation that meets their needs 
 
This report has been written for a wide audience, with the intention that it is made available to 
everyone.  In compiling this report, I’ve considered specifically the following groups: 
 

• Service users and carers and all those whose well-being is affected by what the local 
authority’s social services and related functions do, so that the impact of those services is 
explained 

• The public who has an interest in what their local authority is doing, how it is performing and 
how their money is being spent 

• Elected members and others involved in scrutiny processes 
• The local authority’s partners including both formal partners and others in the public, private 

and third sectors who need to understand the local authority’s programme and priority 
objectives 

• Regulators (including the Wales Audit Office, CIW, Social Care Wales, and the Statutory 
Commissioners) 

• The Welsh Government 
  

Page 24



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 5 of 64 
 

The Through Age and Well-being Integrated Service Delivery Model 
 

 
 
During 2020-2021, the implementation of the Integrated Through Age and Well-being Service 
Model was delayed by the impact of the pandemic and the need to prioritise actions in relation to 
our Covid 19 response. However, the achievements of the previous year provided a sound basis for 
continued development of the strategic aims of the model.  The model focuses on people’s 
strengths, enabling them and their families where they need help and developing resilience within 
our communities.     
 
Phase 1 of the corporate restructure was completed in April 2018 with the recruitment of 2 
Corporate Directors and 12 Corporate Lead Officers (CLOs) to cover the responsibilities of all 
service areas.  
 
The implementation of the Integrated Through Age and Well-being Service Delivery Model changes 
the roles and responsibilities of some of the Corporate Lead Officer posts and the teams across the 
Local Authority, not only in Social Care. The 3 Corporate lead Officers, Porth Cymorth Cynnar, Porth 
Gofal and Porth Cynnal have led the change management processes to support the development 
and delivery of the model. 
 
The Corporate Manager roles have been operational since March 2020 and throughout 2020-2021 
the team have collaborated well and have taken forward several key strategic developments across 
the Pyrth. The Corporate Managers have worked hard on defining functions and pathways between 
the various teams and services, the setting up of proposals in preparation for the second Phase of 
the restructuring of Team Management and the configuration of services whilst also implementing 
Covid 19 measures. The model is now named the Through Age and Wellbeing Programme and it 
has gained considerable momentum in all the four main service areas. 
 

• Clic Customer Contact – Initial point of contact and referral 
• Porth Cymorth Cynnar – Early intervention and Prevention 
• Porth Gofal –Triage, Assessment, Targeted Intervention and Direct Services 
• Porth Cymorth Cynnal – Specialist Care and Support Through Age Services 

 
 

Page 25



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 6 of 64 
 

Ceredigion’s Covid 19 Response  
 
From the outset of the pandemic, Ceredigion County Council identified a clear vision and 
framework of action to ensure Ceredigion succeeded in not only reducing predicted deaths through 
the first peak but also for any future predicted peaks. The defined phases of our response have 
been; 
 

• Phase 1 - Preparedness – Closing down of all non-essential services 
• Phase 2 - Implementation – Delivering services under lockdown and controlled conditions 
• Phase 3 - Adjustment and long- term resilience 
• Phase 4 - Recovery 

 
A range of measures have been taken throughout 2020-2021 to protect the most vulnerable 
people in our care homes, schools and in the community. At the close of the period of this report, 
we currently have one of the lowest Covid 19 rates in Wales and are at Phase 3 of our response in 
planning for further adjustments with the aim of doing all we can to maintain this low rate and to 
build longer term resilience and recovery in our communities.  
 

 
Sian Howys 
Statutory Director of Social Services 
Corporate Lead Officer – Porth Cynnal 
  

Page 26



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 7 of 64 
 

2. Summary of Performance 
As laid out under section 145 of the Social Services and Wellbeing act, the Performance 
Measurement framework is used as a gauge of performance of local authorities’ social services 
functions.  This section will illustrate how the service has performed over the past year. It must be 
noted that following Welsh Government direction minimal reporting was completed due to the 
Covid 19 pandemic and the report reflects this.  
 

Adult and Commissioning Services Summary  
The performance of services for adults is satisfactory with priority given to adhering to local, 
regional, and national Covid 19 regulations, guidance and protocols in collaboration with partner 
agency whilst participating fully in all multi -agency forums dealing with the pandemic.   
 
The continued development of key service areas such as Clic for initial contact and signposting to 
Porth Gofal for advice and assistance, triage and proportionate assessment forms the basis of our 
future model. Opportunities for developing and enhancing prevention services within Porth Cymorth 
Cynnar continues as another key element with Covid 19 adjustments such as Community 
Connectors providing online support and welfare phone calls. 
 
Adult Safeguarding 
Ceredigion Adult Safeguarding Service complied with the regionally and nationally agreed protocols 

for carrying out safeguarding duties to 
adults at risk during the pandemic.  
Risk assessments were completed for 
all necessary visits and virtual 
working was implemented whenever 
possible. This measure shows the 
percentage of adult protection 
enquiries completed within 7 days.  
There has been a reduction in 
2020/2021 which relates to the 
impact of Covid on staff sickness and 
absence rates and the need to 
prioritise high risk cases.  An enquiry 
should normally be completed within 
seven working days of the report.  
This of course would not prevent 

immediate action being taken when necessary to protect an adult at risk. 
 
Delayed Transfers of Care 
This year, the delayed transfers of care measure has significantly increased due to the impact that 
COVID has had on services such as the availability of residential placement and domiciliary care 
with lockdown and infection outbreak control measures.  A delayed transfer of care is experienced 
by an inpatient in a hospital, who is ready to move on to the next stage of care but is prevented 
from doing so for one or more reasons such as service provision due to the need for care and 
support. Ceredigion County Council made the decision in April 2020 to adopt the COVID-19 Hospital 

97% 98%

81%
73%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

The percentage of adult protection enquiries completed 
within 7 days

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Page 27



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 8 of 64 
 

Discharge Service Requirements (Wales). However, it also decided that by adhering to the 
Guidance in its entirety it would potentially expose the residential care homes to risks of infection 
that could have catastrophic consequences. In order to mitigate this risk and protect the service 
users and staff within the homes, the decision was made that new admissions to residential care 
homes would only be accepted following a negative Covid 19 test result, proof of testing and the 
result will need to be provided prior to accepting the admission. For service users who needed to 
return to the home following a period of acute care the same arrangement was applied.  
 

Porth Gofal has strong connections with 3rd 
Sector Services which have been utilized 
whenever possible to support those who 
have low level needs for support following 
discharge form hospital. Porth Gofal’s 
ethos is one of integrated working with our 
Health colleagues with triage being the 
main hub for coordination of hospital 
discharges. This has ensured that the 
person has the right support at the right 
time by the right professional, building on 
the person’s strengths and network and 
promoting self-resilience to regain their 

independence.  Hospital discharges continue to be a priority within the Porth Gofal service and for 
that to happen safely within the confines of nationally and locally agreed Covid protocols. 
 
Enablement  
Enablement is ordinarily a short and intensive service, usually delivered in the home, which is 
offered to people with disabilities and those who are frail or recovering from an illness or injury.  
 
2020-2021 Referrals received actioned and closed by Enablement 

2020/21 Total 
Referrals 

Enablement Long 
Term 

Closed Started 

Apr-20 28 23 5 7 21 

May-20 55 45 10 14 41 

June-20 42 28 14 9 33 

Jul-20 41 31 10 11 30 

Aug-20 34 23 11 13 21 

Sep-20 33 19 14 16 17 

Oct-20 59 33 26 32 27 

Nov-20 52 27 25 22 30 

2.5%
3.8% 4.3%

8.3%

0.0%
1.0%
2.0%
3.0%
4.0%
5.0%
6.0%
7.0%
8.0%
9.0%

The rate of delayed transfers of care for social care 
reasons per 1,000 population aged 75 or over 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Page 28



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 9 of 64 
 

Dec-20 53 34 19 7 46 

Jan-21 43 27 16 21 22 

Feb-21 52 31 21 24 28 

Mar-21 60 49 11 32 28 

TOTAL 552 370 182 208 344 

 
Totals per month of individuals in receipt of Enablement and hours delivered 
 
A total of 4072.38 hours of Enablement service was provided in 2020/21. A total of 336 
individuals were re-abled and discharged from the service.  
 
In January 21 – March 21 of the 24 long term care bridging cases that were accepted, 8 were 
reduced by Enablement intervention by 45.75 hours. This has reinforced our new model of 
development to assess long term needs through the lens of an enablement focus. 
 
The service has continued to deliver an important service in promoting early discharge from 
hospital and promoting independence within the Covid control protocols. The service has been able 
to deliver positive outcomes for individuals despite significant pressures in our commissioned 
domiciliary care services. The in-house enablement service has continued to help hundreds of 
people regain their independence and live at home with little or no need for support from statutory 
services. The underlying principles of early intervention, de-escalation and reablement continue to 
be part of the golden thread of our transformation of social care services. 

During 20201-2021, the service also expanded its staffing capacity to include the provision of 
support for longer term domicilliary support utilizing specific Covid 19 funding and in order to 
address the impact of increased pressures on the independnet providers of  domicilliary care in the 
county 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 10 of 64 
 

Adults supported in residential care homes 
 

Residential care provides a range of options for individuals who require 24hour care. These include 
short term, temporary and permanent placements. There are various residential care options 
available, depending on the needs of the individual. Ceredigion operates five residential care 
homes itself and commissions with several private companies both in Ceredigion and further afield.   
 
This year there has been a decrease in the average amount of time spent in residential homes and 
that could well be attributed to the Pandemic and the impact of the infection outbreaks.  
Very early on, the Local Authority developed an Infection, Prevention and Control Protocol. This 
ensured that the workforce and health colleagues had clear guidance to follow in relation to 
minimizing the opportunity for the transmission of the virus within the care homes. 
 
A protocol was also developed to ensure that key communication could be shared with the social 
care independent sector. 
 
Throughout this service during Covid 19 we have ensured multi-professional and clinical support 
via technology to support communication with professionals or safe visits from GP’s, mental health, 
dementia, OT/allied health professions  
 
A Regional Escalation Policy was developed with local arrangements agreed and this was shared 
across the sector. 
 
Daily SitRep across all care homes have been completed 7 days a week in order to identify 
potential issues or concerns so that issues were actioned quickly. 
 
The local authority invested at a very early point in conferencing facilities to ensure that families 
could have access technology to maintain contact whilst face to face visiting was suspended. Later 
in the year, the Council supported the planning and development of outdoor visiting facilities when 
alert levels were reduced. This also progressed with the Independent Sector through the assistance 
of the Wales Co-operative Centre who have provided equipment, training, and support to enable 
technology to be accessed and used.  This programme of work received national press coverage. 
 

946 929 944 908

0

500

1000

The average length of time (days) adults (aged 65 or 
over) are supported in residential care homes 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

81 87 86 86

0

50

100

Average age of adults entering residential care 
homes

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Page 30



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 11 of 64 
 

Advice and Assistance for adults 

Section 17 of the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 places a 
duty on local authorities to secure the 
provision of an information, advice, 
and assistance (IAA) service.  The Porth 
Gofal team are trained and have a high 
knowledge of preventative 3rd sector 
services within the local area.  The 
team also works closely with Porth 
Cymorth Cynnar to address and de-
escalate those with low level needs at 
the first point of contact in 
collaboration with the person. 
 
All referrals that are not deescalated 
by information only are passed through 
to the integrated triage team for a proportionate assessment. The Multi -Disciplinary Team (MDT) 
will provide a holistic assessment using SOS to identify what advice and assistance is required to 
support and deescalate the situation further. The MDT can provide specialist professional 
knowledge which includes OT, Physiotherapy, Nursing and Social work. The MDT will also refer on to 
other professionals within the Health Board for support if required. With the Covid 19 restrictions, 
the team have been working virtually with risk assessments completed for all face-to-face contact. 
  

N/A 

478

2796

584
0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

Outcomes of new assessments completed for adults during the 
year

Care and support plan Any other means No eligible needs

Page 31



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 12 of 64 
 

Provision of Domiciliary Care 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

250

260

270

280

290

300

310

320

330

People in Receipt of Domiciliary care - 2020-21

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

21/09/20 21/10/20 21/11/20 21/12/20 21/01/21 21/02/21 21/03/21

Number on Domiciliary Care Waiting List 

Page 32



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 13 of 64 
 

During the period 2020-09-21 to 2021-03-21, the number of people waiting for domiciliary care 
fluctuated between a low of 26 and a high of 51 but has been between 30 and 40 since December 
2020. 
 
We continued to enjoy good working relationships with most providers which gives us a good basis 
on which to build, allowing us to work closely with the market through the peaks and troughs and in 
the face of all the challenges of the impact of Covid 19. Providers continue to feedback that their 
regular meetings with Ceredigion County Council have been beneficial and informative in terms of 
implementing local and national Covid protocols on the safe delivery of personal care and infection 
control and the distribution of PPE. Providers can raise important issue and trends can be identified 
and escalated when necessary, ensuring their voices are heard regionally.  
 
We have several remote, isolated areas in which it is very difficult to procure care, and this became 
even more of a challenge during Covid 19 with providers facing significant staffing challenges. In 
order to facilitate the release of pressure in certain areas and to aide hospital discharges we during 
the pandemic utilized our in-house Enablement team to support with the demand for services.  
 

  

Total hours of 
home care 
purchased from 
independent 
sector 

Comments 

       
2017/18 239470.73 551 individuals received commissioned dom care        
2018/19 241300.18 571 individuals received commissioned dom care        
2019/20 234499.18 540 individuals received commissioned dom care        
2020/21 209780.61 487 individuals received commissioned dom care        

 
A number of our providers offer care services to Pembrokeshire, Carmarthenshire and Powys and 
are able to fill the gaps in their rotas across county lines.  There are currently 14 main providers 
operating within the main domiciliary care market in Ceredigion at 31st March 2021. 
 
Day Services  
The Day Centers were closed during this period and the Centre based services to Disabled Adults 
and Older Adults were suspended. Service Adjustments were made with Porth Cynnal and Porth 
Gofal Teams, Social Care and Health and Safety Risk Assessments were completed and Infection 
Control Measures adhered to in order to ensure safe respite and support arrangements for the 
most vulnerable supplemented with regular virtual and keep in touch calls.  
 
Mental Wellbeing Services  
Risk assessments and Health and Safety Assessments were completed by the Porth Cynnal teams 
staff and infection control measures adhered to with continuation of Mental Health Act assessment 
and statutory support for people experiencing mental health difficulties and illness and their carers.  
 
Substance Misuse Service  
Risk assessments and Health and Safety Assessments were completed, and infection control 
measures adhered to by the Porth Cynnal Team staff with continuation of assessment and 

Page 33



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 14 of 64 
 

statutory care and support for people experiencing difficulties and dependency with substance 
misuse and their carers.  
 
Extended Support  
Risk assessments and Health and Safety Assessments were completed, and infection control 
measures adhered to by the Porth Cynnal Team staff with continuation of assessment and 
statutory care and support for people with disabilities and their carers.  
 
Planned Care 
Risk assessments and Health and Safety Assessments were completed, and infection control 
measures adhered to by the Porth Cynnal Team staff with continuation of assessment and 
statutory care and support for adults with longer term care and support needs. 
 

Children and Families Services  
During this year, Porth Cynnal and Porth Cymorth Cynnar teams collaborated closely with schools 
service and key partner agencies to safeguard and support Children and Young people in 
Ceredigion and continue to meet statutory duties within the requirements of regionally and 
nationally agreed Covid 19 protocols and guidance, The significant  impact of Covid 19 on children 
and families has been evident in terms of the reduced visibility of children and lack of access to 
community support and an increase in support needs for children and young people’s mental and 
emotional wellbeing .  
 
During the lockdown periods and closure of schools, services worked closely with Schools Service 
to ensure that children at risk of harm and in need of care and support were able to attend the 
School Hubs for support. 
 
Respite and support arrangements were prioritised for disabled children and families and looked 
after children within the confines of the Covid 19 restrictions  
 
With the easing of restrictions during the summer, children in receipt of care and support or of 
preventative services were able to access summer of fun activities arranged by Porth Cynnal and 
Porth Cymorth Cynnar services in collaboration with partners whilst adhering to Covid 19 safety 
measures. 
 
The Child Protection Register has fluctuated during 2020/21, the Child Protection Register with 29 
children as at March 31st. This is a reduction on the end of year figure for 2019/2020. 
 
The number of Ceredigion Looked After Children has increased to 86 as at the 31 March 2021. 
This increase is being closely monitored and the impact of Covid 19 on the ability to keep children 
safe within their homes and in the community has been evident.  
 
The availability of Early intervention and Prevention activities have been affected greatly by Covid 
19. Wherever possible support services have been offered virtually.  
  

Page 34



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 15 of 64 
 

Outcome of Assessments  
 
Risk assessments were completed 
for all necessary home or face to 
face visits. Virtual working was 
implemented for multi -agency 
meetings with support provided for 
families to participate. Cases were 
prioritized with regard to risk of 
harm from abuse or neglect. Staff 
worked within the risk and practice 
framework developed by Welsh 
Government and with other local 
and regional protocols. 

 
 

Supporting Children to remain living with their families 
Supporting children to live with their 
families is one of the main goals of 
the Porth Cynnal services.  Wherever 
possible, it is considered the best 
outcome for children. This measure 
compares the number of children 
supported as Looked After Children 
(a child who has been in the care of 
their local authority for more than 24 
hours) to the number of children who 
are supported outside of these types 
of arrangements.  
 
 
 

In 2020-21 we saw a further increase in the 
number of Looked After Children generally 
and a slight decrease in those returned 
home from care which reflects the increase 
in complex cases that are having to be 
managed and Covid 10 impact. The Edge of 
Care service contues to provide a key 
service with practical support for safer 
parenting. However, this area of work has 
been impacted by the Pandemic with less 
easy access to support in the community 
and greater diffiuclty to manage risk of harm 

in the child’s home or in the community.  
 

105

1121 1178

0
200
400
600
800

1000
1200
1400

Outcomes of new assessments completed for children during the 
year

Care and support plan Any other means No eligible needs

16% 17% 17% 26%

84% 83%
83%

74%

391 362
412

328

0

100

200

300

400

500

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

The percentage of children supported to remain living with their 
family at 31st March, who had a care and support plan for at 

least 3 months

LAC CIN

24%

9%

18% 17%

0%

10%

20%

30%

The percentage of looked after children returned 
home from care during the year

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Page 35



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 16 of 64 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Child Protection Register (CPR) 
The child protection register provides a record of 
all children in the area with unresolved 
safeguarding issues and who are currently the 
subject of an inter-agency safeguarding plan.  The 
number of children on the child protection register 
at the end of the year has decreased, with a 
reduction in the time that the child remains on the 
register and there were no re-registrations during 
this year. 
 
 

 
During this year, the Safeguarding Service have worked closely with Police to ensure the safe 
completion of child protection enquires and investigations within Covid 19 requirements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8%

5%

11%

0%
0%

5%

10%

15%

The percentage of re-registrations of children on 
local authority Child Protection Registers (CPR) 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

226

322
274 254

0

100

200

300

400

The average length of time for all children who were 
on the CPR during the year 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

67 74
55

29
0

50

100

Children on the Child Protection Register as at 31st 
March 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

63 63
74

86

0

50

100

Looked After Children active as at 31st March 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Page 36



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 17 of 64 
 

Health of our Looked after children 
The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (Wales) Regulations 2015 state that the 
responsible authority must ensure that a looked after child is under the care of a registered dental 
practitioner as soon as practicable and in any event not later than 20 working days after the 
placement is made. 
 

 
NICE Clinical Guideline [CG19] – ‘Dental checks: intervals between oral health reviews’ sets out the 
guidance on the frequency of dental checks.  This is based on the individual patient’s risk factors 
for dental disease. Looked After Children are generally considered to be at increased risk of dental 
disease and it is, therefore, expected that most Looked After Children would be put on recall for 
either three months or six months. In 2020-21 we saw a further drop in the percentage of children 
seen by a dentist within 3 months of becoming looked after and this is an issue that is being 
considered and adressed by Hywel Dda University Health Board as there have been difficulties due 
to Covid and staffing of dental practices. 
 
These regulations also state that responsible authorities must ensure that a looked after child is 
registered with a GP as soon as is practicable and in any event not later than ten working days after 
the placement is made. As you can see from the graph in 2020-21 we met our target of 100% of 
Looked After Children being registered with a GP. 
 
Looked after children – stability of placements 
Research has shown that frequent moves can 
negatively affect children. Breakdowns, or 
unplanned moves, are much less likely in younger 
children. In comparison, 'teenage’ placements 
have a higher chance of breaking down. 
 

70%
80%

38%
26%

0%

50%

100%

The percentage of children seen by a registered 
dentist within 3 months of becoming looked after 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

100% 100% 98% 100%

0%

50%

100%

The percentage of children looked after at 31 March 
who were registered with a GP within 10 working 

days of the start of their placement

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

19%
16%

4%
7%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

Percentage of looked after children who have experienced 
1 or more changes of school, during periods of being 

looked after, which were not due to transitional 
arrangements

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Page 37



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 18 of 64 
 

It is not fully understood whether placement moves themselves produce poor outcomes for 
children or whether this is due to children’s previous experiences and difficulties. There are two 
main measures which try to illustrate placement stability. The first looks at the number of times a 
child has had to change school (not including 
where a child moves from primary to secondary 
school) and the second looks at how many times 
a child has had more than two changes of 
placement. These measures are long-standing 
and can give an insight into the long-term 
performance of a service. The downside of both 
measures is that they are particularly susceptible 
to change due to the low numbers of children 
included in them.  The increase evidenced in 
2019-20 and remaining at that percentage in 
2020-21 regarding chldren having 3 or more 
placement moves is what we believe to be a 
consequence of Covid and the difficulty of trying to place the children with different carers when the 
children have complex needs and due to restrictions only being able to offer limited/online support 
as well as the carers having the children at home even on school days. With regards to the low 
percentage of children having 1 or more changes of school as a service we continue to work closely 
with our education colleagues and try to ensure that a school move is only ever considered when 
appropiate for the child i.e. moving to their local school having stabilised in placement, or where we 
have been unable to succesfully identify a placement where it is manageable to support the child 
contiuing to attned their school. However the low measure taking into consideration the increase in 
the number of Looked After Children is again illustrative of the success of the work being 
undertaken within our Planned Care Service. 
 
  

6%

3%

9% 9%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

The percentage of looked after children on 31 
March who have had three or more placements 

during the year 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Page 38



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 19 of 64 
 

Young People Leaving Care 
Leaving care is a term used to reference a group of children who are between 16 and 18 yrs old 
and have previously been in care but are no longer legally “looked after” by the Local Authority.  
When children leave care, we still have a duty to support these people until the age of 21, or 25 if 
they are in full time education or have a disability. 
 
For this cohort of young people Covid has been a particularly difficult period with challenges for 
some with loosing employment, accommodation, and increased isolation during lockdown. It is 
disappointing to see a drop in the percentage of young people within 12 months of becoming care 
leavers who are in employment education or training. However, it is positive that there was a 
significant increase in those accessing some form of education/employment who have accessed 
the leaving care service for 24 months. It is also pleasing to note a decrease in the percentage of 
young people presenting as homeless in 2020-21. The Local Authority continue to work on their 
projects and strategies to address the need for appropriate accommodation for care leavers and 
work closely with registered social landlords and external agencies in our area to look at ways of 
addressing the situation. The Local Authority will continue to prioritise this issue and raise its profile 
accordingly. The personal Advisers continued to support Care Leavers well during this difficult 
period of time.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

57% 50%

71%

50%

0%

50%

100%

The percentage of all care leavers who are in 
education, training or employment at 12 months 

after leaving care 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

50% 57% 50%

71%

0%

50%

100%

The percentage of all care leavers who are in 
education, training or employment at 24 months 

after leaving care 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

14%
18%

23%
19%

0%

10%

20%

30%

The percentage of care leavers who have 
experienced homelessness during the year

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Page 39



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 20 of 64 
 

Operation Encompass 
 

 

 
Operational Encompass became live in Ceredigion in November 2019.  It has been working 
consistently well since its launch, with sharing of information daily with Schools (or as notifications 
are received).  There have been a few notifications received from time to time regarding families 
from neighboring authorities on the border of Ceredigion, however this information is also 
forwarded accordingly.  Since lockdown, the sharing of information changed from telephone calls to 
emails, and the Information Sharing Protocol was then amended to accommodate this.  It is noted 
however that the full email notification is not shared with Schools in its entirety, each report is 
edited to include only the victim/alleged offender details.  Children details, whether they were 
present, time/date and summary of the incident.  Schools are fully briefed on the support services 
available for children who have been exposed to incidents either within their homes, or within their 
own relationships, these include Spectrum (Hafan Cymru) and West Wales Domestic Abuse Service.  
To ensure that Schools remain fully sighted on their pupil’s safety and wellbeing, the School’s 
Safeguarding Service continue to share notifications also throughout the school holidays, therefore 
is not limited to term time only.  The figures within the above table reflect the number of referrals 
received, which were noticeably higher during lockdown periods. 
  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Reports to Operation Encompass of domestic incidents 
involving chidlren 

2020 2021

Page 40



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 21 of 64 
 

3. How Are People Shaping Our Services?  
Ceredigion County Council, Social Care Services ordinarily engages with citizens and stakeholders 
through various methods. We take “call back” type feedback within Clic and Porth Gofal services. 
We ordinarily engage with various boards and groups, for example, Safe Stars Junior Safeguarding 
Board, LAC Group, Disability Forum, 50+ Forum, Mental Health Transformation Boards, where we 
share future and promote feedback regarding the redesign of service delivery. We also learn from 
CIW inspections, Welsh Audit Office inspections and Child and Adult Practice Reviews as they occur.  
We meet with Town and Community Councils to share our plans for future developments and to 
take feedback on these plans 
 
During 2020-2021, with the impact of Covid 19 face to face and other routine engagement 
exercises with service users have been severely restricted.  
 
Nonetheless, feedback from the public in receipt of support services has been regularly collated 
and considered with key groups such as Safe Stars creating a whole programme of engagement 
and support for children and young people online.  
 
Summary of Examples of ensuring service user voice and control during 2020-2021; 
 

• Roll out of person - centred practice in assessment, care planning and reviewing; use of 
Signs of Safety and Well-being, work on developing forms and pathways informed 
by practitioners and managers 

• Flexible use of direct payments; in lieu of residential care and day care 
• Use of technology to ensure virtual service user feedback  
• Respite questionnaire to inform support during Covid 19 for disabled children and families   
• Development of feedback questionnaire for those involved with adult safeguarding   
• School counselling service; listening to children's views re virtual methods  
• LAC reviews, Child Protection Conferences, Care and Support Reviews held virtually 
• Use of commissioned virtual advocacy services for children and adults 
• All recipients of Domiciliary care/Enablement given opportunity to stand down/reduce 

provision to limit risk 
• Learning from outbreaks within specific areas has enabled policies and procedures to be 

reviewed and revised (specifically in care homes i.e. use of PPE, safe zones, IPC etc) 
• Transformation programme 1 – Connect programme roll out 
• Youth Satisfaction Survey and Sessional feedback forms 
• Feedback from children and young people’s play activities  
• Feedback from Ceredigion Youth Council and Safe Stars Group 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 22 of 64 
 

Learning Disability Strategy 2018-2023 and Improvement Action 
Plan 
Ceredigion is an active participant in the Regional Lives Improvement Group (RLIP).  This group 
ordinarily alternates bi-monthly between a business meeting and a meeting led and chaired by the 
Dream Team.  The Dream Team is a group of service users, supported by Pembrokeshire Peoples 
First, who actively support the regional group, particularly with use of Integrated Care Funding. 
 
Services for Disabled Children, Prevention and Transition were inspected by Care Inspectorate 
Wales in the 4th quarter of 2019-2020.  The Action Plan created in response to issues raised has 
been implemented albeit that progress on certain aspects has been hindered by Covid 19 and 
adjustments made.  
 
Progress on the Action plan 
 
1.1  Ensure that children and their families can be clear about what support they can access, 

how and when and where. 
• Service specification and revised working agreement with Health has been implemented  
• Client strategy has been drafted with levels of service regarding offer of support 
• Staffing structure for the TAW has been agreed with planning for next phase  
• Communication information re new offer of care and support and preventative services 

from LA and Health has been circulated and discussion on any queries from families 
 
1.2 Equip and support staff to complete and record good quality assessments and care plans 

that meet all statutory requirements including the child’s communication needs 
• Staff have completed outcome and assessment focused training and Covid 10 risk 

assessment has been implemented 
• Monthly staff supervision is in place to quality assure live cases. 
• Use of 1-page profiles for children on their WCCIS record. 
• Mapping of staff’s communication skills has been completed and training needs has 

been identified. Some staff can use Makaton where needed 
 
1.2 Equip and support staff to identify assess and provide support when required for carers in 

accordance with statutory requirements.  
• Staff have identified carers and offered carers support needs assessment  
• Staff training re carers assessments has been completed. 
• Staff will record reason for refusal of carers assessment if this is the case. 

 
2.1 Establish the Disability Register in compliance with SSWBA requirements and use it to 

inform future service development and strategic commissioning. 
• The Register is ready to go live, and this will initially sit in Porth Gofal, but moving to Clic 

once they are set up. 
 
 
 

Page 42



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 23 of 64 
 

2.2 Improved service delivery and range of support services available for disabled children and 
their families in accordance with their needs. 
• Multi agency reviews held with families to identify needs using virtual means due to 

Covid 19 
• Local complex needs panel will discuss care and support packages and joint 

commissioning monthly. 
• Service requests forms are completed for each new service such and Direct payments 

are now supported in house 
• Camu Mlaen will consider all year 9 students who might be eligible for the service and 

work with them and their families to ensure a smooth transition into the scheme when 
deemed appropriate to meeting their educational need post 18 

• DASH have been provided with the contract to offer respite weekends to some of the 
young people identified as in need of this provision. Respite provision has been affected 
by Covid 19 restrictions. 

 
2.3 The Local Authority and the Health Board work effectively together in the provision of 

support and review and develop existing commissioning arrangements for disabled children 
and their families. 
• Service specification is implemented. 
• Regional action plan and regional children’s outcomes group has recently been 

established. 
• Weekly tracking meeting are held between Extended Support and health colleagues to 

discuss cases and identify the most suitable person to work with the young person. 
 

2.4 Children and young people can receive greater support for independence and enhance 
outcomes through the use of assistive technology 
• The local authority has put in a bid for RIF funding to be able to progress this service. 

 
3.1 Develop an effective quality assurance framework, underpinned by effective managerial 

oversight of its core functions and processes. 
• SOS template and methods are being used in staff supervision. 
• QA framework to be developed as an audit tool for managers to undertake random 

audit checks on cases. 
• Managers have had training on supervision skills. 
• IPC Programme of support for managers in Extended Support. 

 
 
 

Page 43



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 24 of 64 
 

Adverse Childhood Experiences 
Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) are traumatic events 
that affect children. These could happen whilst growing up, 
being abused, or living in a household affected by domestic 
violence, substance misuse or mental illness  
 

In 2019-2020 all frontline staff in 
Ceredigion were made ACE aware (a 
total of 1829) following a training 
needs analysis across services. 
 
During the last year, 2020-2021, 
other training sessions have been 
offered to staff to ensure that we are 
able to provide earlier interventions 
and help our professionals care for 
and support children, young people, 
and their families. 
 
 

COVID had a huge impact on training during 2020-2021 due to the restrictions in place.  However, 
we have achieved the following key developments,  

• 12 new members of staff complete ACES awareness training to ensure a consistent 
approach to the understanding of trauma and the effects on children and young people. 

• Face to face training in Team Teach was able to take place in May and June 2021 for a 
number of Support and Prevention Staff. 

• 5 members of the Support and Prevention staff were trained in the STAR programme which 
covers domestic abuse and respectful relationships. 

• 13 members of Support and Prevention staff received training in Drawing and Talking 
therapy to be able to support children, young people and adults who may be suffering from 
trauma or poor mental health. 

• Staff within Support and Prevention have also received training in ‘Self Harm and Suicide 
Awareness’ due to the nature of the referrals being sent in for support for children and 
young people both in the community and in school. 

• 9 members of staff have completed a ‘Creative Counselling’ course. 
• Trauma Recovery Model training was delivered to 6 members of staff with TRM being 

adapted to an online provision and booked for February 2022. 
• A 3-day Trauma Recovery Model practitioner training was given to 43 staff within Support 

and Prevention including PRU staff.  TRM was developed in a response to the complex 
needs of children and young people with multiple adverse childhood experiences. 

• Due to COVID and certain restrictions the planned sessions of Team Teach had to take 
place when restrictions had been lifted for face-to-face.  Team Teach introduction sessions 

Page 44



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 25 of 64 
 

were offered to Head Teachers, School Leadership Team and Service Managers within the 
Local Authority in February 2022.  There were 62 representatives from Schools both primary 
and secondary and PRU, with another 24 from sectors including Families and Children’s 
Services, Housing and Wellbeing Centres. 

• Following on from that Schools were able to sign up to training their staff with sessions 
tailored to their needs.  147 school-based staff went onto arrange and receive training with 
a further 39 booked for Spring 2022. 
 

Also a few members of staff having taken it upon themselves to study areas of personal interest to 
them which they are able to utilise within their work: 
 
A Children’s and Young People’s Skills Mentor recently completed her master’s with a merit in ‘The 
Impact of Adverse Childhood Experiences: Educational Progress and Attainment’; and a Youth 
Worker has recently completed ‘Advanced Counsellor & Psychotherapist’ course Level 4. 
 

Ceredigion Safe Stars children and young people safeguarding 
group -facilitated by TGP  
The online report of 2020-2021 activity demonstrates the valuable development of safe support 
and safeguarding with children and young people via social media in response to the pandemic: 
 
Safe Stars - YouTube 
 
Carer Support and Engagement  
During 2021-2021, we saw a rise of 267 registered unpaid Carers, taking them from 825 Carers to 
1092. 
 
At the beginning of the lockdown, in April 2020, the Carer’s service established a ‘welfare check’ 
service. We contacted all members of the Carers Information Service by email, letter or phone to 
provide reassurance and information, identify issues and offer support. Carers who wanted more 
support were offered repeated contact at regular intervals. 
 
While face to face contact was not permitted, we produced supplementary Covid-19 'Infobursts' 
newsletters for carers. They distributed to members of the Carers Information Service and 
information was also made available to the public via the Ceredigion County Council website. In 
order to continue to support carer wellbeing under pandemic restrictions, we developed new 
innovative ways to deliver training, activities and events for carers that did not need face to face 
contact.  
 
To celebrate Carers Week in June 2020 and Carers Rights Day in November 2020, a wide range of 
activities were delivered virtually over Zoom. Carers without internet access were able to access the 
activities by normal telephone so digitally inactive carers were not excluded. Instructions on how to 
join and access zoom were published in the Carer Magazine along with other support on developing 
digital skills.  
 

Page 45

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=n5L6owXKWqs


Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 26 of 64 
 

In recognition of all that carers do and to show our appreciation, carer wellbeing bags were 
delivered to carers in June 2020 and Welsh Afternoon Tea 'a break in a box' were delivered in 
March 2021. A significant number of carers took the time to contact us to express their gratitude 
and appreciation for the gifts. 
 
During lockdown, some Carers were experiencing difficulties accessing essential shopping. In 
response, the Ceredigion Carers Unit developed an Adult Carers Card which was recognized by all 
major supermarkets when offering preferential shopping and delivery slots. Work is now 
progressing to implement this regionally. 
 
As part of Young Carers action day, Ceredigion launched their first young Carers Newsletter, 
distributed to those young Carers registered with the information service as well as those receiving 
support from Action for Children, the commissioned service for Young Carers in Ceredigion. 
 
Of note is that Ceredigion County Council has been leading on a regional project to roll-out the 
Carers Resilience & Well-Being (CR&WB) Programme. Previously this was delivered in a traditional 
face-to-face setting, but during the year this has been rewritten to be delivered interactively online 
also.  
 
A range of modules have been developed including Young Carers 8-13, Young Carers 14–17, Adult 
Carers in the community, Train the Facilitator and Resilience and Wellbeing Taster sessions 
 

Ceredigion Family Support and Early Help Services 
Ceredigion Family Support Services –Team Around the Family (TAF), Tim Teulu & Penparcau Family 
Centre provide early help to the most vulnerable families & children to prevent problems occurring 
or to tackle them head on before they escalate.  These services work with the whole family network 
rather than focussing on one individual.  TAF work with the family to identify the issues and help the 
family to address them by developing and strengthening their connections, relationships, and skills 
to build and create resilience, self-reliance and support their wellbeing. 

Team Around the Family 
In 2020-21 Team Around Family (TAF) completed 143 JAFF assessments, of which 20 had 
indication of a child with a specific additional learning requirement or disability. 
 
Annually, around 31% (approx. 44) of the requests were regarding referrals (often years later) when 
families are reaching a different life stage and considered TAF effective in the previous assistance 
and ask for our support again. 
 
In 2020-2021, 76% of families with a TAF Action Plan recorded a positive outcome at case closure. 
 
43 of the referrals received were noted to have concerns with regards to Substance Misuse with a 
proportion of these also displaying other factors that would contribute to Adverse Childhood 
Experiences. 
 
There was a decline from 64% to 57% in the number of requests being processed within 5 working 
which days reflects the additional planning required to address the increasing complex 

Page 46



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 27 of 64 
 

requirements of families who require TAF alongside the challenges of engaging families virtually 
during periods of lockdown. 
 
In adjusting service delivery to the Covid 19 pandemic, Ceredigion’s Team around the Family in 
partnership with Ceredigion Carers Unit developed a suite of virtual training sessions for parents of 
children with additional or emerging needs.  The programme is based around the parent and family 
and focuses on topics identified by the participants.  Sessions include a digital ‘Have Your Say’ 
button to collect instant feedback.  The collaboration also ensures that parent-carers are informed 
about the Carers Information Service and the Carers & Young Carers ID Card that is available. 
 
The team have introduced bespoke virtual multi-agency workshops to address particular issues 
e.g., Building Emotionally Resilient Teenagers (BERT) to address escalating self-harm.  One parent 
reported that she now feels “confident that I am able to sit down with my son and talk to him about 
drugs as I have the knowledge now”. 

Tim Teulu 
Tim Teulu is a small cohort of family support workers who assist families to make the identified 
changes with a focus on parenting and behaviour change. This service was severely restricted due 
to the impact of the lockdown periods and Covid 19 restrictions 
 
This year Tim Teulu had 137 referrals.  Of the 137 referrals received, only 4 were not allocated – 2 
were signposted to more appropriate support, 1 family moved out of the area and 1 family declined 
intervention. 
 
These 133 referrals were in addition to the Welfare Checks undertaken by staff to support school 
pupils whilst education was provided virtually and at home. 
 
It is noteworthy that 71% of those worked with noted an improvement across the relevant national 
performance measures, with 88% noting an improvement in their individual resilience and 79% 
with improved emotional health. 
 
The team adapted resources and interventions in order to delivery virtually during lockdown, 
continuing to deliver: Blame It On The Brain; Online Gaming and Internet Safety Workshop; Family 
Links; One-to-One Parenting Support; Rhannu a Rhif and Stori a Sbri sessions to young parents / 
parents of toddlers. 
 
In the Spring of 2021, Walks and Wellies activities were organised as a socially distanced, outside 
activity for young parents’ groups. 
 
One-to-One, risk assessed, face-to-face visits were carried out for a small number of vulnerable 
families and children during the lockdown periods.  
 
Also, during the lockdown period, in partnership with some Primary Schools, sessions of emotional 
wellbeing work was trialled, to help support children and families who would normally have 
attended nurture groups in school. 
 
Team Teulu also supports the distribution of reading materials, from the Welsh Books Council to 
vulnerable families, during 2020-2021. 

Page 47



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 28 of 64 
 

Penparcau Family Centre 
Unfortunately, due to the pandemic and the accompanying lockdown, Penparcau Family Centre had 
very limited use during the 2020-2021 period.  Hosting face to face supervised contact between 
LAC children and their parents resumed at Penparcau late in quarter 4 of 2020-2021. 
 
Ceredigion Support and Prevention Services 
The Support and Prevention Service is made up of multi-disciplined teams, with the overall aim of 
providing child, youth, and family-led approaches to enable children, young people, families, and 
wider communities to be empowered, to achieve, to develop personally, emotionally, socially and 
be the best that they can be. The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) 
and Signs of Safety underpin everything that we do. Our teams provide universal and focussed 
support that include: 
 

• Youth Work and Engagement; Youth work in schools, education progression, accredited 
learning, and participation 

 
School based Youth Workers engage with young people aged 11 – 18 both in universal and 
focussed contexts. Youth Workers strive to build and maintain meaningful relationships with all 
school pupils; that include referred pupils who are deemed at risk of disengagement from 
mainstream education, due to one or a host of reasons. 
 
Youth Workers form relationships based on voluntary engagement. Through participation with 
individuals, Youth Workers can design a tailored plan that offer support in the form of personal, 
social, emotional, and behavioural needs of the individual. This can be delivered both within and 
outside the school environment and be both targeted and universal. 
 

• Support and Attainment; Primary/ secondary mentoring, transition, emotional wellbeing, 
nurture, and outreach 

 
The Children and Young People’s Skills (CYP) Mentors support children and young people who may 
show challenging behaviour because of their social and emotional experiences. Mentors provide 
support for children and young people in Primary and Secondary Schools, and other education 
settings. 
 
Mentors promote a holistic and strengths-based approach to better understand the deeper reasons 
as to why children are finding their current environment challenging in both focussed one-to-one 
and small group-based settings. This is to help manage their emotions, channelling their energy 
positively by focussing on attainment, both educationally and personally. 
 

• Community Youth Work and Prevention; 16-24 support, community outreach, youth centres, 
focussed and universal provisions 

 
Our Community Youth Work and Prevention team provide targeted and universal interventions with 
the aim of tackling and alleviating potential risk factors or underlying issues such as family, social, 
individual, educational, or mental and emotional health related issues, that may arise that put 
them at an increased risk of offending and re-offending, but also preventing them from needing 

Page 48



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 29 of 64 
 

further statutory intervention such as professional mental health services, further medical 
intervention and even housing support as an example. 
 
Provisions range from outreach, mobile and detached activities, youth centres and clubs, and 
collaborative targeted programmes and projects. 
 

• Support Pathways; Through-age interventions, allocations, screening, quality assurance, 
data and performance analysis, resource support 

 
The Support Pathways team is the gateway for all referrals to Porth Cymorth Cynnar and its services 
whether they are received from Clic or triaged by Porth Gofal. The team provides direct support to 
each service within Porth Cymorth Cynnar to identify, allocate, monitor, and evaluate interventions 
or support. 
 
The team supports the ‘step up and step down’ protocols by working with Porth Cynnal and Porth 
Gofal to ensure timely and effective support for children/young people, adults and for 
families/carers. 
 
The team also helps oversee the data and quality assurance processes of Porth Cymorth Cynnar 
services, ensuring that we can meet the needs of citizens as efficiently and effectively as possible. 
 
Outcomes 2021-2022 aligned to the key themes of the Social Services and Well-being Act 2014 
 
Lines of enquiry           Service Evidence 
1. People - voice and control  

How well are local authorities 
ensuring people, carers and 
practitioners are having their 
voices heard, making informed 
choices, and maintaining control 
over their lives? How is this 
balanced with the 
recommendations and 
requirements made by Public 
Health Wales and Welsh 
Government? Can the local 
authority demonstrate learning is 
used to inform new ways of 
working? 

- Gold Quality Mark for Youth Work 
- Children in Wales KiteMark (CYP Participation 

standards)  
- CYP-Led approaches to curriculum delivery 
- Satisfaction Survey 
- Feedback sessions, questionnaires online 

surveys  
- Distance Travel practice  
- CYP Forums i.e., DEWIS 
- Youth Council  
- SOS & UNCRC Embedded in Intervention 

Planning and Referral process – parent/ 
guardian consent 

- SOS Supervision 
- School Bubble meetings (integrated teams) – 

RAG processes – early intervention 
- Team Teach – positive handling plans, de-

escalation strategies, Triggers, restorative 
practice  

- Social Media – content, polls, interactive tools/ 
sessions 

- Peer-mentoring support 
- Participation Strategy  

Page 49



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 30 of 64 
 

2. Prevention 
To what extent are local 
authorities successful in 
promoting prevention and 
reducing need for increased or 
formal support from statutory 
agencies? Including taking all 
necessary steps to support the 
upbringing of the child by the 
child’s family and supporting 
people with mental health issues 
before they reach crisis. 

• School and community-based youth workers, 
Mentors and Prevention and Diversionary 
Workers 

• One-to-one and group interventions 
• Structured activities 
• Youth clubs, drop-ins, workshops  
• After-school provisions 
• School-holiday activity programmes 
• Outreach, detached and mobile provision 
• Alternative curriculum, vocational engagement 

and EOTAS support  
• Nurture and wellbeing  
• Open access opportunities  
• Virtual Activities  
•  Graduated response process for early 

intervention and prevention  
• Transition processes and modelling good 

practice  
• Out of court disposals and preventative pathways  
• Support and Prevention Professional Panel  
• YEPF and Youth Homelessness  
• Thematic projects and pilots 
• Collaboration and signposting  
• Trauma Informed Practice and Team Teach  
• Whole School Approach to mental wellbeing 
•  
• YJB Pathfinder for Prevention YOT  

3. Well-being  
To what extent are local 
authorities promoting well-being, 
ensuring people maintain their 
safety and achieve positive 
outcomes that matter to them? 
Including timely step down of 
children from local authority care, 
supporting older people to return 
home from hospital. 

• Wellbeing is a standing agenda item – SOS 
embedded 

• Wellbeing champions and activities 
• Supervision  
• Weekly bubble meetings that focus on early 

intervention and tracking those most vulnerable 
and at risk of escalation 

• PSHE and thematic workshops/ content that is 
needs-led  

• Pilot projects such as youth boost 
• Restorative approaches to exclusions and 

challenging behaviour 
• Collaboration with schools service and external 

partners to promote wellbeing activities and 
initiatives  

• Training for staff, partners, young people, and 
volunteers 

• Distance Travelled – self-efficacy, wellbeing, and 
self-esteem/ confidence  

Page 50



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 31 of 64 
 

 
Interim Youth Work Board - Young people tell us that the 
benefits of their engagement with youth support 
services provide them with: 

• Safe spaces and trusted adults 
• Opportunities to build confidence, self-esteem, 

identity, self-respect, and respect for others  
• Learning new ways to develop new skills and 

abilities 
• Opportunity to be creative and expressive 
• Ways to maintain or work towards positive mental 

health 
• Ways to develop a better understanding of social 

relationships promoting inclusion and diversity  
• Opportunity to Increase their participation in 

decision making 
• Opportunities for fun and play. 

 
 

4. Partnerships  
To what extent are local 
authorities able to assure 
themselves the step change in 
opportunities for partnership 
working are positively exploited to 
maximize person-centred 
planning, ensure integrated 
service delivery and service 
sustainability. Opportunities 
include recent learning from digital 
advances, partnership working 
and ability of the health and social 
care system to advance at scale 
and pace and work towards a 
Healthier Wales. 
 

- Professional panel that focuses on early 
intervention and prevention both within schools 
and wider community settings  

- EPC/ YEPF pre and post 16 NEET practitioners  
- Service Level Agreements with voluntary sector 
- Training access 
- Thematic and community-led projects i.e., youth 

homelessness, graffiti project  
- YJB Prevention Pathfinder  
- PYOG and Regional Youth Support Services  
- Guidance, resources, and good practice sharing  

 

 
Foster Carers’ Engagement and Support:  
Covid-19 brought a number of new challenges to all service areas, and we developed new methods 
of engaging, communicating and supporting our foster and kinship carers.  
 
Very early on in the Spring of 2020 the Fostering services identified that there was a need to 
maintain regular, good quality communication, supervision and support whilst also maintaining the 
‘Stay at Home’ message and promoting the health and wellbeing of all foster carers, staff, and 
children.  The additional pressure to adapt and provide home education was also quickly 
recognized and subsequently the journey towards HWB and Microsoft Teams began.  
 

Page 51



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 32 of 64 
 

This ‘new’ software and suite of functions to chat, meet and collaborate provided an opportunity to 
keep in touch and have the visual video contact, which provided a substitute to the physical, face 
to face meetings.  As the awareness of the software increased, the Fostering Service evolved and 
recognized that this was a valuable resource not only to maintain contact, but to facilitate the 
various meetings such as LAC Reviews, Conferences, Annual reviews, support groups and Foster 
Panel.  
 
Initially there was some apprehension from both staff and Foster Carers regarding arranging virtual 
opportunities, however by working in partnership with the Learning and Development Team a 
bespoke training package was developed, and all Foster Carers and staff have had the opportunity 
to access training on how to use Teams.  In addition, a number of conversations and learning 
experiences have highlighted the social etiquette and provided reminders you are visible on screen! 
 
Ceredigion’s Foster Carers have embraced the changes and have grown in confidence to access 
the education HWB, also via Teams, in order to support the engagement of the children and young 
people in the virtual learning environment. The versatility and flexibility of the training has also 
identified the accessibility of the software, not only on the lap -top, but tablets, phones, and gaming 
devices such as Xbox and PlayStation. 
 
The training and frequent use of the software and the resources within have also led to a number 
of aspects of the work becoming paperless.  Foster Carers have access to their own specific, 
private, channel where they have been encouraged to upload their documents such as, weekly 
logs, complete their mileage forms, and access their annual review documents.  This facility is 
gaining momentum and is quickly replacing the need for heavy filling cabinets groaning under the 
weight of the records we keep.  It’s also ensured that relevant departments, including finance, get 
the information quicker, leading to payments processed quicker, rather than the traditional snail 
mail and the risk of documents going missing.  
 
Teams has also supported the virtual ‘social’ aspect of the work, with a number of quizzes, game 
sessions and bingo which has enabled the peer interaction and informal support to be utilized as 
much as possible in what’s been a challenging year.  
 
Working in a rural area and the challenges of securing a reliable and consistent connection, 
remains a challenge, alongside the constant reminder of “You’re on mute!” However, the resilience 
and commitment to adapting to change has been a great testament to all. 
 
Care Inspectorate Wales Activity 
In March 2020, as infection rates increased and Wales entered the first lockdown, CIW suspended 
their programme of routine performance review activity to enable local authorities to focus fully on 
responding to the challenging circumstances. Instead, they developed new ways of working which 
reflected the need to engage in more supportive relationships with local authorities.   

 
Throughout 2020-2021, The Statutory Director and the Corporate Lead Officers for Porth Gofal and 
Porth Cymorth Cynnar met regularly with the Link Inspector and the 6 monthly performance review 
meetings were held during September 2020 and February 2021. During these meetings 
Ceredigion’s Covid 19 Recovery / Adjustment Plans were shared and fully discussed.  

 

Page 52



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 33 of 64 
 

Complaints and Compliments 
Introduction 
This report will refer specifically to all Social Services complaints and compliments received during 
2020 – 2021.  However, this data was included within the Council’s Annual Compliments, 
Complaints and Freedom of Information Report for 2020 - 2021, which was accompanied by the 
Annual Letter from the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) relating to the same 
reporting period.  The aforementioned documents were presented to the following committees 
during 2021 (provided as hyperlinks to the relevant pages on the Council’s website, should further 
information be required): 
 
• Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee Meeting (27/10/21) 
• Council Committee Meeting (09/12/21) 
 
The Council fully implemented the Social Services Complaints Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 
and the Representations Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014, and this document is the guidance 
that underpins the Council’s own Social Services Complaints Policy.  The Policy was approved by 
the Council’s Cabinet committee on 17 March 2020 and sets out the requirements placed upon 
staff within the Porth Cynnal and Porth Gofal Services, and the Council’s Complaints and FOI Team.  
This promotes accountability and ensures that effective arrangements are in place deal with 
complaints in accordance with the Council’s statutory duties, as well as ensuring the process is 
accessible, fair, and transparent.   
 
It must be noted that this is the first reporting period which reflects the organizational restructures 
which took place as part of the Council’s Through-Age and Wellbeing model, as the recording 
systems in the Complaints and FOI Service were amended at the start of 2020. 
 
Social Services Complaints Activity 
Every effort will be made to resolve a complaint at the earliest available opportunity, and, in the 
majority of cases, this is successful, and the matter is recorded as an ‘enquiry/concern’.  In the 
event that the matter cannot be resolved at an early stage, or if the issues being raised are of a 
serious or complex nature, concerns will be addressed in accordance with the formal complaints’ 
procedures referred to above.   
 
The Council operates a two-stage complaints process and the Complaints and FOI Team liaise with 
the relevant Corporate Managers to ensure the appropriate level of accountability is held and 
correct process is followed at each stage. 
 
During 2020-2021 59 enquiries/concerns were received and the majority of these were resolved 
satisfactorily without needing to be progressed under the complaints’ procedures.   
 
The data provided overleaf relates to all complaints that were addressed under Stage 1 and Stage 
2 during the reporting year.  Stage 2 is the final stage under the Council’s own complaints 
procedure; however, complainants have the right to refer their concerns to the Public Services 
Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) if they remain dissatisfied after Stage 2. 
 
 
 

Page 53

https://council.ceredigion.gov.uk/documents/s2117/Item%20-%20Complaints%20Compliments%20etc.pdf?LLL=0
https://council.ceredigion.gov.uk/documents/s2375/report%20-%20Annual%20report%20of%20compliments%20complaints%20and%20FOI%20activity%202020-2021.pdf?LLL=0


Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 34 of 64 
 

Total number of complaints received in 2020 – 2021 
Service Area Stage 1 Stage 2 Total 
Porth Cynnal 9 4 13 
Porth Gofal 9 2 11 
  18 6 24 

 
A total of 24 complaints were received in relation to Social Care Services in 2020-2021.  In 
comparison, 25 complaints were received across Social Services in 2019-2020, which 
demonstrates a slight decrease in the number of complaints received during this reporting period.   
 
Social Services staff continue to work closely with the Complaints and FOI Team by adopting an 
early-resolution approach to incoming concerns and queries, which is proving to be an effective 
strategy.  This can be demonstrated when comparing the number of enquiries/concerns against 
the number of cases which required consideration under the formal complaints’ procedure (i.e., 
40% of all contacts received by the Complaints and FOI Team in relation to Porth Cynnal or Porth 
Gofal were closed without escalation). 
 
Comparative data 
As referred to in the Introduction, the Complaints and FOI recording systems were only aligned with 
the service structures implemented as part of the Council’s Through-Age and Wellbeing Strategy at 
the start of 2020.  It is therefore not possible to make a direct comparison between the performances 
of Adult and Childrens’ Services, with the Porth Cynnal and Porth Gofal Services, in relation to 
complaints activity.   
 
Consequently, the data included in previous reports compiled for the Statutory Director of Social 
Services, is provided below.  A visual representation of the complaints’ activity for the current 
service structures (i.e., for 2020-2021) is also provided, and this will be updated in future reports 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16
7

15

1
8

2

14
5

13
4

16

0

13

1

10

1

4

3

2

6

0

10

20

30

40

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2

Social Services Complaints 2015 - 2020

Adults

Children

2019-20202015-2016 2016-2017 2017-2018 2018-2019

Page 54



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 35 of 64 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Complaint Outcomes by Service 
A breakdown of the number of complaints and their outcomes is provided below, in accordance  
with the relevant service areas: 
 

Porth Cynnal Not Upheld 
Upheld 

(Whole or in 
part) 

Ongoing / 
Suspended 

Mental Wellbeing (4) 1 2 1 
Adult Team (1)   1 
Children & Family Assessment (2)  2  
Quality & Service Improvement (1)  1  
Adult Protection (3) 1 2  
Camu Mlaen (1)  1  
Community Team Learning Disabilities (1)  1  

Total 2 9 2 
 

Porth Gofal Not Upheld 
Upheld 

(Whole or 
in part) 

Ongoing / 
Suspended / 
Discontinued 

Fostering Service (1)  1  
Direct Services (2)  2  
Porth Gofal Triage (3) 2 1  
Occupational Therapy Services (1)  1  
Homelessness / Housing (4)  4   

Total  6 5  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

10

20

Stage 1 Stage 2

Social Services Complaints 2020 - 2021

Porth Cynnal Porth Gofal

Page 55



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 36 of 64 
 

 
 

Stage 2 Timescales 

All 6 complaints investigated 
under Stage 2 of the Social 

Services complaints procedure 
took longer than prescribed 

timescale (i.e. within 25-working-
days of the complaint having been 

agreed by all parties). 

However, all cases were 
investigated independently, as 

stipulated by the statutory 
guidance and each formal 

response was issued at the 
earliest possible opportunity. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Stage 1 Timescales 
Of the 18 complaints which 
were considered under Stage 
1; 
8 were responded to within 
the prescribed timescales 
(i.e. 15 working days) and the 
remaining ten cases, 
exceeded these. 

Within 
timescales

44%

Exceeded 
timescales

56%

Page 56



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 37 of 64 
 

Analysis 
The number of complaints considered under the statutory Social Services complaints procedure 
during this reporting period (2020-2021) were not dissimilar to the levels of activity observed 
during the previous year, despite the profound impact caused by the emergence of the Covid-19 
pandemic.   However, there were fewer complaints considered under Stage 2 in 2020-2021 and 
the number of enquiries/concerns were almost halved, compared with 2019 – 2020.   
 
Response times at both stages of the complaints process also remained consistent with the 
previous year, though it is acknowledged that all Stage 2 complaints investigated during this period 
were responded to outside of the stipulated timescale.  This, in itself, is not of great concern 
because the priority must be to ensure that complaints are investigated thoroughly, and careful 
consideration is given to the findings and recommendations which emerge from such 
investigations. 
 
Porth Cynnal received slightly more complaints by service, but this is largely due to the nature of 
those services and the complexity of the cases they deal with.   

 
Of the 24 complaints received across Social Services, 14 were upheld following investigation, 
which equates to 58% of all complaints received during the reporting period.  This is a more 
positive outcome when compared to the data available for 2019 – 2020, which concluded that 
70% of all complaints were upheld (i.e., justified). 
 
Themes and Trends 
Poor communication remains a consistent factor in most complaints, and, in most cases, these can 
be addressed promptly at service-level to prevent unnecessary escalation of the issues being 
reported.  This was evidently the case in respect of the 59 enquiries/concerns reported above, 
which far outnumbers the number of cases which subsequently progressed under the formal 
complaints process. 
 
Timescales 
As identified in 2019-2020, improvements need to be made with regard to the response times at 
Stage 1 of the complaints process.  There is a requirement at Stage 1 to offer a ‘discussion’ 
between the complainant and the relevant Corporate Manager.  Therefore, securing the availability 
of managers during the height of the pandemic was challenging, as well as attempting to then co-
ordinate their availability with that of the complainant.  Failing to meet prescribed timescales under 
these circumstances is therefore understandable.  However, this will continue to be monitored in 
future reporting periods. 
 
Lessons Learned 
In all cases whereby a complaint is deemed to be upheld (either in its entirety or specific elements) 
it is crucial that recommendations are put in place to learn lessons and prevent any recurrence in 
the future.  Examples are provided on Page 5 of some of the lessons learned from complaints 
received during 2020 – 2021. 
 

• Documentation was improved within the service to ensure that the communication needs of the 
service-user is considered.  Staff were also reminded to maintain communication with other 
professionals involved with the service-user, particularly when co-ordinating care, making 
arrangements for discharge from hospital and to follow up on any referrals for specialist 
assessments and/or intervention. 

Page 57



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 38 of 64 
 

 
• It was agreed that that further development of the current information pack for service users 

would take place to include details of the range and types of assessments that will be 
undertaken.  Consideration will also be given to introducing a ‘matching process’ for housing 
services users together.  

 
• All Social Work Teams to be reminded that they have a duty to promote contact and that, 

where case circumstances allow, this be arranged as soon as practicable.  For Social Workers 
to be reminded that the opening of the LAC review document is their responsibility to ensure 
the process of sharing the minutes is not unnecessarily delayed.  

 
Complaints referred to the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) 
During 2020 – 2021 the Council received eight new contacts from the office of the PSOW relating 
to Social Services complaints.  These were categorized by the PSOW as follows: 

 
 Adult Social Services (5) 
 Children’s Social Services (3) 

 
This represents a reduction in complaints about Children’s Social Services (5 received during 2019 
– 2020) and an increase (by one case) with regard to Adult Social Services. 
 
None of the complaints referred to the PSOW were referred for formal investigation, though there 
were two cases which were resolved via Early Resolution / Voluntary Settlement: 
 

 
The remaining 6 cases were concluded as follows: 

  
• 2 cases were closed due to the complainants’ failure to respond to the PSOW’s request for 

additional information.  
• 3 cases were closed after initial consideration by the PSOW (e.g., they were either satisfied that 

there was no maladministration on the part of the Council or there would be very little achieved 
from the PSOW investigating the complaint). 

• 1 case was premature (e.g., it had not yet been considered under the Council’s own complaints 
procedure).  

 

Service & 
Reference Summary of Complaint Agreed Actions 

Porth Cynnal 
(202005090) 

Complaint regarding access to 
equipment and services. 

The Council agreed to undertake a 
reassessment of the individual’s needs 
within 8 weeks of them confirming their 
location. 

Complaints 
Handling / Porth 
Cynnal 
(201907197) 

Failure by Council to implement 
agreed actions following an earlier 
complaint about the provision of 
social care and support.  This had a 
significant impact on the service-
user at the centre of the case. 

The Council agreed to undertake several 
actions to ensure that the actions it 
promised it would take, would be 
completed.   

Page 58



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 39 of 64 
 

Compliments 
Statutory Social Services received the second-highest number of compliments compared with other 
services across the Council.  A total of 241 compliments were received in relation to care and 
support provided. 
 

Service Area Compliments 
received 

Porth Cynnal 72 
Porth Gofal 169 

Total 241 
 

Examples of the compliments received in Porth Cynnal and Porth Gofal are provided below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

“We wanted to take this opportunity to thank you for the amazing 
care you are providing for our closest friend. We are so grateful that 

you took faith and feelings into consideration today and respect 
beliefs.  We are truly grateful for all you are doing.”  “So grateful for the 

wonderful care given, 
the constant updates 

on her wellbeing.  
What a wonderful 
home and staff” 

“I would like to thank you 
for all the support I've 

received. I feel very lucky to 
be working with you. Thank 

you again for your 
continued support I'm 
extremely grateful.” 

“You are all doing such a 
fantastic job in such 

difficult times and we’re 
sending our love and 

support” 

Page 59



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 40 of 64 
 

Examples of Compliments received by Porth Cymorth Cynnar Services  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
Feedback from Looked After Children’s Supported Play Activities at Llangrannog, Summer 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

“Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to everyone 
involved with this scheme in Ceredigion.  I am so immensely 
grateful for this service provided by Ceredigion County Council, 
having not been able to leave the house for over two months.  
Last week’s food parcel far exceeded any expectations.  The 
quality and variety of produce has clearly been carefully 
selected to ensure the health and wellbeing of us as shielded 
residents.  I am very proud to call Ceredigion my home” 

“Thank you so much for the ‘Carer’s break in a 
box’ which we received this morning, it was a 
lovely surprise.  My wife had an operation in 
November and is only just getting a small 
amount of mobility back now, so it has been a 
very difficult few months for us.  This gift really 
cheered us both up! 
Thank you once again and for all the excellent 
carer’s support that you give, it is much 

 

‘Child A told his mum 
when getting off the 
bus he had the ‘best 

day ever’ 

‘Child B is listening better 
than on previous projects 
and enjoys all activities, 
Her foster carer, told me 
how she talked about the 
activities all evening after 

going home’ 

‘Child C had made a 
Thank You card for the 

Urdd staff member 
who helped her with 

the horses’ 

Page 60



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 41 of 64 
 

4. Promoting and Improving the Well-being of 
Those We Help 
The six quality standards used to measure the Local Authority’s performance against the wellbeing 
outcomes are: 

1. Working with people to define and co-produce personal well-being outcomes that people 
wish to achieve 

2. Working with people and partners to protect and promote people’s physical and mental 
health and emotional well-being 

3. Taking steps to protect and safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm 
4. Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop and participate in society  
5. Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic, family and personal 

relationships 
6. Working with and supporting people to achieve greater economic well-being, have a social 

life and live in suitable accommodation that meets their needs 
 
What did we plan to do last year? 
Since a number of our services are linked and strategies aligned, our children and families services 
objectives overlap with adults services therefore the objectives are focused on a through age 
approach 
 
Improvement Objective 1  

• To ensure that the transformation of social services is achieved during 2020/21 in 
partnership with other corporate departments and partner agencies.  

• Work in partnership on the corporate restructure plan, enabling an efficient whole-council 
approach  

• Ensure the Statutory requirements for Social Care are clearly defined within the structure  
• Ensure robust services are in place to enable citizens to achieve their personal outcomes  

 
Improvement Objective 2  

• Ensure the Local Authority has a strong voice in the Region  
• Ensure regular committed involvement at all regional partnership events by relevant staff  
• Ensure that Ceredigion takes full advantage of the resources available to us from the 

Regional Partnership Board  
• Influence the developments through the region and nationally  

 
Improvement Objective 3  

• Ensuring that the Local Authority is effective, along with partners in securing and utilising 
Transformation Funds to drive better outcomes for people in Ceredigion  

• Develop the regional Technology Enabled Care Project in conjunction with 
Carmarthenshire/Pembrokeshire and Hywel Dda  

• Work in partnership with Hywel Dda to scale up a Fast Access Community Team  
• Work in conjunction with Health and 3rd Sector to develop community hubs and resources  

 
 

Page 61



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 42 of 64 
 

How far did we succeed in working towards those priorities? 
Improvement Objective 1 – Transformation of Social Services 
 
Our vision of the Through Age & wellbeing Programme is: To ensure every child, young person and 
adult in Ceredigion will be able to reach their full potential. To ensure fair access for all to excellent 
universal and targeted services that supports the health and wellbeing of all citizens. To develop 
skills and resilience that will last a lifetime and enable individuals to cope well with the challenges 
and pressures that they may face. 
 
We will: 

• support those at a disadvantage and those who encounter challenges 
• further develop strengths-based, outcome focused services for citizens 
• Safeguard and nurture the most vulnerable. 
• aim to be the benchmark standard for excellence and innovation in Wales and beyond 
• Upskill our workforce to work collaboratively to improve the guidance and support available to 

individuals and families in Ceredigion. 
 
Welsh Government has introduced a range of legislation focused on maximizing the health and 
wellbeing of its citizens, including: 

• Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 
• Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

 
Ceredigion County Council is committed to ensuring that the key principles of the legislative 
framework are embedded within all its activities and developments. 
 
With the event of Covid 19 the planned implementation of several key activities to progress the 
Through Age and well-being Programme was suspended and the programme and working groups 
were re-established in September 2020 with the following work programme. 
 
Implementation Workstreams 
Range of workstreams to progress the changes and implementation: 

• Strategy Development  
• Systems & Processes  
• Review of commissioned services 
• Signs of Safety  
• HR Processes 
• Finance & Procurement 

 
Other developments 

• Comprehensive programme of support, developed with IPC, to support CLO's, Corporate 
Managers and Team Managers  

• Quality Assurance framework 
• Supervision Policy  

 
The Council is committed to embedding the Signs of Safety Practice and work continued to develop 
the use of the framework as central to the Through Age & wellbeing Programme. At the front door 
and in assessment we do this by ensuring that the information we collect from citizens directly or 
via other agencies is appropriately used to deliver a person-centered approach based around the 

Page 62

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted


Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 43 of 64 
 

fundamental questions of ‘What’s worrying you?’ and ‘What’s working well?’ As a result of these we 
are seeking to further develop strengths-based, outcome focused services for citizens which 
respond in a timely creative manner, and which always focus on what is important to the individual. 
 
Improvement Objective 2 - Partnerships 

• Ensure the Local Authority has a strong voice in the Region  
• Ensure regular committed involvement at all regional partnership events by relevant staff  
• Ensure that Ceredigion takes full advantage of the resources available to us from the 

Regional Partnership Board  
• Influence the developments through the region and nationally  

 
Ceredigion County Council has continued to actively engage with the West Wales Care Partnership 
and the Regional Partnership Board and other key partnership forums. This provides a mechanism 
for driving regional improvements across social care whilst maintaining the focus on Ceredigion 
specific priorities and areas of need. 
 
There are a number of regional fora that Ceredigion County Council support and are effectively 
engaged with. Opportunities for regional funding are maximised through regional partnerships and 
initiatives, including the Healthier Wales Transformation Programme and Integrated Care Funding. 
 
Full participation in all regional Covid 19 planning fora has also been a major priority for us during 
this year.  
 
Improvement Objective 3 – Healthier Wales Transformation Programme 

• Ensuring that the LA is effective, along with partners in securing and utilising Transformation 
Funds to drive better outcomes for people in Ceredigion  

• Develop the regional Technology Enabled Care Project in conjunction with 
Carmarthenshire/Pembrokeshire and Hywel Dda  

• Work in partnership with Hywel Dda to scale up a Fast Access Community Team  
• Work in conjunction with Health and 3rd Sector to develop community hubs and resources  

 
As part of the West Wales Care Partnership Our original submission for A Healthier West Wales 
programme of work included:  
 
Improving lives through technology 
•Proactive technology enabled care 
•Shared digital framework 
Strengthening integrated localities 
•Fast tracked consistent integration 
•Proactive supported self-management 
Supporting change together 
•Continuous citizen engagement 
•Behaviour change for good 
Connecting people… kind communities 
•Creating connections for all 
•Building the infrastructure to deliver differently 
 
 

 

Page 63



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 44 of 64 
 

 
A total of £11.89 million was provided by Welsh Government to the WWCP to support the delivery 
of the 3 agreed programmes highlighted below: 
 
Programme 1: Proactive, technology-enabled care 
•Proactive approach to keeping people well in communities 
•Based on proven approach in Bilbao, Spain 
•Evidence from Spain of significant impact on system demand and wellbeing 
•Bespoke and individualised TEC 
•In-depth wellbeing assessment and supported wellbeing plans 
•Proactive calls using existing Delta Wellbeing platform providing built-in benefits 
•Multi-agency rapid response with enhanced, local community support 
•Digital inclusion project to support informal networks 
 
Programme 3: Fast-tracked, consistent integration 
•Fast Access Community Team providing 24/7, professional crisis response 
•Model to be implemented in each locality, shaped to ensure that arrangements meet local needs 
and build on existing arrangements 
•Additional programme capacity to support further integration at locality level 
 
Programme 7: Creating connections for all 
•Consistent community connectors model across West Wales creating community links and 
building resilience 
•Active citizens –promoting and supporting volunteering 
•Intergenerational buddying programme to develop IT and other skills 
•West Wales is Kind programme 
•Embedding Dewis and Info-engine 
•Accelerated skills programme for staff providing community support 
 
All 3 programmes were initiated in 2019/2020 with programme 1 being led regionally, programme 
3 led locally and programme 7 led by the 3rd Sector and continued during 2020/21. 
 
The positive progress of this Objective, our engagement with the West Wales Care Partnership and 
the adjustments made in view of Covid 19 priorities can be viewed within the comprehensive report 
to the Ceredigion Cabinet meeting presented on 1st September 2020.  
 
9iv. INFO West Wales Regional Partnership Board.pdf (ceredigion.gov.uk) 
 
Ceredigion’s Covid 19 Response  
 
From the outset, Ceredigion County Council’s priority has been to protect its citizens and to 
minimise the number of the population who will contract the Covid 19 and the number of deaths 
from it. At the beginning, Public Health Wales projections indicated a reasonable worst-case 
scenario of 600 deaths in the County and this was not acceptable to us. 
 
Ceredigion County Council identified a clear vision that every single person, business, and service 
could understand and agree upon to ensure Ceredigion succeeded in not only reducing predicted 
deaths through the first peak but more importantly for any future predicted peaks.  

Page 64

http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/cpdl/Democratic_Services_Meetings_Public/9iv.%20INFO%20West%20Wales%20Regional%20Partnership%20Board.pdf


Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 45 of 64 
 

 
• Phase 1 - Preparedness – Closing down of all non-essential services 
• Phase 2 - Implementation – Delivering essential key services under lockdown conditions 
• Phase 3 - Adjustment and long term resilience 
• Phase 4 - Recovery 

 
We recognise that our geographical location and sparse population have provided us with distinct 
advantages in relation to the control of the virus. Within this context have put in place a number of 
strategies which seek to consolidate our advantages and actively try to suppress the virus, rather 
than simply limit, and manage its proliferation through the county. It is important to acknowledge 
the 72,000 residents of Ceredigion who have bravely adhered to the challenges set by lockdown. 
We thank the residents of the county for following guidance so rigidly and diligently, ensuring that 
the number who have been infected by Covid 19 has been kept relatively low; 84, which is 115.6 
per 100,000 population as of 8th September 2020 and 1771 confirmed cases as of 26/4/21. The 
cases and our infection rates throughout 2020-2021 compare very favourably with the rest of 
Wales. Nonetheless, we acknowledge that each death from Covid 19 has been a very sad loss and 
in our communities staff and public alike have been greatly affected by the impact of the Pandemic 
on physical and mental wellbeing as well as financially and economically. 
 
Strategy and decision-making during the pandemic 
 
Ceredigion CC’s’ Strategic Priorities:  

• Protection of the health and wellbeing of our most vulnerable, including care services for the 
elderly and those whose medical conditions make them particularly at risk from COVID-19. 

 
• Protection of the education provision within schools, colleges, and universities. 

 
• Enable the local economy to survive. 

 
Gold Command structure and decisions  
The Gold Command structure and process put in place from the outset of the Pandemic has 
enabled the following key decisions to be made and implemented: 
 
• Support for the most vulnerable -from the offset, the medically vulnerable and those shielding in 

Ceredigion were contacted by telephone to ensure food and medication was delivered and to 
ensure their safety. The Council provided weekly food boxes sourced locally to over 950 of our 
most vulnerable citizens and Council staff contact over 2,500 individuals that are shielding on a 
regular basis. The Council has received 159 compliments in relation to the food boxes and for 
the regular contact as of September 2020. Following Welsh Government announcement, the 
shielding scheme came to an end on 16th August 2020 and food boxes were longer 
systematically provided. However, food vouchers via school services and practical support 
including food parcels for the most vulnerable continued. 

• Contact tracing –an in-house contact tracing system was developed by the Council at the 
beginning of April 2020 bringing together a team of staff with skillsets in environmental health 
tracing, data protection, human resources, and ICT data systems. Built around a questionnaire, 
the data management system was informed by our Environmental Health Officers who have 
experience of tracking and tracing other outbreaks such as legionella and food poisoning and 
research based upon was happening elsewhere internationally. At the time, numbers of cases 

Page 65



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 46 of 64 
 

were low, and as a result we have been able to follow up on all cases notified since its 
implementation. The Council is now part of the national Test, Trace, Protect scheme. 

• PPE - A central PPE hub was put in place at the end of March 2020 in response to the need to 
have a coordinated approach to PPE provision both within the local authority and for the 
independent sector. Ceredigion County Council were able to source a variety of equipment from 
many sources. Of note was that approximately 3,000 specialist face visors were made by local 
schools to support the PPE provision locally. 

• Staff redeployment – staff were redeployed to set up the PPE hub, contact tracing team and to 
support with Care Homes staffing and other key essential front line. These staff remain in place 
and will be reintroduced back to substantive roles in a phased programme. 

• Safeguarding reports to Gold Command whilst emergency powers in place  
• Care homes – negative test on discharge, face to face visiting suspended in March 2020 

progressing to outdoor visits, no mixing of staff, restricted visits by professionals 
• Risk assessments and guidance on social care visits, client contact and on virtual working with 

full Health and Safety support 
• Extensive local guidance and protocols produced for the residential care homes and domiciliary 

care providers 
• Financial and Hardship support - Business grants/funding - prevention of hardship and the 

development of a Tackling Hardship Strategy 
• Silver command groups set up specifically, Residential care, Contact tracing/TTP, Economic 

Adjustment, Vaccination/Testing,  
• Senior representation at local and regional IMT’s 
• Senior representation on Covid specific local and regional forums including the Ceredigion Covid 

Response Group, Regional Safeguarding Covid Group, Sub-groups of the RPB/PSB,  
 
Adjustment and Recovery planning  
It must be recognized that all essential front -line services have been maintained throughout the 
Pandemic albeit with an element of restriction to minimize risk of infection and to keep the public, 
service users and staff safe and minimize risk of spread of the infection.  
 
A 3 Phase recovery plan approach has been adopted across all service areas. Each plan is 
presented to Gold Command for discussion and approval and is then provided to Leadership 
Group/Cabinet meetings for information. 
 
The Council has a public facing road map which outlines the key milestones in relation to service 
changes and the phased reinstatement of services. 
 
Recovery plans presented to date have included areas such as: 
• Residential care homes (staff sustainability and reviewing visiting arrangements to enable 

outdoor visits and continue with multi-professional and clinical support via technology to support 
communication with professionals or safe visits from GP’s, mental health, dementia, OT/allied 
health professions  

• Learning Disability and Older Peoples Day Services adjustments  
• Respite care adjustments 
• A wide range of Early Intervention/Prevention services including organized outdoor vocational, 

learning and work, Employment Support Team to restart paid Work and Volunteering 
Opportunities, Organized and approved outdoor children/young people’s group activity, Outdoor 
Health Intervention Classes / Exercise Classes for Adults 

Page 66



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 47 of 64 
 

• Mental Wellbeing Service  
• and School Counselling Service adjustment 

 
Workforce Challenges 
A redeployment programme of staff was implemented in the early stages of the pandemic to assist 
key services including care homes and school hubs caring for vulnerable children. There has been 
a continued focus on recruitment with several campaigns both internally but also supporting 
external providers with campaigns. 
 
Some of the current challenges include the recruitment and retention of key staff specifically Social 
Workers and Occupational Therapists, however it is acknowledged that this is a national trend and 
opportunities around regional working has been explored.  The Council has a strategy for meeting 
this challenge including the following approaches:  
 

• Social Work traineeships  
• Offering qualification opportunities and learning pathways for the current staff 
• student placements 
• Reviewing job roles and evaluations 
• Refreshing advertising - intensive campaign to join Ceredigion 

 
Supporting Staff Wellbeing 
We are committed to providing responsive, accessible, and inclusive support to staff throughout 
the Pandemic, this has included: 
• Employee Health & Wellbeing Officer 
• Employee Assistance Package 
• Occupational Health 
• Responsive approach including, wellbeing surveys/questionnaires, discussions with managers & 

teams, streamlined appraisal process, drop in sessions 
• Organization wide activity and support including, information on intranet, Wellbeing 

Wednesdays, Activities, Wellbeing Webinars, Shielding staff 
• Dedicated health and wellbeing webinars, regular meetings with Corporate Manager/Registered 

Managers,  
• Individual staff support within care homes 
 
New ways of future working 
The last 12 months has meant a significant change in the way that the Council and its staff has 
had to work and meet the daily demand of the services it provides. With all staff working from 
home (unless their role requires them to be front facing i.e., residential care home staff, 
enablement etc.) there has been a reliance on digital technology and remote working. 
A silver command group was agreed to consider how the Council could work in the future with the 
learning from the pandemic considered. The vision is to provide a modern, flexible work 
environment that supports agility and encourages collaborative activity. The aim to create 
workplaces that are not only cost effective, but strengthen our corporate culture, increase 
engagement with our Ceredigion community and improve service delivery. A staff survey and focus 
groups have been held to determine what the ‘new ways of working’ will be, and this will then 
inform an estates strategy for the future. It is proposed that this will promote the health and 

Page 67



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 48 of 64 
 

wellbeing of the workforce, encourage, and support agile and flexible working, increase public 
facing spaces whilst also reducing the carbon footprint and promoting environmental resilience. 
 
Financial and business recovery 
The Council has enabled and empowered a range of services and initiatives via various funding 
streams from Welsh Government during the Pandemic. These have included the Hardship Fund 
that has specifically provided support for residential and front-line care services.  This Fund has 
allowed internal and commissioned services to focus on their recovery plans. There has been grant 
funding for businesses and support for the reopening of the visitor economy which is very important 
to the general economic recovery within Ceredigion. 
 
Tacking Hardship Strategy  
On July 7th 2020, Ceredigion Cabinet members approved the Tacking Hardship Strategy in the face 
of the potential negative impact of the Covid-19 crisis on the social and economic well-being of the 
residents of Ceredigion, and an increased risk that individuals and families will experience 
hardship, it is timely to introduce the Tackling Hardship Strategy. The aim of the Strategy is to 
tackle hardship by providing a robust framework that will enable a shared understanding of the 
situation, consolidate and develop a range of initiatives to mitigate risk, and implement early and 
preventative action. The Strategy will provide a single document to ensure that Council Leaders, our 
partners and the public are regularly updated on progress. 
 

Ceredigion Local Authority Housing Services 
Under the Homelessness interventions in 2020-2021,479 cases were opened where there had 
been approaches due to households believing to be at risk of homelessness or presenting as 
homeless on the day.  Of the 479 cases opened, some were provided with advice and assistance, 
and 435 assessments carried out under s62 Housing Act requirements.  As a result of these 
assessments, 216 cases were successfully prevented and / or relieved. 
 
24 clients were assisted with Rent Advance and Bonds in 2020-2021.  This figure does not include 
those who the Housing Options Team supported and sign-posted to other agencies such as Vicars 
Relief Fund (VRF), budgeting loans and Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP) applications for those 
upfront costs. 
 
The Housing Options services had to react to Welsh Government’s ‘Everyone In’ approach leading 
to increased demand on the service following the removal of ‘Priority Need’.  In turn, having to 
accommodate those who previously wouldn’t have been assisted with Emergency Accommodation, 
leading to increased need for more unit.  During this year, the service had to take on re—vamp with 
the support of various partner agencies 13 more shared accommodation units and 4 more self-
contained units. 
 
These increased challenges were faced even with Welsh Government’s response to the Pandemic, 
of which one was the suspension of evictions. 
 
Under the adaptations service, 52 Disabled Facilities Grants were delivered, and 427 Safe, Warm 
and Secure Grant delivered.  This delivery was hampered due to the impact of the pandemic, ie. 
restriction on home visits etc. 

Page 68



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 49 of 64 
 

 
Under Housing Register work, for the year 2020-2021, 1251 Housing Register applications were 
received across all 4 registers (affordable, general, older persons and accessible). 
 
What difference has the service made? 
For homelessness prevention duties, 24 households secured private rented sector accommodation 
with landlord incentive scheme. 
 
Disabled Facilities and Safe Warm and Secure grants have assisted clients to live independently 
within their own homes. 
 
A total of 272 applicants secured housing from the Housing Register. 55 (20%) allocations were 
made to people owed a homeless duty.  Even with the restrictions posed by the pandemic, the 
Housing Register and Housing Options service worked proactively with the partner Housing 
Associations to allocate accommodation as swiftly as possible, to enable move on from Emergency 
Accommodation were appropriate.  

 
How well have we done? 
Housing - Homelessness  
Total prevention outcomes: 144 (this includes successful prevention, unsuccessful prevention, 
non-cooperation, assistance refused, withdrawn, and withdrawn due to loss of contact) 
Successful prevention outcomes: 109. Therefore 75% of households threatened with 
homelessness were successfully prevented. However, only 16 (11%) of the 144 were 
unsuccessfully resolved as 19 (13%) clients withdrew from the service (including 1 household who 
refused assistance and 1 household who did not cooperate) and therefore Housing Options were 
unable to assist or establish an outcome. 

 
Housing - Adaptations 
Provided a safe home for 479 disabled and vulnerable applicants to remain living independently 
leading to improved quality of life.  
 
Energy Efficiency 
During the year a total of 224 clients received either improvements to their homes through EE 
initiatives and/or EE advice to improve their financial position and outgoings.  
 
Housing – Register 
1100 Housing Applications were activated on to the Housing Register enabling consideration for 
social housing allocations.  In addition to this, amendments were made to applications and 
application renewals ensuring correct and up to date information for our RSL partners.   

 
Delivery of affordable housing across all tenure 
The SHG programme is part of a 3-year rolling development programme made up of a number of 
funding streams from Welsh Government. 
 
The development programme is based on regularly updated needs analysis of the Housing 
Registers with the aim of delivering a mix of social and intermediate housing across Ceredigion.  

 
What difference has the objective made? 

Page 69



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 50 of 64 
 

The number of Social Rented units being delivered is likely to increase year on year over the next 3 
years and so contribute to Welsh Governments 20,000 Target. Developments are being targeted to 
help meet the identified local need in the County. The range of affordable tenure options is also 
being increased to help address the different housing needs within the County.  
 
The Authority is improving the targeting of all new social housebuilding as a result of the Housing 
Register database system. Specialised and adapted housing such as wheelchair 
accessible/mobility impaired units are also being delivered to try and address the need for specific 
applicants/clients. 

 
Contribute towards the development of care and support: 
During 2019-20 revised guidance for Housing Support Grant (HSG) programme (Supporting People) 
was issued by Welsh Government. This revised guidance served to highlight the strong inter-
linkages between housing support and homelessness prevention. In recognition of these linkages, 
the responsibility for the strategic planning and delivery of the HSG services was moved to within 
Housing services. During 2020-21 plans were underway to implement the new HSG Gateway 
Service as a central point for submitting all requests for Housing Support, ensuring all cases would 
be allocated the appropriate interventions in a timely manner. This entailed devising new roles and 
employing into these positions. Further developments were planned for 2020-21 including the 
preparations for the development of the HSG Programme Strategy. 
 
Furthermore, with the location of Housing Services within the Porth Gofal integrated, through age 
service model, many opportunities have been identified for building on opportunities and links 
across the service model from prevention, early intervention through to crisis intervention.  
 
Ensure that the accommodation needs of residents are met 
The Housing service continues to work towards ensuring that the accommodation needs of 
residents are being met. Throughout the year 36 inspections of licensed Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (private rented accommodation) were undertaken to ensure safety standards were 
being met, 10 cases of harassment and illegal eviction were investigated, and 254 service 
complaints related to poor housing standards were followed up.  
 
Property Acquisitions 
Use of capital integrated care grants have enabled key new housing acquisitions. One being a 
scheme in conjunction with the West Wales Domestic Abuse Service for the Council to acquire two 
properties in County to lease for the use of victims of domestic abuse. The second being the 
acquisition of a property for the use of Porth Cynnal care and support services to support parent 
and baby as step down or prevention of children coming into local authority care.  
  

Page 70



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 51 of 64 
 

Summary of Wellbeing Outcomes 2020-2021: 
 

 

 

 
 

Outcomes

2020 - 2021

Outcomes

64 homeless households 
in temporary 

accommodation

June 20 – April 21 
Average 32 service users on 

Dom Care waiting list 
(highest 51 lowest 12)

8,602,591 items of PPE 
distributed across the county, 
with a 12-week rolling stock 

programme

265 Planning 
Meetings taken place in 

response to 55 
incidents/outbreaks in 

Ceredigion care homes

67 Afternoon tea boxes 
were hand delivered by 
the Fostering Team staff 
to all Foster and Kinship 

Carers in December 
2020 

Socially distanced door
step visits were 

undertaken to thank the 
carers and to wish 
them all a happy 

Christmas

Daily sit rep calls to care 
home providers - a total of 
7,546 telephone calls have 

been made and 343 Sit 
Rep reports

Increase in 
community beds 
provided 19/20 -
208, 20/21 - 286

Page 71



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 52 of 64 
 

What are our priorities for next year and why? 
This coming year will see the continuation of a number of whole-system transformation projects 
along with continuing to deal with the challenges of the Covid 19 Pandemic and its aftermath.  

 
Covid 19 Objective 

• Continue to work closely with partner agencies to reduce the risk of spread of the infection  
• Effectively implement adjustment plans 
• Recovery  

 
Improvement Objective 1 
To ensure that the transformation of social services is achieved during 2021/22 in partnership 
with other corporate services and partner agencies. 

• Work in partnership on the corporate restructure plan, enabling an efficient whole-council 
approach 

• Ensure the Statutory requirements for Social Care are clearly defined within the structure 
• Ensure robust services are in place to enable citizens to achieve their personal outcomes 

 
Improvement Objective 2 
Ensure the Local Authority continues to have a strong voice in the Region  

• Ensure regular committed involvement at all regional partnership events by relevant staff 
• Ensure that Ceredigion takes full advantage of the resources available to us from the 

Regional Partnership Board 
• Influence the developments through the region and nationally 

 
Improvement Objective 3 
Ensuring that the LA is effective, along with partners in securing and utilising Transformation Funds 
to drive better outcomes for people in Ceredigion  

• Continue to enhance the regional Technology Enabled Care Project in conjunction with 
Carmarthenshire/Pembrokeshire and Hywel Dda 

• Work in partnership with Hywel Dda to drive forward the Integrated working agenda 
including the Fast Access Community Team 

• Work in conjunction with Health and 3rd Sector to develop community hubs and resource 
 

Service Areas for Further Development: 
 
Porth Cymorth Cynnar 
• Wellbeing Centres’ - to develop facilities that enhance the core physical activity and leisure 

offer with meeting, consultation, and treatment spaces. The Wellbeing Centre will incorporate 
services that consider and improve the physical, social emotional and mental aspects of an 
individual’s wellbeing and contribute to them enabling individuals to achieve their full potential. 

• Further develop and deliver blended universal and focussed through-age community activities 
and interventions to enable empowerment, resilience, and independence. 

• Work collaboratively with key stakeholders and voluntary sector organisations to develop a 
range of services to meet the evolving needs within our communities to support and 
enable individuals and families in Ceredigion to cope well with the challenges and pressures 
that they may face. 

Page 72



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 53 of 64 
 

 
Porth Gofal:  
• Direct Payments support service developed in house 
• Domiciliary Care – progression with hybrid model of service delivery with Enablement 
• Implementation of the Health and Social Care Support Workers as part of Transformation 

programme 3 
• Fostering – service development plan including recruitment and training of new foster carers 
• Day Services Review – focus on community and individual resilience, prevention and 

empowerment strategies and respite opportunities 
 
Porth Cynnal: 
• Develop preventative and recovery approaches across Porth Cynnal Services and the TAW model 

and with partner agencies focusing on mental wellbeing, domestic abuse, substance misuse 
• Safe Looked After Children Reduction initiatives  
• Regional and local projects: develop trauma informed safe accommodation for children and local 

parent and baby accommodation  
• Embed Signs of Safety practice 
  

Page 73



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 54 of 64 
 

5. How We Do What We Do 
How we have supported the professional development of the 
Social Care Workforce 
Ceredigion County Council highly values the services provided by the Social Care sector for the 
citizens of Ceredigion.  Through the provision of learning and development opportunities we seek to 
attract, recruit, and retain a highly skilled and competent workforce able to make a positive 
difference to the lives of the people they work with. 
 
Social Care Wales Workforce Development Programme (SCWWDP) grant funding is utilized to 
provide a range of training and development opportunities which are made available to the sector.  
These opportunities support the induction, continuous professional development, and the 
regulatory qualification requirements of those involved in service delivery.  
 
To ensure the needs of the whole sector are met, the Council’s Learning and Development Team 
conduct an internal and external annual training needs analysis and host events where external 
Social Care providers are invited to identify their training priorities. 
 
COVID-19 impacted upon the delivery of learning and development opportunities in March 2020 
and resulted in the cancellation of all face-to-face training.  To enable continued support for the 
sector, all trainers upskilled in developing on-line content and in on-line delivery methods.  Five new 
e-learning modules were launched covering: Introduction to Care and Personal Care, Manual 
Handling – People, Manual Handling – Objects, Infection Prevention & Control including donning 
and doffing of PPE, Safe Administration of Medicines and Return Safely to Work.  Staff who were 
working at home also received Health & Safety guidance on home working. 
 

E-learning completions increased by a 
remarkable 59% on the previous year, with 
a total of 4864 completions.  The opposite 
graph shows the breakdown of internal 
and external social care completions:  
 
As the year progressed, essential face-to-
face training for Social Care staff such as 
Manual Handling and First Aid was re-
instated and delivered to staff groups of 
reduced numbers in adherence to COVID 

and risk assessment restrictions. 
 
417 events covering core social care / social work practice and health and safety training have 
been made available to the sector enabling 3488 staff completions, this is an increase of 548 on 
the previous year, which is significant given the impact of COVID, staff sickness, recruitment, and 
operational challenges on the sector during this time. 
 
In order to support the Council’s transformational Through Age & Wellbeing project, a bespoke 
management development programme commenced and will continue on into the next year. 

3609

1255

Breakdown of total e-learning completions 
for 20/21

Internal Staff External Staff

Page 74



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 55 of 64 
 

 
The opposite graph shows staff 
training attendance figures by year 
and evidences the increasing 
demand for and completion of e-
learning. 
 
Workforce succession planning has 
been supported through the 
Council’s Trainee Social Worker 
Scheme and the provision of 16 
social work placements.  The offer 
of a Level 2 Health and Social Care 

Apprenticeship within a residential care home continues to develop and has resulted in 2 
permanent members of staff with a further recently commenced on this career pathway. 
 
Promoting and supporting delivery through the medium of Welsh continues to be a priority.  To 
support the ‘Active Offer’, bespoke Welsh Language support sessions have been delivered to social 
work students and the Carers Team, 21 social care staff have been supported to undertake Welsh 
Language lessons and 124 across the sector have completed a Welsh Language Awareness e-
learning module. 
 
Summary of staff supported to attain qualification: 
 

Programme Numbers on 
programme 1st 

April 2020 

Numbers 
enrolled during 

2020/2021 

Numbers 
achieving 

during 
2020/2021 

Numbers 
withdrawn 

Numbers 
carrying 

forward to 
2021/2022 

AWIF 22 0 0 6 16 

Level 2 Approved Qual 9 4 5 0 8 

Level 3 Approved Qual 10 4 10 2 2 

QCF L3 – CYP 0 0 0 0 0 

Level 4 Approved Qual 0 0 0 0 0 

Level 5 Approved Qual 3 1 1 0 3 

TAQA Award – Level 3 0 0 0 0 0 

TAQA Award – Level 4 0 0 0 0 0 

Social Services Practitioner 
Programme – these figures 
relate to Cert HE 

3 3 2 1 3 

Social Work Degree Level 4 
– sponsored 

0 0 0 0 0 

Social Work Degree Level 5 
– sponsored 

0 2 0 0 2 

Social Work Degree Level 6 
– sponsored 

0 0 0 0 0 

3297 3025 2940
3488

470
1132

1975

4864

0
1000
2000
3000
4000
5000
6000

17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

Training summary by year

Staff attendance at training e-learning completions

Page 75



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 56 of 64 
 

Social Work Degree Level 4 
– other 

0 0 0 0 0 

Social Work Degree Level 5 
– other 

3 6 3 0 6 

Social Work Degree Level 6 
– other 

1 3 1 0 3 

Master Social Work Degree 
– Year 1 – sponsored 

0 0 0 0 0 

Master Social Work Degree 
– Year 2 – sponsored 

0 0 0 0 0 

Master Social Work Degree 
– Year 1 – other 

2 3 2 1 2 

Master Social Work Degree 
– Year 2 – other 

0 2 0 0 2 

NQSW Programme `8 1 8 0 1 

Graduate Certificate in 
consolidation of social 
work practice 

6 10 6 0 10 

Experienced Practice in 
Social Work 

0 0 0 0 0 

Senior Practice in Social 
Work 

0 0 0 0 0 

Consultant Social Work 0 0 0 0 0 

Enabling Practice 6/7 
(Practice Assessor Awards) 

1 6 0 0 7 

Best Interest Assessor 0 12 0 1 11 

Approved Mental Health 
Practitioner 

2 1 2 0 1 

Team Manager 
Development Programme 

1 1 0 1 1 

Middle Manager 
Development Programme 

0 0 0 0 0 

Working with Deaf Blind 
People 

0 0 0 0 0 

Certificate in Dementia 
Care Level 3 

0 20 0 1 19 

Trusted Assessor Level 3 0 0 0 0 0 

Assessing Decision Making 
Capacity Level 6 

3 0 3 0 0 

Strategic Manager 
Leadership Programme 

0 0 0 0 0 

 
 
  

Page 76



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 57 of 64 
 

Language profile of our Through Age Workforce: 
 
Porth Cymorth Cynnar: 

OVERVIEW 
No of 
People % of People 

ALTE 0, 1 & 2 51 20.48% 

ALTE 3, 4 & 5 198 79.52% 

TOTAL 249 100.00% 
 

GAP No of People 
% of 
People 

GAP IN ALTE 
REQUIREMENTS 96 37.94% 

Meets ALTE Requirements 157 62.06% 

TOTAL 249 100.00% 
 

PERSON - 
SPEAKING & 
LISTENING 0 1 2 3 4 5 

  

No of People 3 21 27 34 60 104 249 

% of People 1.20% 8.43% 10.84% 13.65% 24.10% 41.77% 100.00% 

PERSON - WRITING 0 1 2 3 4 5 
  

No of People 10 27 32 37 65 78 249 

% of People 4.02% 10.84% 12.85% 14.86% 26.10% 31.33% 100.00% 

PERSON - READING 0 1 2 3 4 5 
  

No of People 10 23 30 35 61 90 249 

% of People 4.02% 9.24% 12.05% 14.06% 24.50% 36.14% 100.00% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 77



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 58 of 64 
 

Porth Cynnal: 

OVERVIEW 
No of 
People % of People 

ALTE 0, 1 &2 58 48.33% 

ALTE 3, 4 & 5 62 51.67% 

TOTAL 120 100.00% 
 

GAP No of People 
% of 
People 

GAP IN ALTE 
REQUIREMENTS 61 50.83% 

Meets ALTE Requirement 59 49.17% 

TOTAL 120 100.00% 
 

PERSON - 
SPEAKING & 
LISTENING 0 1 2 3 4 5   

No of People 4 33 21 18 11 33 120 

% of People 3.33% 27.50% 17.50% 15.00% 9.17% 27.50% 100.00% 

PERSON - 
WRITING 0 1 2 3 4 5   

No of People 15 31 20 12 15 27 120 

% of People ##### 25.83% 16.67% 10.00% 12.50% 22.50% 100.00% 

PERSON - 
READING 0 1 2 3 4 5   

No of People 12 32 21 9 17 29 120 

% of People ##### 26.67% 17.50% 7.50% 14.17% 24.17% 100.00% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 78



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 59 of 64 
 

Porth Gofal: 

OVERVIEW 
No of 
People % of People 

ALTE 0, 1 & 2 168 47.06% 

ALTE 3, 4 & 5 189 52.94% 

TOTAL 357 100.00% 
 

GAP No of People 
% of 
People 

GAP IN ALTE 
REQUIREMENTS 188 52.66% 

Meets ALTE Requirement 169 47.34% 

TOTAL 357 100.00% 
 

PERSON - 
SPEAKING & 
LISTENING 0 1 2 3 4 5   

No of People 27 74 67 72 32 85 357 

% of People 7.56% 20.73% 18.77% 20.17% 8.96% 23.81% 100.00% 

PERSON - 
WRITING 0 1 2 3 4 5   

No of People 67 76 70 59 22 63 357 

% of People ##### 21.29% 19.61% 16.53% 6.16% 17.65% 100.00% 

PERSON - 
READING 0 1 2 3 4 5   

No of People 58 67 71 46 42 73 357 

% of People ##### 18.77% 19.89% 12.89% 11.76% 20.45% 100.00% 
 
 
  

Page 79



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 60 of 64 
 

Our Financial Resources and How We Plan for the Future 
For the first time in over 10 years, the Council’s financial settlement was considered a positive one.  
The Council’s overall WG funding settlement for 2020/2021 of £107.6m was a 4% increase on the 
previous year and meant that Services did not have to find any significant level of savings. 
 
2020/2021 also marked the year where the Council started aligning its budgets to the new 
targeted operating model for Social Care, which saw Early Intervention and Wellbeing related 
services become far more integrated alongside the more traditional Social Care Services.  As a 
result, the Council’s new Pyrth operating structure was reflected in budgets which totaled £35.2m 
now being over 23% of the 2020/2021 Council budget of £151.2m. 
 
The Social Care related budgets still faced considerable cost pressures of £3.5m.  However, these 
were mainly mitigated by the benefit from the positive WG settlement, and a targeted corporate 
approach being taken to address the Social Care budget pressures. 
 
Whilst there was a £0.6m overspend for the 2020/2021 financial year, this is a significant 
improvement from previous year’s and reflects the impact starting to be seen from the alignment of 
services to the new Through Age Model.  The model though remains in its infancy and continues to 
develop. 
 
2020/20212 can’t be concluded without mentioning COVID19 and the significant financial impact 
this has had.  The Social Care sector has been at the forefront of the pandemic with the impact 
being felt both by the Local Authority and the wide range of Private Providers whom services are 
commissioned from.  Through the WG Hardship Fund, significant additional funding has been made 
available to the Social Care sector in the form of funding and payments for Voids, Temporary 
Enhanced Premium Payments for placements and funding for Exceptional Costs arising from 
COVID19 incidents.  This fund has been critical to ensure the continuity of services during these 
challenging times. 
 
Looking forwards the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan sets out the financial strategy for 
future planning purposes and to meet the Council’s Corporate priorities which are: 
 

• Boosting the Economy 
• Investing in People’s Future 
• Enabling Individual and Family Resilience 
• Promoting Environmental and Community Resilience 

 
Part of the transformational aspect of the Medium-Term plan focusses on the move from a more 
traditional Children’s and Adult Social Care services to a wider Through Age model with Early 
Intervention through the introduction of a new targeted operating model to be known as Porth 
Gofal, Porth Cynnal and Porth Cymorth Cynnar. 
  

Page 80



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 61 of 64 
 

Our Partnership Working, Political and Corporate Leadership, 
Governance and Accountability 
On 25th March 2020, the Council Leader and Deputy Leader granted temporary delegated powers 
to the Council’s Chief Executive and Leadership Group to make decisions relating to the Council’s 
COVID-19 response. The decision was made in accordance with the Council’s Constitution. 
Supporting Gold Command are 5 Silver Command Groups, which report weekly to Gold Command. 
 
In addition, the Chief Executive and the Leader has met at least once a week with representatives 
from Hywel Dda University Health Board, the WLGA and other Leaders and Chief Executives, the 
Member of Parliament and Member of the Senedd as well as providing briefings to the Cabinet  
 
Gold Command, which is made up of the Council’s Senior Management Team has met daily since 
mid-March 2020 to deal with the Council’s response to COVID-19.  
 
The record of Gold Command’s decisions and actions during the year can be found on the Council 
website and include a number of key decisions in relation to care and support services. 
 
Weekly safeguarding reports regarding activity in relation to children and adults were presented to 
Gold Command by the Statutory Director for information and quality assurance. 
 
Healthier Communities Scrutiny Committee  
The Committee met virtually on 19th of November 2020 and considered The Ceredigion Carers Unit 
Annual Report 2019/20, the Regional Carers Group Annual report 2019-2020, the published CIW 
Inspection Report on Early Help and Care and Support and Transition for Disabled Children, the IRO 
Service Performance Monitoring Report Q2 2019-2020. Committee Members noted the inspection 
report and approved the progress as reported in the Action Plan from 2019/20. 
 
The Committee met virtually on 18th February 2021 and considered the reports on the draft budget 
for 2021/22, the Cost Reduction / Budget Savings and proposed changes to the Council’s Fees 
and Charges 2021/22.Committe members approved the recommendations made and recorded 
concern with increasing Looked after Children costs and noted the increased demand for Direct 
Payments and that it is intended that the service will come in house during 2021. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Coordinating Committee 
The Committee met virtually on 16 September 2020 and considered the Annual Report of CYSUR 
and CWMPAS 2019-2020. Committee members also considered a c comprehensive report 
outlining the Council’s response to date in managing the Covid 19 pandemic.   
  

Page 81



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 62 of 64 
 

The West Wales Care Partnership 
 
Section 14A of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 
requires local authorities and Local Health Boards to produce 
Area Plans setting out the range and level of services that will be 
provided in their area in response to regional Population 

Assessments. These Plans must be 
produced every 5 years and initial 
plans must be published by 1 April 
2019.  
 
The West Wales Area Plan for 2019-23, ‘Delivering Change Together’, 
has been agreed by the Regional Partnership Board and endorsed by 
Carmarthenshire, Ceredigion and Pembrokeshire County Councils 
and Hywel Dda University Health Board. It includes a series of 
strategic commitments which the Partnership will take forward over 
the next five years to support the transformation and integration of 
care and support in the Region. 
 
The Plan is available here. It is also available via the new West 
Wales Data Portal , which has been developed in partnership with 
Data Unit Cymru. This provides access to a wide range of 

population and service data for the region and allows our Plan to be updated regularly to 
reflect local and national developments and report on progress against the commitments within 
our Plan. 
 
In August 2020 the RPB commissioned an independent evaluation of the Healthier West Wales 
programmes. This noted progress across the board and recommended a number of enhancements 
including improving data sets to assess impact of programmes; evidencing the impact of different 
delivery arrangements in different parts of the region; strengthening engagement with users, carers 
and other stakeholders and using resulting intelligence to inform programme development; and 
closer alignment of programmes to enable staff involved in their delivery to recognise their 
contribution to the wider transformation landscape. 
 
An action plan has been developed to address each of the recommendations. In view of the positive 
evidence presented within the report, Welsh Government confirmed an allocation of just under £6m 
for 2021-22 to continue the programmes for a further, transitional year. Alongside the Healthier West 
Wales programmes, the Transformation Fund also provided ring-fenced resources to the Partnership 
in support of performance management and reporting and continuous engagement. As a result, in 
2020-21 we were able to appoint a Performance and Evaluation Officer to lead on the development 
of metrics to assess impact of transformation and other regional programmes. We also contributed 
to the costs of the ‘Engagement HQ’ digital platform which has been acquired by the RPB alongside 
Public Services Boards and several individual organizations in the region. This software will provide 
a tool for engaging with different communities (both geographical and of interest), using a range of 
mechanisms including virtual forums, on-line message boards, place-based 14 conversations, 
interactive stories, question and answer facilities and polls and surveys.  
 
 

Page 82

http://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/West-Wales-Area-Plan-English-Final-Version-29-03-18.pdf
http://www.wwcp-data.org.uk/home
http://www.wwcp-data.org.uk/home


Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 63 of 64 
 

Mid and West Wales Regional Safeguarding Board:  
 

                                                      
 
CYSUR is the Mid and West Wales Regional Safeguarding Children Board. 
CYSUR is an acronym for Child and Youth Safeguarding: Unifying the Region and is also the Welsh 
word for reassurance. 
CYSUR is an amalgamation of the former Local Safeguarding Children Boards in Carmarthenshire, 
Ceredigion, Pembrokeshire, and Powys. 
 
CWMPAS is the Mid and West Wales Regional Safeguarding Adults Board. 
CWMPAS is an acronym for Collaborative Working and Maintaining Partnership in Adult 
Safeguarding and is also the Welsh word for scope or remit. 
The CWMPAS remit also stretches across Carmarthenshire, Ceredigion, Pembrokeshire, and Powys 
 
The regional arrangements were established to meet the requirements of the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  

During 2020-2021, The Mid and West Wales Safeguarding Board continued to operate in accordance 
with its statutory obligations in light of the national emergency and pandemic. Although some non-
essential Board work was stood down temporarily, all the Board’s mandatory sub-groups i.e., 
Training, Policies and Procedures and Practice Review Subgroups continued to meet and function, 
and Ceredigion County Council officers took a full part in all activities. The completion and 
development of ongoing regional policies, procedures, and strategies as well as ongoing Child and 
Adult Practice Reviews were prioritized.  
 
Executive Board meetings continued to take place at regular intervals, and an interim COVID-19 
Regional Operational Group was set up to oversee, monitor and respond to any identified areas of 
increased risk that have emerged as a result of the pandemic. This multi-agency group consists of 
heads of service and senior service managers from across the region and their equivalent from 
agency partner organizations.  
 
In addition to this, multi-agency safeguarding leads meetings for children and adult services with 
representatives from the four local authorities, regional health boards and Dyfed Powys Police have 
taken place weekly. The focus of these meetings is to lead the development of interim COVID-19 
regional policies, establish consistent professional practice across the region where appropriate and 
to share ideas and offer peer support. The Regional Safeguarding Board Manager and Business Unit 
Staff’s roles have been realigned to priorities supporting these new regional groups, and any actions 
that emerge, as well as continuing to progress the Board’s key subgroups. 
 
The Board has produced specific regional guidance and policies to help guide partner agencies’ 
regional and local safeguarding activity during the Pandemic. 

Page 83



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 64 of 64 
 

6. Accessing Further Information and Key 
Documents 
 

Title Location 
West Wales Regional 
Partnership Board Annual 
Report 2020-21 

West-Wales-RPB-Annual-Report-2020-21-ENGLISH.pdf 
(wwcp.org.uk) 

Mid and West Wales 
Safeguarding Board  Cysur | Our Annual Reports 

Ceredigion CC Carers Unit 
Annual Report   
West Wales Regional Carer’s 
group Annual Report 2020-21 WWCDG-Annual-Report-2021-21-FINAL.pdf (wwcp.org.uk) 
West Wales Area Plan for 
2019-23, ‘Delivering Change 
Together’ 

http://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/03/West-Wales-Area-Plan-English-
Final-Version-29-03-18.pdf 

Ceredigion Gold Command 
Decision Making Records 

Governance Structure for decision making - Ceredigion County 
Council 

Director Annual report 2019-
2020 

Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual 
Report 2019-2020 

 

Page 84

https://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/West-Wales-RPB-Annual-Report-2020-21-ENGLISH.pdf
https://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/West-Wales-RPB-Annual-Report-2020-21-ENGLISH.pdf
https://www.cysur.wales/our-annual-reports/
https://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/WWCDG-Annual-Report-2021-21-FINAL.pdf
http://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/West-Wales-Area-Plan-English-Final-Version-29-03-18.pdf
http://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/West-Wales-Area-Plan-English-Final-Version-29-03-18.pdf
http://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/West-Wales-Area-Plan-English-Final-Version-29-03-18.pdf
http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/resident/coronavirus-covid-19/governance/
http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/resident/coronavirus-covid-19/governance/
http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/media/10421/statutory-directors-annual-report-2019-2020.pdf
http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/media/10421/statutory-directors-annual-report-2019-2020.pdf


    

 

 
 
 
   

 

 
 

Ceredigion County Council 
 

Sian Howys 
 

DRAFT 
 
 
 

Page 87



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 2 of 64 
 

1. Introduction           3 
The Through Age and Wellbeing Integrated Service Delivery Model    5 
Ceredigion’s COVID-19 Response         6 
 

2 Summary of Performance          7 
Adult and Commissioning Services Summary       7 
Children and Families Services Summary        14 
 

3 How Are People Shaping Our Services?        21 
Learning Disability Strategy 2018-2023 and Improvement Action Plan    22 
Adverse Childhood Experiences         24 
Ceredigion Safe Stars Children and Young People Safeguarding Group facilitated by TGP  25 
Carer Support and Engagement         25 
Ceredigion Family Support and Early Help Services      26 
Ceredigion Support and Prevention Services       28 
Foster Carers Engagement and Support        31 
Care Inspectorate Wales Activity         32 
Complaints and Compliments         33 
 

4 Promoting and Improving the Well-being of Those We Help     41 
What did we plan to do last year?         41 
How far did we success in working towards those priorities?     42 
Ceredigion’s COVID-19 Response         44 
Tackling Hardship Strategy          48 
Ceredigion Local Authority Housing Services       48 
Summary of Well-being Outcomes 2020-2021       51 
What are our priorities for next year and why?       52 
 

5 How We Do What We Do          54 
How we have supported the professional development of the Social Care Workforce  54 
Our Financial Resources and How We Plan for The Future      60 
Our Partnership Working, Political and Corporate Leadership, Governance and Accountability 61 
 

6 Accessing Further Information and Key Documents      64 
 

  

Page 88



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 3 of 64 
 

1. Introduction  
As the Director of Ceredigion Social Services between July 2020 and March 2021, I have the 
pleasure of presenting the 2020-2021 Annual Report.  This has been an unprecedented year in so 
many ways due to the Covid 19 Global Pandemic and public health emergency. Promoting the 
safety and wellbeing of the residents of Ceredigion in the context of the far-reaching implications of 
Covid 19 has been extremely challenging.  
 

From the outset, Ceredigion County Council has taken 
stringent measures to manage the risk of the spread of 
Covid 19 and we have throughout the year been proactive 
and robust in prioritizing the protection of and support for 
the residents of Ceredigion. I must at the outset 
acknowledge with gratitude the commitment and 
dedication of my colleagues and all staff for the way they 

have responded to the Covid 19 crisis and made the necessary adjustments to ensure the 
continuity and safe delivery of key social care services during the periods of lockdown and the 
Covid restrictions. 
 
With this annual report, the aim is to evaluate the performance of the Local Authority in relation to 
the delivery of its Social Services functions in respect of the 2020-2021 financial year.  The impact 
of Covid-19 in relation to social care services has been very significant across all areas of the 
Council’s work. It has also affected our capacity to provide specific information for this report, I 
have however ensured to the best of my ability that the information available has been provided to 
set out how the agreed wellbeing outcomes in Ceredigion have been met. 
 
The annual report content is defined in Part 8 of the Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 
2014 (SSWBA) under the ‘Code of Practice on the Role of Directors of Social Services’, which 
provides a requirement for an annual report to detail how the Local Authority has been working 
towards achieving the quality standards of well-being outcomes. 
 
The eight well-being outcomes are: 

• Securing rights and entitlements 
• Physical and mental health and emotional well-being 
• Protection from abuse and neglect 
• Education, training, and recreation 
• Domestic, family, and personal relationships  
• Contribution made to society 
• Social and economic well-being 
• Suitability of living accommodation 

 
The six quality standards used to measure the Local Authority’s performance against the wellbeing 
outcomes are: 

• Working with people to define and co-produce personal well-being outcomes that people 
wish to achieve 

• Working with people and partners to protect and promote people’s physical and mental 
health and emotional well-being 

Page 89



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 4 of 64 
 

• Taking steps to protect and safeguard people from abuse, neglect, or harm 
• Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop and participate in society  
• Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic, family, and personal 

relationships 
• Working with and supporting people to achieve greater economic well-being, have a social 

life and live in suitable accommodation that meets their needs 
 
This report has been written for a wide audience, with the intention that it is made available to 
everyone.  In compiling this report, I’ve considered specifically the following groups: 
 

• Service users and carers and all those whose well-being is affected by what the local 
authority’s social services and related functions do, so that the impact of those services is 
explained 

• The public who has an interest in what their local authority is doing, how it is performing and 
how their money is being spent 

• Elected members and others involved in scrutiny processes 
• The local authority’s partners including both formal partners and others in the public, private 

and third sectors who need to understand the local authority’s programme and priority 
objectives 

• Regulators (including the Wales Audit Office, CIW, Social Care Wales, and the Statutory 
Commissioners) 

• The Welsh Government 
  

Page 90



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 5 of 64 
 

The Through Age and Well-being Integrated Service Delivery Model 
 

 
 
During 2020-2021, the implementation of the Integrated Through Age and Well-being Service 
Model was delayed by the impact of the pandemic and the need to prioritise actions in relation to 
our Covid 19 response. However, the achievements of the previous year provided a sound basis for 
continued development of the strategic aims of the model.  The model focuses on people’s 
strengths, enabling them and their families where they need help and developing resilience within 
our communities.     
 
Phase 1 of the corporate restructure was completed in April 2018 with the recruitment of 2 
Corporate Directors and 12 Corporate Lead Officers (CLOs) to cover the responsibilities of all 
service areas.  
 
The implementation of the Integrated Through Age and Well-being Service Delivery Model changes 
the roles and responsibilities of some of the Corporate Lead Officer posts and the teams across the 
Local Authority, not only in Social Care. The 3 Corporate lead Officers, Porth Cymorth Cynnar, Porth 
Gofal and Porth Cynnal have led the change management processes to support the development 
and delivery of the model. 
 
The Corporate Manager roles have been operational since March 2020 and throughout 2020-2021 
the team have collaborated well and have taken forward several key strategic developments across 
the Pyrth. The Corporate Managers have worked hard on defining functions and pathways between 
the various teams and services, the setting up of proposals in preparation for the second Phase of 
the restructuring of Team Management and the configuration of services whilst also implementing 
Covid 19 measures. The model is now named the Through Age and Wellbeing Programme and it 
has gained considerable momentum in all the four main service areas. 
 

• Clic Customer Contact – Initial point of contact and referral 
• Porth Cymorth Cynnar – Early intervention and Prevention 
• Porth Gofal –Triage, Assessment, Targeted Intervention and Direct Services 
• Porth Cymorth Cynnal – Specialist Care and Support Through Age Services 

 
 

Page 91



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 6 of 64 
 

Ceredigion’s Covid 19 Response  
 
From the outset of the pandemic, Ceredigion County Council identified a clear vision and 
framework of action to ensure Ceredigion succeeded in not only reducing predicted deaths through 
the first peak but also for any future predicted peaks. The defined phases of our response have 
been; 
 

• Phase 1 - Preparedness – Closing down of all non-essential services 
• Phase 2 - Implementation – Delivering services under lockdown and controlled conditions 
• Phase 3 - Adjustment and long- term resilience 
• Phase 4 - Recovery 

 
A range of measures have been taken throughout 2020-2021 to protect the most vulnerable 
people in our care homes, schools and in the community. At the close of the period of this report, 
we currently have one of the lowest Covid 19 rates in Wales and are at Phase 3 of our response in 
planning for further adjustments with the aim of doing all we can to maintain this low rate and to 
build longer term resilience and recovery in our communities.  
 

 
Sian Howys 
Statutory Director of Social Services 
Corporate Lead Officer – Porth Cynnal 
  

Page 92



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 7 of 64 
 

2. Summary of Performance 
As laid out under section 145 of the Social Services and Wellbeing act, the Performance 
Measurement framework is used as a gauge of performance of local authorities’ social services 
functions.  This section will illustrate how the service has performed over the past year. It must be 
noted that following Welsh Government direction minimal reporting was completed due to the 
Covid 19 pandemic and the report reflects this.  
 

Adult and Commissioning Services Summary  
The performance of services for adults is satisfactory with priority given to adhering to local, 
regional, and national Covid 19 regulations, guidance and protocols in collaboration with partner 
agency whilst participating fully in all multi -agency forums dealing with the pandemic.   
 
The continued development of key service areas such as Clic for initial contact and signposting to 
Porth Gofal for advice and assistance, triage and proportionate assessment forms the basis of our 
future model. Opportunities for developing and enhancing prevention services within Porth Cymorth 
Cynnar continues as another key element with Covid 19 adjustments such as Community 
Connectors providing online support and welfare phone calls. 
 
Adult Safeguarding 
Ceredigion Adult Safeguarding Service complied with the regionally and nationally agreed protocols 

for carrying out safeguarding duties to 
adults at risk during the pandemic.  
Risk assessments were completed for 
all necessary visits and virtual 
working was implemented whenever 
possible. This measure shows the 
percentage of adult protection 
enquiries completed within 7 days.  
There has been a reduction in 
2020/2021 which relates to the 
impact of Covid on staff sickness and 
absence rates and the need to 
prioritise high risk cases.  An enquiry 
should normally be completed within 
seven working days of the report.  
This of course would not prevent 

immediate action being taken when necessary to protect an adult at risk. 
 
Delayed Transfers of Care 
This year, the delayed transfers of care measure has significantly increased due to the impact that 
COVID has had on services such as the availability of residential placement and domiciliary care 
with lockdown and infection outbreak control measures.  A delayed transfer of care is experienced 
by an inpatient in a hospital, who is ready to move on to the next stage of care but is prevented 
from doing so for one or more reasons such as service provision due to the need for care and 
support. Ceredigion County Council made the decision in April 2020 to adopt the COVID-19 Hospital 

97% 98%

81%
73%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

The percentage of adult protection enquiries completed 
within 7 days

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Page 93



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 8 of 64 
 

Discharge Service Requirements (Wales). However, it also decided that by adhering to the 
Guidance in its entirety it would potentially expose the residential care homes to risks of infection 
that could have catastrophic consequences. In order to mitigate this risk and protect the service 
users and staff within the homes, the decision was made that new admissions to residential care 
homes would only be accepted following a negative Covid 19 test result, proof of testing and the 
result will need to be provided prior to accepting the admission. For service users who needed to 
return to the home following a period of acute care the same arrangement was applied.  
 

Porth Gofal has strong connections with 3rd 
Sector Services which have been utilized 
whenever possible to support those who 
have low level needs for support following 
discharge form hospital. Porth Gofal’s 
ethos is one of integrated working with our 
Health colleagues with triage being the 
main hub for coordination of hospital 
discharges. This has ensured that the 
person has the right support at the right 
time by the right professional, building on 
the person’s strengths and network and 
promoting self-resilience to regain their 

independence.  Hospital discharges continue to be a priority within the Porth Gofal service and for 
that to happen safely within the confines of nationally and locally agreed Covid protocols. 
 
Enablement  
Enablement is ordinarily a short and intensive service, usually delivered in the home, which is 
offered to people with disabilities and those who are frail or recovering from an illness or injury.  
 
2020-2021 Referrals received actioned and closed by Enablement 

2020/21 Total 
Referrals 

Enablement Long 
Term 

Closed Started 

Apr-20 28 23 5 7 21 

May-20 55 45 10 14 41 

June-20 42 28 14 9 33 

Jul-20 41 31 10 11 30 

Aug-20 34 23 11 13 21 

Sep-20 33 19 14 16 17 

Oct-20 59 33 26 32 27 

Nov-20 52 27 25 22 30 

2.5%
3.8% 4.3%

8.3%

0.0%
1.0%
2.0%
3.0%
4.0%
5.0%
6.0%
7.0%
8.0%
9.0%

The rate of delayed transfers of care for social care 
reasons per 1,000 population aged 75 or over 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Page 94



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 9 of 64 
 

Dec-20 53 34 19 7 46 

Jan-21 43 27 16 21 22 

Feb-21 52 31 21 24 28 

Mar-21 60 49 11 32 28 

TOTAL 552 370 182 208 344 

 
Totals per month of individuals in receipt of Enablement and hours delivered 
 
A total of 4072.38 hours of Enablement service was provided in 2020/21. A total of 336 
individuals were re-abled and discharged from the service.  
 
In January 21 – March 21 of the 24 long term care bridging cases that were accepted, 8 were 
reduced by Enablement intervention by 45.75 hours. This has reinforced our new model of 
development to assess long term needs through the lens of an enablement focus. 
 
The service has continued to deliver an important service in promoting early discharge from 
hospital and promoting independence within the Covid control protocols. The service has been able 
to deliver positive outcomes for individuals despite significant pressures in our commissioned 
domiciliary care services. The in-house enablement service has continued to help hundreds of 
people regain their independence and live at home with little or no need for support from statutory 
services. The underlying principles of early intervention, de-escalation and reablement continue to 
be part of the golden thread of our transformation of social care services. 

During 20201-2021, the service also expanded its staffing capacity to include the provision of 
support for longer term domicilliary support utilizing specific Covid 19 funding and in order to 
address the impact of increased pressures on the independnet providers of  domicilliary care in the 
county 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 10 of 64 
 

Adults supported in residential care homes 
 

Residential care provides a range of options for individuals who require 24hour care. These include 
short term, temporary and permanent placements. There are various residential care options 
available, depending on the needs of the individual. Ceredigion operates five residential care 
homes itself and commissions with several private companies both in Ceredigion and further afield.   
 
This year there has been a decrease in the average amount of time spent in residential homes and 
that could well be attributed to the Pandemic and the impact of the infection outbreaks.  
Very early on, the Local Authority developed an Infection, Prevention and Control Protocol. This 
ensured that the workforce and health colleagues had clear guidance to follow in relation to 
minimizing the opportunity for the transmission of the virus within the care homes. 
 
A protocol was also developed to ensure that key communication could be shared with the social 
care independent sector. 
 
Throughout this service during Covid 19 we have ensured multi-professional and clinical support 
via technology to support communication with professionals or safe visits from GP’s, mental health, 
dementia, OT/allied health professions  
 
A Regional Escalation Policy was developed with local arrangements agreed and this was shared 
across the sector. 
 
Daily SitRep across all care homes have been completed 7 days a week in order to identify 
potential issues or concerns so that issues were actioned quickly. 
 
The local authority invested at a very early point in conferencing facilities to ensure that families 
could have access technology to maintain contact whilst face to face visiting was suspended. Later 
in the year, the Council supported the planning and development of outdoor visiting facilities when 
alert levels were reduced. This also progressed with the Independent Sector through the assistance 
of the Wales Co-operative Centre who have provided equipment, training, and support to enable 
technology to be accessed and used.  This programme of work received national press coverage. 
 

946 929 944 908

0

500

1000

The average length of time (days) adults (aged 65 or 
over) are supported in residential care homes 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

81 87 86 86

0

50

100

Average age of adults entering residential care 
homes

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Page 96



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 11 of 64 
 

Advice and Assistance for adults 

Section 17 of the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 places a 
duty on local authorities to secure the 
provision of an information, advice, 
and assistance (IAA) service.  The Porth 
Gofal team are trained and have a high 
knowledge of preventative 3rd sector 
services within the local area.  The 
team also works closely with Porth 
Cymorth Cynnar to address and de-
escalate those with low level needs at 
the first point of contact in 
collaboration with the person. 
 
All referrals that are not deescalated 
by information only are passed through 
to the integrated triage team for a proportionate assessment. The Multi -Disciplinary Team (MDT) 
will provide a holistic assessment using SOS to identify what advice and assistance is required to 
support and deescalate the situation further. The MDT can provide specialist professional 
knowledge which includes OT, Physiotherapy, Nursing and Social work. The MDT will also refer on to 
other professionals within the Health Board for support if required. With the Covid 19 restrictions, 
the team have been working virtually with risk assessments completed for all face-to-face contact. 
  

N/A 

478

2796

584
0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

Outcomes of new assessments completed for adults during the 
year

Care and support plan Any other means No eligible needs

Page 97



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 12 of 64 
 

Provision of Domiciliary Care 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

250

260

270

280

290

300

310

320

330

People in Receipt of Domiciliary care - 2020-21

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

21/09/20 21/10/20 21/11/20 21/12/20 21/01/21 21/02/21 21/03/21

Number on Domiciliary Care Waiting List 

Page 98



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 13 of 64 
 

During the period 2020-09-21 to 2021-03-21, the number of people waiting for domiciliary care 
fluctuated between a low of 26 and a high of 51 but has been between 30 and 40 since December 
2020. 
 
We continued to enjoy good working relationships with most providers which gives us a good basis 
on which to build, allowing us to work closely with the market through the peaks and troughs and in 
the face of all the challenges of the impact of Covid 19. Providers continue to feedback that their 
regular meetings with Ceredigion County Council have been beneficial and informative in terms of 
implementing local and national Covid protocols on the safe delivery of personal care and infection 
control and the distribution of PPE. Providers can raise important issue and trends can be identified 
and escalated when necessary, ensuring their voices are heard regionally.  
 
We have several remote, isolated areas in which it is very difficult to procure care, and this became 
even more of a challenge during Covid 19 with providers facing significant staffing challenges. In 
order to facilitate the release of pressure in certain areas and to aide hospital discharges we during 
the pandemic utilized our in-house Enablement team to support with the demand for services.  
 

  

Total hours of 
home care 
purchased from 
independent 
sector 

Comments 

       
2017/18 239470.73 551 individuals received commissioned dom care        
2018/19 241300.18 571 individuals received commissioned dom care        
2019/20 234499.18 540 individuals received commissioned dom care        
2020/21 209780.61 487 individuals received commissioned dom care        

 
A number of our providers offer care services to Pembrokeshire, Carmarthenshire and Powys and 
are able to fill the gaps in their rotas across county lines.  There are currently 14 main providers 
operating within the main domiciliary care market in Ceredigion at 31st March 2021. 
 
Day Services  
The Day Centers were closed during this period and the Centre based services to Disabled Adults 
and Older Adults were suspended. Service Adjustments were made with Porth Cynnal and Porth 
Gofal Teams, Social Care and Health and Safety Risk Assessments were completed and Infection 
Control Measures adhered to in order to ensure safe respite and support arrangements for the 
most vulnerable supplemented with regular virtual and keep in touch calls.  
 
Mental Wellbeing Services  
Risk assessments and Health and Safety Assessments were completed by the Porth Cynnal teams 
staff and infection control measures adhered to with continuation of Mental Health Act assessment 
and statutory support for people experiencing mental health difficulties and illness and their carers.  
 
Substance Misuse Service  
Risk assessments and Health and Safety Assessments were completed, and infection control 
measures adhered to by the Porth Cynnal Team staff with continuation of assessment and 

Page 99



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 14 of 64 
 

statutory care and support for people experiencing difficulties and dependency with substance 
misuse and their carers.  
 
Extended Support  
Risk assessments and Health and Safety Assessments were completed, and infection control 
measures adhered to by the Porth Cynnal Team staff with continuation of assessment and 
statutory care and support for people with disabilities and their carers.  
 
Planned Care 
Risk assessments and Health and Safety Assessments were completed, and infection control 
measures adhered to by the Porth Cynnal Team staff with continuation of assessment and 
statutory care and support for adults with longer term care and support needs. 
 

Children and Families Services  
During this year, Porth Cynnal and Porth Cymorth Cynnar teams collaborated closely with schools 
service and key partner agencies to safeguard and support Children and Young people in 
Ceredigion and continue to meet statutory duties within the requirements of regionally and 
nationally agreed Covid 19 protocols and guidance, The significant  impact of Covid 19 on children 
and families has been evident in terms of the reduced visibility of children and lack of access to 
community support and an increase in support needs for children and young people’s mental and 
emotional wellbeing .  
 
During the lockdown periods and closure of schools, services worked closely with Schools Service 
to ensure that children at risk of harm and in need of care and support were able to attend the 
School Hubs for support. 
 
Respite and support arrangements were prioritised for disabled children and families and looked 
after children within the confines of the Covid 19 restrictions  
 
With the easing of restrictions during the summer, children in receipt of care and support or of 
preventative services were able to access summer of fun activities arranged by Porth Cynnal and 
Porth Cymorth Cynnar services in collaboration with partners whilst adhering to Covid 19 safety 
measures. 
 
The Child Protection Register has fluctuated during 2020/21, the Child Protection Register with 29 
children as at March 31st. This is a reduction on the end of year figure for 2019/2020. 
 
The number of Ceredigion Looked After Children has increased to 86 as at the 31 March 2021. 
This increase is being closely monitored and the impact of Covid 19 on the ability to keep children 
safe within their homes and in the community has been evident.  
 
The availability of Early intervention and Prevention activities have been affected greatly by Covid 
19. Wherever possible support services have been offered virtually.  
  

Page 100



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 15 of 64 
 

Outcome of Assessments  
 
Risk assessments were completed 
for all necessary home or face to 
face visits. Virtual working was 
implemented for multi -agency 
meetings with support provided for 
families to participate. Cases were 
prioritized with regard to risk of 
harm from abuse or neglect. Staff 
worked within the risk and practice 
framework developed by Welsh 
Government and with other local 
and regional protocols. 

 
 

Supporting Children to remain living with their families 
Supporting children to live with their 
families is one of the main goals of 
the Porth Cynnal services.  Wherever 
possible, it is considered the best 
outcome for children. This measure 
compares the number of children 
supported as Looked After Children 
(a child who has been in the care of 
their local authority for more than 24 
hours) to the number of children who 
are supported outside of these types 
of arrangements.  
 
 
 

In 2020-21 we saw a further increase in the 
number of Looked After Children generally 
and a slight decrease in those returned 
home from care which reflects the increase 
in complex cases that are having to be 
managed and Covid 10 impact. The Edge of 
Care service contues to provide a key 
service with practical support for safer 
parenting. However, this area of work has 
been impacted by the Pandemic with less 
easy access to support in the community 
and greater diffiuclty to manage risk of harm 

in the child’s home or in the community.  
 

105

1121 1178

0
200
400
600
800

1000
1200
1400

Outcomes of new assessments completed for children during the 
year

Care and support plan Any other means No eligible needs

16% 17% 17% 26%

84% 83%
83%

74%

391 362
412

328

0

100

200

300

400

500

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

The percentage of children supported to remain living with their 
family at 31st March, who had a care and support plan for at 

least 3 months

LAC CIN

24%

9%

18% 17%

0%

10%

20%

30%

The percentage of looked after children returned 
home from care during the year

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Page 101



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 16 of 64 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Child Protection Register (CPR) 
The child protection register provides a record of 
all children in the area with unresolved 
safeguarding issues and who are currently the 
subject of an inter-agency safeguarding plan.  The 
number of children on the child protection register 
at the end of the year has decreased, with a 
reduction in the time that the child remains on the 
register and there were no re-registrations during 
this year. 
 
 

 
During this year, the Safeguarding Service have worked closely with Police to ensure the safe 
completion of child protection enquires and investigations within Covid 19 requirements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8%

5%

11%

0%
0%

5%

10%

15%

The percentage of re-registrations of children on 
local authority Child Protection Registers (CPR) 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

226

322
274 254

0

100

200

300

400

The average length of time for all children who were 
on the CPR during the year 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

67 74
55

29
0

50

100

Children on the Child Protection Register as at 31st 
March 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

63 63
74

86

0

50

100

Looked After Children active as at 31st March 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Page 102



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 17 of 64 
 

Health of our Looked after children 
The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (Wales) Regulations 2015 state that the 
responsible authority must ensure that a looked after child is under the care of a registered dental 
practitioner as soon as practicable and in any event not later than 20 working days after the 
placement is made. 
 

 
NICE Clinical Guideline [CG19] – ‘Dental checks: intervals between oral health reviews’ sets out the 
guidance on the frequency of dental checks.  This is based on the individual patient’s risk factors 
for dental disease. Looked After Children are generally considered to be at increased risk of dental 
disease and it is, therefore, expected that most Looked After Children would be put on recall for 
either three months or six months. In 2020-21 we saw a further drop in the percentage of children 
seen by a dentist within 3 months of becoming looked after and this is an issue that is being 
considered and adressed by Hywel Dda University Health Board as there have been difficulties due 
to Covid and staffing of dental practices. 
 
These regulations also state that responsible authorities must ensure that a looked after child is 
registered with a GP as soon as is practicable and in any event not later than ten working days after 
the placement is made. As you can see from the graph in 2020-21 we met our target of 100% of 
Looked After Children being registered with a GP. 
 
Looked after children – stability of placements 
Research has shown that frequent moves can 
negatively affect children. Breakdowns, or 
unplanned moves, are much less likely in younger 
children. In comparison, 'teenage’ placements 
have a higher chance of breaking down. 
 

70%
80%

38%
26%

0%

50%

100%

The percentage of children seen by a registered 
dentist within 3 months of becoming looked after 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

100% 100% 98% 100%

0%

50%

100%

The percentage of children looked after at 31 March 
who were registered with a GP within 10 working 

days of the start of their placement

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

19%
16%

4%
7%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

Percentage of looked after children who have experienced 
1 or more changes of school, during periods of being 

looked after, which were not due to transitional 
arrangements

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Page 103



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 18 of 64 
 

It is not fully understood whether placement moves themselves produce poor outcomes for 
children or whether this is due to children’s previous experiences and difficulties. There are two 
main measures which try to illustrate placement stability. The first looks at the number of times a 
child has had to change school (not including 
where a child moves from primary to secondary 
school) and the second looks at how many times 
a child has had more than two changes of 
placement. These measures are long-standing 
and can give an insight into the long-term 
performance of a service. The downside of both 
measures is that they are particularly susceptible 
to change due to the low numbers of children 
included in them.  The increase evidenced in 
2019-20 and remaining at that percentage in 
2020-21 regarding chldren having 3 or more 
placement moves is what we believe to be a 
consequence of Covid and the difficulty of trying to place the children with different carers when the 
children have complex needs and due to restrictions only being able to offer limited/online support 
as well as the carers having the children at home even on school days. With regards to the low 
percentage of children having 1 or more changes of school as a service we continue to work closely 
with our education colleagues and try to ensure that a school move is only ever considered when 
appropiate for the child i.e. moving to their local school having stabilised in placement, or where we 
have been unable to succesfully identify a placement where it is manageable to support the child 
contiuing to attned their school. However the low measure taking into consideration the increase in 
the number of Looked After Children is again illustrative of the success of the work being 
undertaken within our Planned Care Service. 
 
  

6%

3%

9% 9%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

The percentage of looked after children on 31 
March who have had three or more placements 

during the year 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Page 104



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 19 of 64 
 

Young People Leaving Care 
Leaving care is a term used to reference a group of children who are between 16 and 18 yrs old 
and have previously been in care but are no longer legally “looked after” by the Local Authority.  
When children leave care, we still have a duty to support these people until the age of 21, or 25 if 
they are in full time education or have a disability. 
 
For this cohort of young people Covid has been a particularly difficult period with challenges for 
some with loosing employment, accommodation, and increased isolation during lockdown. It is 
disappointing to see a drop in the percentage of young people within 12 months of becoming care 
leavers who are in employment education or training. However, it is positive that there was a 
significant increase in those accessing some form of education/employment who have accessed 
the leaving care service for 24 months. It is also pleasing to note a decrease in the percentage of 
young people presenting as homeless in 2020-21. The Local Authority continue to work on their 
projects and strategies to address the need for appropriate accommodation for care leavers and 
work closely with registered social landlords and external agencies in our area to look at ways of 
addressing the situation. The Local Authority will continue to prioritise this issue and raise its profile 
accordingly. The personal Advisers continued to support Care Leavers well during this difficult 
period of time.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

57% 50%

71%

50%

0%

50%

100%

The percentage of all care leavers who are in 
education, training or employment at 12 months 

after leaving care 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

50% 57% 50%

71%

0%

50%

100%

The percentage of all care leavers who are in 
education, training or employment at 24 months 

after leaving care 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

14%
18%

23%
19%

0%

10%

20%

30%

The percentage of care leavers who have 
experienced homelessness during the year

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Page 105



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 20 of 64 
 

Operation Encompass 
 

 

 
Operational Encompass became live in Ceredigion in November 2019.  It has been working 
consistently well since its launch, with sharing of information daily with Schools (or as notifications 
are received).  There have been a few notifications received from time to time regarding families 
from neighboring authorities on the border of Ceredigion, however this information is also 
forwarded accordingly.  Since lockdown, the sharing of information changed from telephone calls to 
emails, and the Information Sharing Protocol was then amended to accommodate this.  It is noted 
however that the full email notification is not shared with Schools in its entirety, each report is 
edited to include only the victim/alleged offender details.  Children details, whether they were 
present, time/date and summary of the incident.  Schools are fully briefed on the support services 
available for children who have been exposed to incidents either within their homes, or within their 
own relationships, these include Spectrum (Hafan Cymru) and West Wales Domestic Abuse Service.  
To ensure that Schools remain fully sighted on their pupil’s safety and wellbeing, the School’s 
Safeguarding Service continue to share notifications also throughout the school holidays, therefore 
is not limited to term time only.  The figures within the above table reflect the number of referrals 
received, which were noticeably higher during lockdown periods. 
  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Reports to Operation Encompass of domestic incidents 
involving chidlren 

2020 2021

Page 106



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 21 of 64 
 

3. How Are People Shaping Our Services?  
Ceredigion County Council, Social Care Services ordinarily engages with citizens and stakeholders 
through various methods. We take “call back” type feedback within Clic and Porth Gofal services. 
We ordinarily engage with various boards and groups, for example, Safe Stars Junior Safeguarding 
Board, LAC Group, Disability Forum, 50+ Forum, Mental Health Transformation Boards, where we 
share future and promote feedback regarding the redesign of service delivery. We also learn from 
CIW inspections, Welsh Audit Office inspections and Child and Adult Practice Reviews as they occur.  
We meet with Town and Community Councils to share our plans for future developments and to 
take feedback on these plans 
 
During 2020-2021, with the impact of Covid 19 face to face and other routine engagement 
exercises with service users have been severely restricted.  
 
Nonetheless, feedback from the public in receipt of support services has been regularly collated 
and considered with key groups such as Safe Stars creating a whole programme of engagement 
and support for children and young people online.  
 
Summary of Examples of ensuring service user voice and control during 2020-2021; 
 

• Roll out of person - centred practice in assessment, care planning and reviewing; use of 
Signs of Safety and Well-being, work on developing forms and pathways informed 
by practitioners and managers 

• Flexible use of direct payments; in lieu of residential care and day care 
• Use of technology to ensure virtual service user feedback  
• Respite questionnaire to inform support during Covid 19 for disabled children and families   
• Development of feedback questionnaire for those involved with adult safeguarding   
• School counselling service; listening to children's views re virtual methods  
• LAC reviews, Child Protection Conferences, Care and Support Reviews held virtually 
• Use of commissioned virtual advocacy services for children and adults 
• All recipients of Domiciliary care/Enablement given opportunity to stand down/reduce 

provision to limit risk 
• Learning from outbreaks within specific areas has enabled policies and procedures to be 

reviewed and revised (specifically in care homes i.e. use of PPE, safe zones, IPC etc) 
• Transformation programme 1 – Connect programme roll out 
• Youth Satisfaction Survey and Sessional feedback forms 
• Feedback from children and young people’s play activities  
• Feedback from Ceredigion Youth Council and Safe Stars Group 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 107



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 22 of 64 
 

Learning Disability Strategy 2018-2023 and Improvement Action 
Plan 
Ceredigion is an active participant in the Regional Lives Improvement Group (RLIP).  This group 
ordinarily alternates bi-monthly between a business meeting and a meeting led and chaired by the 
Dream Team.  The Dream Team is a group of service users, supported by Pembrokeshire Peoples 
First, who actively support the regional group, particularly with use of Integrated Care Funding. 
 
Services for Disabled Children, Prevention and Transition were inspected by Care Inspectorate 
Wales in the 4th quarter of 2019-2020.  The Action Plan created in response to issues raised has 
been implemented albeit that progress on certain aspects has been hindered by Covid 19 and 
adjustments made.  
 
Progress on the Action plan 
 
1.1  Ensure that children and their families can be clear about what support they can access, 

how and when and where. 
• Service specification and revised working agreement with Health has been implemented  
• Client strategy has been drafted with levels of service regarding offer of support 
• Staffing structure for the TAW has been agreed with planning for next phase  
• Communication information re new offer of care and support and preventative services 

from LA and Health has been circulated and discussion on any queries from families 
 
1.2 Equip and support staff to complete and record good quality assessments and care plans 

that meet all statutory requirements including the child’s communication needs 
• Staff have completed outcome and assessment focused training and Covid 10 risk 

assessment has been implemented 
• Monthly staff supervision is in place to quality assure live cases. 
• Use of 1-page profiles for children on their WCCIS record. 
• Mapping of staff’s communication skills has been completed and training needs has 

been identified. Some staff can use Makaton where needed 
 
1.2 Equip and support staff to identify assess and provide support when required for carers in 

accordance with statutory requirements.  
• Staff have identified carers and offered carers support needs assessment  
• Staff training re carers assessments has been completed. 
• Staff will record reason for refusal of carers assessment if this is the case. 

 
2.1 Establish the Disability Register in compliance with SSWBA requirements and use it to 

inform future service development and strategic commissioning. 
• The Register is ready to go live, and this will initially sit in Porth Gofal, but moving to Clic 

once they are set up. 
 
 
 

Page 108



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 23 of 64 
 

2.2 Improved service delivery and range of support services available for disabled children and 
their families in accordance with their needs. 
• Multi agency reviews held with families to identify needs using virtual means due to 

Covid 19 
• Local complex needs panel will discuss care and support packages and joint 

commissioning monthly. 
• Service requests forms are completed for each new service such and Direct payments 

are now supported in house 
• Camu Mlaen will consider all year 9 students who might be eligible for the service and 

work with them and their families to ensure a smooth transition into the scheme when 
deemed appropriate to meeting their educational need post 18 

• DASH have been provided with the contract to offer respite weekends to some of the 
young people identified as in need of this provision. Respite provision has been affected 
by Covid 19 restrictions. 

 
2.3 The Local Authority and the Health Board work effectively together in the provision of 

support and review and develop existing commissioning arrangements for disabled children 
and their families. 
• Service specification is implemented. 
• Regional action plan and regional children’s outcomes group has recently been 

established. 
• Weekly tracking meeting are held between Extended Support and health colleagues to 

discuss cases and identify the most suitable person to work with the young person. 
 

2.4 Children and young people can receive greater support for independence and enhance 
outcomes through the use of assistive technology 
• The local authority has put in a bid for RIF funding to be able to progress this service. 

 
3.1 Develop an effective quality assurance framework, underpinned by effective managerial 

oversight of its core functions and processes. 
• SOS template and methods are being used in staff supervision. 
• QA framework to be developed as an audit tool for managers to undertake random 

audit checks on cases. 
• Managers have had training on supervision skills. 
• IPC Programme of support for managers in Extended Support. 

 
 
 

Page 109



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 24 of 64 
 

Adverse Childhood Experiences 
Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) are traumatic events 
that affect children. These could happen whilst growing up, 
being abused, or living in a household affected by domestic 
violence, substance misuse or mental illness  
 

In 2019-2020 all frontline staff in 
Ceredigion were made ACE aware (a 
total of 1829) following a training 
needs analysis across services. 
 
During the last year, 2020-2021, 
other training sessions have been 
offered to staff to ensure that we are 
able to provide earlier interventions 
and help our professionals care for 
and support children, young people, 
and their families. 
 
 

COVID had a huge impact on training during 2020-2021 due to the restrictions in place.  However, 
we have achieved the following key developments,  

• 12 new members of staff complete ACES awareness training to ensure a consistent 
approach to the understanding of trauma and the effects on children and young people. 

• Face to face training in Team Teach was able to take place in May and June 2021 for a 
number of Support and Prevention Staff. 

• 5 members of the Support and Prevention staff were trained in the STAR programme which 
covers domestic abuse and respectful relationships. 

• 13 members of Support and Prevention staff received training in Drawing and Talking 
therapy to be able to support children, young people and adults who may be suffering from 
trauma or poor mental health. 

• Staff within Support and Prevention have also received training in ‘Self Harm and Suicide 
Awareness’ due to the nature of the referrals being sent in for support for children and 
young people both in the community and in school. 

• 9 members of staff have completed a ‘Creative Counselling’ course. 
• Trauma Recovery Model training was delivered to 6 members of staff with TRM being 

adapted to an online provision and booked for February 2022. 
• A 3-day Trauma Recovery Model practitioner training was given to 43 staff within Support 

and Prevention including PRU staff.  TRM was developed in a response to the complex 
needs of children and young people with multiple adverse childhood experiences. 

• Due to COVID and certain restrictions the planned sessions of Team Teach had to take 
place when restrictions had been lifted for face-to-face.  Team Teach introduction sessions 

Page 110



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 25 of 64 
 

were offered to Head Teachers, School Leadership Team and Service Managers within the 
Local Authority in February 2022.  There were 62 representatives from Schools both primary 
and secondary and PRU, with another 24 from sectors including Families and Children’s 
Services, Housing and Wellbeing Centres. 

• Following on from that Schools were able to sign up to training their staff with sessions 
tailored to their needs.  147 school-based staff went onto arrange and receive training with 
a further 39 booked for Spring 2022. 
 

Also a few members of staff having taken it upon themselves to study areas of personal interest to 
them which they are able to utilise within their work: 
 
A Children’s and Young People’s Skills Mentor recently completed her master’s with a merit in ‘The 
Impact of Adverse Childhood Experiences: Educational Progress and Attainment’; and a Youth 
Worker has recently completed ‘Advanced Counsellor & Psychotherapist’ course Level 4. 
 

Ceredigion Safe Stars children and young people safeguarding 
group -facilitated by TGP  
The online report of 2020-2021 activity demonstrates the valuable development of safe support 
and safeguarding with children and young people via social media in response to the pandemic: 
 
Safe Stars - YouTube 
 
Carer Support and Engagement  
During 2021-2021, we saw a rise of 267 registered unpaid Carers, taking them from 825 Carers to 
1092. 
 
At the beginning of the lockdown, in April 2020, the Carer’s service established a ‘welfare check’ 
service. We contacted all members of the Carers Information Service by email, letter or phone to 
provide reassurance and information, identify issues and offer support. Carers who wanted more 
support were offered repeated contact at regular intervals. 
 
While face to face contact was not permitted, we produced supplementary Covid-19 'Infobursts' 
newsletters for carers. They distributed to members of the Carers Information Service and 
information was also made available to the public via the Ceredigion County Council website. In 
order to continue to support carer wellbeing under pandemic restrictions, we developed new 
innovative ways to deliver training, activities and events for carers that did not need face to face 
contact.  
 
To celebrate Carers Week in June 2020 and Carers Rights Day in November 2020, a wide range of 
activities were delivered virtually over Zoom. Carers without internet access were able to access the 
activities by normal telephone so digitally inactive carers were not excluded. Instructions on how to 
join and access zoom were published in the Carer Magazine along with other support on developing 
digital skills.  
 

Page 111

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=n5L6owXKWqs


Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 26 of 64 
 

In recognition of all that carers do and to show our appreciation, carer wellbeing bags were 
delivered to carers in June 2020 and Welsh Afternoon Tea 'a break in a box' were delivered in 
March 2021. A significant number of carers took the time to contact us to express their gratitude 
and appreciation for the gifts. 
 
During lockdown, some Carers were experiencing difficulties accessing essential shopping. In 
response, the Ceredigion Carers Unit developed an Adult Carers Card which was recognized by all 
major supermarkets when offering preferential shopping and delivery slots. Work is now 
progressing to implement this regionally. 
 
As part of Young Carers action day, Ceredigion launched their first young Carers Newsletter, 
distributed to those young Carers registered with the information service as well as those receiving 
support from Action for Children, the commissioned service for Young Carers in Ceredigion. 
 
Of note is that Ceredigion County Council has been leading on a regional project to roll-out the 
Carers Resilience & Well-Being (CR&WB) Programme. Previously this was delivered in a traditional 
face-to-face setting, but during the year this has been rewritten to be delivered interactively online 
also.  
 
A range of modules have been developed including Young Carers 8-13, Young Carers 14–17, Adult 
Carers in the community, Train the Facilitator and Resilience and Wellbeing Taster sessions 
 

Ceredigion Family Support and Early Help Services 
Ceredigion Family Support Services –Team Around the Family (TAF), Tim Teulu & Penparcau Family 
Centre provide early help to the most vulnerable families & children to prevent problems occurring 
or to tackle them head on before they escalate.  These services work with the whole family network 
rather than focussing on one individual.  TAF work with the family to identify the issues and help the 
family to address them by developing and strengthening their connections, relationships, and skills 
to build and create resilience, self-reliance and support their wellbeing. 

Team Around the Family 
In 2020-21 Team Around Family (TAF) completed 143 JAFF assessments, of which 20 had 
indication of a child with a specific additional learning requirement or disability. 
 
Annually, around 31% (approx. 44) of the requests were regarding referrals (often years later) when 
families are reaching a different life stage and considered TAF effective in the previous assistance 
and ask for our support again. 
 
In 2020-2021, 76% of families with a TAF Action Plan recorded a positive outcome at case closure. 
 
43 of the referrals received were noted to have concerns with regards to Substance Misuse with a 
proportion of these also displaying other factors that would contribute to Adverse Childhood 
Experiences. 
 
There was a decline from 64% to 57% in the number of requests being processed within 5 working 
which days reflects the additional planning required to address the increasing complex 

Page 112



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 27 of 64 
 

requirements of families who require TAF alongside the challenges of engaging families virtually 
during periods of lockdown. 
 
In adjusting service delivery to the Covid 19 pandemic, Ceredigion’s Team around the Family in 
partnership with Ceredigion Carers Unit developed a suite of virtual training sessions for parents of 
children with additional or emerging needs.  The programme is based around the parent and family 
and focuses on topics identified by the participants.  Sessions include a digital ‘Have Your Say’ 
button to collect instant feedback.  The collaboration also ensures that parent-carers are informed 
about the Carers Information Service and the Carers & Young Carers ID Card that is available. 
 
The team have introduced bespoke virtual multi-agency workshops to address particular issues 
e.g., Building Emotionally Resilient Teenagers (BERT) to address escalating self-harm.  One parent 
reported that she now feels “confident that I am able to sit down with my son and talk to him about 
drugs as I have the knowledge now”. 

Tim Teulu 
Tim Teulu is a small cohort of family support workers who assist families to make the identified 
changes with a focus on parenting and behaviour change. This service was severely restricted due 
to the impact of the lockdown periods and Covid 19 restrictions 
 
This year Tim Teulu had 137 referrals.  Of the 137 referrals received, only 4 were not allocated – 2 
were signposted to more appropriate support, 1 family moved out of the area and 1 family declined 
intervention. 
 
These 133 referrals were in addition to the Welfare Checks undertaken by staff to support school 
pupils whilst education was provided virtually and at home. 
 
It is noteworthy that 71% of those worked with noted an improvement across the relevant national 
performance measures, with 88% noting an improvement in their individual resilience and 79% 
with improved emotional health. 
 
The team adapted resources and interventions in order to delivery virtually during lockdown, 
continuing to deliver: Blame It On The Brain; Online Gaming and Internet Safety Workshop; Family 
Links; One-to-One Parenting Support; Rhannu a Rhif and Stori a Sbri sessions to young parents / 
parents of toddlers. 
 
In the Spring of 2021, Walks and Wellies activities were organised as a socially distanced, outside 
activity for young parents’ groups. 
 
One-to-One, risk assessed, face-to-face visits were carried out for a small number of vulnerable 
families and children during the lockdown periods.  
 
Also, during the lockdown period, in partnership with some Primary Schools, sessions of emotional 
wellbeing work was trialled, to help support children and families who would normally have 
attended nurture groups in school. 
 
Team Teulu also supports the distribution of reading materials, from the Welsh Books Council to 
vulnerable families, during 2020-2021. 

Page 113



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 28 of 64 
 

Penparcau Family Centre 
Unfortunately, due to the pandemic and the accompanying lockdown, Penparcau Family Centre had 
very limited use during the 2020-2021 period.  Hosting face to face supervised contact between 
LAC children and their parents resumed at Penparcau late in quarter 4 of 2020-2021. 
 
Ceredigion Support and Prevention Services 
The Support and Prevention Service is made up of multi-disciplined teams, with the overall aim of 
providing child, youth, and family-led approaches to enable children, young people, families, and 
wider communities to be empowered, to achieve, to develop personally, emotionally, socially and 
be the best that they can be. The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) 
and Signs of Safety underpin everything that we do. Our teams provide universal and focussed 
support that include: 
 

• Youth Work and Engagement; Youth work in schools, education progression, accredited 
learning, and participation 

 
School based Youth Workers engage with young people aged 11 – 18 both in universal and 
focussed contexts. Youth Workers strive to build and maintain meaningful relationships with all 
school pupils; that include referred pupils who are deemed at risk of disengagement from 
mainstream education, due to one or a host of reasons. 
 
Youth Workers form relationships based on voluntary engagement. Through participation with 
individuals, Youth Workers can design a tailored plan that offer support in the form of personal, 
social, emotional, and behavioural needs of the individual. This can be delivered both within and 
outside the school environment and be both targeted and universal. 
 

• Support and Attainment; Primary/ secondary mentoring, transition, emotional wellbeing, 
nurture, and outreach 

 
The Children and Young People’s Skills (CYP) Mentors support children and young people who may 
show challenging behaviour because of their social and emotional experiences. Mentors provide 
support for children and young people in Primary and Secondary Schools, and other education 
settings. 
 
Mentors promote a holistic and strengths-based approach to better understand the deeper reasons 
as to why children are finding their current environment challenging in both focussed one-to-one 
and small group-based settings. This is to help manage their emotions, channelling their energy 
positively by focussing on attainment, both educationally and personally. 
 

• Community Youth Work and Prevention; 16-24 support, community outreach, youth centres, 
focussed and universal provisions 

 
Our Community Youth Work and Prevention team provide targeted and universal interventions with 
the aim of tackling and alleviating potential risk factors or underlying issues such as family, social, 
individual, educational, or mental and emotional health related issues, that may arise that put 
them at an increased risk of offending and re-offending, but also preventing them from needing 

Page 114



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 29 of 64 
 

further statutory intervention such as professional mental health services, further medical 
intervention and even housing support as an example. 
 
Provisions range from outreach, mobile and detached activities, youth centres and clubs, and 
collaborative targeted programmes and projects. 
 

• Support Pathways; Through-age interventions, allocations, screening, quality assurance, 
data and performance analysis, resource support 

 
The Support Pathways team is the gateway for all referrals to Porth Cymorth Cynnar and its services 
whether they are received from Clic or triaged by Porth Gofal. The team provides direct support to 
each service within Porth Cymorth Cynnar to identify, allocate, monitor, and evaluate interventions 
or support. 
 
The team supports the ‘step up and step down’ protocols by working with Porth Cynnal and Porth 
Gofal to ensure timely and effective support for children/young people, adults and for 
families/carers. 
 
The team also helps oversee the data and quality assurance processes of Porth Cymorth Cynnar 
services, ensuring that we can meet the needs of citizens as efficiently and effectively as possible. 
 
Outcomes 2021-2022 aligned to the key themes of the Social Services and Well-being Act 2014 
 
Lines of enquiry           Service Evidence 
1. People - voice and control  

How well are local authorities 
ensuring people, carers and 
practitioners are having their 
voices heard, making informed 
choices, and maintaining control 
over their lives? How is this 
balanced with the 
recommendations and 
requirements made by Public 
Health Wales and Welsh 
Government? Can the local 
authority demonstrate learning is 
used to inform new ways of 
working? 

- Gold Quality Mark for Youth Work 
- Children in Wales KiteMark (CYP Participation 

standards)  
- CYP-Led approaches to curriculum delivery 
- Satisfaction Survey 
- Feedback sessions, questionnaires online 

surveys  
- Distance Travel practice  
- CYP Forums i.e., DEWIS 
- Youth Council  
- SOS & UNCRC Embedded in Intervention 

Planning and Referral process – parent/ 
guardian consent 

- SOS Supervision 
- School Bubble meetings (integrated teams) – 

RAG processes – early intervention 
- Team Teach – positive handling plans, de-

escalation strategies, Triggers, restorative 
practice  

- Social Media – content, polls, interactive tools/ 
sessions 

- Peer-mentoring support 
- Participation Strategy  

Page 115



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 30 of 64 
 

2. Prevention 
To what extent are local 
authorities successful in 
promoting prevention and 
reducing need for increased or 
formal support from statutory 
agencies? Including taking all 
necessary steps to support the 
upbringing of the child by the 
child’s family and supporting 
people with mental health issues 
before they reach crisis. 

• School and community-based youth workers, 
Mentors and Prevention and Diversionary 
Workers 

• One-to-one and group interventions 
• Structured activities 
• Youth clubs, drop-ins, workshops  
• After-school provisions 
• School-holiday activity programmes 
• Outreach, detached and mobile provision 
• Alternative curriculum, vocational engagement 

and EOTAS support  
• Nurture and wellbeing  
• Open access opportunities  
• Virtual Activities  
•  Graduated response process for early 

intervention and prevention  
• Transition processes and modelling good 

practice  
• Out of court disposals and preventative pathways  
• Support and Prevention Professional Panel  
• YEPF and Youth Homelessness  
• Thematic projects and pilots 
• Collaboration and signposting  
• Trauma Informed Practice and Team Teach  
• Whole School Approach to mental wellbeing 
•  
• YJB Pathfinder for Prevention YOT  

3. Well-being  
To what extent are local 
authorities promoting well-being, 
ensuring people maintain their 
safety and achieve positive 
outcomes that matter to them? 
Including timely step down of 
children from local authority care, 
supporting older people to return 
home from hospital. 

• Wellbeing is a standing agenda item – SOS 
embedded 

• Wellbeing champions and activities 
• Supervision  
• Weekly bubble meetings that focus on early 

intervention and tracking those most vulnerable 
and at risk of escalation 

• PSHE and thematic workshops/ content that is 
needs-led  

• Pilot projects such as youth boost 
• Restorative approaches to exclusions and 

challenging behaviour 
• Collaboration with schools service and external 

partners to promote wellbeing activities and 
initiatives  

• Training for staff, partners, young people, and 
volunteers 

• Distance Travelled – self-efficacy, wellbeing, and 
self-esteem/ confidence  

Page 116



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 31 of 64 
 

 
Interim Youth Work Board - Young people tell us that the 
benefits of their engagement with youth support 
services provide them with: 

• Safe spaces and trusted adults 
• Opportunities to build confidence, self-esteem, 

identity, self-respect, and respect for others  
• Learning new ways to develop new skills and 

abilities 
• Opportunity to be creative and expressive 
• Ways to maintain or work towards positive mental 

health 
• Ways to develop a better understanding of social 

relationships promoting inclusion and diversity  
• Opportunity to Increase their participation in 

decision making 
• Opportunities for fun and play. 

 
 

4. Partnerships  
To what extent are local 
authorities able to assure 
themselves the step change in 
opportunities for partnership 
working are positively exploited to 
maximize person-centred 
planning, ensure integrated 
service delivery and service 
sustainability. Opportunities 
include recent learning from digital 
advances, partnership working 
and ability of the health and social 
care system to advance at scale 
and pace and work towards a 
Healthier Wales. 
 

- Professional panel that focuses on early 
intervention and prevention both within schools 
and wider community settings  

- EPC/ YEPF pre and post 16 NEET practitioners  
- Service Level Agreements with voluntary sector 
- Training access 
- Thematic and community-led projects i.e., youth 

homelessness, graffiti project  
- YJB Prevention Pathfinder  
- PYOG and Regional Youth Support Services  
- Guidance, resources, and good practice sharing  

 

 
Foster Carers’ Engagement and Support:  
Covid-19 brought a number of new challenges to all service areas, and we developed new methods 
of engaging, communicating and supporting our foster and kinship carers.  
 
Very early on in the Spring of 2020 the Fostering services identified that there was a need to 
maintain regular, good quality communication, supervision and support whilst also maintaining the 
‘Stay at Home’ message and promoting the health and wellbeing of all foster carers, staff, and 
children.  The additional pressure to adapt and provide home education was also quickly 
recognized and subsequently the journey towards HWB and Microsoft Teams began.  
 

Page 117



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 32 of 64 
 

This ‘new’ software and suite of functions to chat, meet and collaborate provided an opportunity to 
keep in touch and have the visual video contact, which provided a substitute to the physical, face 
to face meetings.  As the awareness of the software increased, the Fostering Service evolved and 
recognized that this was a valuable resource not only to maintain contact, but to facilitate the 
various meetings such as LAC Reviews, Conferences, Annual reviews, support groups and Foster 
Panel.  
 
Initially there was some apprehension from both staff and Foster Carers regarding arranging virtual 
opportunities, however by working in partnership with the Learning and Development Team a 
bespoke training package was developed, and all Foster Carers and staff have had the opportunity 
to access training on how to use Teams.  In addition, a number of conversations and learning 
experiences have highlighted the social etiquette and provided reminders you are visible on screen! 
 
Ceredigion’s Foster Carers have embraced the changes and have grown in confidence to access 
the education HWB, also via Teams, in order to support the engagement of the children and young 
people in the virtual learning environment. The versatility and flexibility of the training has also 
identified the accessibility of the software, not only on the lap -top, but tablets, phones, and gaming 
devices such as Xbox and PlayStation. 
 
The training and frequent use of the software and the resources within have also led to a number 
of aspects of the work becoming paperless.  Foster Carers have access to their own specific, 
private, channel where they have been encouraged to upload their documents such as, weekly 
logs, complete their mileage forms, and access their annual review documents.  This facility is 
gaining momentum and is quickly replacing the need for heavy filling cabinets groaning under the 
weight of the records we keep.  It’s also ensured that relevant departments, including finance, get 
the information quicker, leading to payments processed quicker, rather than the traditional snail 
mail and the risk of documents going missing.  
 
Teams has also supported the virtual ‘social’ aspect of the work, with a number of quizzes, game 
sessions and bingo which has enabled the peer interaction and informal support to be utilized as 
much as possible in what’s been a challenging year.  
 
Working in a rural area and the challenges of securing a reliable and consistent connection, 
remains a challenge, alongside the constant reminder of “You’re on mute!” However, the resilience 
and commitment to adapting to change has been a great testament to all. 
 
Care Inspectorate Wales Activity 
In March 2020, as infection rates increased and Wales entered the first lockdown, CIW suspended 
their programme of routine performance review activity to enable local authorities to focus fully on 
responding to the challenging circumstances. Instead, they developed new ways of working which 
reflected the need to engage in more supportive relationships with local authorities.   

 
Throughout 2020-2021, The Statutory Director and the Corporate Lead Officers for Porth Gofal and 
Porth Cymorth Cynnar met regularly with the Link Inspector and the 6 monthly performance review 
meetings were held during September 2020 and February 2021. During these meetings 
Ceredigion’s Covid 19 Recovery / Adjustment Plans were shared and fully discussed.  

 

Page 118



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 33 of 64 
 

Complaints and Compliments 
Introduction 
This report will refer specifically to all Social Services complaints and compliments received during 
2020 – 2021.  However, this data was included within the Council’s Annual Compliments, 
Complaints and Freedom of Information Report for 2020 - 2021, which was accompanied by the 
Annual Letter from the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) relating to the same 
reporting period.  The aforementioned documents were presented to the following committees 
during 2021 (provided as hyperlinks to the relevant pages on the Council’s website, should further 
information be required): 
 
• Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee Meeting (27/10/21) 
• Council Committee Meeting (09/12/21) 
 
The Council fully implemented the Social Services Complaints Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 
and the Representations Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014, and this document is the guidance 
that underpins the Council’s own Social Services Complaints Policy.  The Policy was approved by 
the Council’s Cabinet committee on 17 March 2020 and sets out the requirements placed upon 
staff within the Porth Cynnal and Porth Gofal Services, and the Council’s Complaints and FOI Team.  
This promotes accountability and ensures that effective arrangements are in place deal with 
complaints in accordance with the Council’s statutory duties, as well as ensuring the process is 
accessible, fair, and transparent.   
 
It must be noted that this is the first reporting period which reflects the organizational restructures 
which took place as part of the Council’s Through-Age and Wellbeing model, as the recording 
systems in the Complaints and FOI Service were amended at the start of 2020. 
 
Social Services Complaints Activity 
Every effort will be made to resolve a complaint at the earliest available opportunity, and, in the 
majority of cases, this is successful, and the matter is recorded as an ‘enquiry/concern’.  In the 
event that the matter cannot be resolved at an early stage, or if the issues being raised are of a 
serious or complex nature, concerns will be addressed in accordance with the formal complaints’ 
procedures referred to above.   
 
The Council operates a two-stage complaints process and the Complaints and FOI Team liaise with 
the relevant Corporate Managers to ensure the appropriate level of accountability is held and 
correct process is followed at each stage. 
 
During 2020-2021 59 enquiries/concerns were received and the majority of these were resolved 
satisfactorily without needing to be progressed under the complaints’ procedures.   
 
The data provided overleaf relates to all complaints that were addressed under Stage 1 and Stage 
2 during the reporting year.  Stage 2 is the final stage under the Council’s own complaints 
procedure; however, complainants have the right to refer their concerns to the Public Services 
Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) if they remain dissatisfied after Stage 2. 
 
 
 

Page 119

https://council.ceredigion.gov.uk/documents/s2117/Item%20-%20Complaints%20Compliments%20etc.pdf?LLL=0
https://council.ceredigion.gov.uk/documents/s2375/report%20-%20Annual%20report%20of%20compliments%20complaints%20and%20FOI%20activity%202020-2021.pdf?LLL=0


Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 34 of 64 
 

Total number of complaints received in 2020 – 2021 
Service Area Stage 1 Stage 2 Total 
Porth Cynnal 9 4 13 
Porth Gofal 9 2 11 
  18 6 24 

 
A total of 24 complaints were received in relation to Social Care Services in 2020-2021.  In 
comparison, 25 complaints were received across Social Services in 2019-2020, which 
demonstrates a slight decrease in the number of complaints received during this reporting period.   
 
Social Services staff continue to work closely with the Complaints and FOI Team by adopting an 
early-resolution approach to incoming concerns and queries, which is proving to be an effective 
strategy.  This can be demonstrated when comparing the number of enquiries/concerns against 
the number of cases which required consideration under the formal complaints’ procedure (i.e., 
40% of all contacts received by the Complaints and FOI Team in relation to Porth Cynnal or Porth 
Gofal were closed without escalation). 
 
Comparative data 
As referred to in the Introduction, the Complaints and FOI recording systems were only aligned with 
the service structures implemented as part of the Council’s Through-Age and Wellbeing Strategy at 
the start of 2020.  It is therefore not possible to make a direct comparison between the performances 
of Adult and Childrens’ Services, with the Porth Cynnal and Porth Gofal Services, in relation to 
complaints activity.   
 
Consequently, the data included in previous reports compiled for the Statutory Director of Social 
Services, is provided below.  A visual representation of the complaints’ activity for the current 
service structures (i.e., for 2020-2021) is also provided, and this will be updated in future reports 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16
7

15

1
8

2

14
5

13
4

16

0

13

1

10

1

4

3

2

6

0

10

20

30

40

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2

Social Services Complaints 2015 - 2020

Adults

Children

2019-20202015-2016 2016-2017 2017-2018 2018-2019

Page 120



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 35 of 64 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Complaint Outcomes by Service 
A breakdown of the number of complaints and their outcomes is provided below, in accordance  
with the relevant service areas: 
 

Porth Cynnal Not Upheld 
Upheld 

(Whole or in 
part) 

Ongoing / 
Suspended 

Mental Wellbeing (4) 1 2 1 
Adult Team (1)   1 
Children & Family Assessment (2)  2  
Quality & Service Improvement (1)  1  
Adult Protection (3) 1 2  
Camu Mlaen (1)  1  
Community Team Learning Disabilities (1)  1  

Total 2 9 2 
 

Porth Gofal Not Upheld 
Upheld 

(Whole or 
in part) 

Ongoing / 
Suspended / 
Discontinued 

Fostering Service (1)  1  
Direct Services (2)  2  
Porth Gofal Triage (3) 2 1  
Occupational Therapy Services (1)  1  
Homelessness / Housing (4)  4   

Total  6 5  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

10

20

Stage 1 Stage 2

Social Services Complaints 2020 - 2021

Porth Cynnal Porth Gofal

Page 121



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 36 of 64 
 

 
 

Stage 2 Timescales 

All 6 complaints investigated 
under Stage 2 of the Social 

Services complaints procedure 
took longer than prescribed 

timescale (i.e. within 25-working-
days of the complaint having been 

agreed by all parties). 

However, all cases were 
investigated independently, as 

stipulated by the statutory 
guidance and each formal 

response was issued at the 
earliest possible opportunity. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Stage 1 Timescales 
Of the 18 complaints which 
were considered under Stage 
1; 
8 were responded to within 
the prescribed timescales 
(i.e. 15 working days) and the 
remaining ten cases, 
exceeded these. 

Within 
timescales

44%

Exceeded 
timescales

56%

Page 122



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 37 of 64 
 

Analysis 
The number of complaints considered under the statutory Social Services complaints procedure 
during this reporting period (2020-2021) were not dissimilar to the levels of activity observed 
during the previous year, despite the profound impact caused by the emergence of the Covid-19 
pandemic.   However, there were fewer complaints considered under Stage 2 in 2020-2021 and 
the number of enquiries/concerns were almost halved, compared with 2019 – 2020.   
 
Response times at both stages of the complaints process also remained consistent with the 
previous year, though it is acknowledged that all Stage 2 complaints investigated during this period 
were responded to outside of the stipulated timescale.  This, in itself, is not of great concern 
because the priority must be to ensure that complaints are investigated thoroughly, and careful 
consideration is given to the findings and recommendations which emerge from such 
investigations. 
 
Porth Cynnal received slightly more complaints by service, but this is largely due to the nature of 
those services and the complexity of the cases they deal with.   

 
Of the 24 complaints received across Social Services, 14 were upheld following investigation, 
which equates to 58% of all complaints received during the reporting period.  This is a more 
positive outcome when compared to the data available for 2019 – 2020, which concluded that 
70% of all complaints were upheld (i.e., justified). 
 
Themes and Trends 
Poor communication remains a consistent factor in most complaints, and, in most cases, these can 
be addressed promptly at service-level to prevent unnecessary escalation of the issues being 
reported.  This was evidently the case in respect of the 59 enquiries/concerns reported above, 
which far outnumbers the number of cases which subsequently progressed under the formal 
complaints process. 
 
Timescales 
As identified in 2019-2020, improvements need to be made with regard to the response times at 
Stage 1 of the complaints process.  There is a requirement at Stage 1 to offer a ‘discussion’ 
between the complainant and the relevant Corporate Manager.  Therefore, securing the availability 
of managers during the height of the pandemic was challenging, as well as attempting to then co-
ordinate their availability with that of the complainant.  Failing to meet prescribed timescales under 
these circumstances is therefore understandable.  However, this will continue to be monitored in 
future reporting periods. 
 
Lessons Learned 
In all cases whereby a complaint is deemed to be upheld (either in its entirety or specific elements) 
it is crucial that recommendations are put in place to learn lessons and prevent any recurrence in 
the future.  Examples are provided on Page 5 of some of the lessons learned from complaints 
received during 2020 – 2021. 
 

• Documentation was improved within the service to ensure that the communication needs of the 
service-user is considered.  Staff were also reminded to maintain communication with other 
professionals involved with the service-user, particularly when co-ordinating care, making 
arrangements for discharge from hospital and to follow up on any referrals for specialist 
assessments and/or intervention. 

Page 123



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 38 of 64 
 

 
• It was agreed that that further development of the current information pack for service users 

would take place to include details of the range and types of assessments that will be 
undertaken.  Consideration will also be given to introducing a ‘matching process’ for housing 
services users together.  

 
• All Social Work Teams to be reminded that they have a duty to promote contact and that, 

where case circumstances allow, this be arranged as soon as practicable.  For Social Workers 
to be reminded that the opening of the LAC review document is their responsibility to ensure 
the process of sharing the minutes is not unnecessarily delayed.  

 
Complaints referred to the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) 
During 2020 – 2021 the Council received eight new contacts from the office of the PSOW relating 
to Social Services complaints.  These were categorized by the PSOW as follows: 

 
 Adult Social Services (5) 
 Children’s Social Services (3) 

 
This represents a reduction in complaints about Children’s Social Services (5 received during 2019 
– 2020) and an increase (by one case) with regard to Adult Social Services. 
 
None of the complaints referred to the PSOW were referred for formal investigation, though there 
were two cases which were resolved via Early Resolution / Voluntary Settlement: 
 

 
The remaining 6 cases were concluded as follows: 

  
• 2 cases were closed due to the complainants’ failure to respond to the PSOW’s request for 

additional information.  
• 3 cases were closed after initial consideration by the PSOW (e.g., they were either satisfied that 

there was no maladministration on the part of the Council or there would be very little achieved 
from the PSOW investigating the complaint). 

• 1 case was premature (e.g., it had not yet been considered under the Council’s own complaints 
procedure).  

 

Service & 
Reference Summary of Complaint Agreed Actions 

Porth Cynnal 
(202005090) 

Complaint regarding access to 
equipment and services. 

The Council agreed to undertake a 
reassessment of the individual’s needs 
within 8 weeks of them confirming their 
location. 

Complaints 
Handling / Porth 
Cynnal 
(201907197) 

Failure by Council to implement 
agreed actions following an earlier 
complaint about the provision of 
social care and support.  This had a 
significant impact on the service-
user at the centre of the case. 

The Council agreed to undertake several 
actions to ensure that the actions it 
promised it would take, would be 
completed.   

Page 124



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 39 of 64 
 

Compliments 
Statutory Social Services received the second-highest number of compliments compared with other 
services across the Council.  A total of 241 compliments were received in relation to care and 
support provided. 
 

Service Area Compliments 
received 

Porth Cynnal 72 
Porth Gofal 169 

Total 241 
 

Examples of the compliments received in Porth Cynnal and Porth Gofal are provided below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

“We wanted to take this opportunity to thank you for the amazing 
care you are providing for our closest friend. We are so grateful that 

you took faith and feelings into consideration today and respect 
beliefs.  We are truly grateful for all you are doing.”  “So grateful for the 

wonderful care given, 
the constant updates 

on her wellbeing.  
What a wonderful 
home and staff” 

“I would like to thank you 
for all the support I've 

received. I feel very lucky to 
be working with you. Thank 

you again for your 
continued support I'm 
extremely grateful.” 

“You are all doing such a 
fantastic job in such 

difficult times and we’re 
sending our love and 

support” 

Page 125



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 40 of 64 
 

Examples of Compliments received by Porth Cymorth Cynnar Services  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
Feedback from Looked After Children’s Supported Play Activities at Llangrannog, Summer 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

“Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to everyone 
involved with this scheme in Ceredigion.  I am so immensely 
grateful for this service provided by Ceredigion County Council, 
having not been able to leave the house for over two months.  
Last week’s food parcel far exceeded any expectations.  The 
quality and variety of produce has clearly been carefully 
selected to ensure the health and wellbeing of us as shielded 
residents.  I am very proud to call Ceredigion my home” 

“Thank you so much for the ‘Carer’s break in a 
box’ which we received this morning, it was a 
lovely surprise.  My wife had an operation in 
November and is only just getting a small 
amount of mobility back now, so it has been a 
very difficult few months for us.  This gift really 
cheered us both up! 
Thank you once again and for all the excellent 
carer’s support that you give, it is much 

 

‘Child A told his mum 
when getting off the 
bus he had the ‘best 

day ever’ 

‘Child B is listening better 
than on previous projects 
and enjoys all activities, 
Her foster carer, told me 
how she talked about the 
activities all evening after 

going home’ 

‘Child C had made a 
Thank You card for the 

Urdd staff member 
who helped her with 

the horses’ 

Page 126



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 41 of 64 
 

4. Promoting and Improving the Well-being of 
Those We Help 
The six quality standards used to measure the Local Authority’s performance against the wellbeing 
outcomes are: 

1. Working with people to define and co-produce personal well-being outcomes that people 
wish to achieve 

2. Working with people and partners to protect and promote people’s physical and mental 
health and emotional well-being 

3. Taking steps to protect and safeguard people from abuse, neglect or harm 
4. Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop and participate in society  
5. Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic, family and personal 

relationships 
6. Working with and supporting people to achieve greater economic well-being, have a social 

life and live in suitable accommodation that meets their needs 
 
What did we plan to do last year? 
Since a number of our services are linked and strategies aligned, our children and families services 
objectives overlap with adults services therefore the objectives are focused on a through age 
approach 
 
Improvement Objective 1  

• To ensure that the transformation of social services is achieved during 2020/21 in 
partnership with other corporate departments and partner agencies.  

• Work in partnership on the corporate restructure plan, enabling an efficient whole-council 
approach  

• Ensure the Statutory requirements for Social Care are clearly defined within the structure  
• Ensure robust services are in place to enable citizens to achieve their personal outcomes  

 
Improvement Objective 2  

• Ensure the Local Authority has a strong voice in the Region  
• Ensure regular committed involvement at all regional partnership events by relevant staff  
• Ensure that Ceredigion takes full advantage of the resources available to us from the 

Regional Partnership Board  
• Influence the developments through the region and nationally  

 
Improvement Objective 3  

• Ensuring that the Local Authority is effective, along with partners in securing and utilising 
Transformation Funds to drive better outcomes for people in Ceredigion  

• Develop the regional Technology Enabled Care Project in conjunction with 
Carmarthenshire/Pembrokeshire and Hywel Dda  

• Work in partnership with Hywel Dda to scale up a Fast Access Community Team  
• Work in conjunction with Health and 3rd Sector to develop community hubs and resources  

 
 

Page 127



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 42 of 64 
 

How far did we succeed in working towards those priorities? 
Improvement Objective 1 – Transformation of Social Services 
 
Our vision of the Through Age & wellbeing Programme is: To ensure every child, young person and 
adult in Ceredigion will be able to reach their full potential. To ensure fair access for all to excellent 
universal and targeted services that supports the health and wellbeing of all citizens. To develop 
skills and resilience that will last a lifetime and enable individuals to cope well with the challenges 
and pressures that they may face. 
 
We will: 

• support those at a disadvantage and those who encounter challenges 
• further develop strengths-based, outcome focused services for citizens 
• Safeguard and nurture the most vulnerable. 
• aim to be the benchmark standard for excellence and innovation in Wales and beyond 
• Upskill our workforce to work collaboratively to improve the guidance and support available to 

individuals and families in Ceredigion. 
 
Welsh Government has introduced a range of legislation focused on maximizing the health and 
wellbeing of its citizens, including: 

• Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 
• Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

 
Ceredigion County Council is committed to ensuring that the key principles of the legislative 
framework are embedded within all its activities and developments. 
 
With the event of Covid 19 the planned implementation of several key activities to progress the 
Through Age and well-being Programme was suspended and the programme and working groups 
were re-established in September 2020 with the following work programme. 
 
Implementation Workstreams 
Range of workstreams to progress the changes and implementation: 

• Strategy Development  
• Systems & Processes  
• Review of commissioned services 
• Signs of Safety  
• HR Processes 
• Finance & Procurement 

 
Other developments 

• Comprehensive programme of support, developed with IPC, to support CLO's, Corporate 
Managers and Team Managers  

• Quality Assurance framework 
• Supervision Policy  

 
The Council is committed to embedding the Signs of Safety Practice and work continued to develop 
the use of the framework as central to the Through Age & wellbeing Programme. At the front door 
and in assessment we do this by ensuring that the information we collect from citizens directly or 
via other agencies is appropriately used to deliver a person-centered approach based around the 

Page 128

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted


Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 43 of 64 
 

fundamental questions of ‘What’s worrying you?’ and ‘What’s working well?’ As a result of these we 
are seeking to further develop strengths-based, outcome focused services for citizens which 
respond in a timely creative manner, and which always focus on what is important to the individual. 
 
Improvement Objective 2 - Partnerships 

• Ensure the Local Authority has a strong voice in the Region  
• Ensure regular committed involvement at all regional partnership events by relevant staff  
• Ensure that Ceredigion takes full advantage of the resources available to us from the 

Regional Partnership Board  
• Influence the developments through the region and nationally  

 
Ceredigion County Council has continued to actively engage with the West Wales Care Partnership 
and the Regional Partnership Board and other key partnership forums. This provides a mechanism 
for driving regional improvements across social care whilst maintaining the focus on Ceredigion 
specific priorities and areas of need. 
 
There are a number of regional fora that Ceredigion County Council support and are effectively 
engaged with. Opportunities for regional funding are maximised through regional partnerships and 
initiatives, including the Healthier Wales Transformation Programme and Integrated Care Funding. 
 
Full participation in all regional Covid 19 planning fora has also been a major priority for us during 
this year.  
 
Improvement Objective 3 – Healthier Wales Transformation Programme 

• Ensuring that the LA is effective, along with partners in securing and utilising Transformation 
Funds to drive better outcomes for people in Ceredigion  

• Develop the regional Technology Enabled Care Project in conjunction with 
Carmarthenshire/Pembrokeshire and Hywel Dda  

• Work in partnership with Hywel Dda to scale up a Fast Access Community Team  
• Work in conjunction with Health and 3rd Sector to develop community hubs and resources  

 
As part of the West Wales Care Partnership Our original submission for A Healthier West Wales 
programme of work included:  
 
Improving lives through technology 
•Proactive technology enabled care 
•Shared digital framework 
Strengthening integrated localities 
•Fast tracked consistent integration 
•Proactive supported self-management 
Supporting change together 
•Continuous citizen engagement 
•Behaviour change for good 
Connecting people… kind communities 
•Creating connections for all 
•Building the infrastructure to deliver differently 
 
 

 

Page 129



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 44 of 64 
 

 
A total of £11.89 million was provided by Welsh Government to the WWCP to support the delivery 
of the 3 agreed programmes highlighted below: 
 
Programme 1: Proactive, technology-enabled care 
•Proactive approach to keeping people well in communities 
•Based on proven approach in Bilbao, Spain 
•Evidence from Spain of significant impact on system demand and wellbeing 
•Bespoke and individualised TEC 
•In-depth wellbeing assessment and supported wellbeing plans 
•Proactive calls using existing Delta Wellbeing platform providing built-in benefits 
•Multi-agency rapid response with enhanced, local community support 
•Digital inclusion project to support informal networks 
 
Programme 3: Fast-tracked, consistent integration 
•Fast Access Community Team providing 24/7, professional crisis response 
•Model to be implemented in each locality, shaped to ensure that arrangements meet local needs 
and build on existing arrangements 
•Additional programme capacity to support further integration at locality level 
 
Programme 7: Creating connections for all 
•Consistent community connectors model across West Wales creating community links and 
building resilience 
•Active citizens –promoting and supporting volunteering 
•Intergenerational buddying programme to develop IT and other skills 
•West Wales is Kind programme 
•Embedding Dewis and Info-engine 
•Accelerated skills programme for staff providing community support 
 
All 3 programmes were initiated in 2019/2020 with programme 1 being led regionally, programme 
3 led locally and programme 7 led by the 3rd Sector and continued during 2020/21. 
 
The positive progress of this Objective, our engagement with the West Wales Care Partnership and 
the adjustments made in view of Covid 19 priorities can be viewed within the comprehensive report 
to the Ceredigion Cabinet meeting presented on 1st September 2020.  
 
9iv. INFO West Wales Regional Partnership Board.pdf (ceredigion.gov.uk) 
 
Ceredigion’s Covid 19 Response  
 
From the outset, Ceredigion County Council’s priority has been to protect its citizens and to 
minimise the number of the population who will contract the Covid 19 and the number of deaths 
from it. At the beginning, Public Health Wales projections indicated a reasonable worst-case 
scenario of 600 deaths in the County and this was not acceptable to us. 
 
Ceredigion County Council identified a clear vision that every single person, business, and service 
could understand and agree upon to ensure Ceredigion succeeded in not only reducing predicted 
deaths through the first peak but more importantly for any future predicted peaks.  

Page 130

http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/cpdl/Democratic_Services_Meetings_Public/9iv.%20INFO%20West%20Wales%20Regional%20Partnership%20Board.pdf


Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 45 of 64 
 

 
• Phase 1 - Preparedness – Closing down of all non-essential services 
• Phase 2 - Implementation – Delivering essential key services under lockdown conditions 
• Phase 3 - Adjustment and long term resilience 
• Phase 4 - Recovery 

 
We recognise that our geographical location and sparse population have provided us with distinct 
advantages in relation to the control of the virus. Within this context have put in place a number of 
strategies which seek to consolidate our advantages and actively try to suppress the virus, rather 
than simply limit, and manage its proliferation through the county. It is important to acknowledge 
the 72,000 residents of Ceredigion who have bravely adhered to the challenges set by lockdown. 
We thank the residents of the county for following guidance so rigidly and diligently, ensuring that 
the number who have been infected by Covid 19 has been kept relatively low; 84, which is 115.6 
per 100,000 population as of 8th September 2020 and 1771 confirmed cases as of 26/4/21. The 
cases and our infection rates throughout 2020-2021 compare very favourably with the rest of 
Wales. Nonetheless, we acknowledge that each death from Covid 19 has been a very sad loss and 
in our communities staff and public alike have been greatly affected by the impact of the Pandemic 
on physical and mental wellbeing as well as financially and economically. 
 
Strategy and decision-making during the pandemic 
 
Ceredigion CC’s’ Strategic Priorities:  

• Protection of the health and wellbeing of our most vulnerable, including care services for the 
elderly and those whose medical conditions make them particularly at risk from COVID-19. 

 
• Protection of the education provision within schools, colleges, and universities. 

 
• Enable the local economy to survive. 

 
Gold Command structure and decisions  
The Gold Command structure and process put in place from the outset of the Pandemic has 
enabled the following key decisions to be made and implemented: 
 
• Support for the most vulnerable -from the offset, the medically vulnerable and those shielding in 

Ceredigion were contacted by telephone to ensure food and medication was delivered and to 
ensure their safety. The Council provided weekly food boxes sourced locally to over 950 of our 
most vulnerable citizens and Council staff contact over 2,500 individuals that are shielding on a 
regular basis. The Council has received 159 compliments in relation to the food boxes and for 
the regular contact as of September 2020. Following Welsh Government announcement, the 
shielding scheme came to an end on 16th August 2020 and food boxes were longer 
systematically provided. However, food vouchers via school services and practical support 
including food parcels for the most vulnerable continued. 

• Contact tracing –an in-house contact tracing system was developed by the Council at the 
beginning of April 2020 bringing together a team of staff with skillsets in environmental health 
tracing, data protection, human resources, and ICT data systems. Built around a questionnaire, 
the data management system was informed by our Environmental Health Officers who have 
experience of tracking and tracing other outbreaks such as legionella and food poisoning and 
research based upon was happening elsewhere internationally. At the time, numbers of cases 

Page 131



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 46 of 64 
 

were low, and as a result we have been able to follow up on all cases notified since its 
implementation. The Council is now part of the national Test, Trace, Protect scheme. 

• PPE - A central PPE hub was put in place at the end of March 2020 in response to the need to 
have a coordinated approach to PPE provision both within the local authority and for the 
independent sector. Ceredigion County Council were able to source a variety of equipment from 
many sources. Of note was that approximately 3,000 specialist face visors were made by local 
schools to support the PPE provision locally. 

• Staff redeployment – staff were redeployed to set up the PPE hub, contact tracing team and to 
support with Care Homes staffing and other key essential front line. These staff remain in place 
and will be reintroduced back to substantive roles in a phased programme. 

• Safeguarding reports to Gold Command whilst emergency powers in place  
• Care homes – negative test on discharge, face to face visiting suspended in March 2020 

progressing to outdoor visits, no mixing of staff, restricted visits by professionals 
• Risk assessments and guidance on social care visits, client contact and on virtual working with 

full Health and Safety support 
• Extensive local guidance and protocols produced for the residential care homes and domiciliary 

care providers 
• Financial and Hardship support - Business grants/funding - prevention of hardship and the 

development of a Tackling Hardship Strategy 
• Silver command groups set up specifically, Residential care, Contact tracing/TTP, Economic 

Adjustment, Vaccination/Testing,  
• Senior representation at local and regional IMT’s 
• Senior representation on Covid specific local and regional forums including the Ceredigion Covid 

Response Group, Regional Safeguarding Covid Group, Sub-groups of the RPB/PSB,  
 
Adjustment and Recovery planning  
It must be recognized that all essential front -line services have been maintained throughout the 
Pandemic albeit with an element of restriction to minimize risk of infection and to keep the public, 
service users and staff safe and minimize risk of spread of the infection.  
 
A 3 Phase recovery plan approach has been adopted across all service areas. Each plan is 
presented to Gold Command for discussion and approval and is then provided to Leadership 
Group/Cabinet meetings for information. 
 
The Council has a public facing road map which outlines the key milestones in relation to service 
changes and the phased reinstatement of services. 
 
Recovery plans presented to date have included areas such as: 
• Residential care homes (staff sustainability and reviewing visiting arrangements to enable 

outdoor visits and continue with multi-professional and clinical support via technology to support 
communication with professionals or safe visits from GP’s, mental health, dementia, OT/allied 
health professions  

• Learning Disability and Older Peoples Day Services adjustments  
• Respite care adjustments 
• A wide range of Early Intervention/Prevention services including organized outdoor vocational, 

learning and work, Employment Support Team to restart paid Work and Volunteering 
Opportunities, Organized and approved outdoor children/young people’s group activity, Outdoor 
Health Intervention Classes / Exercise Classes for Adults 

Page 132



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 47 of 64 
 

• Mental Wellbeing Service  
• and School Counselling Service adjustment 

 
Workforce Challenges 
A redeployment programme of staff was implemented in the early stages of the pandemic to assist 
key services including care homes and school hubs caring for vulnerable children. There has been 
a continued focus on recruitment with several campaigns both internally but also supporting 
external providers with campaigns. 
 
Some of the current challenges include the recruitment and retention of key staff specifically Social 
Workers and Occupational Therapists, however it is acknowledged that this is a national trend and 
opportunities around regional working has been explored.  The Council has a strategy for meeting 
this challenge including the following approaches:  
 

• Social Work traineeships  
• Offering qualification opportunities and learning pathways for the current staff 
• student placements 
• Reviewing job roles and evaluations 
• Refreshing advertising - intensive campaign to join Ceredigion 

 
Supporting Staff Wellbeing 
We are committed to providing responsive, accessible, and inclusive support to staff throughout 
the Pandemic, this has included: 
• Employee Health & Wellbeing Officer 
• Employee Assistance Package 
• Occupational Health 
• Responsive approach including, wellbeing surveys/questionnaires, discussions with managers & 

teams, streamlined appraisal process, drop in sessions 
• Organization wide activity and support including, information on intranet, Wellbeing 

Wednesdays, Activities, Wellbeing Webinars, Shielding staff 
• Dedicated health and wellbeing webinars, regular meetings with Corporate Manager/Registered 

Managers,  
• Individual staff support within care homes 
 
New ways of future working 
The last 12 months has meant a significant change in the way that the Council and its staff has 
had to work and meet the daily demand of the services it provides. With all staff working from 
home (unless their role requires them to be front facing i.e., residential care home staff, 
enablement etc.) there has been a reliance on digital technology and remote working. 
A silver command group was agreed to consider how the Council could work in the future with the 
learning from the pandemic considered. The vision is to provide a modern, flexible work 
environment that supports agility and encourages collaborative activity. The aim to create 
workplaces that are not only cost effective, but strengthen our corporate culture, increase 
engagement with our Ceredigion community and improve service delivery. A staff survey and focus 
groups have been held to determine what the ‘new ways of working’ will be, and this will then 
inform an estates strategy for the future. It is proposed that this will promote the health and 

Page 133



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 48 of 64 
 

wellbeing of the workforce, encourage, and support agile and flexible working, increase public 
facing spaces whilst also reducing the carbon footprint and promoting environmental resilience. 
 
Financial and business recovery 
The Council has enabled and empowered a range of services and initiatives via various funding 
streams from Welsh Government during the Pandemic. These have included the Hardship Fund 
that has specifically provided support for residential and front-line care services.  This Fund has 
allowed internal and commissioned services to focus on their recovery plans. There has been grant 
funding for businesses and support for the reopening of the visitor economy which is very important 
to the general economic recovery within Ceredigion. 
 
Tacking Hardship Strategy  
On July 7th 2020, Ceredigion Cabinet members approved the Tacking Hardship Strategy in the face 
of the potential negative impact of the Covid-19 crisis on the social and economic well-being of the 
residents of Ceredigion, and an increased risk that individuals and families will experience 
hardship, it is timely to introduce the Tackling Hardship Strategy. The aim of the Strategy is to 
tackle hardship by providing a robust framework that will enable a shared understanding of the 
situation, consolidate and develop a range of initiatives to mitigate risk, and implement early and 
preventative action. The Strategy will provide a single document to ensure that Council Leaders, our 
partners and the public are regularly updated on progress. 
 

Ceredigion Local Authority Housing Services 
Under the Homelessness interventions in 2020-2021,479 cases were opened where there had 
been approaches due to households believing to be at risk of homelessness or presenting as 
homeless on the day.  Of the 479 cases opened, some were provided with advice and assistance, 
and 435 assessments carried out under s62 Housing Act requirements.  As a result of these 
assessments, 216 cases were successfully prevented and / or relieved. 
 
24 clients were assisted with Rent Advance and Bonds in 2020-2021.  This figure does not include 
those who the Housing Options Team supported and sign-posted to other agencies such as Vicars 
Relief Fund (VRF), budgeting loans and Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP) applications for those 
upfront costs. 
 
The Housing Options services had to react to Welsh Government’s ‘Everyone In’ approach leading 
to increased demand on the service following the removal of ‘Priority Need’.  In turn, having to 
accommodate those who previously wouldn’t have been assisted with Emergency Accommodation, 
leading to increased need for more unit.  During this year, the service had to take on re—vamp with 
the support of various partner agencies 13 more shared accommodation units and 4 more self-
contained units. 
 
These increased challenges were faced even with Welsh Government’s response to the Pandemic, 
of which one was the suspension of evictions. 
 
Under the adaptations service, 52 Disabled Facilities Grants were delivered, and 427 Safe, Warm 
and Secure Grant delivered.  This delivery was hampered due to the impact of the pandemic, ie. 
restriction on home visits etc. 

Page 134



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 49 of 64 
 

 
Under Housing Register work, for the year 2020-2021, 1251 Housing Register applications were 
received across all 4 registers (affordable, general, older persons and accessible). 
 
What difference has the service made? 
For homelessness prevention duties, 24 households secured private rented sector accommodation 
with landlord incentive scheme. 
 
Disabled Facilities and Safe Warm and Secure grants have assisted clients to live independently 
within their own homes. 
 
A total of 272 applicants secured housing from the Housing Register. 55 (20%) allocations were 
made to people owed a homeless duty.  Even with the restrictions posed by the pandemic, the 
Housing Register and Housing Options service worked proactively with the partner Housing 
Associations to allocate accommodation as swiftly as possible, to enable move on from Emergency 
Accommodation were appropriate.  

 
How well have we done? 
Housing - Homelessness  
Total prevention outcomes: 144 (this includes successful prevention, unsuccessful prevention, 
non-cooperation, assistance refused, withdrawn, and withdrawn due to loss of contact) 
Successful prevention outcomes: 109. Therefore 75% of households threatened with 
homelessness were successfully prevented. However, only 16 (11%) of the 144 were 
unsuccessfully resolved as 19 (13%) clients withdrew from the service (including 1 household who 
refused assistance and 1 household who did not cooperate) and therefore Housing Options were 
unable to assist or establish an outcome. 

 
Housing - Adaptations 
Provided a safe home for 479 disabled and vulnerable applicants to remain living independently 
leading to improved quality of life.  
 
Energy Efficiency 
During the year a total of 224 clients received either improvements to their homes through EE 
initiatives and/or EE advice to improve their financial position and outgoings.  
 
Housing – Register 
1100 Housing Applications were activated on to the Housing Register enabling consideration for 
social housing allocations.  In addition to this, amendments were made to applications and 
application renewals ensuring correct and up to date information for our RSL partners.   

 
Delivery of affordable housing across all tenure 
The SHG programme is part of a 3-year rolling development programme made up of a number of 
funding streams from Welsh Government. 
 
The development programme is based on regularly updated needs analysis of the Housing 
Registers with the aim of delivering a mix of social and intermediate housing across Ceredigion.  

 
What difference has the objective made? 

Page 135



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 50 of 64 
 

The number of Social Rented units being delivered is likely to increase year on year over the next 3 
years and so contribute to Welsh Governments 20,000 Target. Developments are being targeted to 
help meet the identified local need in the County. The range of affordable tenure options is also 
being increased to help address the different housing needs within the County.  
 
The Authority is improving the targeting of all new social housebuilding as a result of the Housing 
Register database system. Specialised and adapted housing such as wheelchair 
accessible/mobility impaired units are also being delivered to try and address the need for specific 
applicants/clients. 

 
Contribute towards the development of care and support: 
During 2019-20 revised guidance for Housing Support Grant (HSG) programme (Supporting People) 
was issued by Welsh Government. This revised guidance served to highlight the strong inter-
linkages between housing support and homelessness prevention. In recognition of these linkages, 
the responsibility for the strategic planning and delivery of the HSG services was moved to within 
Housing services. During 2020-21 plans were underway to implement the new HSG Gateway 
Service as a central point for submitting all requests for Housing Support, ensuring all cases would 
be allocated the appropriate interventions in a timely manner. This entailed devising new roles and 
employing into these positions. Further developments were planned for 2020-21 including the 
preparations for the development of the HSG Programme Strategy. 
 
Furthermore, with the location of Housing Services within the Porth Gofal integrated, through age 
service model, many opportunities have been identified for building on opportunities and links 
across the service model from prevention, early intervention through to crisis intervention.  
 
Ensure that the accommodation needs of residents are met 
The Housing service continues to work towards ensuring that the accommodation needs of 
residents are being met. Throughout the year 36 inspections of licensed Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (private rented accommodation) were undertaken to ensure safety standards were 
being met, 10 cases of harassment and illegal eviction were investigated, and 254 service 
complaints related to poor housing standards were followed up.  
 
Property Acquisitions 
Use of capital integrated care grants have enabled key new housing acquisitions. One being a 
scheme in conjunction with the West Wales Domestic Abuse Service for the Council to acquire two 
properties in County to lease for the use of victims of domestic abuse. The second being the 
acquisition of a property for the use of Porth Cynnal care and support services to support parent 
and baby as step down or prevention of children coming into local authority care.  
  

Page 136



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 51 of 64 
 

Summary of Wellbeing Outcomes 2020-2021: 
 

 

 

 
 

Outcomes

2020 - 2021

Outcomes

64 homeless households 
in temporary 

accommodation

June 20 – April 21 
Average 32 service users on 

Dom Care waiting list 
(highest 51 lowest 12)

8,602,591 items of PPE 
distributed across the county, 
with a 12-week rolling stock 

programme

265 Planning 
Meetings taken place in 

response to 55 
incidents/outbreaks in 

Ceredigion care homes

67 Afternoon tea boxes 
were hand delivered by 
the Fostering Team staff 
to all Foster and Kinship 

Carers in December 
2020 

Socially distanced door
step visits were 

undertaken to thank the 
carers and to wish 
them all a happy 

Christmas

Daily sit rep calls to care 
home providers - a total of 
7,546 telephone calls have 

been made and 343 Sit 
Rep reports

Increase in 
community beds 
provided 19/20 -
208, 20/21 - 286

Page 137



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 52 of 64 
 

What are our priorities for next year and why? 
This coming year will see the continuation of a number of whole-system transformation projects 
along with continuing to deal with the challenges of the Covid 19 Pandemic and its aftermath.  

 
Covid 19 Objective 

• Continue to work closely with partner agencies to reduce the risk of spread of the infection  
• Effectively implement adjustment plans 
• Recovery  

 
Improvement Objective 1 
To ensure that the transformation of social services is achieved during 2021/22 in partnership 
with other corporate services and partner agencies. 

• Work in partnership on the corporate restructure plan, enabling an efficient whole-council 
approach 

• Ensure the Statutory requirements for Social Care are clearly defined within the structure 
• Ensure robust services are in place to enable citizens to achieve their personal outcomes 

 
Improvement Objective 2 
Ensure the Local Authority continues to have a strong voice in the Region  

• Ensure regular committed involvement at all regional partnership events by relevant staff 
• Ensure that Ceredigion takes full advantage of the resources available to us from the 

Regional Partnership Board 
• Influence the developments through the region and nationally 

 
Improvement Objective 3 
Ensuring that the LA is effective, along with partners in securing and utilising Transformation Funds 
to drive better outcomes for people in Ceredigion  

• Continue to enhance the regional Technology Enabled Care Project in conjunction with 
Carmarthenshire/Pembrokeshire and Hywel Dda 

• Work in partnership with Hywel Dda to drive forward the Integrated working agenda 
including the Fast Access Community Team 

• Work in conjunction with Health and 3rd Sector to develop community hubs and resource 
 

Service Areas for Further Development: 
 
Porth Cymorth Cynnar 
• Wellbeing Centres’ - to develop facilities that enhance the core physical activity and leisure 

offer with meeting, consultation, and treatment spaces. The Wellbeing Centre will incorporate 
services that consider and improve the physical, social emotional and mental aspects of an 
individual’s wellbeing and contribute to them enabling individuals to achieve their full potential. 

• Further develop and deliver blended universal and focussed through-age community activities 
and interventions to enable empowerment, resilience, and independence. 

• Work collaboratively with key stakeholders and voluntary sector organisations to develop a 
range of services to meet the evolving needs within our communities to support and 
enable individuals and families in Ceredigion to cope well with the challenges and pressures 
that they may face. 

Page 138



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 53 of 64 
 

 
Porth Gofal:  
• Direct Payments support service developed in house 
• Domiciliary Care – progression with hybrid model of service delivery with Enablement 
• Implementation of the Health and Social Care Support Workers as part of Transformation 

programme 3 
• Fostering – service development plan including recruitment and training of new foster carers 
• Day Services Review – focus on community and individual resilience, prevention and 

empowerment strategies and respite opportunities 
 
Porth Cynnal: 
• Develop preventative and recovery approaches across Porth Cynnal Services and the TAW model 

and with partner agencies focusing on mental wellbeing, domestic abuse, substance misuse 
• Safe Looked After Children Reduction initiatives  
• Regional and local projects: develop trauma informed safe accommodation for children and local 

parent and baby accommodation  
• Embed Signs of Safety practice 
  

Page 139



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 54 of 64 
 

5. How We Do What We Do 
How we have supported the professional development of the 
Social Care Workforce 
Ceredigion County Council highly values the services provided by the Social Care sector for the 
citizens of Ceredigion.  Through the provision of learning and development opportunities we seek to 
attract, recruit, and retain a highly skilled and competent workforce able to make a positive 
difference to the lives of the people they work with. 
 
Social Care Wales Workforce Development Programme (SCWWDP) grant funding is utilized to 
provide a range of training and development opportunities which are made available to the sector.  
These opportunities support the induction, continuous professional development, and the 
regulatory qualification requirements of those involved in service delivery.  
 
To ensure the needs of the whole sector are met, the Council’s Learning and Development Team 
conduct an internal and external annual training needs analysis and host events where external 
Social Care providers are invited to identify their training priorities. 
 
COVID-19 impacted upon the delivery of learning and development opportunities in March 2020 
and resulted in the cancellation of all face-to-face training.  To enable continued support for the 
sector, all trainers upskilled in developing on-line content and in on-line delivery methods.  Five new 
e-learning modules were launched covering: Introduction to Care and Personal Care, Manual 
Handling – People, Manual Handling – Objects, Infection Prevention & Control including donning 
and doffing of PPE, Safe Administration of Medicines and Return Safely to Work.  Staff who were 
working at home also received Health & Safety guidance on home working. 
 

E-learning completions increased by a 
remarkable 59% on the previous year, with 
a total of 4864 completions.  The opposite 
graph shows the breakdown of internal 
and external social care completions:  
 
As the year progressed, essential face-to-
face training for Social Care staff such as 
Manual Handling and First Aid was re-
instated and delivered to staff groups of 
reduced numbers in adherence to COVID 

and risk assessment restrictions. 
 
417 events covering core social care / social work practice and health and safety training have 
been made available to the sector enabling 3488 staff completions, this is an increase of 548 on 
the previous year, which is significant given the impact of COVID, staff sickness, recruitment, and 
operational challenges on the sector during this time. 
 
In order to support the Council’s transformational Through Age & Wellbeing project, a bespoke 
management development programme commenced and will continue on into the next year. 

3609

1255

Breakdown of total e-learning completions 
for 20/21

Internal Staff External Staff

Page 140



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 55 of 64 
 

 
The opposite graph shows staff 
training attendance figures by year 
and evidences the increasing 
demand for and completion of e-
learning. 
 
Workforce succession planning has 
been supported through the 
Council’s Trainee Social Worker 
Scheme and the provision of 16 
social work placements.  The offer 
of a Level 2 Health and Social Care 

Apprenticeship within a residential care home continues to develop and has resulted in 2 
permanent members of staff with a further recently commenced on this career pathway. 
 
Promoting and supporting delivery through the medium of Welsh continues to be a priority.  To 
support the ‘Active Offer’, bespoke Welsh Language support sessions have been delivered to social 
work students and the Carers Team, 21 social care staff have been supported to undertake Welsh 
Language lessons and 124 across the sector have completed a Welsh Language Awareness e-
learning module. 
 
Summary of staff supported to attain qualification: 
 

Programme Numbers on 
programme 1st 

April 2020 

Numbers 
enrolled during 

2020/2021 

Numbers 
achieving 

during 
2020/2021 

Numbers 
withdrawn 

Numbers 
carrying 

forward to 
2021/2022 

AWIF 22 0 0 6 16 

Level 2 Approved Qual 9 4 5 0 8 

Level 3 Approved Qual 10 4 10 2 2 

QCF L3 – CYP 0 0 0 0 0 

Level 4 Approved Qual 0 0 0 0 0 

Level 5 Approved Qual 3 1 1 0 3 

TAQA Award – Level 3 0 0 0 0 0 

TAQA Award – Level 4 0 0 0 0 0 

Social Services Practitioner 
Programme – these figures 
relate to Cert HE 

3 3 2 1 3 

Social Work Degree Level 4 
– sponsored 

0 0 0 0 0 

Social Work Degree Level 5 
– sponsored 

0 2 0 0 2 

Social Work Degree Level 6 
– sponsored 

0 0 0 0 0 

3297 3025 2940
3488

470
1132

1975

4864

0
1000
2000
3000
4000
5000
6000

17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

Training summary by year

Staff attendance at training e-learning completions

Page 141



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 56 of 64 
 

Social Work Degree Level 4 
– other 

0 0 0 0 0 

Social Work Degree Level 5 
– other 

3 6 3 0 6 

Social Work Degree Level 6 
– other 

1 3 1 0 3 

Master Social Work Degree 
– Year 1 – sponsored 

0 0 0 0 0 

Master Social Work Degree 
– Year 2 – sponsored 

0 0 0 0 0 

Master Social Work Degree 
– Year 1 – other 

2 3 2 1 2 

Master Social Work Degree 
– Year 2 – other 

0 2 0 0 2 

NQSW Programme `8 1 8 0 1 

Graduate Certificate in 
consolidation of social 
work practice 

6 10 6 0 10 

Experienced Practice in 
Social Work 

0 0 0 0 0 

Senior Practice in Social 
Work 

0 0 0 0 0 

Consultant Social Work 0 0 0 0 0 

Enabling Practice 6/7 
(Practice Assessor Awards) 

1 6 0 0 7 

Best Interest Assessor 0 12 0 1 11 

Approved Mental Health 
Practitioner 

2 1 2 0 1 

Team Manager 
Development Programme 

1 1 0 1 1 

Middle Manager 
Development Programme 

0 0 0 0 0 

Working with Deaf Blind 
People 

0 0 0 0 0 

Certificate in Dementia 
Care Level 3 

0 20 0 1 19 

Trusted Assessor Level 3 0 0 0 0 0 

Assessing Decision Making 
Capacity Level 6 

3 0 3 0 0 

Strategic Manager 
Leadership Programme 

0 0 0 0 0 

 
 
  

Page 142



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 57 of 64 
 

Language profile of our Through Age Workforce: 
 
Porth Cymorth Cynnar: 

OVERVIEW 
No of 
People % of People 

ALTE 0, 1 & 2 51 20.48% 

ALTE 3, 4 & 5 198 79.52% 

TOTAL 249 100.00% 
 

GAP No of People 
% of 
People 

GAP IN ALTE 
REQUIREMENTS 96 37.94% 

Meets ALTE Requirements 157 62.06% 

TOTAL 249 100.00% 
 

PERSON - 
SPEAKING & 
LISTENING 0 1 2 3 4 5 

  

No of People 3 21 27 34 60 104 249 

% of People 1.20% 8.43% 10.84% 13.65% 24.10% 41.77% 100.00% 

PERSON - WRITING 0 1 2 3 4 5 
  

No of People 10 27 32 37 65 78 249 

% of People 4.02% 10.84% 12.85% 14.86% 26.10% 31.33% 100.00% 

PERSON - READING 0 1 2 3 4 5 
  

No of People 10 23 30 35 61 90 249 

% of People 4.02% 9.24% 12.05% 14.06% 24.50% 36.14% 100.00% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 143



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 58 of 64 
 

Porth Cynnal: 

OVERVIEW 
No of 
People % of People 

ALTE 0, 1 &2 58 48.33% 

ALTE 3, 4 & 5 62 51.67% 

TOTAL 120 100.00% 
 

GAP No of People 
% of 
People 

GAP IN ALTE 
REQUIREMENTS 61 50.83% 

Meets ALTE Requirement 59 49.17% 

TOTAL 120 100.00% 
 

PERSON - 
SPEAKING & 
LISTENING 0 1 2 3 4 5   

No of People 4 33 21 18 11 33 120 

% of People 3.33% 27.50% 17.50% 15.00% 9.17% 27.50% 100.00% 

PERSON - 
WRITING 0 1 2 3 4 5   

No of People 15 31 20 12 15 27 120 

% of People ##### 25.83% 16.67% 10.00% 12.50% 22.50% 100.00% 

PERSON - 
READING 0 1 2 3 4 5   

No of People 12 32 21 9 17 29 120 

% of People ##### 26.67% 17.50% 7.50% 14.17% 24.17% 100.00% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 144



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 59 of 64 
 

Porth Gofal: 

OVERVIEW 
No of 
People % of People 

ALTE 0, 1 & 2 168 47.06% 

ALTE 3, 4 & 5 189 52.94% 

TOTAL 357 100.00% 
 

GAP No of People 
% of 
People 

GAP IN ALTE 
REQUIREMENTS 188 52.66% 

Meets ALTE Requirement 169 47.34% 

TOTAL 357 100.00% 
 

PERSON - 
SPEAKING & 
LISTENING 0 1 2 3 4 5   

No of People 27 74 67 72 32 85 357 

% of People 7.56% 20.73% 18.77% 20.17% 8.96% 23.81% 100.00% 

PERSON - 
WRITING 0 1 2 3 4 5   

No of People 67 76 70 59 22 63 357 

% of People ##### 21.29% 19.61% 16.53% 6.16% 17.65% 100.00% 

PERSON - 
READING 0 1 2 3 4 5   

No of People 58 67 71 46 42 73 357 

% of People ##### 18.77% 19.89% 12.89% 11.76% 20.45% 100.00% 
 
 
  

Page 145



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 60 of 64 
 

Our Financial Resources and How We Plan for the Future 
For the first time in over 10 years, the Council’s financial settlement was considered a positive one.  
The Council’s overall WG funding settlement for 2020/2021 of £107.6m was a 4% increase on the 
previous year and meant that Services did not have to find any significant level of savings. 
 
2020/2021 also marked the year where the Council started aligning its budgets to the new 
targeted operating model for Social Care, which saw Early Intervention and Wellbeing related 
services become far more integrated alongside the more traditional Social Care Services.  As a 
result, the Council’s new Pyrth operating structure was reflected in budgets which totaled £35.2m 
now being over 23% of the 2020/2021 Council budget of £151.2m. 
 
The Social Care related budgets still faced considerable cost pressures of £3.5m.  However, these 
were mainly mitigated by the benefit from the positive WG settlement, and a targeted corporate 
approach being taken to address the Social Care budget pressures. 
 
Whilst there was a £0.6m overspend for the 2020/2021 financial year, this is a significant 
improvement from previous year’s and reflects the impact starting to be seen from the alignment of 
services to the new Through Age Model.  The model though remains in its infancy and continues to 
develop. 
 
2020/20212 can’t be concluded without mentioning COVID19 and the significant financial impact 
this has had.  The Social Care sector has been at the forefront of the pandemic with the impact 
being felt both by the Local Authority and the wide range of Private Providers whom services are 
commissioned from.  Through the WG Hardship Fund, significant additional funding has been made 
available to the Social Care sector in the form of funding and payments for Voids, Temporary 
Enhanced Premium Payments for placements and funding for Exceptional Costs arising from 
COVID19 incidents.  This fund has been critical to ensure the continuity of services during these 
challenging times. 
 
Looking forwards the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan sets out the financial strategy for 
future planning purposes and to meet the Council’s Corporate priorities which are: 
 

• Boosting the Economy 
• Investing in People’s Future 
• Enabling Individual and Family Resilience 
• Promoting Environmental and Community Resilience 

 
Part of the transformational aspect of the Medium-Term plan focusses on the move from a more 
traditional Children’s and Adult Social Care services to a wider Through Age model with Early 
Intervention through the introduction of a new targeted operating model to be known as Porth 
Gofal, Porth Cynnal and Porth Cymorth Cynnar. 
  

Page 146



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 61 of 64 
 

Our Partnership Working, Political and Corporate Leadership, 
Governance and Accountability 
On 25th March 2020, the Council Leader and Deputy Leader granted temporary delegated powers 
to the Council’s Chief Executive and Leadership Group to make decisions relating to the Council’s 
COVID-19 response. The decision was made in accordance with the Council’s Constitution. 
Supporting Gold Command are 5 Silver Command Groups, which report weekly to Gold Command. 
 
In addition, the Chief Executive and the Leader has met at least once a week with representatives 
from Hywel Dda University Health Board, the WLGA and other Leaders and Chief Executives, the 
Member of Parliament and Member of the Senedd as well as providing briefings to the Cabinet  
 
Gold Command, which is made up of the Council’s Senior Management Team has met daily since 
mid-March 2020 to deal with the Council’s response to COVID-19.  
 
The record of Gold Command’s decisions and actions during the year can be found on the Council 
website and include a number of key decisions in relation to care and support services. 
 
Weekly safeguarding reports regarding activity in relation to children and adults were presented to 
Gold Command by the Statutory Director for information and quality assurance. 
 
Healthier Communities Scrutiny Committee  
The Committee met virtually on 19th of November 2020 and considered The Ceredigion Carers Unit 
Annual Report 2019/20, the Regional Carers Group Annual report 2019-2020, the published CIW 
Inspection Report on Early Help and Care and Support and Transition for Disabled Children, the IRO 
Service Performance Monitoring Report Q2 2019-2020. Committee Members noted the inspection 
report and approved the progress as reported in the Action Plan from 2019/20. 
 
The Committee met virtually on 18th February 2021 and considered the reports on the draft budget 
for 2021/22, the Cost Reduction / Budget Savings and proposed changes to the Council’s Fees 
and Charges 2021/22.Committe members approved the recommendations made and recorded 
concern with increasing Looked after Children costs and noted the increased demand for Direct 
Payments and that it is intended that the service will come in house during 2021. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Coordinating Committee 
The Committee met virtually on 16 September 2020 and considered the Annual Report of CYSUR 
and CWMPAS 2019-2020. Committee members also considered a c comprehensive report 
outlining the Council’s response to date in managing the Covid 19 pandemic.   
  

Page 147



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 62 of 64 
 

The West Wales Care Partnership 
 
Section 14A of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 
requires local authorities and Local Health Boards to produce 
Area Plans setting out the range and level of services that will be 
provided in their area in response to regional Population 

Assessments. These Plans must be 
produced every 5 years and initial 
plans must be published by 1 April 
2019.  
 
The West Wales Area Plan for 2019-23, ‘Delivering Change Together’, 
has been agreed by the Regional Partnership Board and endorsed by 
Carmarthenshire, Ceredigion and Pembrokeshire County Councils 
and Hywel Dda University Health Board. It includes a series of 
strategic commitments which the Partnership will take forward over 
the next five years to support the transformation and integration of 
care and support in the Region. 
 
The Plan is available here. It is also available via the new West 
Wales Data Portal , which has been developed in partnership with 
Data Unit Cymru. This provides access to a wide range of 

population and service data for the region and allows our Plan to be updated regularly to 
reflect local and national developments and report on progress against the commitments within 
our Plan. 
 
In August 2020 the RPB commissioned an independent evaluation of the Healthier West Wales 
programmes. This noted progress across the board and recommended a number of enhancements 
including improving data sets to assess impact of programmes; evidencing the impact of different 
delivery arrangements in different parts of the region; strengthening engagement with users, carers 
and other stakeholders and using resulting intelligence to inform programme development; and 
closer alignment of programmes to enable staff involved in their delivery to recognise their 
contribution to the wider transformation landscape. 
 
An action plan has been developed to address each of the recommendations. In view of the positive 
evidence presented within the report, Welsh Government confirmed an allocation of just under £6m 
for 2021-22 to continue the programmes for a further, transitional year. Alongside the Healthier West 
Wales programmes, the Transformation Fund also provided ring-fenced resources to the Partnership 
in support of performance management and reporting and continuous engagement. As a result, in 
2020-21 we were able to appoint a Performance and Evaluation Officer to lead on the development 
of metrics to assess impact of transformation and other regional programmes. We also contributed 
to the costs of the ‘Engagement HQ’ digital platform which has been acquired by the RPB alongside 
Public Services Boards and several individual organizations in the region. This software will provide 
a tool for engaging with different communities (both geographical and of interest), using a range of 
mechanisms including virtual forums, on-line message boards, place-based 14 conversations, 
interactive stories, question and answer facilities and polls and surveys.  
 
 

Page 148

http://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/West-Wales-Area-Plan-English-Final-Version-29-03-18.pdf
http://www.wwcp-data.org.uk/home
http://www.wwcp-data.org.uk/home


Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 63 of 64 
 

Mid and West Wales Regional Safeguarding Board:  
 

                                                      
 
CYSUR is the Mid and West Wales Regional Safeguarding Children Board. 
CYSUR is an acronym for Child and Youth Safeguarding: Unifying the Region and is also the Welsh 
word for reassurance. 
CYSUR is an amalgamation of the former Local Safeguarding Children Boards in Carmarthenshire, 
Ceredigion, Pembrokeshire, and Powys. 
 
CWMPAS is the Mid and West Wales Regional Safeguarding Adults Board. 
CWMPAS is an acronym for Collaborative Working and Maintaining Partnership in Adult 
Safeguarding and is also the Welsh word for scope or remit. 
The CWMPAS remit also stretches across Carmarthenshire, Ceredigion, Pembrokeshire, and Powys 
 
The regional arrangements were established to meet the requirements of the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  

During 2020-2021, The Mid and West Wales Safeguarding Board continued to operate in accordance 
with its statutory obligations in light of the national emergency and pandemic. Although some non-
essential Board work was stood down temporarily, all the Board’s mandatory sub-groups i.e., 
Training, Policies and Procedures and Practice Review Subgroups continued to meet and function, 
and Ceredigion County Council officers took a full part in all activities. The completion and 
development of ongoing regional policies, procedures, and strategies as well as ongoing Child and 
Adult Practice Reviews were prioritized.  
 
Executive Board meetings continued to take place at regular intervals, and an interim COVID-19 
Regional Operational Group was set up to oversee, monitor and respond to any identified areas of 
increased risk that have emerged as a result of the pandemic. This multi-agency group consists of 
heads of service and senior service managers from across the region and their equivalent from 
agency partner organizations.  
 
In addition to this, multi-agency safeguarding leads meetings for children and adult services with 
representatives from the four local authorities, regional health boards and Dyfed Powys Police have 
taken place weekly. The focus of these meetings is to lead the development of interim COVID-19 
regional policies, establish consistent professional practice across the region where appropriate and 
to share ideas and offer peer support. The Regional Safeguarding Board Manager and Business Unit 
Staff’s roles have been realigned to priorities supporting these new regional groups, and any actions 
that emerge, as well as continuing to progress the Board’s key subgroups. 
 
The Board has produced specific regional guidance and policies to help guide partner agencies’ 
regional and local safeguarding activity during the Pandemic. 

Page 149



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Page 64 of 64 
 

6. Accessing Further Information and Key 
Documents 
 

Title Location 
West Wales Regional 
Partnership Board Annual 
Report 2020-21 

West-Wales-RPB-Annual-Report-2020-21-ENGLISH.pdf 
(wwcp.org.uk) 

Mid and West Wales 
Safeguarding Board  Cysur | Our Annual Reports 

Ceredigion CC Carers Unit 
Annual Report   
West Wales Regional Carer’s 
group Annual Report 2020-21 WWCDG-Annual-Report-2021-21-FINAL.pdf (wwcp.org.uk) 
West Wales Area Plan for 
2019-23, ‘Delivering Change 
Together’ 

http://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/03/West-Wales-Area-Plan-English-
Final-Version-29-03-18.pdf 

Ceredigion Gold Command 
Decision Making Records 

Governance Structure for decision making - Ceredigion County 
Council 

Director Annual report 2019-
2020 

Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual 
Report 2019-2020 

 

Page 150

https://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/West-Wales-RPB-Annual-Report-2020-21-ENGLISH.pdf
https://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/West-Wales-RPB-Annual-Report-2020-21-ENGLISH.pdf
https://www.cysur.wales/our-annual-reports/
https://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/WWCDG-Annual-Report-2021-21-FINAL.pdf
http://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/West-Wales-Area-Plan-English-Final-Version-29-03-18.pdf
http://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/West-Wales-Area-Plan-English-Final-Version-29-03-18.pdf
http://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/West-Wales-Area-Plan-English-Final-Version-29-03-18.pdf
http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/resident/coronavirus-covid-19/governance/
http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/resident/coronavirus-covid-19/governance/
http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/media/10421/statutory-directors-annual-report-2019-2020.pdf
http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/media/10421/statutory-directors-annual-report-2019-2020.pdf


    

 

 
 
 
   

  

 
 

Ceredigion County Council 
 

Sian Howys 
 
 

DRAFT 

 
 
 

Page 151



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 2 of 73 
 

1. Introduction           3 
The Through Age and Wellbeing Integrated Service Delivery Model    5 
Ceredigion’s COVID-19 Response         6 
 

2 Summary of Performance          7 
Adult and Commissioning Services Summary       7 
Children and Families Services Summary        14 
 

3 How Are People Shaping Our Services?        25 
Learning Disability Strategy 2018-2023 and Improvement Action Plan    26 
Adverse Childhood Experiences         28 
Ceredigion Safe Stars Children and Young People Safeguarding Group facilitated by TGP  29 
National Safeguarding Week         30 
Carer Support and Engagement         30 
Community Connectors           31 
Ceredigion Family Support and Early Help Services      32 
Ceredigion Support and Prevention Services       33 
Care Inspectorate Wales Activity         35 
Complaints and Compliments         36 
 

4 Promoting and Improving the Well-being of Those We Help     45 
What did we plan to do last year?         45 
How far did we success in working towards those priorities?     47 
Ceredigion Local Authority Housing Services       55 
What are our priorities for next year and why?       59 
 

5 How We Do What We Do          60 
How have we supported the professional development of the Social Care Workforce?  60 
Our Financial Resources and How We Plan for The Future      65 
Our Partnership Working, Political and Corporate Leadership, Governance and Accountability 67 
 

6 Accessing Further Information and Key Documents      73 
 

  

Page 152



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 3 of 73 
 

1. Introduction  
As the Director of Ceredigion Social Services between April 2021 and March 2022, I have the 
pleasure of presenting the 2021-2022 Annual Report.  Once again, this has been a year of major 
challenges in view of the Covid 19 Global Pandemic. Promoting the safety and wellbeing of the 
residents of Ceredigion in the context of the far-reaching implications of Covid 19 has continued to 
be extremely challenging.  
.  

Ceredigion County Council’s robust measures to try and 
supress and manage the risk of the spread of Covid 19 
have helped keep infection rates comparatively low within 
the County. Nonetheless, staff and the public alike have 
been greatly affected by the Pandemic in very many ways.  
 
The pressures on public services during this year have been 

immense and on the delivery of social care services to those in need of care and support. Once 
again, I must highlight my deep gratitude and admiration of the commitment, dedication and 
professionalism of colleagues and staff throughout this difficult year. Staff recruitment and 
retention to ensure sufficient capacity in the workforce has been an increasing focus during this 
year and this will continue into next year. 
 
With the annual report, the aim is to evaluate the performance of the Local Authority in relation to 
the delivery of its Social Services functions in respect of the 2021-2022 financial year.  The impact 
of Covid-19 in relation to social care services has been very significant across all areas of the 
Council’s work. It has also affected our capacity to provide specific information for this report, I 
have however ensured to the best of my ability that the information available has been provided to 
set out how the agreed wellbeing outcomes in Ceredigion have been met. 
 
The annual report content is defined in Part 8 of the Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 
2014 (SSWBA) under the ‘Code of Practice on the Role of Directors of Social Services’, which 
provides a requirement for an annual report to detail how the Local Authority has been working 
towards achieving the quality standards of well-being outcomes. 
 
The eight well-being outcomes are: 

• Securing rights and entitlements 
• Physical and mental health and emotional well-being 
• Protection from abuse and neglect 
• Education, training, and recreation 
• Domestic, family, and personal relationships  
• Contribution made to society 
• Social and economic well-being 
• Suitability of living accommodation 

 
 
 
 

Page 153



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 4 of 73 
 

The six quality standards used to measure the Local Authority’s performance against the wellbeing 
outcomes are: 

• Working with people to define and co-produce personal well-being outcomes that people 
wish to achieve 

• Working with people and partners to protect and promote people’s physical and mental 
health and emotional well-being 

• Taking steps to protect and safeguard people from abuse, neglect, or harm 
• Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop and participate in society  
• Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic, family, and personal 

relationships 
• Working with and supporting people to achieve greater economic well-being, have a social 

life and live in suitable accommodation that meets their needs 
 
This report has been written for a wide audience, with the intention that it is made available to 
everyone.  In compiling this report, I’ve considered specifically the following groups: 
 

• Service users and carers and all those whose well-being is affected by what the local 
authority’s social services and related functions do, so that the impact of those services is 
explained 

• The public who has an interest in what their local authority is doing, how it is performing and 
how their money is being spent 

• Elected members and others involved in scrutiny processes 
• The local authority’s partners including both formal partners and others in the public, private 

and third sectors who need to understand the local authority’s programme and priority 
objectives 

• Regulators (including the Wales Audit Office, CIW, Social Care Wales, and the Statutory 
Commissioners) 

• The Welsh Government 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 154



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 5 of 73 
 

The Through Age and Well-being Integrated Service Delivery Model 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
During 2021-2022, significant progress has been made in implementing our Integrated Through 
Age and Well-being Service Model.   
 
In October 2021, the Through Age and Well-Being Strategy 2021-2027 and Action Plan were 
approved by full Council. At the outset of the Programme, a vision was created that reflected an 
ambitious programme of change: “To ensure every child, young person and adult in Ceredigion will 
be able to reach their full potential. To ensure fair access for all to excellent universal and targeted 
services that supports the health and wellbeing of all citizens. To develop skills and resilience that 
will last a lifetime and enable individuals to cope well with the challenges and pressures that they 
may face.” The Through-age & Wellbeing Strategy clarifies the vision, sets out the case for change 
and describes the associated approaches that we intend to take to transform how the wellbeing 
and safety of the people of Ceredigion will be supported. A timeline of 2021-2027 has been agreed 
in order to achieve the changes. 
 
Phase 1 of the corporate restructure was completed in April 2018 with the recruitment of 2 
Corporate Directors and 12 Corporate Lead Officers (CLOs) to cover the responsibilities of all 
service areas.  
 
The implementation of the Integrated Through Age and Well-being Service Delivery Model changes 
the roles and responsibilities of some of the Corporate Lead Officer posts and the teams across the 
Local Authority, not only in Social Care. The 3 Corporate lead Officers, Porth Cymorth Cynnar, Porth 
Gofal and Porth Cynnal have led the change management processes to support the development 
and delivery of the model. 
 
With the completion of Phase 2, the Corporate Manager Roles have been operational since March 
2020, and they have worked hard to progress key strategic developments across the Pyrth. The 
four main service areas are. 
 

• Clic Customer Contact – Initial point of contact and referral 
• Porth Cymorth Cynnar – Early intervention and Prevention 
• Porth Gofal –Triage, Assessment, Targeted Intervention and Direct Services 
• Porth Cynnal – Specialist Care and Support Through Age Services 

  

 

Operating Model
Through-age & Wellbeing Programme

PROFESSIONALS / EXTERNAL SERVICES

Sign Off

Sign OffCITIZENS

Clic

Direct 
Contact

TARGETED SERVICES

FIRST POINT 
RESOLUTION

Ceredigion 
Data      

Systems 

General 
Contact 

Information 

What Matters 
Conversation?

Information & 
Advice

Need for 
Support

INITIAL CONTACT
CLO: Arwyn Morris

Step 
up/down 

Gateways: 
Moments 
of Truth

PROFESSIONALS

PORTH CYMORTH CYNNAR
CLO: Elen James

Early Intervention Lifelong Learning Skills

Wellbeing CentresSupport & Prevention

Contact Resolution Volumes

Proportionate Assessments undertaken 
by a multi-agency team. 

Determine level of need & best outcomes, 
including targeted 

intervention

info

Sign 
post

Strategies developed by Through Age Corporate Managers to drive service delivery and commissioning across the whole operating model

Pupil Referral Unit

RE
FE

RR
AL

 G
AT

EW
AY

 #
1

PORTH GOFAL
CLO: Donna Pritchard

Housing Services

Targeted & Short 
Term Services

Direct Services

REFERRAL GATEWAY #2 

Provide Information, 
e.g. Dewis, Carers Pack

Triage

Client & Family 
AssessmentIn

ta
ke

: S
IF

T

Integrated Triage & Assessment 
Services

Online

PORTH CYNNAL
SAC: Sian Howys

Through Age Specialist Services

Extended Support

Substance Misuse

Mental Wellbeing

Safeguarding 

Planned Care

SPECIALISTS 

Joy Lake 
CLIC 

 

Llyr Hughes 
Housing Services 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Nerys Lewis 
Direct Services 

 
 

Heather West 
Targeted & Short Term 

Services 

 

John Callow 
Substance Misuse 

 
 

Taniya Jarrams 
Integrated Triage & 
Assessment Services 

 
 

John Forbes-
Jones 

Mental Wellbeing 

 
 

Helen Jones 
Planned Care 

 
 

Emma Clarke 
Extended Support 

 
 

Elizabeth Upcott 
Safeguarding 

 
 

Carwyn Young 
Wellbeing Centres 

 
 

Mark Gleeson 
Lifelong Learning and 

Skills 

 
 

Iwan Davies 
Early Intervention 

 
 

Gethin Jones 
Support & Prevention 

 
 

Carys Tisdell 
Headteacher PRU 

 

Page 155



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 6 of 73 
 

 
In April 2021, Phase 3 of the consultation got under way and by June 2021, Team Managers were 
appointed and commenced in post in most services across the Pyrth. December 2021 saw the 
commencement of a significant staff consultation on the redesign of teams and roles across the 
Pyrth’s services except for Residential Care Services and Day Services. The overriding purpose of 
the redesign is to ensure a skilled and flexible workforce along with an effective operating model in 
line with the Programme’s strategic aims and objectives so that we can meet the needs of the 
people of Ceredigion with sustainable and outcome focused services. The redesign process 
concluded in March 2022. 
 

Ceredigion’s Covid 19 Response  
 
From the outset of the Pandemic, Ceredigion County Council identified a clear vision and 
framework of action to ensure Ceredigion succeeded in not only reducing predicted deaths through 
the first peak but also for any future predicted peaks. The defined phases of our response are; 
 

• Phase 1 - Preparedness – Closing down of all non-essential services 
• Phase 2 - Implementation – Delivering services under lockdown and controlled conditions 
• Phase 3 - Adjustment and long-term resilience 
• Phase 4 - Recovery  

 
In April and May 2021, Covid 10 Adjustment and Recovery Plans were put in place enabling all 
services to implement the necessary steps to ensure the delivery of safe services. These plans 
were regularly revisited and revised throughout the year as the level of risk fluctuated and with the 
changes in national, regional, and local control measures. In addition, new ways of working have 
continued to develop throughout the year with a focus on a hybrid approach. The overriding aim of 
the Council has been to do all we can to maintain Ceredigion’s comparatively low rate of infection 
and to build longer term resilience and recovery in our communities.  
 

 
Sian Howys 
Statutory Director of Social Services 
Corporate Lead Officer – Porth Cynnal 
  

Page 156



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 7 of 73 
 

2. Summary of Performance 
As laid out under section 145 of the Social Services and Wellbeing act, the Performance 
Measurement framework is used as a gauge of performance of local authorities’ social services 
functions.  This section will illustrate how the service has performed over the past year. It must be 
noted that following Welsh Government direction minimal reporting was completed due to the 
Covid 19 pandemic and the report reflects this.  
 
Adult and Commissioning Services Summary  
The performance of services for adults is satisfactory with priority given to adhering to local, 
regional, and national Covid 19 regulations, guidance, and protocols in collaboration with partner 
agency whilst participating fully in all multi -agency forums dealing with the pandemic.   
 
The continued development of key service areas such as Clic for initial contact and signposting to 
Porth Gofal for advice and assistance, triage and proportionate assessment forms the basis of our 
future model. Opportunities for developing and enhancing prevention services within Porth Cymorth 
Cynnar continues as another key element with Covid 19 adjustments such as Community 
Connectors providing online support and welfare phone calls. 
 
Adult Safeguarding 

There has been a decrease in 
the percentage of Adult 
Protection enquiries completed 
within seven working days 
during 2021-2022. 
The main reason for this has 
been that during this period, 
there was considerable service 
pressures and challenge with 
workforce capacity. 
Nonetheless, high risk cases 
have been prioritized and 
timely action taken when 
required to ensure people’s 
safety.  
 
 

 
 

97% 98%

81%
73%

67%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

The percentage of adult protection enquiries completed within 7 
days

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Page 157



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 8 of 73 
 

Delayed Transfers of Care 
This year, the “delayed transfers of care” measure has slightly decreased from 2020 -21.  A 
Delayed Transfer of Care is experienced by an inpatient in a hospital, who is ready to move on to 

the next stage of care but is 
prevented from doing so for 
one or more reasons such as 
service provision due to the 
need for care and support.   
Hospital discharges continue 
to be a high Priority for Porth 
Gofal Integrated Triage who 
work in close collaboration 
with health colleagues to 
coordinate and facilitate all 
hospital discharges for 
Ceredigion Citizens. 
Discharge 2 Recover and 
Assess remains a priority, but 
provision can be challenging 
due to the impact of Covid 19 

and the Enablement service bridging long-term care packages in the community. The Domiciliary 
care market has had reduced and limited capacity with the impact of Covid 19 as a contributory 
factor especially for those who have complex needs who require high level of support such as 
double-handed care. This has contributed to the delay in the provision of care, Porth Gofal is 
working collaboratively and pro-actively with Health to facilitate short-term Health funded 
placement whilst waiting care packages which has contributed to the reduction of delayed transfers 
of care. Porth Gofal works closely with third Sector support service to expedite discharges for 
Citizens who have low-level needs.   
 
Enablement 
The enablement team have supported an increasing number of service users awaiting long term 
care to provide additional capacity to the provision of domiciliary care packages. 
 
In March 2021, the enablement team were providing a bridging service to around 20% of their 
caseload. By March 2022, this had increased significantly to almost 80% 
 

 

2.5
3.8 4.3

8.3
7.2

0

2

4

6

8

10

The rate of delayed transfers of care for social care reasons per 
1,000 population aged 75 or over 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Page 158



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 9 of 73 
 

 
 
The Enablement team were bridging 34 clients who were awaiting long term care at the end of 
March 2022. This was over 80% of their total caseload 
 
As the chart shows, 42% of the people waiting for domiciliary care were being supported by the 
enablement team.  
 
35% of people were waiting whilst living in their own homes.  
 
Some individuals had support from family/friends, support from the 3rd sector. The social work 
team closely monitored all cases and kept in contact with the individuals concerned.  
 
Adults supported in residential care homes 

 
Residential care provides a range 
of options for individuals who 
require 24hour care. These 
include short term, temporary 
and permanent placements. 
There are various residential care 
options available, depending on 
the needs of the individual. 
Ceredigion operates five 
residential care homes itself and 
commissions with several private 
companies both in Ceredigion 
and further afield.   

81
87 86 86 86

0

20

40

60

80

100

Average age of adults entering residential care homes

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Page 159



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 10 of 73 
 

 
This year there has been a 
further decrease in the 
average amount of time spent 
in residential homes and that 
could well be attributed to the 
Pandemic and the impact of 
the infection outbreaks with 
less people choosing 
residential care unless it is 
unavoidable.  
Very early on, the Local 
Authority developed an 
Infection, Prevention and 
Control Protocol. This ensured 
that the workforce and health 

colleagues had clear guidance to follow in relation to minimizing the opportunity for the 
transmission of the virus within the care homes. These protocols have been regularly updated in 
line with the changes in circumstances and national, regional, and local guidance. 
 
Forums and methods for regular key communication have continued throughout the year with the 
social care independent sector. 
 
Throughout this service during Covid 19 we have ensured multi-professional and clinical support 
via technology to support communication with professionals or safe visits from GP’s, mental health, 
dementia, OT/allied health professions  
 
A Regional Escalation Policy was developed with local arrangements agreed and this was shared 
across the sector. 
 
Daily SitRep across all care homes have been completed 7 days a week to identify potential issues 
or concerns so that issues were actioned quickly. 
 
The local authority invested at a very early point in conferencing facilities to ensure that families 
could have access technology to maintain contact whilst face to face visiting was suspended. Later 
in the year, the Council supported the implementation of outdoor visiting facilities when alert levels 
were reduced. 
 

946 929 944 908 896

0

200

400

600

800

1000

The average length of time (days) adults (aged 65 or over) are 
supported in residential care homes 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Page 160



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 11 of 73 
 

Advice and Assistance for Adults 
All new adult referrals to the 
authority are progressed to Porth 
Gofal Integrated Triage and 
Assessment service when 
advice and assistance is 
required. Porth Gofal is an 
integrated Triage with Hywel 
Dda Health Board. The 
integrated Triage consist of a 
Senior Social Worker, nurse, 
Occupational Therapist and 
Physiotherapist who will 
undertake a holistic 
proportionate assessment with 
a focus on Prevention, early 

intervention reducing escalation of need for long term statutory care and support.  
 

*Any other means relates 
to the other national 
outcomes for assessment 
that are not for a care and 
support plan or no eligible 
needs.  
• There are no care 
and support needs to 
meet. = There were no 
eligible needs to meet 
• Needs can be met 
through the provision of 
information, advice, and 
assistance. = Needs were 
able to be met by any 

other means. 
• Needs, can be met, through the provision of preventative services. = Needs were able to be 

met by any other means. 
• Needs, can be met, wholly or in part by the individuals themselves (with or without the 

assistance of others). = Needs were able to be met by any other means. 
• Other matters can contribute to the achievement of the personal outcomes, or otherwise 

meet the needs. = Needs were able to be met by any other means. 
• Needs can only be met through a care and support plan, or a support plan (needs are 

eligible). = Needs were only able to be met with a care and support plan. 
 
 
 
 

552

3455

688
0

1000

2000

3000

4000

Outcomes of new assessments completed for adults during the 
year

Care and support plan Any other means No eligible needs

478

2796

584552

3455

688

0
500

1000
1500
2000
2500
3000
3500
4000

Outcomes of new assessments completed for adults during the year

2020-21 2021-22

Page 161



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 12 of 73 
 

 
Porth Gofal provides  

• Help information and advice about community health and social care services for adults and 
improve the connection between people and their communities. 

• Encourage a balanced approach to the assessment of need ensuring that citizens are at the 
center of conversations and decisions and the “what matters” conversation takes place. 

• Multidisciplinary triaging of referrals to identify the right professional to respond e.g., 
physiotherapist, Occupational Therapist or Social care workers to ensure right response at 
the right time. 

• Provide more consistent, coordinated assessment for care and support. 
• Improve the flow of information between services, resulting in faster decisions being made 

about people’s needs and support. 
• Reduce hospital admissions. Provide an in-reach service to reduce delayed transfers of care 

and provide timely discharges from hospital. 
• Fast response of simple service e.g., provision of simple equipment to improve the person 

independence and to reduce the risk of   further deterioration. 

With the impact of Covid 19, Porth Gofal has continued to hold Triage and assessments virtually 
with all face-to-face contact with service users risk assessed and infection control measures 
adhered to. 
 
  

Page 162



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 13 of 73 
 

 
Provision of Domiciliary Care 
During the period 2021-03-21 to 2022-03-14 the number of people waiting for domiciliary care 
fluctuated between a low of 19 and a high of 82.  
 
The waiting list was over 70 from August 2021 onwards, following a sharp rise from around 45 that 
month. 
 

 
 
Providers reported that recruiting new staff remained steady, unfortunately they were losing some 
staff at a similar rate. The net staff loss/gain across the providers overall was often a negative 
figure. Staff were noting various reasons for leaving the service including the cost of running a 
vehicle; low pay; not suited to care work (physical/mental health impact), unaffordable childcare 
expenses and the impact of Covid 19. 
 
Ceredigion's financial settlement from Welsh Government was the lowest in Wales at 2% so the 
authority was looking at fee increases from a difficult position whilst recognizing the extra 
pressures on providers. The agreed uplift for 21/22 was 2.2%. Welsh Government also confirmed 
the extra payment per hour for domiciliary care staff would continue until the end of June 21. The 
SSP enhancement scheme and extension was further extended to 30th Sept 21 
 

Page 163



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 14 of 73 
 

In June 2021, several domiciliary care providers attended a workshop facilitated by Lucy 
Richardson, Policy Officer, National Commissioning Board (Welsh Local Government Association) 
looking at a new Business Continuity Plan template. The workshop provided a good opportunity to 
look at the template BCP and how it could support an existing BCP organizations may have or be 
used as a template to create a new BCP. 
 
On 17 March 2021 the Welsh Government’s Minister for Health and Social Services announced a 
one-off payment of £735 per person for NHS and social care staff.  This amount covered the basic 
rate of tax and national insurance contributions and after deductions most people received £500. 
Confirmation followed that the additional £1 per hour for domiciliary care workers which was 
scheduled to end in September, was extended until March 22. 
 
Providers contributed to a Domiciliary Care Providers Workforce Survey in the summer of 2021. The 
information from the Workforce Survey helped take forward the conversation in Ceredigion to work 
with providers to find ways of creating a future framework in Ceredigion. This aimed to answer 
some of the questions that all domiciliary care providers in Wales were struggling with and to find a 
way to remain competitive.  
 
Discussions in the regular providers/CCC meetings and the informal drop in discussions that took 
place over the summer, including all concerns and queries raised, were shared, and discussed at 
highest level including the Chief Executive. Providers were reassured that their voices were being 
heard at the highest levels 
 

 
 
Total Number of people in receipt of domiciliary care: 
The total number of people in receipt of domiciliary care showed a decline in the period between 
March 2021 and March 2022 and remained static in the second half of the year at around 277 

 

Page 164



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 15 of 73 
 

 
  Total hours of home care 

purchased from independent 
sector 

Individuals in 
receipt of 

commissioned 
care 

2017/18 239470.73 551 
2018/19 241300.18 571 
2019/20 234499.18 540 
2020/21 209780.61 487 
2021/22 192088.00 278 

 
2021/22 Total referrals enablement Long Term Closed Started 

Apr-21 50 32 15 18 32 
May-21 34 23 11 12 22 
Jun-21 39 28 11 20 19 
Jul-21 44 33 11 16 28 
Aug-21 48 33 15 17 31 
Sep-21 39 29 10 23 16 
Oct-21 44 19 25 19 25 
Nov-21 44 25 19 9 35 
Dec-21 36 25 11 15 21 
Jan-22 42 33 9 15 27 
Feb-22 47 31 16 22 25 
Mar-22 34 22 12 13 21 
TOTAL 501 333 165 199 302 

 
We continue to enjoy good working relationships with most providers which gives us a good basis 
on which to build, allowing us to work closely with the market through the peaks and troughs. 
Providers continue to feedback that their regular meetings with Ceredigion County Council are 
beneficial and informative. Providers can raise important issue and trends can be identified and 
escalated when necessary, ensuring their voices are heard regionally.  

Page 165



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 16 of 73 
 

 
We have several remote, isolated areas in which it is very difficult to procure care. In order to 
facilitate the release of pressure in certain areas and to aide hospital discharges we during the 
pandemic utilized our in-house Enablement team to support with domiciliary care bridging long 
term cases and discharges. 
 
As of 28/03/2022, 12 commissioned providers were delivering around 3694 hours of care every 
week.  CCC in house enablement were supporting 51 people with long term care needs. 
 
Our domiciliary care providers have generally been able to work together to ‘patch’ their cover to 
parts of the county.  Several of our providers offer care services to Pembrokeshire, 
Carmarthenshire and Powys and can fill the gaps in their rotas across county lines.   
 
Day Services  
The Day Centers were closed during this period and the Centre based services to Disabled Adults 
and Older Adults were suspended. Service Adjustments were made with Porth Cynnal and Porth 
Gofal Teams, Social Care and Health and Safety Risk Assessments were completed and Infection 
Control Measures adhered to ensure safe respite and support arrangements for the most 
vulnerable supplemented with regular virtual and keep in touch calls.  
 
Mental Wellbeing Services  
Risk assessments and Health and Safety Assessments were completed by the Porth Cynnal teams’ 
staff and infection control measures adhered to with continuation of Mental Health Act assessment 
and statutory support for people experiencing mental health difficulties and illness and their carers.  
 
Substance Misuse Service  
Risk assessments and Health and Safety Assessments were completed, and infection control 
measures adhered to by the Porth Cynnal Team staff with continuation of assessment and 
statutory care and support for people experiencing difficulties and dependency with substance 
misuse and their carers.  
 
Extended Support  
Risk assessments and Health and Safety Assessments were completed, and infection control 
measures adhered to by the Porth Cynnal Team staff with continuation of assessment and 
statutory care and support for people with disabilities and their carers.  
 
Planned Care 
Risk assessments and Health and Safety Assessments were completed, and infection control 
measures adhered to by the Porth Cynnal Team staff with continuation of assessment and 
statutory care and support for adults with longer term care and support needs. 
 
Children and Families Services  
During this year, social care teams collaborated closely with schools service and key partner 
agencies to safeguard and support Children and Young people in Ceredigion and continue to meet 
statutory duties within the requirements of regionally and nationally agreed Covid 19 protocols and 
guidance, The significant  impact of Covid 19 on children and families has been evident in terms of 

Page 166



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 17 of 73 
 

the reduced visibility of children, reduced access to community support and an increase in support 
needs for children and young people’s mental and emotional wellbeing .  
 
During the lockdown periods and closure of schools and with localized closures, Porth Cynnal 
services have collaborated closely with the Schools Service and partner agencies to support 
vulnerable children and their families.  
 
Respite and support arrangements have been prioritised for disabled and vulnerable children and 
their families. within the confines of the Covid 19 restrictions  
 
With the easing of restrictions, children were able to access summer of fun activities arranged by 
Porth Cynnal and Porth Cymorth Cynnar services in collaboration with partners whilst adhering to 
Covid 19 safety measures. 
 
The Child Protection Register has fluctuated during 2021/22, the Child Protection Register and is 
at 45 children as at the end of the year. This is an increase on the end of year figure for 
2020/2021 and in part can be attributed to the greater visibility of children towards the latter part 
of the year and due to the increase in safeguarding reports for children at risk. 
 
The number of Ceredigion Looked After Children increased to 100 children by 31 March 2022. The 
increase is being closely monitored and the impact of Covid 19 on the ability to keep children safe 
within their homes and in the community has been evident.  
 
A lack of suitable placements for looked after children has been a consistent theme locally as 
across Wales. In October 2021, Ceredigion Cabinet members agreed the development of a small 
group home for children within the county as part of the regional safe accommodation scheme 
under the Regional Partnership Board. A project Group was established with input from all relevant 
services across the Council to take this important development work forward.  
 
The availability of Early Intervention and Prevention activities have been affected greatly by Covid 
19. Wherever possible support services have been offered virtually.  
  

Page 167



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 18 of 73 
 

Outcome of Assessments  
 

Risk assessments have 
been completed for all 
necessary home or face to 
face visits. Virtual working 
was implemented for multi -
agency meetings with 
support provided for 
families to participate. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
There were 4056 contacts 

made with Porth Gofal/Porth Cynnal for children during 2021-22. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Looked After Children  
 
In 2021-22, we saw a further increase in the number of Looked After Children and a considerable 
decrease in those returned home from care which reflects the increase in complex cases that are 
having to be managed. The Edge of Care service contues to provide a key service with practical 
support for safer parenting. However, this area of work has been impacted by the Pandemic with 
less easy access to support in the community and greater diffiuclty to manage risk of harm in the 
child’s home or in the community. Porth Cynnal teams are actievly implementing the Public Law 
Protocol and whenerever it is safe to do so, chidlren are supprted to remain in or return to the care 
of their parents or extended family members. 
 
 

80

1066 1122

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

Outcomes of new assessments completed for children during the year

Care and support plan Any other means No eligible needs

105

1121 1178

80

1066 1122

0
200
400
600
800

1000
1200
1400

Outcomes of new assessments completed for children during the year

2020-21 2021-22

Page 168



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 19 of 73 
 

 
I  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Child Protection Register (CPR) 
There has been a 12.5% increase in the re-
registration of children on the local 
authority’s Child Protection Register During 
2020-21, a period of which was during the 
COVID 19 pandemic restrictions, children and 
young people did not have a great deal of 
access to support and contact outside of 
their own homes. However, since restrictions 
were more fully lifted in the 2021-22 period, 
and children/young people were returning to 
education and outside agencies had more 
contact with children/young people, the high percentage of re-registrations occurred. In 20-21, 
there were specifically larger families where a number or all the children within one family were re-
registered.  
 

24%

9%

18% 17%

7%
0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

The percentage of looked after children returned home from care 
during the year

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

8%

5%

11%

0%

12.5%

0%

5%

10%

15%

The percentage of re-registrations of children on local 
authority Child Protection Registers (CPR) 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Page 169



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 20 of 73 
 

During 2021-22, a period of 
which was during the COVID 19 
pandemic restrictions, children 
and young people did not have a 
great deal of access to support 
and contact outside of their own 
homes. However, since 
restrictions were more fully lifted 
in the 2021-22 period, and 
children/young people were 
returning to education and 
outside agencies had more 
contact with children/young 
people, the number of children 
on the Child Protection Register 

at the end of the 21-22 was higher than at the end of 2020-2021 but not as high as at the end of 
2019-2020 
 

 
During 2021-22 period it was 
more possible to work with partner 
agencies to undertake actions 
with children  and families who 
had been on the register for a 
longer period, and this has led to 
the decrease in the length of time 
children have been on the CPR in 
relation to the previous year. 
 
 
 
 

 
Health of our Looked after children 
The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (Wales) Regulations 2015 state that the 
responsible authority must ensure that a looked after child is under the care of a registered dental 
practitioner as soon as practicable and in any event not later than 20 working days after the 
placement is made. 

67
74

55

29

45

0

20

40

60

80

Children on the Child Protection Register as at 31st March 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

226

322
274 254 235

0

100

200

300

400

The average length of time for all children who were on the CPR 
during the year 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Page 170



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 21 of 73 
 

 

NICE Clinical Guideline [CG19] – ‘Dental checks: intervals between oral health reviews’ sets out the 
guidance on the frequency of dental checks.  This is based on the individual patient’s risk factors 
for dental disease. Looked After Children are generally considered to be at increased risk of dental 
disease and it is, therefore, expected that most Looked After Children would be put on recall for 
either three months or six months. In 2021-22, we saw an increase in the percentage of children 
seen by a dentist within 3 months of becoming looked after. This an issue that is being considered 
and adressed by Hywel Dda University Health Board as there have been difficulties due to Covid 
and staffing of dental practices. 
 
These regulations also state that responsible authorities must ensure that a looked after child is 
registered with a GP as soon as is practicable and in any event not later than ten working days after 
the placement is made. As you can see from the graph in 2021-22 we met our target of 100% of 
Looked After Children being registered with a GP. 
 

Looked after children – stability of placements 
Research has shown that 
frequent moves can negatively 
affect children. Breakdowns, or 
unplanned moves, are much less 
likely in younger children. In 
comparison, 'teenage’ 
placements have a higher chance 
of breaking down. 
 

19%
16%

4%
7%

16%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

Percentage of looked after children who have experienced 1 or more 
changes of school, during periods of being looked after, which were not 

due to transitional arrangements

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

70%
80%

38%
26% 32%

0%

50%

100%

The percentage of children seen by a registered 
dentist within 3 months of becoming looked after 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

100% 100% 98% 100% 100%

0%

50%

100%

The percentage of children looked after at 31 March who 
were registered with a GP within 10 working days of the 

start of their placement

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Page 171



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 22 of 73 
 

It is not fully understood whether placement moves themselves produce poor outcomes for 
children or whether this is due to children’s previous experiences and difficulties. There are two 
main measures which try to illustrate placement stability. The first looks at the number of times a 
child has had to change school (not including where a child moves from primary to secondary 
school) and the second looks at how many times a child has had more than two changes of 

placement. These measures are 
long-standing and can give an 
insight into the long-term 
performance of a service. The 
downside of both measures is 
that they are particularly 
susceptible to change due to the 
low numbers of children 
included in them.  The increase 
evidenced in 2020-21 and the 
further increase 2021-22 
regarding chldren having 3 or 
more placement moves is what 
we believe to be a consequence 
of Covid and the difficulty of 
trying to place the children with 

different carers when the children have complex needs and due to restrictions only being able to 
offer limited/online support as well as the carers having the children at home even on school days. 
With regards to the low percentage of children having 1 or more changes of school as a service we 
continue to work closely with our education colleagues and try to ensure that a school move is only 
ever considered when appropiate for the child i.e. moving to their local school having stabilised in 
placement, or where we have been unable to succesfully identify a placement where it is 
manageable to support the child contiuing to attned their school. However the low measure taking 
into consideration the increase in the number of Looked After Children is again illustrative of the 
success of the work being undertaken within our Planned Care Service. 
 
  

6%

3%

9% 9%

12%

0%
2%
4%
6%
8%

10%
12%
14%

The percentage of looked after children on 31 March who have had 
three or more placements during the year 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Page 172



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 23 of 73 
 

Young People Leaving Care 
 
Leaving care is a term used to reference a group of children who are between 16 and 18 yrs. old 
and have previously been in care but are no longer legally “looked after” by the Local Authority.  
When children leave care, we still have a duty to support these people until the age of 21, or 25 if 
they are in full time education or have a disability. 
 
For this cohort of young people Covid has been a particularly difficult period with challenges for 
some with loosing employment and accommodation and increased isolation during lockdown. It is 
disappointing to see a drop in the percentage of young people within 12 months of becoming care 
leavers who are in employment education or training and a significant drop in those accessing 
some form of education/employment who have accessed the leaving care service for 24 months. 
The percentage of young people presenting as homeless in 2021-22 is also of concern. The Local 
Authority continue to work on their projects and strategies to address the need for appropriate 
accommodation for care leavers and work closely with registered social landlords and external 
agencies in our area to look at ways of addressing the situation. The Local Authority will continue to 
prioritise this issue and raise its profile accordingly. The Personal Advisers continued to support 
Care Leavers well during this difficult period.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

57%
50%

71%

50%
40%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

The percentage of all care leavers who are in education, training 
or employment at 12 months after leaving care 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

50%
57%

50%

71%

50%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

The percentage of all care leavers who are in 
education, training or employment at 24 months after 

leaving care 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

14%
18%

23%
19% 20%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

The percentage of care leavers who have experienced 
homelessness during the year

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Page 173



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 24 of 73 
 

Operation Encompass 
 

 

 
Operational Encompass became live in Ceredigion in November 2019.  It has been working 
consistently well since its launch, with sharing of information daily with Schools (or as notifications 
are received).  There have been a few notifications received from time to time regarding families 
from neighboring authorities on the border of Ceredigion, however this information is also 
forwarded accordingly.  Since lockdown, the sharing of information changed from telephone calls to 
emails, and the Information Sharing Protocol was then amended to accommodate this.  It is noted 
however that the full email notification is not shared with schools in its entirety, each report is 
edited to include only the victim/alleged offender details.  Children details, whether they were 
present, time/date and summary of the incident.  Schools are fully briefed on the support services 
available for children who have been exposed to incidents either within their homes, or within their 
own relationships, these include Spectrum (Hafan Cymru) and West Wales Domestic Abuse Service.  
To ensure that Schools remain fully sighted on their pupil’s safety and wellbeing, the School’s 
Safeguarding Service continue to share notifications also throughout the School holidays, therefore 
is not limited to term time only.  The figures within the above table reflect the number of referrals 
received, which remained high through much of 2021 as we continued to adjust to Covid 
restrictions.  Summer 2022 was the first time in over 2 years that we had almost no restrictions 
and by the end of those holidays and into the new term of September 2022, there has been a 
significant increase in referrals 
  

Page 174



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 25 of 73 
 

3. How Are People Shaping Our Services?  
Ceredigion County Council, Social Care Services ordinarily engages with citizens and stakeholders 
through various methods. We take “call back” type feedback within Clic and Porth Gofal services. 
We ordinarily engage with various boards and groups, for example, Safe Stars Junior Safeguarding 
Board, LAC Group, Disability Forum, 50+ Forum, Mental Health Transformation Boards, where we 
share future and promote feedback regarding the redesign of service delivery. We also learn from 
CIW inspections, Welsh Audit Office inspections and Child and Adult Practice Reviews as they occur.  
We meet with Town and Community Councils to share our plans for future developments and to 
take feedback on these plans 
 
During 2021-2022 with the impact of Covid 19 face to face and other routine engagement 
exercises with service users have been restricted.  
 
Nonetheless, feedback from the public in receipt of support services has been regularly collated 
and considered with key groups such as Safe Stars creating a whole programme of engagement 
and support for children and young people online.  
 
Summary of Examples of ensuring service user voice and control during 2021-2022. 
 

• Roll out of person - centred practice in assessment, care planning and reviewing; use of 
Signs of Safety and Well-being, work on developing forms and pathways informed 
by practitioners and managers 

• Flexible use of direct payments; in lieu of residential care and day care 
• Use of technology to ensure virtual service user feedback  
• Respite questionnaire to inform support during Covid 19 for disabled children and families   
• Development of feedback questionnaire for those involved with adult safeguarding   
• School counselling service; listening to children's views re service provision 
• LAC reviews, Child Protection Conferences, Care and Support Reviews held virtually 
• Use of commissioned virtual and face to face advocacy services for children and adults 
• All recipients of Domiciliary care/Enablement given opportunity to stand down/reduce 

provision to limit risk 
• Learning from outbreaks within specific areas has enabled policies and procedures to be 

reviewed and revised (specifically in care homes i.e., Use of PPE, safe zones, IPC etc) 
• Transformation programme 1 – Connect programme roll out 
• Youth Satisfaction Survey and Sessional feedback forms 
• Feedback from children’s play and holiday activities  
• Feedback from Ceredigion Youth Council 

 
  

Page 175



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 26 of 73 
 

Learning Disability Strategy 2018-2023 and Improvement Action 
Plan 
Ceredigion is an active participant in the Regional Lives Improvement Group (RLIP).  This group 
ordinarily alternates bi-monthly between a business meeting and a meeting led and chaired by the 
Dream Team.  The Dream Team is a group of service users, supported by Pembrokeshire Peoples 
First, who actively support the regional group, particularly with use of Integrated Care Funding. 
 
Services for Disabled Children, Prevention and Transition were inspected by CIW in the 4th quarter 
of 2019-2020.  The Action Plan created in response to issues raised has been implemented albeit 
that progress on certain aspects has been hindered by Covid 19 and adjustments made.  
 
Progress on the Action plan 
 
1.1  Ensure that children and their families can be clear about what support they can access, 

how and when and where. 
• Service specification and revised working agreement with Health has been implemented  
• Client strategy has been drafted setting out levels of service regarding offer of support 
• Staffing structure for the TAW has been implemented and through age team established  

 
1.2 Equip and support staff to complete and record good quality assessments and care plans 

that meet all statutory requirements including the child’s communication needs 
• Staff have completed outcome and assessment focused training and Covid 10 risk 

assessment has been implemented 
• Monthly staff supervision is in place to quality assure live cases. 
• Use of 1-page profiles for children on their WCCIS record. 
• Mapping of staff’s communication skills has been completed and training needs has 

been identified. Some staff can use Makaton where needed 
 
1.2 Equip and support staff to identify assess and provide support when required for carers in 

accordance with statutory requirements.  
• Staff identify carers and offer carers support needs assessment  
• Staff training re carers assessments has been completed. 
• Staff will record reason for refusal of carers assessment if this is the case. 
• The team work closely with the Through age carers and community support team to sign 

post carers in the right direction. 
 

2.1 Establish the Disability Register in compliance with SSWBA requirements and use it to 
inform future service development and strategic commissioning. 
• Register is now live and on Ceredigion County Council web site for families to enter their 

data. 
• This will be reviewed on a quarterly basis to identify and inform future service 

developments and demands.  
 
 
 

Page 176



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 27 of 73 
 

2.2 Improved service delivery and range of support services available for disabled children and 
their families in accordance with their needs. 
• Multi agency reviews held with families to identify needs using virtual means due to 

Covid 19 
• Local complex needs panel will discuss care and support packages and joint 

commissioning monthly. 
• Service requests forms are completed for each new service such and Direct payments 

are now supported in house 
• Camu Mlaen will consider all year 9 students who might be eligible for the service and 

work with them and their families to ensure a smooth transition into the scheme when 
deemed appropriate to meeting their educational need post 18 

• DASH have been provided with the contract to offer respite weekends to some of the 
young people identified as in need of this provision. Respite provision has been affected 
by Covid 19 restrictions. 

• Ceredigion will spot purchase further respite opportunities from DASH once the 
contracted amount of weekends purchased has come to an end. 

• We have employed 2 project workers in the team to enable them to undertake direct 
work and offer further hands-on support to individuals and families according to their 
assessed needs. 

• Ceredigion are in talks with neighboring authority about spot purchasing respite 
provision from them. 

 
2.3 The Local Authority and the Health Board work effectively together in the provision of 

support and review and develop existing commissioning arrangements for disabled children 
and their families. 
• Service specification is implemented. 
• Regional action plan and regional children’s outcomes group has recently been 

established. 
• Weekly tracking meeting are held between Extended Support and health colleagues to 

discuss cases and identify the most suitable person to work with the young person. 
 

2.4 Children and young people can receive greater support for independence and enhance 
outcomes through the use of assistive technology 
• RIF funding has been agreed to develop the use of assistive technology 

 
3.1 Develop an effective quality assurance framework, underpinned by effective managerial 

oversight of its core functions and processes. 
• SOS template and methods are being used in staff supervision. 
• QA framework to be developed as an audit tool for managers to undertake random 

audit checks on cases. 
• Managers have had training on supervision skills. 
• IPC Programme of support for managers in Extended Support. 

 
 

Page 177



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 28 of 73 
 

Adverse Childhood Experiences 
Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) are traumatic events 
that affect children. These could happen whilst growing up, 
being abused, or living in a household affected by domestic 
violence, substance misuse, mental illness, or criminal 
problems.  Children who suffer ACEs are more likely to develop 
a range of chronic diseases and suffer with poorer mental 
well-being. 
 

In the year 2020-2021 training 
opportunities were offered to staff to 
ensure that we, in Ceredigion, were 
able to provide earlier interventions 
and help our professional care for 
and support children, young people 
and their families.  This was a follow-
on to the 1829 frontline staff who 
were made Ace aware the previous 
year following a training needs 
analysis across services. 
 
 
 
 
Even though COVID-19 had a huge 
impact on training due to restrictions 

many staff were trained in ACEs to develop their understanding of the impact of trauma and the 
effects on children and young people.  Team Teach training (positive behaviour management) was 
done by many staff as was the STAR programme which covers domestic abuse and respectful 
relationships.  Drawing and Talking therapy training was provided for 13 members of staff to be 
able to support children, young people and adults who may be suffering from trauma or poor 
mental health. 
 
Self-Harm and Suicide Awareness was provided due to the nature of referrals being sent in for 
support for children and young people both in schools and the community. 
 
Other courses included ‘Creative Counselling’, Trauma Recovery Model, (TRM was developed in a 
response to the complex needs of children and young people with multiple adverse childhood 
experiences.) 
 
During 2021-2022, new members of staff are required to attend ACEs awareness sessions when 
they are available through the county’s Learning and Development team.  Team Teach training was 
delivered to a total of 326 staff within Ceredigion including 246 school-based staff and the other 
80 including Support and Prevention staff and staff that have been supporting vulnerable young 
people and children.   
 

Page 178



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 29 of 73 
 

A further 11 members of the Support and Prevention staff team received Trauma Recover Model 
training in March continuing with the county’s commitment to ensure that staff are ACE aware and 
can respond to the complex needs of those children and young people. 
 
Planned training for May 2022 will be provided by Wales Restorative Approaches Partnership 
(WRAP) for Support and Prevention staff along with the Deputy Head Teacher of one primary and 
one secondary school in the county as part of a pilot scheme with a view to rolling out WRAP 
training in the coming year. There are 36 members of staff which will receive this training.  
 
Ceredigion Safe Stars Children and Young People Safeguarding 
Group facilitated by TGP  
 
The Junior Safeguarding Board for Ceredigion created a number of simple and healthy recipes for 
children and young people. They were distributed as part of the Safe Stars Health and Wellbeing 
Packs for children and young people living in Ceredigion, to support young people, particularly 
those who may be experiencing challenges at home, by equipping them with information to support 
their wellbeing and health. Also included within the Health and Wellbeing Packs, as well as being 
delivered to Ceredigion young people, is the Safe Stars calendar, which they have developed once 
again for 2022. The calendar includes dates of key awareness days relevant to young people, on 
themes including mental health and exploitation, against the backdrop of picturesque views of 
Ceredigion taken during the young people’s time spent getting into nature during lockdown.  
 
As well as utilizing Zoom to keep in touch on a regular basis, the Safe Stars have also made use of 
social media to increase communication this year, both by sharing frequent updates on current 
projects on Facebook and Instagram, and by utilizing a “group chat” to stay in touch with one 
another.  
 
Ceredigion Safe Stars have experienced similar challenges to the regional Board in terms of 
recruitment, with the departure of some existing members due to progressing onto new 
opportunities and moving out of county leading to a reduced membership compared to previous 
years. Recruitment will be a focus locally and regionally in the coming year to attempt to bring in 
new young people with a passion for safeguarding and promoting the voice of children and young 
people 
 
See reports of activity with children and young people to promote safeguarding and well-being 
during 2021: 
 
Ceredigion Safe Stars Project Update « TGP Cymru 
 
We are also very proud that Ceredigion ‘Sêr Saff’ and Ceredigion Youth Service contributed to the 
Regional Junior Safeguarding Board CADW’s work in 2021-22.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 179

https://www.tgpcymru.org.uk/ceredigion-safe-stars-project-update/


Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 30 of 73 
 

National Safeguarding Week November 2021  
 
Ceredigion’s Operational Group collaborated with the Regional Safeguarding Board Business Unit 
to deliver a programme of activities to support National Safeguarding Week. Events and 
communications during the week were centered on themes of particular significance during the 
pandemic, for example, domestic abuse, exploitation, suicide and self-harm and self-neglect. 
Several virtual seminars and workshops took place with attendance form Ceredigion officers 
throughout the week exploring these topics, complemented by a social media and website 
campaign. 
 
Ceredigion County Council, focused on promoting awareness about the safety and wellbeing of 
older people at risk of online crime, scams or experiencing abuse. Using our social media outlets, 
we provided a wide range of easy-to-understand guidance and information relating to online safety, 
as well as useful tips and updates on the latest scams to look out for and information about 
specialist helplines. 

Carer Support and Engagement  
 
During 2021-2 as part of the transformation towards the Through Age and Wellbeing model, two 
small teams, the Carers Unit and Porth y Gymuned merged to become the Carers and Community 
Support Team.  
 
Working in the presence of COVID, for a second year, continued to present us with challenges. We 
have been committed to delivering the message of the importance of the vaccination programme 
to the community, ensuring that unpaid carers knew when they could expect their vaccinations and 
boosters and that those who are vulnerable knew where, 
when, and how to get theirs. 
 
One of the biggest challenges for unpaid carers is accessing long term replacement care to enable 
them to have a break from their caring role. Care agency staff vacancies and staff isolating due to 
Covid made it difficult for replacement services to be commissioned for carers. Some of the 
requests from commissioning were going out to tender without an agency having capacity to take 
on a new client. To help alleviate this, we were able to access winter pressures funding to extend 
the short-term replacement care service that Gofalwyr Ceredigion Carers offered, from 6 weeks to 
12 weeks. This allowed more time to source long term services. Towards the end of the year the 
Community Connectors were able to undertake doorstep visits and be involved in outdoor events. 
This has had a positive impact on the team and our clients, allowing us to connect within our 
communities and showing us that there is light at the end of the tunnel. We are looking forward to 
being back out, in person, across Ceredigion in 2022/23. 
 
We have received feedback from a great many carers regarding our activities which have included 
the Ceredigion Carers Fund, Information provision, Welsh afternoon tea, 'Break in a Box', Young 
carer information, The Carers Magazine, Training and Learning sessions, Events and Activities. The 
feedback was used to evidence positive outcomes from the Carers Fund, shape the development of 
staff carer newsletters and events and inform the development of the Carer Card benefits 
 
Young carers feature in all our work, however, due to their age, an alternative approach to the 
services we provide is required to ensure that their specific needs are met. This year, we 

Page 180



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 31 of 73 
 

coordinated the recommissioning of the young carers service in Ceredigion. To do this, we 
consulted with young carers about what support they felt they needed, where they wanted it, and 
how and where they wanted to access it. Working with key partners within the local authority, 
health services, and the third sector, we designed a new service specification which successfully 
went out to tender in November 2021. The new service is scheduled to commence on 1 April 2022, 
with the old and new providers working in partnership to ensure a seamless hand over. Action for 
Children, who were the outgoing commissioned service, worked professionally with the new service 
to ensure that the young carers continued to receive the best possible service during this time. We 
would like to thank all the staff at Action for Children for their commitment and hard work with 
young carers in Ceredigion over the past few years. 
 
The new young carer service provider is Gofalwyr Ceredigion Carers, who currently provide support 
for adult carers in the county. We look forward to seeing how they will develop our joint vision of a 
through age service over the next two years. 
 
We have also reached out to young carers to review the outdated ‘Who cares’ young 
carer leaflet. Using ICF money, we asked our partners to develop a new regional information 
booklet. The new material will be distributed across the region as a free resource for young carers. 
 
A major highlight of the year is that The Carers and Community Support Team worked alongside 
Arad Goch, Ceredigion’s Youth Service and Action for Children to support a group of young carers 
from Ceredigion Young Carers Service to create a short film that educates and raises awareness of 
what it means to be a young carer. The young carers worked with Arad Goch to create a story and 
script, and filmed scenes in and around Aberystwyth, before editing the footage to create a short 
film. The film was produced by young carers under the guidance of local theatre company, Arad 
Goch. The project was also supported by local drama pupils, who took part in the production as 
young actors. 
 
Community Connectors 
 
During 2021/22, 971 enquiries were logged through Clic, via email, mail, telephone, and the 
Ceredigion website. 
 
468 individuals and community groups were signposted and referred to Council services, Health 
services and 3rd sector organisations. 
 
The top 5 support gaps identified were;  
 

• Transport 
• Befriending 
• Sitting services 
• Meals at home 
• Handyperson 

 
Throughout 2021/22 the team continued to keep the Covid community resources up to date, giving 
us the ability to easily identify gaps in service and when there was a particular need for action to be 
taken to fill those gaps. A surge in requests for information on accessing meals on wheels, from 

Page 181



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 32 of 73 
 

clients and professionals, illustrated that people in particular areas of the county did not have 
access to this service. Following a mapping exercise, carried out by the team, several geographical 
areas were identified as a priority and we decided to contact local businesses and enterprises to 
ask if they would be interested in the opportunity to develop a service to meet the need of the local 
community. 
 
Ceredigion Family Support and Early Help Services 
Ceredigion Parenting and Family Support Team –Team Around the Family (TAF), Family Workers 
(previously Tim Teulu) & Penparcau Family Centre provide early help to the most vulnerable 
families & children to prevent problems occurring or to intervene early before they escalate. These 
services work with the whole family network rather than focussing on one individual. TAF work with 
the family to identify and address the issues by developing and strengthening their connections, 
relationships, and skills to build resilience and support their wellbeing. 
. 
Team Around the Family 
In 2021-22 Team Around Family (TAF) completed 180 JAFF assessments, of which 14 related to 
children with a specific additional learning requirement or disability.  
 
Annually, around 35% (approx.63) of the requests are re-referrals (often years later) when families 
are reaching a different life stage and considered TAF effective in the previous instances and 
request support once again.  
 
31 of the referrals received were noted to have concerns with regards to Substance Misuse with a 
proportion of these also displaying other factors that would contribute to Adverse Childhood 
Experiences.  
 
There have been significant improvements in the number of requests being processed within five 
working days which reflects the planning and changes that have been implemented in the last year. 
Allocation meetings are now held on a weekly basis where referrals are discussed and allocated to 
the appropriate worker within the meeting.  
 
Ceredigion Team Around the Family are now part of the Parenting and Family Support wider team 
with the integration happening in late 2021. Stakeholder information meetings have been held to 
inform of these changes. A task and finish working group has also been established to look at 
current documentation and resources and are working their way through streamlining information 
with the new structure.  
 
Family Support 
Family Support is delivered by a small cohort of family support workers who assist families to make 
the identified changes with a focus on parenting and behaviour change.  
 
This year our Family Support workers (non-Flying Start) received 218 referrals. Of those, only 10 
were signposted to different avenues of support. 43 declined support or the invite to attend a 
parenting programme.  
 
45% of the families who received intervention reported an increase in their wellbeing and 36% 
reported an increase in community resilience.  

Page 182



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 33 of 73 
 

 
The team continues to adapt resources and interventions for virtual delivery, however since Covid 
restrictions have ended, courses are also being facilitated in person.  Courses and workshops that 
are being delivered are, Blame It on The Brain; Family Links; One-to-one Parenting Support Stori a 
Sbri sessions to young parents/parents of toddlers, and ASC Programme.  
 
In Spring 2022 staff attended SPACE Training, which is a programme designed to support parents 
and children who have experienced trauma. Family workers are hoping to facilitate the programme 
in Winter 2022.  
 
During 2021/2022 family workers have successfully developed and facilitated an Autistic 
Spectrum Condition (ASC) Programme. The programme is aimed at parents of children and young 
people who are in the pre-diagnosis period and on the Neuro Development Team waiting list for an 
ASC assessment.  
 
The programme is proving to be successful, with many external agencies attending as guest 
speakers. These include Speech Therapists, Bowel and Bladder specialists and Occupational 
Therapists.  
 
Family Workers continue to support families on a one-to-one basis and create a tailor-made 
programme of support. There are plans to hold drop-in sessions in the Family Centre for families to 
help with challenging behaviour, hardship, and create a safe space for them to meet other parents 
in similar situations. 
 
Penparcau Family Centre 
Penparcau Family Centre has not been used to its full potential due to lockdown and services being 
delivered virtually. However, Stori and Sbri sessions have been taking place there since Summer 
2022. The Family Centre has been used for contact sessions for the LAC team. As well as one-to-
one tutoring sessions.  
 
As mentioned previously there are plans to facilitate drop-in sessions in the centre as well as 
facilitating the SPACE Programme in Winter 2022.  
 
Ceredigion Support and Prevention Services 
The Support and Prevention Service is made up of multi-disciplined teams, with the overall aim of 
providing child, youth, and family-led approaches to enable children, young people, families, and 
wider communities to be empowered, to achieve, to develop personally, emotionally, socially and 
be the best that they can be. The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) 
and Signs of Safety underpin everything that we do. Our teams provide universal and focussed 
support that include: 
 

• Youth Work and Engagement; Youth work in schools, education progression, accredited 
learning, and participation 

 
School based Youth Workers engage with young people aged 11 – 18 both in universal and 
focussed contexts. Youth Workers strive to build and maintain meaningful relationships with all 

Page 183



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 34 of 73 
 

school pupils; that include referred pupils who are deemed at risk of disengagement from 
mainstream education, due to one or a host of reasons. 
 
Youth Workers form relationships based on voluntary engagement. Through participation with 
individuals, Youth Workers can design a tailored plan that offer support in the form of personal, 
social, emotional, and behavioural needs of the individual. This can be delivered both within and 
outside the school environment and be both targeted and universal. 
 

• Support and Attainment; Primary/ secondary mentoring, transition, emotional wellbeing, 
nurture, and outreach 

 
The Children and Young People’s Skills (CYP) Mentors support children and young people who may 
show challenging behaviour because of their social and emotional experiences. Mentors provide 
support for children and young people in Primary and Secondary Schools, and other education 
settings. 
 
Mentors promote a holistic and strengths-based approach to better understand the deeper reasons 
as to why children are finding their current environment challenging in both focussed one-to-one 
and small group-based settings. This is to help manage their emotions, channelling their energy 
positively by focussing on attainment, both educationally and personally. 
 

• Community Youth Work and Prevention; 16-24 support, community outreach, youth centres, 
focussed and universal provisions 

 
Our Community Youth Work and Prevention team provide targeted and universal interventions with 
the aim of tackling and alleviating potential risk factors or underlying issues such as family, social, 
individual, educational, or mental and emotional health related issues, that may arise that put 
them at an increased risk of offending and re-offending, but also preventing them from needing 
further statutory intervention such as professional mental health services, further medical 
intervention and even housing support as an example. 
Provisions range from outreach, mobile and detached activities, youth centres and clubs, and 
collaborative targeted programmes and projects. 
 

• Support Pathways; Through-age interventions, allocations, screening, quality assurance, 
data and performance analysis, resource support 

 
The Support Pathways team is the gateway for all referrals to Porth Cymorth Cynnar and its services 
whether they are received from Clic or triaged by Porth Gofal. The team provides direct support to 
each service within Porth Cymorth Cynnar to identify, allocate, monitor, and evaluate interventions 
or support. 
 
The team supports the ‘step up and step down’ protocols by working with Porth Cynnal and Porth 
Gofal to ensure timely and effective support for children/young people, adults and for 
families/carers. 
 
The team also helps oversee the data and quality assurance processes of Porth Cymorth Cynnar 
services, ensuring that we can meet the needs of citizens as efficiently and effectively as possible. 
Service snapshot 2021/22: 
 520 children and young people were open to support  

Page 184



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 35 of 73 
 

 74% of cases were identified as ‘vulnerable’, 15% ‘complex’ and 10% ‘universal’ 
 An average of 160 pupils received weekly support via school-based youth worker 
 Skills’ Mentors supported an average of 150 pupils each week  
 15 primary-aged pupils received weekly 1:1 support with a further 34 accessing weekly 

community-based nurture programmes  
 100 cases closed to Mentor support due to positive outcome i.e., reintegration, signposting  
 170 pupils identified as at risk of disengagement/ exclusion engaged in weekly targeted 

projects such as Pathways, Phoenix Course, Tonic Surf etc. 
 68 pupils have been escalated to PCC Strategic Panel for Step-up/ statutory service 

escalation due to complexity 
 30 vulnerable pupils at risk of statutory intervention were monitored weekly   
 An average 75 children and young people accessed weekly universal and extra-curricular 

activities (after-school clubs, youth clubs and community-based programmes) 
 228 children and young people accessed holiday activity programmes  
 105 young people aged 16-18 and a further 76 aged 18-25 referred to community youth 

work team due to factors affecting their route into education, employment, and training 
(EET) such as substance misuse, mental health, and youth homelessness. 90 organized 
workshops have been delivered with 66 young people successfully entering EET with 48 
young people reporting an increase in self-efficacy and confidence.  

 7 additional members of staff have joined the service. 90% retention rate.  
 Signs of Safety practice implemented in referrals, allocations, and monitoring processes. 
 90% trained in Trauma Recovery Model, Team Teach level 2 and Restorative Approaches 

 
Care Inspectorate Wales Activity 
CIW inspectors completed a Health Assurance Inspection in Ceredigion from May 10th - May 14th   
2021.  They focused on two key lines of enquiry and reported their findings in line with the four 
themes of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014; People - Voice and Control, 
Prevention, Partnerships and Integration, Safety and Well-being. 
 
Lines of Enquiry: 
 

• How has Ceredigion supported those in need of care and support and carers during the 
pandemic  

 
• How has Ceredigion prevented the need for children to come into local authority care and 

returned children home when safe to do so. 
 
The Inspectors reviewed case files of adults and children and tracked in detail a selection of cases. 
In addition, they spoke with providers, care experienced young people, care leavers, unpaid carers, 
foster carers, focus groups of Practitioners, Team Managers, Corporate Leads, IRO’s and Managers 
for Looked After Children and Fostering Services. 
 
From the Inspection they reported as follows; 
 
We found that people’s voices were heard, their choices respected, and people routinely achieved self-
identified outcomes. There was evidence in most case records of the “active offer” of Welsh language 
being made. Most practitioners who responded to our survey felt supported by colleagues and 

Page 185



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 36 of 73 
 

managers and regarded their workload as manageable. During the Assurance Check we found staff 
morale to be good and most practitioners were positive about their experience of working for the local 
authority. 
 
Senior leaders demonstrate a good understanding of the benefits of adopting a preventative approach 
and are able to convey the rationale for their strategic direction and ambition verbally and through 
strategic documentation. They have worked hard to re-design the service and developed a through age 
and wellbeing operating model with the focus on ensuring people receive the right help at the right time 
and in the right place. Prevention or delaying the development of care and support is closely aligned in 
Ceredigion to other local authority responsibilities including housing, leisure, and education.  
 
In terms of partnership and integration, in most of the cases reviewed we saw evidence of practitioners 
developing professional working relationships with people built upon co-operation and shared 
understanding of what matters. People are supported to identify what matters to them and how they 
might achieve their personal well-being outcomes. 
 
In terms of promoting safety and well-being, the people we spoke with told us that the local authority 
had maintained safe contact with them throughout the pandemic. Where needed, direct safe face-to-
face contact has continued, subject to a covid risk assessment, and Public Health Guidance. We saw 
examples of practitioners and providers working creatively as means of delivering their professional 
responsibilities. The quality of assessments, care and support plans and recordings seen were varied. 
Some of the documentation reviewed did not always reflect the positive work being undertaken. We 
saw some examples where a more explicit focus on strengths would have been beneficial in providing a 
holistic view of the person and their individual circumstances. 
 
Overall, CIW identified several strengths and some areas for improvement and the progress of these 
areas have been discussed in CIW’s performance evaluation review meetings with the Director and the 
Corporate Lead Officers. 
 

Complaints and Compliments 

Introduction 
This report will refer specifically to all Social Services complaints and compliments received during 
2021 – 2022.  However, this data was included within the Council’s Annual Compliments, 
Complaints and Freedom of Information Report for 2021 – 2022, which was accompanied by the 
Annual Letter from the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) relating to the same 
reporting period.  The aforementioned documents were presented to the following committees 
during 2022 (provided as hyperlinks to the relevant pages on the Council’s website, should further 
information be required): 
 

• Governance and Audit Committee 27-09-22 
• Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 03-10-22 
• Cabinet 01-11-22 
• Council – 24-11-2022 – papers not published at the time of writing 

 
The Council fully implemented the Social Services Complaints Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 
and the Representations Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014, and this document is the guidance 
that underpins the Council’s own Social Services Complaints Policy.  The Policy was approved by 
the Council’s Cabinet committee on 17th March 2020 and sets out the requirements placed upon 

Page 186

https://council.ceredigion.gov.uk/documents/g326/Public%20reports%20pack%2027th-Sep-2022%2014.00%20Governance%20and%20Audit%20Committee.pdf?T=10&LLL=0
https://council.ceredigion.gov.uk/documents/g321/Public%20reports%20pack%2003rd-Oct-2022%2010.00%20Corporate%20Resources%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=10&LLL=0
https://council.ceredigion.gov.uk/documents/g289/Public%20reports%20pack%2001st-Nov-2022%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 37 of 73 
 

staff within the Porth Cynnal and Porth Gofal Services, and the Council’s Complaints and FOI Team.  
This promotes accountability and ensures that effective arrangements are in place deal with 
complaints in accordance with the Council’s statutory duties, as well as ensuring the process is 
accessible, fair, and transparent.   
 
Social Services Complaints Activity 
Every effort will be made to resolve a complaint at the earliest available opportunity, and, in most 
cases, this is successful, and the matter is recorded as an ‘enquiry/concern’.  In the event that the 
matter cannot be resolved at an early stage, or if the issues being raised are of a serious or 
complex nature, concerns will be addressed in accordance with the formal complaint’s procedures 
referred to above.   
 
The Council operates a two-stage complaints process and the Complaints and FOI Team liaise with 
the relevant Corporate Managers to ensure the appropriate level of accountability is held and 
correct process is followed at each stage. 
 
During 2021-2022 62 enquiries/concerns were received and the majority of these were resolved 
satisfactorily without needing to be progressed under the complaint’s procedures.   
 
The data provided relates to all complaints that were addressed under Stage 1 and Stage 2 during 
the reporting year.  Stage 2 is the final stage under the Council’s own complaints procedure; 
however, complainants have the right to refer their concerns to the Public Services Ombudsman for 
Wales (PSOW) if they remain dissatisfied after Stage 2.   
 
It must be noted that the information provided relates only to complaints investigated in 
accordance with either the Social Services Complaints Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 or the 
Representations Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014.  Some complaints regarding both Porth 
Cynnal and Porth Gofal Services,   

 
Total number of complaints received in 2021 – 2022 
Service Area Stage 1 Stage 2 Total 
Porth Cynnal 9 12 21 
Porth Gofal 1 0 1 
  10 12 22 

 
A total of 22 complaints were received in relation to Social Care Services in 2021-2022.  In 
comparison, 24 complaints were received across Social Services in 2020-2021, which demonstrates 
a slight decrease in the number of complaints received during this reporting period.   
 
Social Services staff continue to work closely with the Complaints and FOI Team by adopting an 
early-resolution approach to incoming concerns and queries, which is proving to be an effective 
strategy.  This can be demonstrated when comparing the number of enquiries/concerns against 
the number of cases which required consideration under the formal complaint’s procedure (i.e., 
64% of all contacts received by the Complaints and FOI Team in relation to Porth Cynnal or Porth 
Gofal were closed without escalation). 
 
Comparative data 

Page 187



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 38 of 73 
 

As referred to in the Introduction, the Complaints and FOI recording systems were only aligned with 
the service structures implemented as part of the Council’s Through-Age and Wellbeing Strategy at 
the start of 2020.  It is therefore only possible to make a direct comparison between the 
performances of the Porth Cynnal and Porth Gofal Services, in relation to complaints activity, for 
the years 2020-2021 and 2021-2022.   
 
Consequently, the data included in previous reports compiled for the Statutory Director of Social 
Services, is provided below.  A visual representation of the complaint’s activity for the current 
service structures (i.e., for 2020-2021 and 2021-2022) is also provided.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Complaint Outcomes by Service 
A breakdown of the number of complaints and their outcomes is provided below, in accordance 
with the relevant areas: 
 

16
7

15

1
8

2

14
5

13
4

16

0

13

1

10

1

4

3

2

6

0

10

20

30

40

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2

Social Services Complaints 2015 - 2020

Adults

Children

2019-20202015-2016 2016-2017 2017-2018 2018-2019

0
5

10
15
20

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2

2020-2021 2021-2022

9
4

9 12

9

2

1

Porth Cynnal and Porth Gofal Complaints 2020 - 2022

Porth Cynnal Porth Gofal

Page 188



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 39 of 73 
 

 

Porth Cynnal Not Upheld Upheld 
(whole or in 
part) 

Ongoing / 
Suspended 

Planned Care (Adults) (3) 2  1 
Planned Care (Children) (3) 2  1 
Safeguarding (4) 5  2 
Extended Support (9) 5 4  
Total 14 4 3 

 
 

Porth Gofal Not Upheld Upheld 
(whole or in 
part) 

Ongoing / 
Suspended 

Porth Gofal Triage (1)   1 
Total   1 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Stage 1 Timescales 
Of the 10 complaints which were 
considered under Stage 1;  
3 were responded to within the 
prescribed timescales (i.e. 15 
working days) and the remaining 7 
cases, exceeded these. 

Stage 2 Timescales 
11 out of the 12 complaints 

investigated under Stage 2 of the 
Social Services complaints 
procedure took longer than 

prescribed timescale (i.e. within 
25-working-days of the complaint 

having been agreed by all parties). 
However, all cases were 

investigated independently, as 
stipulated by the statutory 
guidance and each formal 

response was issued at the 
earliest possible opportunity. 

Within 
Timescales

30%

Exceeded 
Timescales

70%

Page 189



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 40 of 73 
 

Analysis 
The number of complaints considered under the statutory Social Services complaints procedure 
during this reporting period (2021-2022) were not dissimilar to the levels of activity observed 
during the previous year.  However, there was an increase in the number of complaints considered 
under Stage 2 in 2021-2022.   
 
Response times at both stages of the complaints process also remained consistent with the 
previous year, though it is acknowledged that all but one complaint investigated under Stage 2 
during this period were responded to outside of the stipulated timescale.  This, in itself, is not of 
great concern because the priority must be to ensure that complaints are investigated thoroughly, 
and careful consideration is given to the findings and recommendations which emerge from such 
investigations. 
 
Porth Cynnal received a higher number of complaints by service, but this is largely due to the 
nature of those services and the complexity of the cases they deal with.   

 
Of the 22 complaints received across Social Services, 4 were upheld following investigation, which 
equates to 17% of all complaints received during the reporting period.  This is a positive outcome 
when compared to the data available for 2020-2021, which concluded that 58% of all complaints 
were upheld (i.e., justified). 
 
Themes and Trends 
Poor communication remains a consistent factor in most complaints, and, in most cases, these can 
be addressed promptly at service-level to prevent unnecessary escalation of the issues being 
reported.  This was evidently the case in respect of the 62 enquiries/concerns reported above, 
which far outnumbers the number of cases which subsequently progressed under the formal 
complaints process. 
 
Timescales 
As identified in 2020-2021, improvements need to be made about the response times at Stage 1 
of the complaints process.  There is a requirement at Stage 1 to offer a ‘discussion’ between the 
complainant and the relevant Corporate Manager.  Therefore, securing the availability of managers 
during the pandemic was challenging, as well as attempting to then co-ordinate their availability 
with that of the complainant.  Failing to meet prescribed timescales under these circumstances is 
therefore understandable.  However, this will continue to be monitored in future reporting periods. 
 
Lessons Learned 
In all cases whereby a complaint is deemed to be upheld (either in its entirety or specific elements) 
it is crucial that recommendations are put in place to learn lessons and prevent any recurrence in 
the future.  Examples are provided on below of some of the lessons learned from complaints 
received during 2021 – 2022. 

 
• It was agreed that the Service would put in place improvements in the process to address 

issues related to timely sharing by the Council of information to Service Users.   In addition, 
information sharing was placed as an item on the relevant meeting’s agenda when 
professionals come together to manage concerns, which should therefore prevent any 
unnecessary delays in relation to these matters occurring in the future. 

 

Page 190



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 41 of 73 
 

• The Council agreed to identify any training or briefing needs within the Service provision in 
relation to different models of care and support provision and related issues of mental 
capacity, deprivation of liberty, trauma informed care.  

 
• All Social Workers working with children and families will be advised, in writing and via a 

Team Meeting and in supervision with the Team Manager, of their responsibility to share 
the outcomes of a Section 47 enquiry with parents, in line with the National Safeguarding 
Procedures for Wales. Staff will be advised that the sharing of this information must happen 
after the Section 47 process ends and prior to parents receiving reports that are to be 
presented at an Initial Child Protection Conference.  

 
Complaints referred to the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) 
During 2021 – 2022 the Council received nine new contacts from the office of the PSOW relating 
to Social Services complaints.  These were categorized by the PSOW as follows: 

 
 Adult Social Services (6) 
 Children’s Social Services (3) 

 
This represents no change in the number of complaints about Children’s Social Services received 
compared to 2020-2021, and an increase (by one case) regarding Adult Social Services. 
 
None of the complaints referred to the PSOW were referred for formal investigation, though there 
were four cases which were resolved via Early Resolution / Voluntary Settlement: 
 

Service & 
Reference Summary of Complaint Agreed Actions 

Porth Cynnal 
 

(202106308) 

Complaint regarding the experience 
had with the Council, and that the 
Council failed to escalate the 
complaint to a stage 2 complaint 
when requested. 

The Council agreed that the complaint 
would be escalated to a stage 2 
investigation. It was also agreed that an 
apology letter be issued to the 
complainant for the delay in escalating 
the complaint when requested. 

Complaints 
Handling / Porth 

Cynnal 
(202100516) 

The Council had failed to address a 
Social Services complaint in a timely 
manner. 

The Council agreed to offer the 
complainant a “time and trouble” 
payment of £150; provide a formal 
apology to address the failures identified 
in relation to the handling of the 
complaint, as well as contacting the 
complainant to confirm that their 
complaint would be investigated in 
accordance with the most appropriate 
stage of the Social Services complaints 
procedure.  

Complaints 
Handling / Porth 

Cynnal 

Complaint that the Council had not 
provided the complainant with a 
response to their Social Services 

The Council agreed to provide the 
complainant with an apology for the 
delay in responding to their complaint as 

Page 191



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 42 of 73 
 

 
The remaining five cases were concluded as follows: 

  
• 4 cases were closed after initial consideration by the PSOW (e.g., they were either satisfied 

that there was no maladministration on the part of the Council or there would be very little 
achieved from the PSOW investigating the complaint). 
 

• 1 case remained under consideration by the PSOW on 31st March 2022.   
 
Compliments 
A total of 104 compliments were received which are broken down according to service: 

Service Area Compliments 
received 

Porth Cynnal 27 
Porth Gofal 77 

Total 104 
 

Examples of the compliments received are provided below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 (202102036) complaint which had been submitted 
to the Council in November 2020.  
 

well as provide an explanation for the 
delay.  The Council also agreed to 
provide a complaint response and 
offered £200 in recognition for the time 
and trouble in making their complaint.  

Complaints 
Handling / Porth 

Cynnal 
(202106906) 

The Council had failed to respond to 
a complaint about Social Services, 
and further failed to respond to their 
letters. 

The Council agreed to contact the 
complainant to establish whether they 
would like their complaint dealt with at 
stage 1 or 2 of the Social Services 
complaints procedure.  The Council also 
provided an apology for failing to 
respond to their letters. 

“Thank you 
for making 
me feel safe 
its very 
reassuring” 
– Porth 
Gofal 

 

Page 192



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 43 of 73 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

“Could I take this opportunity to 
thank you and all  of the carers 
for the help and care that was 
given to mam. Very much 
appreciated.” – Porth Gofal 

“Thank you very much for 
organising the review meeting 
and for your excellent handling 
of a very difficult situation. I 
am very grateful for all that 
you are doing to support mum” 
– Porth Gofal 

“Our family appreciates the support and 
kindness provided by Dad’s Social Worker, 
in finding a suitable home for him. We are 
so grateful that he is nearby, and we are 
happy with the home.” – Porth Cynnal 

 

Page 193



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 44 of 73 
 

Examples of Compliments received by Porth Cymorth Cynnar Services  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

“Just a quick message to thank you for the very 
thoughtful tea for two gift that I received 
through the post. Very much appreciated. “ 

 

“We have Direct Payments for our loved one and 
it was hard for a few years trying to find a 
Personal Assistant and the right person. Now 
that we have got the right person, our love 
done really enjoys going out with them and they 
have a great few hour – it’s good for him get 
out without us having to be there with him all 
the time. He needs his own space too.” 
 

Page 194



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 45 of 73 
 

4. Promoting and Improving the Well-being of 
Those We Help 
The six quality standards used to measure the Local Authority’s performance against the wellbeing 
outcomes are: 

1. Working with people to define and co-produce personal well-being outcomes that people 
wish to achieve 

2. Working with people and partners to protect and promote people’s physical and mental 
health and emotional well-being 

3. Taking steps to protect and safeguard people from abuse, neglect, or harm 
4. Encouraging and supporting people to learn, develop and participate in society  
5. Supporting people to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic, family, and personal 

relationships 
6. Working with and supporting people to achieve greater economic well-being, have a social 

life and live in suitable accommodation that meets their needs 
 
What did we plan to do last year? 
Our objectives are focused on a through age approach and family approach whilst also meeting the 
needs of adults and children in line with statutory and best practice requirements.  
 
Covid 19 Objective 

• Continue to work closely with partner agencies to reduce the risk of spread of the infection  
• Effectively implement adjustment plans 
• Recovery  

 
Improvement Objective 1 
To ensure that the transformation of social services is achieved during 2021/22 in partnership 
with other corporate services and partner agencies. 

• Work in partnership on the corporate restructure plan, enabling an efficient whole-council 
approach 

• Ensure the Statutory requirements for Social Care are clearly defined within the structure 
• Ensure robust services are in place to enable citizens to achieve their personal outcomes 

 
Improvement Objective 2 
Ensure the Local Authority continues to have a strong voice in the Region  

• Ensure regular committed involvement at all regional partnership events by relevant staff 
• Ensure that Ceredigion takes full advantage of the resources available to us from the 

Regional Partnership Board 
• Influence the developments through the region and nationally 

 
Improvement Objective 3 
Ensuring that the LA is effective, along with partners in securing and utilising Transformation Funds 
to drive better outcomes for people in Ceredigion  

Page 195



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 46 of 73 
 

• Continue to enhance the regional Technology Enabled Care Project in conjunction with 
Carmarthenshire/Pembrokeshire and Hywel Dda 

• Work in partnership with Hywel Dda to drive forward the Integrated working agenda 
including the Fast Access Community Team 

• Work in conjunction with Health and 3rd Sector to develop community hubs and resource 
 

Areas for Development: 
 
Porth Cymorth Cynnar 

• Wellbeing Centres’ - to develop facilities that enhance the core physical activity and leisure 
offer with meeting, consultation, and treatment spaces. The Wellbeing Centre will 
incorporate services that consider and improve the physical, social emotional and 
mental aspects of an individual’s wellbeing and contribute to them enabling individuals 
to achieve their full potential. 

• Further develop and deliver blended universal and focussed through-age community 
activities and interventions to enable empowerment, resilience, and independence. 

• Work collaboratively with key stakeholders and voluntary sector organisations to develop a 
range of services to meet the evolving needs within our communities to support and 
enable individuals and families in Ceredigion to cope well with the challenges and pressures 
that they may face. 

 
Porth Gofal:  

• Direct Payments support service developed in house 
• Domiciliary Care – progression with hybrid model of service delivery with Enablement 
• Implementation of the Health and Social Care Support Workers as part of Transformation 

programme 3 
• Fostering – service development plan including recruitment and training of new foster 

carers 
• Day Services Review – focus on community and individual resilience, prevention and 

empowerment strategies and respite opportunities 
 
Porth Cynnal: 

• Develop preventative and recovery approaches across Porth Cynnal Services and the TAW 
model and with partner agencies focusing on mental wellbeing, domestic abuse, 
substance misuse 

• Safe Looked After Children Reduction initiatives  
• Regional and local projects: develop trauma informed safe accommodation for children 

and local parent and baby accommodation  
• Embed Signs of Safety practice 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 196



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 47 of 73 
 

How far did we succeed in working towards those priorities? 
Covid 19 Objective 
Throughout 2021-2022, our response to Covid 19 has been the number one corporate priority in 
managing and reducing the risks and effects in relation to the Global Pandemic.  
 
From the outset, Ceredigion County Council’s priority has been to protect its citizens and to 
minimise the number of the population who will contract the Covid 19 and the number of deaths 
from it. At the beginning, Public Health Wales projections indicated a reasonable worst-case 
scenario of 600 deaths in the County and this was not acceptable to us. 
 
Ceredigion County Council identified a clear vision that every single person, business, and service 
could understand and agree upon to ensure Ceredigion succeeded in not only reducing predicted 
deaths through the first peak but more importantly for any future predicted peaks.  
 

• Phase 1 - Preparedness – Closing down of all non-essential services 
• Phase 2 - Implementation – Delivering essential key services under lockdown conditions 
• Phase 3 - Adjustment and long term resilience 
• Phase 4 - Recovery 

 
We recognise that our geographical location and sparse population have provided us with distinct 
advantages in relation to the control of the virus. Within this context from the outset, we put in 
place several strategies to consolidate our advantages and actively try to suppress the virus. We 
thank the residents of the county for following guidance so rigidly and diligently, ensuring that the 
number in the County who have been infected by Covid 19 has been kept relatively low throughout 
the year despite some peaks. Nonetheless, we acknowledge that each death from Covid 19 has 
been a very sad loss and in our communities staff and public alike have been greatly affected by 
the impact of the Pandemic on physical and mental wellbeing as well as financially and 
economically. 
 

Strategy and decision-making during the pandemic 
 
Ceredigion CC’s’ Strategic Priorities:  

• Protection of the health and wellbeing of our most vulnerable, including care services for the 
elderly and those whose medical conditions make them particularly at risk from COVID-19. 

 
• Protection of the education provision within schools, colleges, and universities. 

 
• Enable the local economy to survive. 

 
Gold Command structure and decisions  
The Gold Command structure and process put in place from the outset of the Pandemic has 
enabled key decisions to be made and implemented in the following areas: 
 

• Support for the most vulnerable  
• Contact tracing  
• PPE sufficiency and distribution  

Page 197



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 48 of 73 
 

• Roll out of use of LFTs and staff testing regime 
• Staff redeployment to support frontline services 
• Care homes 
• Risk assessment and infection control measures 
• Extensive local guidance and protocols  
• Financial and Hardship support  
• Support and facilitation of the Mass Vaccination programme 
• Silver command groups set up specifically, Residential care, Contact tracing/TTP, Economic 

Adjustment, Vaccination/Testing,  
• Senior representation at local and regional IMT’s 
• Senior representation on Covid specific local and regional forums including the Ceredigion 

Covid Response Group, Regional Safeguarding Covid Group, Subgroups of the RPB/PSB,  
 
Adjustment and Recovery Planning. 
The Council has a public facing road map which outlines the key milestones in relation to service 
changes and the phased reinstatement of services. 
 
Recovery plans have been drafted across all service areas and include;  

• Residential care homes (staff sustainability and reviewing visiting arrangements to enable 
outdoor visits and continue with multi-professional and clinical support via technology to 
support communication with professionals or safe visits from GP’s, mental health, 
dementia, OT/allied health professions  

• Learning Disability and Older Peoples Day Services adjustments  
• Respite care adjustments 
• A wide range of Early Intervention/Prevention services including Organized outdoor 

vocational, learning and work, Employment Support Team to restart paid Work and 
Volunteering Opportunities, Organized and approved outdoor children/young people’s group 
activity, Outdoor Health Intervention Classes / Exercise Classes for Adults 

• Mental Wellbeing Service  
• School Counselling Service adjustment 

 
Workforce Challenges 
A redeployment programme of staff was implemented in the early stages of the pandemic to assist 
key services including care homes and school hubs caring for vulnerable children. There has been 
a continued focus on recruitment with several campaigns both internally but also supporting 
external providers with campaigns. 
 
The challenges of recruiting and retaining key staff specifically Social Workers and Occupational 
Therapists has been significant throughout 2021 -2022, however it is acknowledged that this is a 
national trend and opportunities around regional working has been explored. The Council has a 
strategy for meeting this challenge including the following approaches:  
 

• Increase number of Social Work traineeships  
• Offering qualification opportunities and learning pathways for the current staff 
• student placements 
• Reviewing job roles and evaluations 
• Refreshing advertising - intensive and new campaigns to join Ceredigion 

Page 198



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 49 of 73 
 

• Use of agency staff where required alongside Ceredigion staff 
 
Supporting Staff Wellbeing 
We are committed to providing responsive, accessible, and inclusive support to staff throughout 
the Pandemic, this has included: 

• Employee Health & Wellbeing Officer 
• Employee Assistance Package 
• Occupational Health 
• Responsive approach including, wellbeing surveys/questionnaires, discussions with 

managers & teams, streamlined appraisal process, drop in sessions 
• Organization wide activity and support including, information on intranet, Wellbeing 

Wednesdays, Activities, Wellbeing Webinars, Shielding staff 
• Dedicated health and wellbeing webinars, regular meetings with Corporate 

Manager/Registered Managers,  
• Individual staff support within care homes 

 
New ways of future working 
The last 24 months has meant a significant change in the way that the Council and its staff has 
had to work and meet the daily demand of the services it provides. 
 
In March 2022, Ceredigion County Council published its  Hybrid Working Strategy 2022 -2025 was 
published.The Strategy sets out the vision and associated approaches that will be taken to ensure 
Ceredigion County Council has a workforce with the skills and ability to be working in a way that is 
fit for our organization’s future, in workspaces that meet its needs and in a sustainable way. 
 
Having responded well to the initial challenges posed by the pandemic, the focus during this year 
has shifted to how we can learn and build from the experience. The ’Way We Work’ project was 
established to review the remote working practices adopted during the pandemic. The project 
aimed to explore the appetite for long-term change within the workforce and the extent of a shift in 
the wider strategic vision of where, when, and how we as an organization approach work. As part of 
the project a significant staff engagement exercise was undertaken during April 2021. The purpose 
of the exercise was to gather feedback, experiences, ideas, and future workplace requirements to 
support strategic decision-making. 
 
The responses and underlying themes emerging from the staff engagement exercise, as well as 
national research, trends, and insights, has informed the development of our vision and our 
strategy towards moving to new ways of working in the long term. 
 
Our aim is to embed a hybrid working model that gives our people greater flexibility in balancing 
their work and home lives. We want to build a culture where our people feel trusted and 
empowered, and will have greater freedom on how, where and when their work is delivered. Focus 
will be placed on outcomes as opposed to attendance at our offices. This level of flexibility, due to 
the nature of some roles, will not be achievable for all our people. There will however remain a 
commitment to explore how a level of flexibility can be built into roles across the organization. 
 
To support successful implementation of our hybrid working model, 3 key workstreams have been 
identified: 

• Workplace Design  

Page 199



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 50 of 73 
 

• Digital Solutions   
• Policies, Procedures and Training  

 
Leadership and strategic direction for implementation will be provided by the New Ways of Working 
Project Board. The 3 workstreams will report to the project board. Each workstream will have a 
designated lead officer who will co-ordinate the area of work and will report to the project board on 
progress during 2022/23. 
 
Financial and business recovery 
The Council has enabled and empowered a range of services and initiatives via various funding 
streams from Welsh Government during the Pandemic. These have included the Hardship Fund 
that has specifically provided support for residential and front-line care services. This Fund has 
allowed internal and commissioned services to focus on their recovery plans. There has been grant 
funding for businesses and support for the reopening of the visitor economy which is very important 
to the general economic recovery within Ceredigion. 
 
Work has also progressed in accordance with aims and objectives of the Council’s Tacking 
Hardship Strategy 2020-2022 which has a strong focus on mitigating the financial and social effect 
of Covid 19 on individual and community well-being. A progress report was presented to Cabinet 
members in November 2021. 
 
Improvement Objective 1 – Transformation of Social Services 
 
Through Age and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2027 and Action Plan 
On October 21st, 2021, the Through Age and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2027 and Action Plan were 
approved by Ceredigion Councillors  

The Strategy sets out the vision and associated approaches to transform how people’s health, 
wellbeing and safety can be supported in Ceredigion. 

It aims to identify at an early stage what concerns people have and aims to prevent escalation, 
wherever possible, through a timely and proportionate response. 

The Strategy also provides a model to deal with the root causes of concerns and includes key 
objectives and focused areas of need. The Strategy and Action Plan progress the initial work to 
restructure services in 2019 which was delayed in 2020 due to the pandemic. However, the 
transformation of services has now progressed well, social care and lifelong learning have 
integrated into three services – Porth Cymorth Cynnar, Porth Gofal and Porth Cynnal. These 
services, along with Customer Contact, make up the four main areas that fall within the Through 
Age and Wellbeing Programme. 

This Strategy is a key part of the Ceredigion County Council Corporate Strategy that illustrates the 
main priorities for the Council. The priorities aim to enable the delivery of services that will enhance 
the social, economic, environmental, and cultural well-being for the people of Ceredigion. Providing 
support for all ages and needs is a significant challenge for the Council with limited resources. The 
profile of society and demographics have changed considerably over the last decade in the County 
with a significant increase in the prevalence and impact of substance misuse, poor mental health 
and domestic abuse and older age groups living longer. Consequently, demand for certain services 

Page 200



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 51 of 73 
 

has increased placing a greater financial pressure on those service areas. In addition, the 
unemployment levels coupled with the low-income levels has placed increased difficulties on the 
ability of people to access safe, affordable housing.  
 
One of the key priorities within the Corporate Strategy is to enable individual and family resilience. 
Within this priority the Council seeks to achieve the key outcomes: 
 

• Citizens of all ages will have an improved quality of life 
• Improved support networks for families and those in need across the County  
• Improved well-being and health by adopting effective interventions  
• There will be well established networks of community and voluntary groups throughout the 

County providing strategic preventative support thus increasing community resilience and 
sustainable social care 

• Improved choice and quality of local housing.  

The Through Age and Well-being Strategy describes the journey the Council will take, alongside its 
partners, to transform its way of working and to achieve its vision. It provides the strategic context 
to drive future commissioning, operational service delivery, care management and our role in the 
integration of services. 

The Action Plan clearly outline what is required over the next three years (and to signal what is 
likely in the years beyond that) to address the root causes to meet the 5 key objectives of the 
Strategy and, alongside our partners, rebalance the care and support that is provided within 
Ceredigion. 
 
5 Key Objectives of the Strategy; 

• Promote positive health and wellbeing and support people to self-support 
• Strengthen families so that children can remain in their care  
• Enable individuals to live independently in their own communities  
• Provide proportionate approaches to managed care and support  
• Protect individuals and keep them safe from abuse, harm, and neglect 

 
Implementation Workstreams 
A range of workstreams to progress the changes and implementation have been established 
reporting to the Through Age and Well-being Programme Board: 
 

• Strategy Development  
• Systems & Processes  
• Review of SLA’s and contracts  
• Signs of Safety  
• HR Processes 
• Finance & Procurement 

 
Staff Information and Engagement Sessions 
During July August and September 2021, several information and Question and Answer sessions 
were held with staff to discuss and receive feedback regarding the Through Age and Well-being 

Page 201



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 52 of 73 
 

Strategy and Action Plan. This was a very valuable exercise in terms of the development of the 
Strategy and strengthening staff input regarding the proposed implementation actions. 
A version of the video along with other material was also used in partner agency and service user 
sessions. 
 
Following on from the staff information sessions held over the Summer, the formal Through-age & 
Wellbeing Consultation on the re-design of services and roles with staff was launched on 1st of 
December 2021 and ended on January 31st, 2022. 
 
Most teams across Porth Cymorth Cynnar, Porth Gofal and Porth Cynnal were included in this 
consultation except for Residential Care Services and Day Services.  The consultation for those 
teams was planned to take place in January 2022 but was then postponed to a later date for 
further preparation. The redesign of roles and functions across the model will be completed with 
the conclusion of the Residential Care and Direct Services. 
 
The Consultation provided an opportunity to ask any questions in response to the organisational 
redesign and to discuss the principles to be adopted across the services.   
 
Signs of Safety 
A key aspect of the Through Age & wellbeing Programme is to embed Signs of Safety Practice and 
work continued to develop the use of the framework as central to the. At the front door and in 
assessment we do this by ensuring that the information we collect from citizens directly or via other 
agencies is appropriately used to deliver a person-centered approach based around the 
fundamental questions of ‘What’s worrying you?’ and ‘What’s working well?’ As a result of these we 
are seeking to further develop strengths-based, outcome focused services for citizens which 
respond in a timely creative manner, and which always focus on what is important to the individual. 
Signs of Safety basic and advanced training sessions have been provided to staff during 2021-
2022. 
 
Staff Supervision and Professional Support 
In September 2021, the Through Age and Well-being Supervision Policy was launched. The Policy 
specifies the way that all employees, agency staff, volunteers and students working in Through Age 
and Wellbeing should be supervised and supported in relation to their working practices. This 
covers a wide range of staff roles, responsibilities, and functions. The basis of the Policy is that 
good quality and effective supervision provides a way of supporting staff to achieve our collective 
vision as well as Organisational, team and individual objectives. It also supports the achievement 
and maintenance of high standards in service delivery for the people of Ceredigion. 
 
The Policy adopts the Signs of Safety principles, and it guides line managers to follow a 
conversational ‘appreciative enquiry’ approach, including reflective questioning to enable reflective 
practice. Thus, promoting co-productive practice leadership as opposed to a command-and-control 
directional approach. It will also help to identify solutions for the individual being supported and/or 
the member of staff overseeing a task/activity and to involve and place people who use access our 
services at the heart of their practice. 
 
Improvement Objective 2 - Partnerships 
 
Ceredigion County Council has continued to actively engage with the West Wales Care Partnership 
and the Regional Partnership Board and other key partnership forums including The Mid and West 

Page 202



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 53 of 73 
 

Regional Safeguarding Board and the VAWDASV Partnership Board. These provide a mechanism for 
driving regional improvements across social care whilst maintaining the focus on Ceredigion 
specific priorities and areas of need. 
 
There are several regional fora that Ceredigion County Council support and are effectively engaged 
in the work Programmes. Opportunities for regional funding are maximised through regional 
partnerships and initiatives, including the Healthier Wales Transformation Programme and the 
forthcoming Regional Integrated Fund as the successor to the Integrated Care Fund. 
 
Full participation in all regional Covid 19 planning fora has also been a major priority for us during 
this year.  
In 2021, Ceredigion County Council carried out an extensive exercise across all services in the 
Pyrth to draft proposals for the use of Regional Integrated Fund and many new and innovative 
ideas were put forward in relation to service development for children and adults and families. 
 
Improvement Objective 3 – Healthier Wales Transformation Programme 
 
As part of the West Wales Care Partnership Our original submission for A Healthier West Wales 
programme of work included:  
Improving lives through technology 
•Proactive technology enabled care 
•Shared digital framework 
Strengthening integrated localities 
•Fast tracked consistent integration 
•Proactive supported self-management 
Supporting change together 
•Continuous citizen engagement 
•Behaviour changes for good 
Connecting people… kind communities 
•Creating connections for all 
•Building the infrastructure to deliver differently 
 
A total of £11.89 million was provided by Welsh Government to the WWCP to support the delivery 
of the 3 agreed programmes highlighted below: 
 
Programme 1: Proactive, technology-enabled care 
•Proactive approach to keeping people well in communities 
•Based on proven approach in Bilbao, Spain 
•Evidence from Spain of significant impact on system demand and wellbeing 
•Bespoke and individualised TEC 
•In-depth wellbeing assessment and supported wellbeing plans 
•Proactive calls using existing Delta Wellbeing platform providing built-in benefits 
•Multi-agency rapid response with enhanced, local community support 
•Digital inclusion project to support informal networks 
 
Programme 3: Fast-tracked, consistent integration 
•Fast Access Community Team providing 24/7, professional crisis response 

 

Page 203



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 54 of 73 
 

•Model to be implemented in each locality, shaped to ensure that arrangements meet local needs 
and build on existing arrangements 
•Additional programme capacity to support further integration at locality level 
 
Programme 7: Creating connections for all 
•Consistent community connectors model across West Wales creating community links and 
building resilience 
•Active citizens –promoting and supporting volunteering 
•Intergenerational buddying programme to develop IT and other skills 
•West Wales is Kind programme 
•Embedding Dewis and Info-engine 
•Accelerated skills programme for staff providing community support 
 
All 3 programmes were initiated in 2019/2020 with programme 1 being led regionally, programme 
3 led locally and programme 7 led by the 3rd Sector and continued during 2020/21. 
 
The positive progress of this Objective, our engagement with the West Wales Care Partnership and 
the adjustments made in view of Covid 19 priorities has continued throughout 2021/22 as the 
quarterly reports of the Regional Partnership Board demonstrate.  
 
Programme 1: 
Following a phased rollout of the programme CONNECT is now being delivered across all three 
Counties in the Hywel Dda region. At the end of quarter one there were 3584 active CONNECT 
clients across the three counties, the majority of which (1578) fall within the key target cohort of 
“prevent”. 
 
Programme 3:  
Ceredigion Health and Social Care colleagues presented their approach to an integrated Health and 
Social Care Worker to the Regional Workforce Board with  a large amount of interest generated. 
The approach is also being considered as a way to help alleviate pressures being felt across the 
non-registrant public and private sector workforce within Ceredigion 
 
Programme 7 
584 people joined Ceredigion’s Connect to Kindness social media group 
 
The Connect Platform launched the Above and Beyond Awards which offers a prize draw for 
registered platform with four prizes per County. A showcasing event was held during the Autumn 
2021 In Ceredigion with Span Arts Ray Ceredigion Play as an opportunity to learn about the 
valuable work in our local communities to support intergenerational working. A 3-minute 
video was produced giving an opportunity to further share with the audience. 
 
Progress on Areas for Development as set out in the previous year 
 
Porth Cymorth Cynnar 

• Wellbeing Centres’ – planning continues with the identification of Lampeter as the location 
for the first Well-being Centre.  

Page 204



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 55 of 73 
 

• Adjustment and Recovery Plans have progressing well to ensure blended universal and 
focussed through-age community activities and interventions to enable empowerment, 
resilience, and independence. 

• Close collaboration with key stakeholders and voluntary sector organisations has continued 
to develop a range of services to meet the evolving needs within our communities to support 
and enable individuals and families in Ceredigion to cope well with the challenges and 
pressures that they may face. 

 
Porth Gofal:  

• The Direct Payments support service is now fully operational as an inhouse service 
• Domiciliary Care – progression has continued with the hybrid model of service delivery with 

the Enablement Service and future commissioning is being developed 
• Implementation of the Health and Social Care Support Workers as part of Transformation 

programme 3 has continued 
• The Fostering Service has successfully recruited staff and strengthened support for carers  
• Day Services Review –preparation for consultation on restructure for 2022/23 

 
Porth Cynnal: 

• Preventative and recovery approaches are being developed across Porth Cynnal in 
conjunction with partner agencies focusing on mental wellbeing, domestic abuse, 
substance misuse 

• Safe Looked After Children Reduction Strategy is being drafted with full participation of 
stakeholders 

• Regional and local projects to develop trauma informed safe accommodation for looked 
after children and local parent and baby accommodation are progressing well 

• Signs of Safety practice is being take forward with full participation in the development of 
recording forms and practice methods 

 

Ceredigion Local Authority Housing Services 
Under Homelessness interventions, in 2021-22, 737 cases were opened where there had been 
approaches due to households believing to be at risk of homelessness or presenting as homeless 
on the day. This represents an increase of 258 cases who approached the service. (54% increase) 
 
Of the 737 cases opened 40% (294) were provided with advice and assistance and aided to 
prevent homelessness.  This represents a significant increase in cases coming forward to the team, 
and being aided through use of Housing Support, or referred to other services, or provided with 
advice and guidance to sustain their housing situation. 
 
This has been aided by the introduction of the housing support gateway, which has streamlined 
referral process, and enabled improved reporting for housing support outcomes.  Since the 
introduction of the gateway, a full year has seen 2095 persons supported, with 1575 successful 
housing related outcomes achieved including; 

 
Housing related support needs have been met 216 
Moved into sustainable accommodation 69 
Maintaining Stable Accommodation (6 mths+) 330 

 

Page 205



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 56 of 73 
 

443 homelessness assessments were carried out under s62 of the Housing Act.  This figure is 
similar to last year. 
 
As a result of these assessments, 153 cases were successfully prevented and/or relieved.  This 
figure has dropped by 63 cases.  This indicates that, whilst the number of homeless duty awards is 
similar, the service is less able to prevent or relieve homelessness.  More persons are needing 
temporary accommodation (increase in temporary accommodation units by 38% in the year) with 
86 cases not being resolved in the 8-week prevention period and moving through to full duty.   
 
The number of clients assisted through financial means including signposting remains steady.  
There remain many cases where paying off arrears or aiding person to additional benefits is not 
able to prevent homelessness.  This is because there are many non-financial reasons for 
homelessness, as seen in the table below. (s66, prevention cases) 
 

Parent, friend or other relative no longer willing or able to accommodate 20 
Breakdown of relationship with partner Violent    5 

Non-violent    7 
Violence or harassment (non-partner) 1 
Mortgage repossession 2 
Rent arrears  14 
Loss of accommodation, e.g., Landlord served notice 59 
Current property unaffordable 4 
Current property unsuitable (e.g., overcrowding/ medical reasons) 15 
Other, inc homeless in emergency, return from abroad, sleeping rough 15 

 
The Housing Options services remain in an approach of ‘Everyone in’ following guidance from 
Welsh Government, which will shortly be enacted in law, effectively removing ‘priority need’.  This 
means that there are no longer any single persons without vulnerabilities turned away at full duty 
stage.  This has had an impact on our single persons temporary accommodation, going from 25 
spaces pre-pandemic to 44 spaces currently. 
 
For the year 2021-22 Under the adaptations service, 60 Disabled Facilities Grants, 124 Minor 
works adaptations, and 46 Safe, Warm and Secure Grants have been delivered. This delivery was 
again hampered to a certain extent due to impact of the pandemic, i.e., restriction on homes visits, 
etc. 
 
Under housing register work, for the year 2021-22, 1400 Housing Register Applications were 
received across all 4 Registers (affordable, general, older persons, accessible)   
 
What difference has the service made? 
The focus of the objective on improved access to advice and assistance to for those seeking 
housing, has enabled a preventative and early intervention approach.  Better joined up working 
between housing support and housing options services along with the introduction of the gateway 
referral and recording system enables us to track and monitor the level of assistance achieved. 
The new introduction of a landlord guarantee scheme, which will shortly be operational, will also aid 
early approaches and a prevention focus. 
 
The number of assessments of homelessness has not decreased, but as can be seen by the 
number of approaches to the service, advice and assistance figures have gone up significantly 

Page 206



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 57 of 73 
 

indicating that early advice and assistance has enabled the service to avoid homelessness 
increasing, despite increasing presentations. 

 
Disabled Facilities and Safe Warm and Secure grants have assisted clients to live independently 
within their own homes. 

 
A total of 338 applicants secured housing from the Housing Register. 76 (22%) allocations were 
made to people owed a homeless duty. This percentage remains steady.   
 
Due to the increasing reliance on temporary accommodation coupled with the increased number of 
potential homeless cases from both cost of living, and Ukraine refugees, for a short period the 
Housing service is working with the partner RSL’s to prioritise allocations to social housing to 
persons with homeless duties and in temporary accommodation. 

 
How well have we done? 
Housing - Homelessness  
Total prevention outcomes: 142 (this includes successful prevention, unsuccessful prevention, 
non-cooperation, assistance refused, withdrawn, and withdrawn due to loss of contact) 
Successful prevention outcomes: 95. Therefore 68% of households threatened with homelessness 
were successfully prevented.  (Meeting target of 65%, but slightly down on last year’s 75%) 
 
However, 46 of the 142 were unsuccessfully resolved.  26 (18% of total) clients withdrew from the 
service and therefore Housing Options were unable to assist or establish an outcome.  A further 20 
clients (14%) went forward to the next homeless duty as unable to prevent. 

 
Housing - Adaptations 
During the year 2021-22 a safe home was provided for 297 disabled and vulnerable applicants to 
remain living independently leading to improved quality of life.  
 
Energy Efficiency 
During the year a total of 209 clients received either improvements to their homes through EE 
initiatives and/or EE advice to improve their financial position and outgoings.  
 
15 Warm Home Boiler Grants delivered 
 
Housing – register 
1116 Housing Applications were activated on to the Housing Register enabling consideration for 
social housing allocations.  In addition to this, amendments were made to applications and 
application renewals ensuring correct and up to date information for our RSL partners.   

 
Delivery of affordable housing across all tenure 
The SHG programme is part of a 3-year rolling development programme made up of several funding 
streams from Welsh Government. 
 
The development programme is based on regularly updated needs analysis of the Housing 
Registers with the aim of delivering a mix of social and intermediate housing across Ceredigion.  

 
 

Page 207



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 58 of 73 
 

What difference has the objective made? 
The number of Social Rented units being delivered is likely to increase year on year over the next 3 
years and so contribute to Welsh Governments 20,000 Target. Developments are being targeted to 
help meet the identified local need in the County. The range of affordable tenure options is also 
being increased to help address the different housing needs within the County.  
 
During this year there was a total 77 Social Housing units delivered by our partner Housing 
Associations operating within Ceredigion. 
 
The Authority is improving the targeting of all new social housebuilding because of the Housing 
Register database system (Abritas). Specialised and adapted housing such as wheelchair 
accessible/mobility impaired units are also being delivered to try and address the need for specific 
applicants/clients. 

 
Contribute towards the development and integration of the Porth Gofal - Early Intervention and 
wellbeing model: 
During 2021-22 saw the start of implementing the new HSG Gateway Service as a central point for 
submitting all requests for Housing Support, ensuring all cases would be allocated the appropriate 
interventions in a timely manner. This entailed devising new roles and employing into these 
positions. Further developments were also undertaken 2021-22 including the preparations and 
development of the HSG Programme Plan. 
 
Furthermore, with the location of Housing Services within the Porth Gofal integrated, through age 
service model, many opportunities have been identified for building on opportunities and links 
across the service model from prevention, early intervention through to crisis intervention.  
 
Ensure that the accommodation needs of residents are met 
The Housing service continues to work towards ensuring that the accommodation needs of 
residents are being met. Throughout the year 74 inspections of licensed Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (private rented accommodation) were undertaken to ensure safety standards were 
being met, 19 cases of harassment and illegal eviction were investigated, and 204 service 
requests related to poor housing standards were followed up.  
 
Note – many of the activities undertake by the Housing Services were hampered by the changing 
requirements of the Pandemic, i.e., lockdowns, changes in restrictions, etc. Yet the service 
continued to function in challenging times and react accordingly.  
  

Page 208



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 59 of 73 
 

 
What are our priorities for next year and why? 
This coming year will see the continuation of several whole-system transformation projects along 
with continuing to deal with the challenges of the Covid 19 Pandemic and its aftermath.  
 
With the publication and approval of The Through Age and Wellbeing Action Plan, the focus will be 
on aligning Service Business plans to the Strategy and the Action Plan’s 5 key objectives and 12 
areas of need.  
 
Covid 19 Objective: 

• Continue to work closely with partner agencies to manage the risks and effects of Covid 19  
• Continued support for effective Covid 19 vaccination take up 
• Continued Recovery from Covid 19 and after math 

 
Improvement Objective 1: -Transformation of Services  

• Implementation of the Through age and Wellbeing Strategy  
• Implementation of the Through age and Wellbeing Action Plan 
• Implementation of the Hybrid Working Strategy  
• Strengthen Staff Recruitment and Retention 

 
Improvement Objective 2 - Partnerships 

• Ensure the Local Authority has a strong voice in the Region  
• Ensure regular committed involvement at all regional partnership events by relevant staff  
• Ensure that Ceredigion takes full advantage of the resources available to us from the 

Regional Partnership Board and other sources 
• Influence the developments through the region and nationally  

 
Improvement Objective 3 - Ensuring that the LA is effective, along with partners in securing and 
utilising Transformation Funds to drive better outcomes for people in Ceredigion  

• Continue to enhance the regional Technology Enabled Care Project in conjunction with 
Carmarthenshire/Pembrokeshire and Hywel Dda 

• Work in partnership with Hywel Dda to drive forward the Integrated working agenda 
including the Fast Access Community Team 

• Work in conjunction with Health and 3rd Sector to develop community hubs and resource 
  

Page 209



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 60 of 73 
 

5. How We Do What We Do 
How we have supported the professional development of the 
Social Care Workforce 
This year has again been challenging for the social care workforce, facing staff recruitment and 
retention challenges alongside the impact of Covid.  It is, however, a testament to the commitment 
and professionalism of the workforce that whilst maintaining operational service delivery the 
numbers undertaking training has increased. 
 
Social Care Wales Workforce Development Programme (SCWWDP) grant funding is core to the 
provision of learning and development opportunities made available to the sector. A broad range of 
training which supports the induction, continuous professional development, and the regulatory 
qualification requirements of those involved in service delivery has been offered. In addition to the 
annual planned schedule of events, the SCWWDP grant has allowed us to respond to emerging and 
priority training needs that have arisen in year, for example sessions to support the wellbeing and 
mental health of the workforce and dealing with loss and bereavement. 
 
Positive working relationships have been maintained with external social care providers supported 
by annual engagement events that encourage dialogue around forthcoming priorities and training 
needs. This allows the needs of the whole sector to be taken into consideration in planning the 
annual training schedule. 
 
Training delivery was adapted and moved to online delivery methods at the start of the pandemic. 
Online training delivery has now become embedded into practice. In recognition of the emphasis on 
new and different ways of working and the role of e learning plays within this, the Council has made 
a significant investment in a new Learning Management System. ‘Ceredigion Learning Pool’ will 
enable bilingual and user-friendly access to e learning modules for the whole social care workforce 
and will be launched in May 2022. 
 
A total of 556 trainer facilitated events have been delivered online covering core areas of social 
care/social work practice and health and safety. With a total of 4025 staff attendances, this is an 
increase of 537 on the previous year. The graph below shows the training attendance by year and 
reflects staff feedback received that online training delivery is more accessible.    

 

3297 3025 2940
3488

4025

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22

Staff attendance at training by year

Page 210



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 61 of 73 
 

 
The number of subjects covered by E learning modules available has increased and the external 
social care workforce completion rate continues to grow. The graph below shows the range of 
subject areas available and number of completions. 
 

 
Workforce succession planning has been supported through a range of initiatives including pilot 
delivery of on-line information sessions for those interested in careers in social care/social work, 
support for the We Care Wales national recruitment campaign and the provision of 16 social work 
student placements. 2 Trainee Social Workers qualified in October 2021 and a further 6 Trainee 
Social Workers have been recruited and are due to start in post in July 2022. This takes the 
number of Trainee Social workers within the authority up to 10. To establish a career pathway into 
social work and enable a pool of staff ready to progress on to qualifying training, the Certificate of 
Higher Education in Social Work Practice consisting of the first two modules of the social work 
degree is also offered annually.  
 
To support the ‘Active Offer’ 26 social care staff members have been supported to undertake 
Welsh language courses. In addition, bespoke sessions were developed by the Work Welsh Tutor 
for beginners, intermediate and Welsh speakers, these were delivered locally and regionally aimed 
at improving Welsh language skills and confidence of staff undertaking Best Interests 
Assessments. The Welsh language awareness e learning module also continues to be promoted 
with 60 internal and 50 external social care staff completions in year.   
 
  

66 62 29
77 50 38 36 40 60 51 34

138
67 51 61 60

52 59 110
74 118

94 104 118
11 25 53

242

9 55 56 50

0
50

100
150
200
250
300
350
400

Number of e-learning completions by module (21/22)

Internal SC staff Externals

Page 211



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 62 of 73 
 

Language profile of our Through Age Workforce: 
 
Porth Cymorth Cynnar: 
 

OVERVIEW 
No of 
People % of People 

ALTE 0, 1 & 2 46 18.78% 

ALTE 3, 4 & 5 199 81.22% 

TOTAL 245 100% 
 

GAP No of People 
% of 
People 

GAP IN ALTE 
REQUIREMENTS 95 38.78% 

Meets ALTE Requirements 150 61.22% 

TOTAL 245 100% 
 

PERSON - 
SPEAKING & 
LISTENING 0 1 2 3 4 5 

  

No of People 4 16 26 33 59 107 245 

% of People 1.63% 6.53% 10.61% 13.47% 24.08% 43.67% 100.00% 

PERSON - WRITING 0 1 2 3 4 5 
  

No of People 10 22 31 35 67 80 245 

% of People 4.08% 8.98% 12.65% 14.29% 27.35% 32.65% 100.00% 

PERSON - READING 0 1 2 3 4 5 
  

No of People 9 20 28 36 59 93 255 

% of People 3.67% 8.16% 11.43% 14.69% 24.08% 37.96% 100.00% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 212



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 63 of 73 
 

Porth Cynnal: 

OVERVIEW 
No of 
People % of People 

ALTE 0, 1 &2 62 50.00% 

ALTE 3, 4 & 5 62 50.00% 

TOTAL 124 100.00% 
 

GAP No of People 
% of 
People 

GAP IN ALTE 
REQUIREMENTS 61 49.19% 

Meets ALTE Requirement 63 50.81% 

TOTAL 124 100.00% 
 

PERSON - 
SPEAKING & 
LISTENING 0 1 2 3 4 5   

No of People 3 34 25 16 12 34 124 

% of People 2.42% 27.42% 20.16% 12.90% 9.68% 27.42% 100.00% 

PERSON - 
WRITING 0 1 2 3 4 5   

No of People 13 35 21 12 14 29 124 

% of People 10.48% 28.23% 16.94% 9.68% 11.29% 23.39% 100.00% 

PERSON - 
READING 0 1 2 3 4 5   

No of People 11 34 23 8 19 29 124 

% of People 8.87% 27.42% 18.55% 6.45% 15.32% 23.39% 100.00% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 213



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 64 of 73 
 

Porth Gofal: 

OVERVIEW 
No of 
People % of People 

ALTE 0, 1 & 2 167 47.99% 

ALTE 3, 4 & 5 181 52.01% 

TOTAL 348 100.00% 
 

GAP No of People 
% of 
People 

GAP IN ALTE 
REQUIREMENTS 184 52.87% 

Meets ALTE Requirement 164 47.13% 

TOTAL 348 100.00% 
 

PERSON - 
SPEAKING & 
LISTENING 0 1 2 3 4 5   

No of People 31 74 62 70 33 78 348 

% of People 8.91% 21.26% 17.82% 20.11% 9.48% 22.41% 100.00% 

PERSON - 
WRITING 0 1 2 3 4 5   

No of People 67 74 73 53 24 57 348 

% of People 19.25% 21.26%  20.98%       15.23% 6.90% 16.38% 100.00% 

PERSON - 
READING 0 1 2 3 4 5   

No of People 59 66 73 44 40 66 348 

% of People 16.95% 18.97% 20.98% 12.64% 11.49% 18.97% 100.00% 
 
  

Page 214



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 65 of 73 
 

Our Financial Resources and How We Plan For the Future  
The Council’s financial settlement for 2021/22 was a poor one, with overall WG funding of 
£109.7m being only a 2.0% increase on the previous year, which was the lowest increase of all 22 
Local Authorities in Wales, compared with an average of 3.8%.   This led to savings of £3.4m 
needing to be found across the Council of which £2.1m was set as a Corporate target and £1.3m 
as Service targets. 
 
The Council has also now gone through a process to ensure its Budgets are fully aligned to the new 
Through Age and Wellbeing operating model, which saw Early Intervention and Wellbeing related 
services become far more integrated alongside the more traditional Social Care services.   As a 
result, the Council’s new ‘Pyrth’ operating model consisting of Porth Gofal, Porth Cynnal and Porth 
Cymorth Cynnar is now fully reflected in both Budget structure and Financial reporting, with a 
combined 2021/22 Original Budget of £38.6m – which is 25% of the Council’s 2021/22 Original 
budget (£154.7m). 
 
The Council’s 2021/22 final performance was an overall underspend of £668k and the Council’s 
overall financial position remains positive and resilient.   The Pyrth services out-turned at a 
negligible overspend of £13k.   However, the position was heavily masked by one off Welsh 
Government and Regional grant funding and ongoing financial challenges were still prevalent in 
particular in the areas of Looked After Children and Independent Sector Placement costs, offset 
partially by temporary savings in the areas of Domiciliary Care, Day Services and Housing.   There 
was also a growing recruitment challenge starting to affect more teams and leading to a higher 
than average level of vacancies which was financially beneficial but operationally challenging.    
 
As a result of the Council’s overall positive outturn position, additional funding was set aside at year 
end as part of the clear financial commitment and investment being put in place to deliver the 
Council’s Corporate Priorities.  In the case of ‘Enabling Individual & Family Resilience’ £1.0m was 
set aside, with a further £1.0m being set aside to manage the volatility of out of county Placement 
costs. 
 
2021/22 can’t be concluded without referencing COVID19, The Social Care sector has been at the 
forefront of the pandemic with the impact being felt both by the Local Authority and the wide range 
of Private Providers whom services are commissioned from.   Through the Welsh Government 
Hardship Fund, significant additional funding was made available to the Social Care sector.   There 
was also additional funding made available in the form of the Welsh Government Social Care 
Recovery Fund (£1.388m) and the Welsh Government  Social Care Pressures funding (£1.145m).   
All of these funding streams were critical during challenging times for both internal and externally 
commissioned Social Care services.   
 
Looking forward to 2022/23 and beyond, the financial challenge facing the Pyrth services remains 
significant both in terms of cost pressures and the ageing population dynamic.  In the short term 
there are the national policy decisions around an increase in the Employers National Insurance rate 
by 1.25% and delivering the £9.90 Real Living Wage for Registered Care Workers.   The full range 
of indicative cost pressures being faced by the Pyrths are over £7m, which equates to an inflation 
rate of c18% against the £38.6m 21/22 budget.   Factors within these cost pressures include the 
national policy decision on the Real Living Wage for Registered Care Workers as well as general 
Payaward challenges, a new Pyrth Services staffing structure, a drive to reduce the Dom Care 

Page 215



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 66 of 73 
 

waiting list, Direct Payments, a challenging Fee Setting Process with in County Care Homes and the 
increasing costs associated with Looked after Children.    
 
In terms of Capital investment, there is a variety of investment going into Pyrth services whether 
that be the repurposing Leisure facilities as Wellbeing Centres, much needed investment in the 
Local Authority Care Home infrastructure through to new initiatives being progressed in a variety of 
areas from a new in County Group Home provision for Children, the Camu Mlaen facility and a new 
in county Learning Disability setting. 
  
  

Page 216



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 67 of 73 
 

Our Partnership Working, Political and Corporate Leadership, 
Governance and Accountability 
On 25th March 2020, the Council Leader and Deputy Leader granted temporary delegated powers 
to the Council’s Chief Executive and Leadership Group to make decisions relating to the Council’s 
COVID-19 response. The decision was made in accordance with the Council’s Constitution. 
Supporting Gold Command are 5 Silver Command Groups, which report weekly to Gold Command. 
 
Gold Command, which is made up of the Council’s Senior Management Team has continued to 
regularly meet this year to manage the Council’s response to COVID-19.  The frequency of meetings 
has increased or reduced in accordance with risk and alert levels. 
 
The record of Gold Command’s decisions and actions can be found on the Council website. 
 
Healthier Communities Scrutiny Committee  
 
The Corporate Lead Officer for Porth Cynnal Specialist Services regularly attends Committee 
meetings to present the quarterly Independent Reviewing Service Performance Management 
Reports which includes national and local standards, and targets used to measure outcomes for 
looked after children and care leavers. The Independent Reviewing Officer has regard as to whether 
the child/young person’s human rights being breached in any way and, if so, considers a referral to 
CAFCASS Cymru. This action was not required at any of the review meetings in the 
period. These reports are considered within Multi Agency LAC Quality Assurance Meetings which 
meet on a quarterly basis; these meetings provide an opportunity to identify and act upon 
performance and other issues in relation to this area of work. These reports are also circulated and 
reviewed by Local Authority’s Corporate Parenting Group which is Chaired by the Cabinet Member 
for Children Services and Culture which take place on a quarterly basis. 
 
On September 17th, 2021, The Corporate Director delivered a ppt presentation and video to the 
Committee on the Through Age & Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2027 and Action Plan. Members of the 
Learning Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee were also invited to attend the meeting. 
Following questions by the Members of the Committee it was agreed to recommend the Through 
Age and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-2027 and Action Plan for Cabinet approval.  
 
At the same meeting, the Corporate Lead Officer – Porth Cynnal and Statutory Director of Social 
Services informed the Committee that a letter had been received from Care Inspectorate Wales 
(‘CIW’) on 2nd July 2021 following the Health Assurance Check carried out during May 2021. The 
summary of findings and priorities for improvement were outlined to the Committee. 
Following discussion, Members agreed to note the contents of the letter and praised 
all Social Services staff for their hard work and commitment to their roles prior to and during the 
pandemic. Members wished to note that staff and the service are under increased pressure and 
are doing the best they can having to work within the current service pressures 
 
On September 22nd, 2021, the Corporate Manager, Porth Cymorth Cynnar presented a report to the 
Committee, which gave an update on the recent developments within the service. 
The Committee were informed Lampeter Leisure Centre will be the location of the Council’s first 
Wellbeing Centre providing an enhanced range of Through Age Services to the residents of 
Lampeter and mid county. Following discussion about the future use of the sports facilities by local 

Page 217



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 68 of 73 
 

clubs and other aspects regarding funding and structure and purpose, Members agreed that the 
Committee respect that the decision regarding developing the Wellbeing Centres has been made by 
Cabinet. 
 
On 6th October 2021, consideration was given to the report of the Corporate Lead Officer – Porth 
Gofal updating the Committee regarding recruitment of Welsh Speaking Foster Carers. It was 
reported that currently Ceredigion County Council had 31 registered Foster Families. There were 
also 16 Kinship carers who had been identified and progressed through the same processes as 
mainstream Foster Carers and registered to provide care and support for specific Looked after 
child/ren as outlined in their individual registration. Ceredigion’s Kinship carers were located 
across the UK. Areas of further development for the service was outlined: work with National and 
Regional recruitment campaigns that would provide a range of specifically targeted opportunities 
utilising National resources including media. This would be enhanced by a local County 
Engagement and Communication plan. In addition, to provide Ceredigion Foster Carers with 
opportunities to improve their Welsh language skills through accessing training. To develop an 
annual social and integration plan maximising on the heritage and culture of Ceredigion providing 
the Foster Carers with the knowledge and access to the wealth of local heritage, natural 
environments, and cultural activities available locally. The service will be working in conjunction 
with Porth Cymorth Cynnar, Education and 3rd sector organisations to enhance and celebrate the 
wealth of local provision available to Ceredigion Foster Carers. It was agreed to note the report for 
information that a progress report on the Fostering service be presented at a future meeting and to 
thank the service for all their work within the Fostering Service. 
 
At the same meeting, consideration was also given to the Report of the Corporate Lead Officer – 
Porth Gofal on the Domiciliary Care Provision in Ceredigion. It was reported that the provision had 
over a number of years continued to be met through the Commissioning Framework for 
Procurement for the provision of care to individual service users. All providers in Ceredigion were 
registered to the Framework having passed through a series of Procurement requirements, were 
then able to contract for services with Ceredigion County Council. 
 
It was explained that once a Social Worker had identified eligible care needs following a Social 
Services and Wellbeing Act Assessment, a service request was made. Once confirmed the notice 
was placed on the E Tender Procurement Portal on Sell2Wales. The providers who were registered 
to deliver care within Ceredigion were then able to look at the packages of care that were required 
in the community and submit offers to deliver that care. These offers were made to the family and 
once accepted care would be arranged to commence. If a family refuse the offer (for example if 
care times do not meet their personal preference and a compromise was not possible), then the 
care request would remain on procurement pending an alternative offer. The care needs for a care 
and support package for highly complex care needs may require 2 care staff up to 4 times a day, 7 
days a week, 52 weeks a year, and others care needs would also range throughout the spectrum of 
needs through to lower-level interventions once or twice a week to assist with bathing/showering as 
an example. Care and Support at home had a focus on delivering skills to provide personal care 
and wellbeing needs. Throughout the Covid 19 pandemic the Domiciliary Care Providers had 
worked tirelessly to sustain the care and support needs of our communities. Their staff continued 
to deliver to those vulnerable individuals in the face of increased risks to themselves and their 
families, in maintaining close contact care and support and their efforts have been and continue to 
be recognised as exceptional in unprecedented times. 
 
Following a lengthy discussion, a Committee Member put forward a recommendation 

Page 218



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 69 of 73 
 

to Cabinet which was agreed by a majority vote to recommend to Cabinet that they investigate the 
possibility of making use of Council reserve funding to provide an innovative funding package to 
support much needed recruitment in the Domiciliary Care Provider Sector and to support an 
introduction of a Bonus Referral Scheme used in a Residential Care home to encourage 
recruitment; and to thank all involved in providing the Domiciliary Care service. 
 
At the same meeting, Members received a presentation from the Corporate Manager for Substance 
Misuse about the implementation of the Welsh Government’s Substance Misuse Delivery Plan 
2019-2022 (Revised in Response to Covid 19) in Ceredigion and data on Substance Misuse 
Service Cases in the County along with Drug Related Deaths and Non-Fatal Overdoses. The multi-
agency responses were outlined from the Police in tackling supply, Barod and other 3rd sector 
service providers service, and Hywel Dda Health Board and Ceredigion local authority team. 
 
On October 20th, 2021, The Cabinet Member and Team Manager – Through Age Carers and 
Community Support reported the achievements of the Ceredigion Carers Unit and progress 
against their agreed targets and objectives during the year 2020-2021. It was stated that 
Ceredigion County Council remain committed to providing the best possible outcomes-focused 
service to enhance the lives of Carers, and to continuously improve support, services, and 
recognition of Carers in Ceredigion. The Committee agreed to note the report and praised the work 
of the Unit. 
 
The Cabinet Member and ‘Team Manager – Through Age Carers and Community 
Support’ also presented the report that had been produced by the West Wales Carers development 
Group for Welsh Government to outline the progress that has been delivered to meet the Welsh 
Government Carer priorities by the West Wales Care Partnership Regional Carers Development 
Group (WWCDG). 
 
On December 16th 2021, the Director of Social Services’ report for 2019-2021 was presented to 
members by the Cabinet member and the Corporate Lead Officer for Porth Gofal. It was noted that   
due to the Covid 19 Outbreak in March 2020, Welsh Government extended the time frame for the 
completion of the report due to the need for officers to focus on the delivery of essential services 
during the Pandemic. There was also a reduced requirement for Councils to provide performance 
information which is reflected in the report. The report describes how the Social Services 
Department in Ceredigion has performed during the year (2019 – 2020) in context of major 
changes in the operating environment. The report also sets out the priorities for 2020 -2021 
considering that the pandemic was still a major influence on service delivery. The Committee 
agreed to note the report. 
 
At the same meeting, an update on the Mid Wales Joint Committee for Health and Care was 
provided to the Committee. The focus of the Joint Committee’s business in their October meeting 
was to discuss the on-going work undertaken on the priorities and delivery plan for 2021/22 and 
the organizational Annual / COVID-19 Recovery plans. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Coordinating Committee 
The role of the Co-ordinating Committee is to oversee all the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees Forward Work Programmes to ensure that they are relevant and reflect 
the corporate priorities and focus on key areas.  
 

Page 219



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 70 of 73 
 

The CYSUR Local Operational Group Safeguarding Report quarterly reports are presented by the 
Corporate Lead Officer for Porth Cynnal and the safeguarding Corporate Manager and are 
considered by the Committee. The reports provide management information on action taken under 
the All Wales Safeguarding Procedures. The Reports include information provided by other 
agencies in relation to safeguarding the welfare of children in Ceredigion. Management information 
is discussed by members of the CYSUR (Ceredigion) Local Operations Group to monitor and 
evaluate the effectiveness of the safeguarding children’s arrangements in Ceredigion and the 
outcomes achieved. The multi-agency meetings provide an opportunity to identify and act upon any 
performance and other issues within this area of work. Performance information is also provided to 
the Mid and West Wales Regional Safeguarding Board, which is also an opportunity to analyse 
performance, trends and issues across the Region. The Adult Safeguarding Service quarterly 
reports are considered by the Committee. The reports highlight activity and performance of the 
Adult Safeguarding activity in different quarters and previous years as well as noting key 
achievements and work undertaken during the year. The report also highlights key areas of work 
and improvement during this financial year. 
 
The Committee has also considered in its meetings each of the regular Reports on Covid-19 Gold 
Command Decision log. 
 
 
  

Page 220



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 71 of 73 
 

The West Wales Care Partnership 
 
Section 14A of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 
requires local authorities and Local Health Boards to produce 
Area Plans setting out the range and level of services that will be 
provided in their area in response to regional Population 

Assessments. These Plans must be 
produced every 5 years and initial 
plans must be published by 1 April 
2019.  
 
The West Wales Area Plan for 2019-23, ‘Delivering Change Together’, 
has been agreed by the Regional Partnership Board and endorsed by 
Carmarthenshire, Ceredigion and Pembrokeshire County Councils 
and Hywel Dda University Health Board. It includes a series of 
strategic commitments which the Partnership will take forward over 
the next five years to support the transformation and integration of 
care and support in the Region. 
 
The Plan is available here. It is also available via the new West 
Wales Data Portal , which has been developed in partnership with 
Data Unit Cymru. This provides access to a wide range of 

population and service data for the region and allows our Plan to be updated regularly to 
reflect local and national developments and report on progress against the commitments within 
our Plan. 
 
In February 2022, The West Wales Care Partnership published the first regional Market Stability 
Report (MSR) for West Wales. The purpose of the report is to assess the market for services for 
individuals requiring care and support and their carers, inform action and ultimately to improve 
outcomes for people. The MSR was commissioned by the West Wales Care Partnership (WWCP) 
which brings together partners from local government, the NHS, third and independent sectors with 
users and carers with the aim of transforming care and support services in the region. The legal duty 
to prepare a MSR was introduced by the Social Services and Well-being Act (Wales) 2014 in 
recognition that the way social care services are provided has changed dramatically over recent 
decades. The assessment comprises two inter-linked assessments: the sufficiency of care and 
support services; and the stability of the market for regulated services. All population groups and all 
services regulated by Care Inspectorate Wales. The findings and the analysis in the report will help 
inform the development of services in Ceredigion and across the region. 
  

Page 221

http://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/West-Wales-Area-Plan-English-Final-Version-29-03-18.pdf
http://www.wwcp-data.org.uk/home
http://www.wwcp-data.org.uk/home


Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 72 of 73 
 

Mid and West Wales Regional Safeguarding Board:  
 

                                                      
 
CYSUR is the Mid and West Wales Regional Safeguarding Children Board. 
CYSUR is an acronym for Child and Youth Safeguarding: Unifying the Region and is also the Welsh 
word for reassurance. 
CYSUR is an amalgamation of the former Local Safeguarding Children Boards in Carmarthenshire, 
Ceredigion, Pembrokeshire, and Powys. 
 
CWMPAS is the Mid and West Wales Regional Safeguarding Adults Board. 
CWMPAS is an acronym for Collaborative Working and Maintaining Partnership in Adult 
Safeguarding and is also the Welsh word for scope or remit. 
The CWMPAS remit also stretches across Carmarthenshire, Ceredigion, Pembrokeshire, and Powys 
 
The regional arrangements were established to meet the requirements of the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  
 
During 2021-2022, The Mid and West Wales Safeguarding Board continued to operate in accordance 
with its statutory obligations. Ceredigion County Council officers participated fully in the Board’s 
activities both locally and regionally.  Developing creative solutions to some of the significant 
workforce challenges the social care and the public sector workforce is experiencing at a national 
level has been another key area of the Boards’ work this year, as well as the implementation of key 
multi-agency policies and protocols which include the High-Risk Behaviours (Including Self-Neglect 
and Hoarding) Policy and Procedure. The success of events and activities delivered as part of 
National Safeguarding Week in November 2021, both from an engagement and feedback 
perspective, is just one example of how our creative use of digital and virtual platforms can be used 
successfully to reach large multi-agency audiences as part of our COVID recovery journey. 
 
The Board’s  collaborative response to the continuing challenges, alongside our successes and 
achievements, have continued to demonstrate the paramount importance of the Regional 
Safeguarding Boards and their work in the safeguarding of children and adults at risk.  
 
The COVID-19 Operational Group was a temporary bespoke group established in March 2020 to 
ensure an efficient and consistent response to the COVID-19 pandemic across safeguarding services 
in Mid and West Wales. The group, made up of senior strategic and operational multi-agency partners 
across the region. It was disbanded in the summer of 2021 as it was considered all the necessary 
systems and structures were in place to manage the effects on services and practice of the 
pandemic. This work includes the continued use and implementation of regional policies and 
frameworks, including the COVID-19 Regional Escalation Process and Risk Management Policy for 
Care and Nursing Homes, and the COVID-19 Threshold Documents developed to support safe 
decision making. As previously referenced,  

Page 222



Ceredigion Social Services – Statutory Director’s Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Page 73 of 73 
 

6. Accessing Further Information and Key 
Documents 

Title Location 
Mid and West Wales 
Safeguarding Board  

_media_hq2fzckn_maww-safeguarding-board-annual-report-
2021-22 (8).pdf 

Ceredigion CC Carers Unit 
Annual Report 2021-2022  
West Wales Regional Partnership 
Board Regional Carers Strategy  

West Wales Carers Strategy 2020-2025 – West Wales Care 
Partnership (wwcp.org.uk) 

West Wales Regional Partnership 
Market Stability Report February 
2022  WWCP-MSR-Final-Feb-2022.pdf 

West Wales Area Plan for 2019-
23, ‘Delivering Change Together’ 

http://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/03/West-Wales-Area-Plan-English-
Final-Version-29-03-18.pdf 

Gold Command Decision Making  
Governance Structure for decision making - Ceredigion 
County Council 

Through Age and Well-being 
Strategy and Action Plan 2021-
2027 

PowerPoint Presentation (ceredigion.gov.uk) 
20211001-taw-strategy-action-plan-final-approved.pdf 
(ceredigion.gov.uk) 
 

 

Page 223

https://www.wwcp.org.uk/news-events/west-wales-carers-strategy-2020-2025/
https://www.wwcp.org.uk/news-events/west-wales-carers-strategy-2020-2025/
https://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/WWCP-MSR-Final-Feb-2022.pdf
http://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/West-Wales-Area-Plan-English-Final-Version-29-03-18.pdf
http://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/West-Wales-Area-Plan-English-Final-Version-29-03-18.pdf
http://www.wwcp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/West-Wales-Area-Plan-English-Final-Version-29-03-18.pdf
http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/resident/coronavirus-covid-19/governance/
http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/resident/coronavirus-covid-19/governance/
https://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/media/10287/20210730-english-ceredigion-tawm-strategy-final-approved.pdf
https://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/media/10288/20211001-taw-strategy-action-plan-final-approved.pdf
https://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/media/10288/20211001-taw-strategy-action-plan-final-approved.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

Cyngor Sir CEREDIGION County Council 
 
REPORT TO: 
 

Council 

DATE: 
 

15 June 2023 

LOCATION: Hybrid 
 

TITLE: 
 

Feedback from the Healthier Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on the Statutory Social Services 
Directors Report 2020/2021 & 2021/2022 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT: To provide feedback from the Healthier Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 13th April 2023 
 

BACKGROUND: 
 
The Healthier Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the Statutory Social 
Services Directors Report 2020/2021 & 2021/2022.  
 
The duty to compile the Annual Report of the Statutory Director of Social Services 
requirement is defined in Part 8 of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 
under the ‘Code of Practice on the Role of Directors of Social Services’. 
 
The completion of the reports had been delayed during the Covid-19 crisis. 
 
There will be no reason for delay in producing and publishing the report for the current year. 
 
CURRENT SITUATION: 
The reports have now been compiled and are ready for approval 
 
Following consideration, Members agreed to recommend that Council: 

• Receive the report as information only. 
 
Members thanked Officers for their hard work and commitment during what had been a 
difficult time.  
   
 
                                                                                                     Councillor Caryl Roberts 

Chairman of the Healthier Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
  

 
 
 
 
  

 
 

Page 161



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
Report to: Council 

 
Date of meeting: 15.06.2023 
  
Title: LA Representative on the Governing Body of 

Aberaeron Community Primary School.  
 

Purpose of the report: As stated in the Government of Maintained Schools 
(Wales) Regulations 2005, Local Authority (LA) 
governors are appointed by the local authority.  

For: Decision 
 

Cabinet Portfolio and 
Cabinet Member: 

Cllr Wyn Thomas 

 
To Nominate Cllr Marc Davies as LA Representative on the Governing Body of 
Aberaeron Community Primary School. 
 

Has an Integrated Impact 
Assessment been completed? 
If, not, please state why 

N/A 

Summary: 
Long term:  
Integration:  
Collaboration:  
Involvement:  

Wellbeing of Future 
Generations: 

Prevention:  
 
Recommendation(s): Members are requested to confirm the nomination of 

the above named as LA representative on the 
Governing Body of Aberaeron Community Primary 
School. 
 

Reasons for decision: To nominate a representative of the LA on the 
Governing Body of Aberaeron Community Primary 
School. 

 
Overview and 
Scrutiny: 

N/A 

Policy Framework: 
 

 

Corporate Priorities: 
 

N/A 

Financial 
implications: 

N/A 

Statutory Powers: 
 

N/A 

Background Papers: N/A 

Page 163

Agenda Item 7



 

2 
 

 
Appendices: N/A 

 
Corporate Lead 
Officer: 

Barry Rees, Corporate Director 

Reporting Officer: Nia James, Corporate Manager, Learning Resources, 
Schools Service 
 

Date: 16.05.2023 
 

Page 164



 

1 
 

CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
Report to: Council 

 
Date of meeting: 15th June 2023 
  
Title: Notification of appointment of interim Corporate 

Lead Officer: Porth Cymorth Cynnar 
 

Purpose of the report: To notify Council of the appointment of an interim 
Corporate Lead Officer: Porth Cymorth Cynnar, for a 
maximum of a two-year period; 
 

For: Information 
 

Cabinet Portfolio and 
Cabinet Member: 

Councillor Bryan Davies 
Leader of the Council 

 
Background 
It was reported to the Council meeting held on 20th April 2023, it was noted that the 
posts of Corporate Lead Officer: Lifelong Learning (Chief Education Officer) and 
Corporate Lead Officer: Schools (Deputy Chief Education Officer) had been 
appointed on a secondment basis, for a maximum of 2 years. 
 
Mrs Elen James was appointed as the Corporate Lead Officer: Lifelong Learning 
(Chief Education Officer) (secondment) and therefore there was a need to backfill 
her substantive post of Corporate Lead Officer: Porth Cymorth Cynnar for a 
maximum of a two-year secondment period. It was noted at the Council meeting in 
April 2023 that the same process would be undertaken for the recruitment process 
for this role as was taken for the other secondment roles. 
 
Recruitment Process 
The recruitment process undertaken for the Interim Corporate Lead Officer: Porth 
Cymorth Cynnar was as follows: 
 
1. To request applications/expressions of interest for the post from within the 

Council and School staff; 
2. To offer the role for a maximum of 24 months on a secondment basis, with a 

formal review of the arrangements after 18 months; 
3. Three Elected Members to be used as an Appointments Panel, which were: 

• Cllr. Bryan Davies (Group Leader – Plaid Cymru); 
• Cllr. Elizabeth Evans (Group Leader – Liberal Democrats); 
• Cllr. Gareth Lloyd (Group Leader – Independents); 

4. The interviews took place on 11th May 2023; 
5. Council to be notified of the appointment of the successful candidate in the 

Council meeting to be held 15th June 2023.  
 
Appointment of Interim Corporate Lead Officer: Porth Cymorth Cynnar 
(secondment) 
The Committee interviewed the qualified applicants on 11th May 2023. 

Page 165

Agenda Item 8



 

2 
 

 
The Committee considered answers provided by the candidates and advice was 
forthcoming from Barry Rees and James Starbuck, Corporate Directors. 
 
Following consideration and a vote, the Committee resolved that Mr. Gregory 
Jones be appointed Corporate Lead Officer: Porth Cymorth Cynnar on the basis of 
a two-year secondment to commence as soon as possible after 22nd May 2023; on 
a salary of £75,165, the first incremental point on the Corporate Lead Officer A1 
pay scale (pay award pending). 
 

Has an Integrated Impact 
Assessment been completed? 
If, not, please state why 

No – not a Policy or 
service change. 

Summary: 
Long term: N/A 
Integration: N/A 
Collaboration: N/A 
Involvement: N/A 

Wellbeing of Future 
Generations: 

Prevention: N/A 
 
Recommendation(s): To note the appointment of Mr. Gregory Jones as 

interim Corporate Lead Officer: Porth Cymorth 
Cynnar for a maximum period of 2 years, from 22nd 
May 2023, or as soon as possible thereafter, on a 
salary of £75,165 (the first incremental point on the 
Corporate Lead Officer A1 pay scale). 

 
Reasons for decision: To notify Council of the appointment of an interim 

Corporate Lead Officer: Porth Cymorth Cynnar. 
 
Overview and 
Scrutiny: 

N/A 

Policy Framework: 
 

Council’s Constitution 

Corporate Well-being 
Objectives: 
 

To support the delivery of the Council’s Well-being 
Objectives: 
• Boosting the Economy, Supporting Businesses and 

Enabling Employment 
• Creating Caring and Healthy Communities 
• Providing the Best Start in Life and Enabling Learning 

at All Ages  
• Creating Sustainable, Green and Well-connected 

Communities. 
 

Finance and 
Procurement 
implications: 

Within service budgets. 

Legal Implications: 
 

None 

Page 166



 

3 
 

Staffing implications: 
 

Appointment of the Interim Corporate Lead Officer: Porth 
Cymorth Cynnar for a maximum period of 2 years. 
 

Property / asset 
implications: 
 

None 

Risk(s):  
 

Failure to appoint to a Corporate Lead Officer role. 

Statutory Powers: 
 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989 
 

Background Papers: 
 

Council report – 20th April 2023 

Appendices: None. 
 
Reporting Officer: Eifion Evans, Chief Executive 

 
Date: 12th May 2023 

 
 

Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 To confirm the Minutes of the Meetings of the Council held on 20 April 2023 and the Annual Meeting of Council held on 19 May 2023
	Minutes
	Minutes , 19/05/2023 Council

	5 To consider the following motion submitted under Rule 10.1 of the Council's Rules of Procedure:
	6 To consider the Statutory Social Services Directors Report 2020-2021 and 2021-2022
	2020-2021 Annual Report
	1. Introduction
	The Through Age and Well-being Integrated Service Delivery Model

	2. Summary of Performance
	Adult and Commissioning Services Summary
	Adult Safeguarding
	Delayed Transfers of Care
	Enablement
	Adults supported in residential care homes
	Advice and Assistance for adults

	Children and Families Services
	Outcome of Assessments
	Supporting Children to remain living with their families
	The Child Protection Register (CPR)
	Health of our Looked after children
	Looked after children – stability of placements
	Young People Leaving Care


	3. How Are People Shaping Our Services?
	Learning Disability Strategy 2018-2023 and Improvement Action Plan
	Adverse Childhood Experiences
	Ceredigion Family Support and Early Help Services
	Team Around the Family
	Tim Teulu
	Penparcau Family Centre

	Ceredigion Support and Prevention Services
	Complaints and Compliments

	4. Promoting and Improving the Well-being of Those We Help
	What did we plan to do last year?
	How far did we succeed in working towards those priorities?
	Ceredigion Local Authority Housing Services
	Ensure that the accommodation needs of residents are met

	What are our priorities for next year and why?
	Improvement Objective 1
	Improvement Objective 2
	Improvement Objective 3


	5. How We Do What We Do
	How we have supported the professional development of the Social Care Workforce
	Our Financial Resources and How We Plan for the Future
	Our Partnership Working, Political and Corporate Leadership, Governance and Accountability
	The West Wales Care Partnership


	6. Accessing Further Information and Key Documents

	2021-2022 Social Services Director's Annual Report
	Report template for Healthier Communities Scrutiny ssdirector report 13042023
	Cyngor Sir CEREDIGION County Council

	2020-2021 Annual Report (Draft 7)
	1. Introduction
	The Through Age and Well-being Integrated Service Delivery Model

	2. Summary of Performance
	Adult and Commissioning Services Summary
	Adult Safeguarding
	Delayed Transfers of Care
	Enablement
	Adults supported in residential care homes
	Advice and Assistance for adults

	Children and Families Services
	Outcome of Assessments
	Supporting Children to remain living with their families
	The Child Protection Register (CPR)
	Health of our Looked after children
	Looked after children – stability of placements
	Young People Leaving Care


	3. How Are People Shaping Our Services?
	Learning Disability Strategy 2018-2023 and Improvement Action Plan
	Adverse Childhood Experiences
	Ceredigion Family Support and Early Help Services
	Team Around the Family
	Tim Teulu
	Penparcau Family Centre

	Ceredigion Support and Prevention Services
	Complaints and Compliments

	4. Promoting and Improving the Well-being of Those We Help
	What did we plan to do last year?
	How far did we succeed in working towards those priorities?
	Ceredigion Local Authority Housing Services
	Ensure that the accommodation needs of residents are met

	What are our priorities for next year and why?
	Improvement Objective 1
	Improvement Objective 2
	Improvement Objective 3


	5. How We Do What We Do
	How we have supported the professional development of the Social Care Workforce
	Our Financial Resources and How We Plan for the Future
	Our Partnership Working, Political and Corporate Leadership, Governance and Accountability
	The West Wales Care Partnership


	6. Accessing Further Information and Key Documents

	2022-2021 Annual Report english (Draft 3)
	1. Introduction
	The Through Age and Well-being Integrated Service Delivery Model

	2. Summary of Performance
	Adult and Commissioning Services Summary
	Adult Safeguarding
	Delayed Transfers of Care
	Adults supported in residential care homes
	Advice and Assistance for Adults


	Total Number of people in receipt of domiciliary care:
	Children and Families Services
	Outcome of Assessments
	The Child Protection Register (CPR)
	Health of our Looked after children
	Looked after children – stability of placements
	Young People Leaving Care


	3. How Are People Shaping Our Services?
	Learning Disability Strategy 2018-2023 and Improvement Action Plan
	Adverse Childhood Experiences
	Ceredigion County Council, focused on promoting awareness about the safety and wellbeing of older people at risk of online crime, scams or experiencing abuse. Using our social media outlets, we provided a wide range of easy-to-understand guidance and ...
	Ceredigion Family Support and Early Help Services
	Team Around the Family
	Family Support
	Penparcau Family Centre

	Ceredigion Support and Prevention Services
	Complaints and Compliments

	4. Promoting and Improving the Well-being of Those We Help
	What did we plan to do last year?
	Improvement Objective 1
	Improvement Objective 2
	Improvement Objective 3

	How far did we succeed in working towards those priorities?
	Ceredigion Local Authority Housing Services
	Delivery of affordable housing across all tenure
	Ensure that the accommodation needs of residents are met

	What are our priorities for next year and why?

	5. How We Do What We Do
	How we have supported the professional development of the Social Care Workforce
	Our Financial Resources and How We Plan For the Future
	Our Partnership Working, Political and Corporate Leadership, Governance and Accountability
	The West Wales Care Partnership


	6. Accessing Further Information and Key Documents


	overview and scrutiny feedback report

	7 To consider the report of the Corporate Director upon a Local Authority Representative on the Governing Body of Aberaeron Community Primary School
	8 To consider the report of the Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic Services upon the appointment of interim Corporate Lead Officer: Porth Cymorth Cynnar

